PROJECT MANUAL

FOR

ANN STREET LIFT STATION REPLACEMENT CITY OF PORT LAVACA, TEXAS

SEPTEMBER 2024

PREPARED BY:

URBAN ENGINEERING TREF# F-160 CONSULTING ENGINEERS 2004 N. COMMERCE ST. VICTORIA, TEXAS 77901-5510 U.E. JOB NO. E26133.00

8/11/24

INTRODUCTORY INFORMATION

00001Project Title Page00010Table of Contents00015List of Drawings

PROJECT MANUAL

FOR

ANN STREET LIFT STATION REPLACEMENT CITY OF PORT LAVACA, TEXAS

SEPTEMBER 2024

PREPARED BY:



URBAN ENGINEERING TREF# F-160 CONSULTING ENGINEERS 2004 N. COMMERCE ST. VICTORIA, TEXAS 77901-5510 U.E. JOB NO. E26133.00

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTORY INFORMATION

- 00001 Project Title Page
- 00010 Table of Contents
- 00015 List of Drawings

BIDDING REQUIREMENTS

- 00100 Bid Solicitation
- 00200 Instructions to Bidders
- 00410 Bid Form
- 00430 Bid Form Supplements
- 00490 Bidding Addenda

CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS

- 00510 Notice of Award
- 00520 Agreement Form
- 00550 Notice to Proceed
- 00610 Bonds
- 00620 Certificates
- 00640 Release of Liens
- 00700 General Conditions
- 00800 Supplementary Conditions
- 00940 Modifications

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS

DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

- 01010 Summary of Work
- 01015 Contractor Use of Premises
- 01025 Measurement and Payment
- 01035 Change Order Procedures
- 01040 Coordination and Meetings
- 01045 Cutting and Patching
- 01050 Field Šurveying
- 01090 Reference Standards
- 01300 Submittals
- 01380 Construction Photographs and Videos
- 01410 Testing Laboratory Services
- 01420 Inspection Services
- 01500 Temporary Facilities and Controls
- 01505 Mobilization
- 01511 Diversion Pumping
- 01526 Trench Safety System

- 01535 Tree and Plant Protection
- 01560 Storm Water Pollution Prevention
- 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water
- 01564 Waste Material Disposal
- 01566 Source Controls for Erosion and Sedimentation
- 01567 Filter Fabric Fence
- 01568 Reinforced Filter Fabric Barrier
- 01569 Stabilized Construction Exit
- 01570 Traffic Control and Regulation
- 01630 Product Options and Substitutions
- 01700 Contract Closeout
- 01720 Project Record Documents

DIVISION 2 – SITE WORK

- 02210 Demolition
- 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities
- 02229 Utility Backfill Materials
- 02602 Fiberglass Manholes
- 02603 Frames, Grates, Rings, and Covers
- 02610 Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings
- 02619 High Density Polyethylene (HDPE) Solid Wall Pipe
- 02620 PVC Pipe
- 02640 Gate Valves
- 02642 Air Release and Vacuum Relief Valves
- 02730 Gravity Sanitary Sewers
- 02731 Sanitary Sewage Force Mains
- 02732 Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers
- 02765 Abandonment of Sanitary Sewers

DIVISION 11 – EQUIPMENT

11308 Submersible Pump Lift Station

LIST OF DRAWINGS

Description	<u>Sheet</u>
Cover	C1
General Notes	C2.1 - C2.2
Demolition	C3
Improvements Sta 0+00 to 2+00 Sta 2+00 to 4+00	C4.1 C4.2
Lift Station Details	D1.1 - D1.3
Standard Details	D2.1 - D2.2

BIDDING REQUIREMENTS

- 00100 Bid Solicitation
- **00200** Instructions to Bidders
- 00410 Bid Form
- 00430 Bid Form Supplements
- **00450** Representations and Certifications
- 00490 Bidding Addenda

INVITATION TO BID FOR ANN STREET LIFT STATION REPLACEMENT CITY OF PORT LAVACA, TEXAS

Sealed bids addressed to the City of Port Lavaca will be received at the City Secretary's Office, 202 N. Virginia Street, Port Lavaca, Texas 77979 until **2:30 p.m., WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 2, 2024**, for the Ann Street Lift Station Replacement.

Immediately following the closing time for receipt of bids, the bids will be publicly opened and read aloud in the City Council Chambers, 202 N. Virginia Street, Port Lavaca, Texas 77979. Any Bids received after closing time will be returned unopened.

A pre-bid conference will be held in the City Council Chambers, 202 N. Virginia Street, Port Lavaca, Texas 77979 at **2:30 p.m., WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 25, 2024**. All Bidders are strongly urged to attend.

The project consists of the construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.

Bidders must submit a bid bond, cashier's or certified check payable without recourse to the order of the City of Port Lavaca, in an amount not less than five percent (5%) of the bid submitted as a guarantee that the Bidder will enter into a contract and execute bonds and guarantee in the forms provided within fifteen (15) days after Notice of Award of contract to him. Bids submitted without the required security will not be considered.

The successful Bidder will be required to purchase and furnish a Performance Bond and a Payment Bond, each in the amount of the contract, written by a responsible surety company, authorized to do business in the State of Texas, as required by Article 5160, V.A.T.C.S., as amended by H.B. 344, passed by the 56th Legislature, Regular Session, 1959.

Bidders are expected to inspect the site of the work and to inform themselves regarding all local conditions.

Information for Bidders, proposal forms, specifications and plans are available for inspection during regular business hours at Urban Engineering, 2004 N. Commerce Street, Victoria, Texas 77901, (361) 578-9836.

Prospective Bidders may obtain complete copies of the plans, project manual and specifications from Urban Engineering. An electronic file copy is available at no charge or a printed copy is available for a non-refundable fee of \$100.00 per copy. It is recommended that Bidders obtain a complete copy of the Bidding Documents from Urban Engineering to submit a bid.

Small and minority businesses, women owned business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are encouraged to submit bids.

The City of Port Lavaca is an equal opportunity employer without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, national origin, handicap, or limited English proficiency.

Publish: September 11, 2024 September 18, 2024

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINED TERMS	3
ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS	3
ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS	3
ARTICLE 4 - EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND SITE	3
ARTICLE 5 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE	5
ARTICLE 6 - SITE AND OTHER AREAS	6
ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA	6
ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY	6
ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES	6
ARTICLE 10 - LIQUIDATED DAMAGES	7
ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND "OR-EQUAL" ITEMS	7
ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS	7
ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID	7
ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID; EVALUATION OF BIDS	8
ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID	9
ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID	9
ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS	9
ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE	9
ARTICLE 19 - AWARD OF CONTRACT	9
ARTICLE 20 - CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE	10
ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT	10
ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES	10
ARTICLE 23 - RETAINAGE	11
ARTICLE 24 - CONTRACTS TO BE ASSIGNED - Not Applicable	11
ARTICLE 25 - PARTNERING - Not Applicable	11

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS TABLE OF ARTICLES (Alphabetical by Subject)

Subject	Article
Award of Contract	19
Basis of Bid; Evaluation of Bids	14
Bid Security	8
Bids to Remain Subject to Acceptance	
Contract Security and Insurance	20
Contract Times	9
Contracts to be Assigned	24
Copies of Bidding Documents	2
Defined Terms	1
Examination of Bidding Documents, Other Related Data, and Site	4
Interpretations and Addenda	7
Liquidated Damages	
Modification and Withdrawal of Bid	
Opening of Bids	
Partnering	
Pre-Bid Conference	5
Preparation of Bid	
Qualifications of Bidders	3
Retainage	
Sales and Use Taxes	
Signing of Agreement	21
Site and Other Areas	6
Subcontractors, Suppliers and Others	
Submittal of Bid	15
Substitute and "Or-Equal" Items	

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINED TERMS

1.01 Terms used in these Instructions to Bidders will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions. Additional terms used in these Instructions to Bidders have the meanings indicated below which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof:

A. *Bidder--*The individual or entity who submits a Bid directly to OWNER.

B. *Issuing Office--*The office from which the Bidding Documents are to be issued and where the bidding procedures are to be administered is Urban Engineering, 2004 N. Commerce Street, Victoria, Texas 77901, (361) 578-9836.

C. *Successful Bidder*--The lowest responsible Bidder submitting a responsive Bid to whom OWNER (on the basis of OWNER's evaluation as hereinafter provided) makes an award.

ARTICLE 2 - COPIES OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS

2.01 Complete sets of the Bidding Documents in the number and for the deposit sum, if any, stated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid may be obtained from the Issuing Office.

2.02 Complete sets of Bidding Documents must be used in preparing Bids; neither OWNER nor ENGINEER assumes any responsibility for errors or misinterpretations resulting from the use of incomplete sets of Bidding Documents.

2.03 OWNER and ENGINEER in making copies of Bidding Documents available on the above terms do so only for the purpose of obtaining Bids for the Work and do not confer a license or grant for any other use.

ARTICLE 3 - QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS

3.01 To demonstrate Bidder's qualifications to perform the Work, Bidder shall submit written evidence such as financial data, previous experience, present commitments, and such other data as may be called for below.

A. Completed Statement of Bidder's Qualifications

ARTICLE 4 - EXAMINATION OF BIDDING DOCUMENTS, OTHER RELATED DATA, AND SITE

4.01 Subsurface and Physical Conditions

A. The Supplementary Conditions identify:

1. Those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site that Engineer has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.

2. Those drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface and subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) that ENGINEER has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.

B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in paragraph 4.01.A will be made available by OWNER to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the "technical data" contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as provided in paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions has been identified and established in paragraph 4.02 of the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any "technical data" or any other data, interpretations, opinions or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings.

4.02 Underground Facilities

A. Information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based upon information and data furnished to OWNER and ENGINEER by owners of such Underground Facilities, including OWNER, or others.

4.03 Hazardous Environmental Condition

A. The Supplementary Conditions identify those reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that ENGINEER has used in preparing the Bidding Documents.

B. Copies of reports and drawings referenced in paragraph 4.03.A will be made available by OWNER to any Bidder on request. Those reports and drawings are not part of the Contract Documents, but the "technical data" contained therein upon which Bidder is entitled to rely as provided in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions has been identified and established in paragraph 4.06 of the Supplementary Conditions. Bidder is responsible for any interpretation or conclusion Bidder draws from any "technical data" or any other data, interpretations, opinions, or information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings.

4.04 Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to subsurface conditions, other physical conditions and Underground Facilities, and possible changes in the Bidding Documents due to differing or unanticipated conditions appear in paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 of the General Conditions. Provisions concerning responsibilities for the adequacy of data furnished to prospective Bidders with respect to a Hazardous Environmental Condition at the Site, if any, and possible changes in the Contract Documents due to any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work appear in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions.

4.05 On request, OWNER will provide Bidder access to the Site to conduct such examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, and studies as Bidder deems necessary for submission of a Bid. Bidder shall fill all holes and clean up and restore the Site to its former condition upon completion of such explorations, investigations, tests, and studies.

4.06 Reference is made to Article 7 of the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of the general nature of other work that is to be performed at the Site by OWNER or others (such as utilities and other prime contractors) that relates to the Work for which a Bid is to be submitted. On request, OWNER will provide to each Bidder for examination access to or copies of Contract Documents (other than portions thereof related to price) for such other work.

4.07 It is the responsibility of each Bidder before submitting a Bid to:

A. examine and carefully study the Bidding Documents, including any Addenda and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents;

B. visit the Site and become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work;

C. become familiar with and satisfy Bidder as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work;

D. carefully study all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions, and carefully study all reports and drawings of a Hazardous Environmental Condition, if any, at the Site which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions;

E. obtain and carefully study (or assume responsibility for doing so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto;

F. agree at the time of submitting its Bid that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of its Bid for performance of the Work at the price bid and within the times and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents;

G. become aware of the general nature of the work to be performed by OWNER and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents;

H. correlate the information known to Bidder, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Bidding Documents;

I. promptly give ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder discovers in the Bidding Documents and confirm that the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to Bidder; and

J. determine that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work.

4.08 The submission of a Bid will constitute an incontrovertible representation by Bidder that Bidder has complied with every requirement of this Article 4, that without exception the Bid is premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Bidding Documents and applying any specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction that may be shown or indicated or expressly required by the Bidding Documents, that Bidder has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, and discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents and the written resolutions thereof by ENGINEER are acceptable to Bidder, and that the Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performing and furnishing the Work.

ARTICLE 5 - PRE-BID CONFERENCE

5.01 A pre-Bid conference will be held at the location, time and date indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid. Representatives of OWNER and ENGINEER will be present to discuss the Project. Bidders are encouraged to attend and participate in the conference. ENGINEER will transmit to all prospective Bidders of record such Addenda as ENGINEER considers necessary in response to questions E26133.00 - Instructions to Bidders 09/24 arising at the conference. Oral statements may not be relied upon and will not be binding or legally effective.

ARTICLE 6 - SITE AND OTHER AREAS

6.01 The Site is identified in the Bidding Documents. All additional lands and access thereto required for temporary construction facilities, construction equipment, or storage of materials and equipment to be incorporated in the Work are to be obtained and paid for by CONTRACTOR. Easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities are to be obtained and paid for by OWNER unless otherwise provided in the Bidding Documents.

ARTICLE 7 - INTERPRETATIONS AND ADDENDA

7.01 All questions about the meaning or intent of the Bidding Documents are to be submitted to ENGINEER in writing. Interpretations or clarifications considered necessary by ENGINEER in response to such questions will be issued by Addenda mailed or delivered to all parties recorded by ENGINEER as having received the Bidding Documents. Questions received less than ten days prior to the date for opening of Bids may not be answered. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect.

7.02 Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Documents as deemed advisable by OWNER or ENGINEER.

ARTICLE 8 - BID SECURITY

8.01 A Bid must be accompanied by Bid security made payable to OWNER in an amount not less than five percent (5%) of Bidder's maximum Bid price and in the form of a certified or bank check or a Bid Bond (on the form attached) issued by a surety meeting the requirements of paragraphs 5.01 and 5.02 of the General Conditions.

8.02 The Bid security of the Successful Bidder will be retained until such Bidder has executed the Contract Documents, furnished the required contract security and met the other conditions of the Notice of Award, whereupon the Bid security will be returned. If the Successful Bidder fails to execute and deliver the Contract Documents and furnish the required contract security within 15 days after the Notice of Award, OWNER may annul the Notice of Award and the Bid security of that Bidder will be forfeited. The Bid security of other Bidders whom OWNER believes to have a reasonable chance of receiving the award may be retained by OWNER until the earlier of seven days after the Effective Date of the Agreement or 61 days after the Bid opening, whereupon Bid security furnished by such Bidders will be returned.

8.03 Bid security of other Bidders whom OWNER believes do not have a reasonable chance of receiving the award will be returned within seven days after the Bid opening.

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT TIMES

9.01 The number of days within which the Work is to be substantially completed and ready for final payment is set forth in the Agreement.

10.01 Provisions for liquidated damages, if any, are set forth in the Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - SUBSTITUTE AND "OR-EQUAL" ITEMS

11.01 The Contract, if awarded, will be on the basis of materials and equipment specified or described in the Bidding Documents without consideration of possible substitute or "or-equal" items. Whenever it is specified or described in the Bidding Documents that a substitute or "or-equal" item of material or equipment may be furnished or used by CONTRACTOR if acceptable to ENGINEER, application for such acceptance will not be considered by ENGINEER until after the Effective Date of the Agreement. The procedure for submission of any such application by CONTRACTOR and consideration by ENGINEER is set forth in the General Conditions and may be supplemented in the General Requirements.

ARTICLE 12 - SUBCONTRACTORS, SUPPLIERS, AND OTHERS

12.01 If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to be submitted to OWNER in advance of a specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, the apparent Successful Bidder, and any other Bidder so requested, shall within five days after Bid opening, submit to OWNER a list of all such Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which such identification is required. Such list shall be accompanied by an experience statement with pertinent information regarding similar projects and other evidence of qualification for each such Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity if requested by OWNER. If OWNER or ENGINEER, after due investigation, has reasonable objection to any proposed Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity, OWNER may, before the Notice of Award is given, request apparent Successful Bidder to submit a substitute, in which case apparent Successful Bidder shall submit an acceptable substitute, Bidder's Bid price will be increased (or decreased) by the difference in cost occasioned by such substitution, and OWNER may consider such price adjustment in evaluating Bids and making the contract award.

12.02 If apparent Successful Bidder declines to make any such substitution, OWNER may award the Contract to the next lowest Bidder that proposes to use acceptable Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities. Declining to make requested substitutions will not constitute grounds for forfeiture of the Bid security of any Bidder. Any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity so listed and against which OWNER or ENGINEER makes no written objection prior to the giving of the Notice of Award will be deemed acceptable to OWNER and ENGINEER subject to revocation of such acceptance after the Effective Date of the Agreement as provided in paragraph 6.06 of the General Conditions.

12.03 CONTRACTOR shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, individual, or entity against whom CONTRACTOR has reasonable objection.

ARTICLE 13 - PREPARATION OF BID

13.01 The Bid form is included with the Bidding Documents. Additional copies may be obtained from ENGINEER.

13.02 All blanks on the Bid form shall be completed by printing in ink or by typewriter and the Bid signed. A Bid price shall be indicated for each Bid item listed therein.

13.03 A Bid by a corporation shall be executed in the corporate name by the president or a vice-president or other corporate officer accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The corporate seal shall be affixed and attested by the secretary or an assistant secretary. The corporate address and state of incorporation shall be shown below the signature.

13.04 A Bid by a partnership shall be executed in the partnership name and signed by a partner (whose title must appear under the signature), accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The official address of the partnership shall be shown below the signature.

13.05 A Bid by a limited liability company shall be executed in the name of the firm by a member and accompanied by evidence of authority to sign. The state of formation of the firm and the official address of the firm must be shown below the signature.

13.06 A Bid by an individual shall show the Bidder's name and official address.

13.07 A Bid by a joint venture shall be executed by each joint venturer in the manner indicated on the Bid form. The official address of the joint venture must be shown below the signature.

13.08 All names shall be typed or printed in ink below the signatures.

13.09 The Bid shall contain an acknowledgment of receipt of all Addenda, the numbers of which shall be filled in on the Bid form.

13.10 The address and telephone number for communications regarding the Bid shall be shown.

13.11 The Bid shall contain evidence of Bidder's authority and qualification to do business in the state where the Project is located or covenant to obtain such qualification prior to award of the Contract. Bidder's state contractor license number for the state of the Project, if any, shall also be shown on the Bid form.

ARTICLE 14 - BASIS OF BID; EVALUATION OF BIDS

14.01 Unit Price

A. Bidders shall submit a Bid on a unit price basis for each item of Work listed in the Bid schedule.

B. The total of all estimated prices will be determined as the sum of the products of the estimated quantity of each item and the unit price Bid for the item. The final quantities and Contract Price will be determined in accordance with paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions.

C. Discrepancies between the multiplication of units of Work and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the correct sum. Discrepancies between words and figures will be resolved in favor of the words.

14.02 The Bid price shall include such amounts as the Bidder deems proper for overhead and profit on account of cash allowances, if any, named in the Contract Documents as provided in paragraph 11.02 of the General Conditions.

14.03 Bid prices will be compared after adjusting for differences in the time designated by Bidders for Substantial Completion. The adjusting amount will be determined at the rate set forth in the Contract Documents for liquidated damages for failing to achieve Substantial Completion for each day before or after the desired date appearing in Article 9.

ARTICLE 15 - SUBMITTAL OF BID

15.01 Each prospective Bidder is furnished one copy of the Bidding Documents with one separate unbound copy each of the Bid form, and, if required, the Bid Bond. The Bid must be submitted on the forms provided. The unbound copy of the Bid form is to be completed and submitted with the Bid security and the following data:

- A. Schedule of Proposed Subcontractors
- B. Statement of Bidder's Qualifications
- C. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire

15.02 A Bid shall be submitted no later than the date and time prescribed and at the place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and shall be enclosed in an opaque sealed envelope plainly marked with the Project title (and, if applicable, the designated portion of the Project for which the Bid is submitted), the name and address of Bidder, and shall be accompanied by the Bid security and other required documents. If a Bid is sent by mail or other delivery system, the sealed envelope containing the Bid shall be enclosed in a separate envelope plainly marked on the outside with the notation "BID ENCLOSED." A mailed Bid shall be addressed to the location indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid.

ARTICLE 16 - MODIFICATION AND WITHDRAWAL OF BID

16.01 A Bid may be modified or withdrawn by an appropriate document duly executed in the manner that a Bid must be executed and delivered to the place where Bids are to be submitted prior to the date and time for the opening of Bids.

16.02 If within 24 hours after Bids are opened, any Bidder files a duly signed written notice with OWNER and promptly thereafter demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of OWNER that there was a material and substantial mistake in the preparation of its Bid, that Bidder may withdraw its Bid, and the Bid security will be returned. Thereafter, if the Work is rebid, that Bidder will be disqualified from further bidding on the Work.

ARTICLE 17 - OPENING OF BIDS

17.01 Bids will be opened at the time and place indicated in the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and, unless obviously non-responsive, read aloud publicly. An abstract of the amounts of the base Bids and major alternates, if any, will be made available to Bidders after the opening of Bids.

ARTICLE 18 - BIDS TO REMAIN SUBJECT TO ACCEPTANCE

18.01 All Bids will remain subject to acceptance for the period of time stated in the Bid form, but OWNER may, in its sole discretion, release any Bid and return the Bid security prior to the end of this period.

ARTICLE 19 - AWARD OF CONTRACT

19.01 OWNER reserves the right to reject any or all Bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional Bids. OWNER further reserves the right to reject the Bid of any E26133.00 – Instructions to Bidders

Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to be non-responsible. OWNER may also reject the Bid of any Bidder if OWNER believes that it would not be in the best interest of the Project to make an award to that Bidder. OWNER also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price, time, or changes in the Work and to negotiate contract terms with the Successful Bidder.

19.02 More than one Bid for the same Work from an individual or entity under the same or different names will not be considered. Reasonable grounds for believing that any Bidder has an interest in more than one Bid for the Work may be cause for disqualification of that Bidder and the rejection of all Bids in which that Bidder has an interest.

19.03 In evaluating Bids, OWNER will consider whether or not the Bids comply with the prescribed requirements, and such alternates, unit prices and other data, as may be requested in the Bid Form or prior to the Notice of Award.

19.04 In evaluating Bidders, OWNER will consider the qualifications of Bidders and may consider the qualifications and experience of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities proposed for those portions of the Work for which the identity of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities must be submitted as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

19.05 OWNER may conduct such investigations as OWNER deems necessary to establish the responsibility, qualifications, and financial ability of Bidders, proposed Subcontractors, Suppliers, individuals, or entities to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

19.06 If the Contract is to be awarded, OWNER will award the Contract to the Bidder whose Bid is in the best interests of the Project.

ARTICLE 20 - CONTRACT SECURITY AND INSURANCE

20.01 Article 5 of the General Conditions, as may be modified by the Supplementary Conditions, sets forth OWNER's requirements as to performance and payment Bonds and insurance. When the Successful Bidder delivers the executed Agreement to OWNER, it must be accompanied by such Bonds.

ARTICLE 21 - SIGNING OF AGREEMENT

21.01 When ENGINEER gives a Notice of Award to the Successful Bidder, it shall be accompanied by the required number of unsigned counterparts of the Agreement with the other Contract Documents which are identified in the Agreement as attached thereto. Within 15 days thereafter, Successful Bidder shall sign and deliver the required number of counterparts of the Agreement and attached documents to ENGINEER. Within fifteen days thereafter, ENGINEER shall deliver one fully signed counterpart to Successful Bidder with a complete set of the Drawings with appropriate identification.

ARTICLE 22 - SALES AND USE TAXES

22.01 OWNER is exempt from state and local sales tax pursuant to the provisions of Article 20.04(F) of the Texas Limited Sales, Excise and Use Tax Act. Refer to paragraph 6.10.A of the Supplementary Conditions for additional information.

ARTICLE 23 - RETAINAGE

23.01 CONTRACTOR is not allowed to deposit securities in lieu of retainage.

ARTICLE 24 - CONTRACTS TO BE ASSIGNED - Not Applicable

ARTICLE 25 - PARTNERING - Not Applicable

BID FORM

PROJECT IDENTIFICATION:

Ann Street Lift Station Replacement City of Port Lavaca, Texas

CONTRACT IDENTIFICATION AND NUMBER:

N/A

THIS BID IS SUBMITTED TO:

City of Port Lavaca 202 N. Virginia Street Port Lavaca, TX 77979

1.01 The undersigned Bidder proposes and agrees, if this Bid is accepted, to enter into an Agreement with OWNER in the form included in the Bidding Documents to perform all Work as specified or indicated in the Bidding Documents for the prices and within the times indicated in this Bid and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents.

2.01 Bidder accepts all of the terms and conditions of the Advertisement or Invitation to Bid and Instructions to Bidders, including without limitation those dealing with the disposition of Bid security. The Bid will remain subject to acceptance for 60 days after the Bid opening, or for such longer period of time that Bidder may agree to in writing upon request of OWNER.

3.01 In submitting this Bid, Bidder represents, as set forth in the Agreement, that:

A. Bidder has examined and carefully studied the Bidding Documents, the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents, and the following Addenda, receipt of all which is hereby acknowledged.

Addendum No.	Addendum Date

B. Bidder has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.

C. Bidder is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.

D. Bidder has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions, and (2) reports and drawings of a Hazardous Environmental Condition, if any, which has been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions.

E. Bidder has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Bidder, including applying the

specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction expressly required by the Bidding Documents to be employed by Bidder, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.

F. Bidder does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the determination of this Bid for performance of the Work at the price(s) bid and within the times and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Bidding Documents.

G. Bidder is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by OWNER and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Bidding Documents.

H. Bidder has correlated the information known to Bidder, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Bidding Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Bidding Documents.

I. Bidder has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Bidder has discovered in the Bidding Documents, and the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to Bidder.

J. The Bidding Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for the performance of the Work for which this Bid is submitted.

4.01 Bidder further represents that this Bid is genuine and not made in the interest of or on behalf of any undisclosed individual or entity and is not submitted in conformity with any agreement or rules of any group, association, organization or corporation; Bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other Bidder to submit a false or sham Bid; Bidder has not solicited or induced any individual or entity to refrain from bidding; and Bidder has not sought by collusion to obtain for itself any advantage over any other Bidder or over OWNER.

5.01 Bidder will complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents for the following price(s):

	CITY OF PORT LAVACA				
	ANN STREET LIF	T STATI	ON	REPLACEMENT	
		(BIDDER)			
	PREPARED E	BY: URBAN	ENG	SINEERING	
ITEM NO.	DESCRIPTION	ESTIMATED QUANTITY	UNIT		TOTAL PRICE
BAS	E BID	·		·	
GENE	RAL				
1.	Mobilization, Insurance and Bonds	1	LS	\$	\$
2.	Barricading & Traffic Control (Furnish, Install, Maintain & Remove Signs & Warning Devices) (Includes Flagmen, Traffic Handling & Temporary Striping)	1	LS	\$	\$
3.	Construction Staking	1	LS	\$	\$
4.	Dewatering per Section 01563	1	LS	\$	\$
5.	Project Sign (4' x 8')	1	EA	\$	\$
SUBT	OTAL GENERAL				\$
DEMO	DLITION	I	1	1	1
6.	Remove & Dispose of Existing Lift Station (Including, but not limited to, structures, pumps, valves, piping, and controls)	1	LS	\$	\$
7.	Remove & Dispose of Existing Fence	38	LF	\$	\$
8.	Remove & Dispose of Existing Sanitary Sewer Main	24	LF	\$	\$
SUBT	OTAL DEMOLITION				\$
PAVE	MENT IMPROVEMENTS				
9.	Concrete Pavement (Commercial) (6" Thick, Class A)	190	SF	\$	\$
SUBT	OTAL PAVEMENT IMPROVEMENTS				\$
SANI	TARY SEWER IMPROVEMENTS	-			
10.	Sanitary Sewer Force Main (6") (PVC) (Asphalt Paved Areas)	32	LF	\$	\$
11.	Sanitary Sewer Force Main (8") (PVC) (Non-Paved Areas)	4	LF	\$	\$
12.	Sanitary Sewer Force Main (8") (PVC) (Gravel Paved Areas)	50	LF	\$	\$
13.	Sanitary Sewer Force Main (8") (PVC) (Asphalt Paved Areas)	160	LF	\$	\$
14.	Sanitary Sewer Force Main (8") (PVC) (Concrete Paved Areas)	4	LF	\$	\$
15.	Sanitary Sewer Main (12") (10' - 15' Cut) (Gravel Paved Areas)	47	LF	\$	\$
16.	Force Main Fitting (Bend) (8") (90 Deg)	2	EA	\$	\$
17.	Force Main Fitting (Bend) (6") (45 Deg)	4	EA	\$	\$
18.	Force Main Fitting (Reducer) (8" x 6")	2	EA	\$	\$
19.	19. Sanitary Sewer Manhole (Fiberglass) (0' - 5') 1 EA \$				
20.	Sanitary Sewer Manhole (Fiberglass) (10' - 15')	2	EA	\$	\$
21.	Locate & Connect to Existing 6" Force Main	2	EA	\$	\$
22.	Locate & Connect to Existing 8" Sanitary Sewer Main	1	EA	\$	\$
23.	Locate & Connect to Existing 12" Sanitary Sewer Main	1	EA	\$	\$
24.	Trench Excavation Protection (Sanitary Sever Main & 47 LF 24. Services) (> 5' Cut) 47 LF				
SUBT	SUBTOTAL SANITARY SEWER IMPROVEMENTS \$				

	CITY OF PORT LAVACA					
	ANN STREET LIFT STATION REPLACEMENT					
		(BIDDER))			
	PREPARED E			SINEERING		
			-			
ITEM		ESTIMATED				
NO.	DESCRIPTION	QUANTITY	UNIT	UNIT	PRICE	TOTAL PRICE
	STREET LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS					
	Ann Street Lift Station (Including all site improvements, trench					
	safety/shoring,1 lift station structure, access hatch, and lift					
25.	station components)	1	LS	\$	\$	
	Ann Street Lift Station Pumps (NP3102 MT 3~ Adaptive 463 as					
	manufactured by Flygt) (Including all pump equipment and					
26.	components) (3 required)	1	LS	\$	\$	
	Ann Street Lift Station Yard Piping (Including all pipe, fittings,					
27.	piping equipment, pipe supports, bracing, and fasteners)	1	LS	\$	\$	
	Ann Street Lift Station Electrical Improvements (Including all					
	equipment and components, wiring and conduit, lift station					
28.	control panel, meter pedestal, and panel rack)	1	LS	\$	\$	
29.	Site Fence (6' fence with barbed wire security extension)	86	LF	\$	\$	
	Site Fence Double Gate (18' wide) (6' fence with barbed wire					
30.	security extension)	1	EA	\$	\$	
SUBTOTAL ANN STREET LIFT STATION IMPROVEMENTS \$						
101	AL BASE BID				\$	

Unit Prices have been computed in accordance with paragraph 11.03.B of the General Conditions.

Bidder acknowledges that estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids, and final payment for all Unit Price Bid items will be based on actual quantities provided, determined as provided in the Contract Documents.

6.01 Bidder agrees that The Work will be substantially completed within ______ calendar days (TO BE FILLED IN BY BIDDER) after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions within <u>14</u> calendar days after the date of substantial completion.

6.02 Bidder accepts the provisions of the Agreement as to liquidated damages in the event of failure to complete the Work within the times specified above, which shall be stated in the Agreement.

7.01 The following document(s) are attached to and made a condition of this Bid:

- A. Required Bid Security in the form of ______ (specify type of Bid Security: Bond, Cashier's Check, Certified Check);
- B. Schedule of Proposed Subcontractors required to be identified in this Bid;
- C. Statement of Bidder's Qualifications with supporting data;
- D. Conflict of Interest Questionnaire (Form CIQ).

8.01 The terms used in this Bid with initial capital letters have the meanings indicated in the Instructions to Bidders, the General Conditions, and the Supplementary Conditions.

SUBMITTED on ______.

State Contractor License No. _____. (If applicable)

E26133.00 - Bid Form 09/24

If Bidder is:

<u>An Individual</u>		
Name (typed or print	ed):	<u> </u>
Ву:		_(SEAL)
	(Individual's signature)	
Doing business as: _		
Business address: _		
Phone No.:	FAX No.:	
A Partnership		
-		(SEAL)
		_(02,12)
By:(Signature of general partner attach evidence of authority to sign)	
Name (typed or print	ed):	
Business address:		
Phone No.:	FAX No.:	
A Corporation		
Corporation Name: _		(SEAL)
State of Incorporation	n:	
Type (General Busin	ess, Professional, Service, Limited Liability):	
Ву:	(Signature attach evidence of authority to sign)	
	(Signature attach evidence of authority to sign)	
Name (typed or printe	ed):	
Title:	(CORPORAT	E SEAL)
Attest:	(Signature of Corporate Secretary)	
Business address:		
Phone No.:	FAX No.:	
Date of Qualification	to do business is	

A Joint Venture

Joint Venturer Name:		(SEAL)
By:(Signature of ioin	t venture partner attach evidence of authori	ty to sign)
Name (typed or printed):		
Title:		
Business address:		
	FAX No.:	
Joint Venturer Name:		(SEAL)
By:(Sign	ature attach evidence of authority to sign)	
Name (typed or printed):		
Title:		
Phone No.:	FAX No.:	
Phone and FAX Number, and Add	ress for receipt of official communications:	

(Each joint venturer must sign. The manner of signing for each individual, partnership, and corporation that is a party to the joint venture should be in the manner indicated above.)

BID BOND

<u>BIDDE</u>	R (Nam	e and Address):					
<u>SURET</u>	FY (Nam	e and Address of Princ	ipal Place of	f Busir	ness):		
<u>OWNE</u>	R (Nam	e and Address):					
		E: rief Description Including	g Location):				
DATE	: (Not lat	ER: er than Bid due date): _					
printed	on the		Bidder, inte each cause			bound hereby, subject to the tern a duly executed on its behalf by	
BIDDE	R				SURETY		
Bidder's	s Name	and Corporate Seal	(Seal)	Surety's Name	(Sea(Sea	al)
Ву:		Signature and Title			Ву:	Signature and Title (Attach Power of Attorney)	
Attest:		Signature and Title			Attest:	Signature and Title	
Note:	(1) (2)	Above addresses are Any singular reference plural where applicable	e to Bidder, S			tice. ther party shall be considered	_

1. Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns to pay to OWNER upon default of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this Bond.

2. Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by OWNER) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment Bonds required by the Bidding Documents.

3. This obligation shall be null and void if:

3.1. OWNER accepts Bidder's Bid and Bidder delivers within the time required by the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by OWNER) the executed Agreement required by the Bidding Documents and any performance and payment Bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or

3.2. All Bids are rejected by OWNER, or

3.3. OWNER fails to issue a Notice of Award to Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety when required by paragraph 5 hereof).

4. Payment under this Bond will be due and payable upon default by Bidder and within 30 calendar days after receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default from OWNER, which notice will be given with reasonable promptness, identifying this Bond and the Project and including a statement of the amount due.

5. Surety waives notice of and any and all defenses based on or arising out of any time extension to issue Notice of Award agreed to in writing by OWNER and Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of Award including extensions shall not in the aggregate exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety's written consent.

6. No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default required in paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and Surety and in no case later than one year after Bid due date.

7. Any suit or action under this Bond shall be commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction located in the state in which the Project is located.

8. Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses shown on the face of this Bond. Such notices may be sent by personal delivery, commercial courier or by United States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be effective upon receipt by the party concerned.

9. Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a current and effective Power of Attorney evidencing the authority of the officer, agent or representative who executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal and deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby.

10. This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable statutory requirements. Any applicable requirement of any applicable statute that has been omitted from this Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth at length. If any provision of this Bond conflicts with any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute shall govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect.

11. The term "Bid" as used herein includes a Bid, offer or proposal as applicable.

SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED SUBCONTRACTORS

Bidder proposes the following subcontractors to be used for major portions of the project. All major subcontractors must be listed and submitted with the Bid. Bidder may change subcontractors after Bid submittal only as approved by the Engineer. Major subcontractors are those who will do work having a total value of more than five percent (5%) of the Contract amount. The maximum total value of work performed by all subcontractors on the project shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the Contract amount.

Subcontractor	Address & Telephone Number	Speciality	Subcontract Amount
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
5.			
6.			
7.			
8.			
9.			
10.			
11.			
12.			
13.			
14.			
15.			
16.			
17.			
18.			
19.			
20.			

STATEMENT OF BIDDER'S QUALIFICATIONS

statement must be no	e answered and the data given must be clea tarized. If necessary, questions may be answ ay submit any additional information he desire	wered on separate attached
Name of Bidder:		
Address:		
Date Organized:	Date Incorporated	:
Number of years in co	ntracting business under present name:	
CONTRACTS ON HA	ND:	
Contract	Dollar Amount	Completion Date
Type of work performe	ed by your company:	
Have you ever failed to	o complete any work awarded to you?	
Have you ever default	ed on a contract?	
List the projects most	recently completed by your firm (include projec	cts of similar importance):
Project	Dollar Amount	Mo/Yr Completed
E26133.00 – Statement of Bidder's Qual 09/24	ifications	

Major equipment available for this contract:

Executed this day of	
	,
Ву:	
(Signature)	(Title)
(Print Name)	
Otata af	
State of	
County of	
Sworn to and subscribed before me this	day of,
·	
	Notary Signature
	Printed Name
	In and for the State of
	Commission Expires:

00490 BIDDING ADDENDA

CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS

- 00510 Notice of Award
- 00520 Agreement Form
- 00550 Notice to Proceed
- 00610 Bonds
- **00620** Certificates
- 00640 Release of Liens
- **00700** General Conditions
- **00800** Supplementary Conditions
- **00940** Modifications

NOTICE OF AWARD

Dated:

TO:

ADDRESS:

CONTRACT: Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.

PROJECT: Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas

You are notified that your Bid, dated _____, for the above Contract has been considered. You are the apparent Successful Bidder and have been awarded a Contract for the Total Base Bid.

The Contract Price of your Contract is _____(\$____).

One (1) copy of the proposed Contract Documents (except Drawings) accompanies this Notice of Award. Two (2) sets of the Drawings will be delivered separately or otherwise made available to you immediately.

You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date you receive this Notice of Award.

- 1. Deliver to the ENGINEER one (1) fully executed counterpart of the Contract Documents.
- 2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents the Contract security (Bonds) as specified in the Instructions to Bidders (Article 20) and General Conditions (paragraph 5.01).
- 3. List other conditions precedent None

EJCDC No. 1910-22 (1996 Edition)

Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle OWNER to consider your Bid in default, to annul this Notice of Award and to declare your Bid security forfeited.

Upon execution by the OWNER, one fully executed copy of the Contract Documents will be returned to you by the ENGINEER.

URBAN ENGINEERING

By:

Matt A. Glaze, P.E. Vice President

Copy to OWNER

AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between the CITY OF PORT LAVACA, (hereinafter called OWNER) and (hereinafter called CONTRACTOR).

OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - WORK

1.01 CONTRACTOR shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Work is generally described as follows:

Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.

ARTICLE 2 - THE PROJECT

2.01 The Project, for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part, is generally described as the Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas.

ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER

3.01 The Project has been designed by Urban Engineering who is hereinafter called ENGINEER and who is to act as OWNER's representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and authority assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES

- 4.01 *Time of the Essence*
 - A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.
- 4.02 Days to Achieve Substantial Completion and Final Payment
 - A. The Work will be substantially completed within _____ calendar days after the date when the Contract Times commence to run as provided in paragraph 2.03 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions within <u>14</u> calendar days after the date of substantial completion.

4.03 Liquidated Damages

A. CONTRACTOR and OWNER recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and that OWNER will suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in paragraph 4.02 above, plus any extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions. The parties also recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the actual loss suffered by OWNER if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring any such proof, OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER \$200.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.02 for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete. After Substantial Completion, if CONTRACTOR shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER \$200.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.02 for completion until the Work is substantially complete. After Substantial Completion, if CONTRACTOR shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time or any proper extension thereof granted by OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER \$200.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.02 for completion and readiness for final payment until the Work is completed and ready for final payment.

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE

- 5.01 OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to paragraph 5.01.A below:
 - A. For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of that item as indicated in the Contractor's Bid in the amount of <u>\$_____</u> for the Total Base Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit. As provided in paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions, estimated quantities are not guaranteed, and determinations of actual quantities and classifications are to be made by ENGINEER as provided in paragraph 9.08 of the General Conditions. Unit prices have been computed as provided in paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 6 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES

- 6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments
 - A. CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 14 of the General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by ENGINEER as provided in the General Conditions.
- 6.02 *Progress Payments; Retainage*
 - A. OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment on or about the first day of each month during performance of the Work as provided in paragraph 6.02.A.1 below. All such payments will be measured by the schedule of values established in paragraph 2.07.A of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units completed) or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the General Requirements:
 - 1. Prior to Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such amounts as ENGINEER may determine or OWNER may withhold, in accordance with paragraph 14.02 of the General Conditions:

- a. Ninety-five percent (95%) of Work completed (with the balance being retainage); and
- b. Ninety-five percent (95%) of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the balance being retainage).
- 6.03 Final Payment
 - A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with paragraph 14.07 of the General Conditions, OWNER shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by ENGINEER as provided in said paragraph 14.07.

ARTICLE 7 - INTEREST

7.01 All moneys not paid when due as provided in Article 14 of the General Conditions shall bear interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum.

ARTICLE 8 - CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS

- 8.01 In order to induce OWNER to enter into this Agreement, CONTRACTOR makes the following representations:
 - A. CONTRACTOR has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data identified in the Bidding Documents.
 - B. CONTRACTOR has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - C. CONTRACTOR is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - D. CONTRACTOR has carefully studied all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions and (2) reports and drawings of a Hazardous Environmental Condition, if any, at the Site which has been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions.
 - E. CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by CONTRACTOR, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, if any, expressly required by the Contract Documents to be employed by CONTRACTOR, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.

- F. CONTRACTOR does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents.
- G. CONTRACTOR is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by OWNER and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
- H. CONTRACTOR has correlated the information known to CONTRACTOR, information and observations obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, and all additional examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Contract Documents.
- I. CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that CONTRACTOR has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to CONTRACTOR.
- J. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.

ARTICLE 9 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

9.01 Contents

- A. The Contract Documents consist of the following:
 - 1. This Agreement;
 - 2. Performance Bond;
 - 3. Payment Bond;
 - 4. Other Bonds;
 - 5. General Conditions;
 - 6. Supplementary Conditions;
 - 7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual;
 - 8. Drawings as listed on 00015-1;
 - 9. Addenda;
 - 10. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows):
 - a. Notice to Proceed;
 - b. CONTRACTOR's Bid;
 - c. Documentation submitted by CONTRACTOR prior to Notice of Award.
 - 11. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and are not attached hereto:
 - a. Written Amendments;

- b. Work Change Directives;
- c. Change Order(s).
- B. The documents listed in paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above).
- C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9.
- D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in paragraph 3.05 of the General Conditions.

ARTICLE 10 - MISCELLANEOUS

- 10.01 *Terms*
 - A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions.

10.02 Assignment of Contract

- A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that may become due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents.
- 10.03 Successors and Assigns
 - A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents.
- 10.04 Severability
 - A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision.

[The rest of this page is intentionally blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OWNER and CONTRACTOR have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officials in one original. Additional copies of the original executed Agreement will be distributed to all appropriate parties.

The effective date of this Agreement will be _	,
OWNER:	CONTRACTOR:
CITY OF PORT LAVACA	
Ву:	Ву:
Jack Whitlow, Mayor	(Name/Title)
(Corporate Seal)	(Corporate Seal)
Attest:	Attest:
Title:	
Address for giving notices: 202 N. Virginia Street	Address for giving notices:
Port Lavaca, TX 77979	
	License No.:
	(If Contractor is a corporation or a partnership, attach evidence of authority to sign.)
Designated Representative:	Designated Representative:
Name:	Name:
Title:	
Address:	Address:
Phone:	Phone:
Facsimile:	Facsimile:

NOTICE TO PROCEED

Dated:

TO:

ADDRESS:

- CONTRACT: Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.
- PROJECT: Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas

You are notified that the Contract Times under the above contract will commence to run on ______. By that date, you are to start performing your obligations under the Contract Documents. In accordance with Article 4 of the Agreement, the date of Substantial Completion is ______, and the date of readiness for final payment is ______.

Before you may start any Work at the Site, paragraph 2.05.C of the General Conditions provides that you and Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other identified additional insureds) certificates of insurance which each is required to purchase and maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents.

Also, before you may start any Work at the Site, you must: <u>N/A</u>

URBAN ENGINEERING

By:

Matt A. Glaze, P.E. Vice President

Copy to OWNER

EJCDC No. 1910-23 (1996 Edition) Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

Performance Bond

Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address):

SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business):

OWNER (Name and Address):

CONTRACT Date: Amount: Description (Name and Location):

BOND Date (Not earlier than Contract Date): Amount: Modifications to this Bond Form:

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this Performance Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent or representative.

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURETY	
Company:	(Corp. Seal)	Company:	(Corp. Seal)
Signature:		Signature:	
Name and Title:		Name and Title:	
		(Attach Power of Attorney)	
(Space is provided below for signatu	res of additional parties	, if required.)	

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURETY	
Company:	(Corp. Seal)	Company:	(Corp. Seal)
Signature:		Signature:	
Name and Title:		Name and Title:	

EJCDC No. 1910-28-A (1996 Edition)

Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General Contractors of America, and the American Institute of Architects.

1. The CONTRACTOR and the Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.

2. If the CONTRACTOR performs the Contract, the Surety and the CONTRACTOR have no obligation under this Bond, except to participate in conferences as provided in paragraph 3.1.

3. If there is no OWNER Default, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after:

3.1. The OWNER has notified the CONTRACTOR and the Surety at the addresses described in paragraph 10 below, that the OWNER is considering declaring a CONTRACTOR Default and has requested and attempted to arrange a conference with the CONTRACTOR and the Surety to be held not later than fifteen days after receipt of such notice to discuss methods of performing the Contract. If the OWNER, the CONTRACTOR and the Surety agree, the CONTRACTOR shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the OWNER's right, if any, subsequently to declare a CONTRACTOR Default; and

3.2. The OWNER has declared a CONTRACTOR Default and formally terminated the CONTRACTOR's right to complete the Contract. Such CONTRACTOR Default shall not be declared earlier than twenty days after the CONTRACTOR and the Surety have received notice as provided in paragraph 3.1; and

3.3. The OWNER has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price to:

3.3.1 The Surety in accordance with the terms of the Contract;

3.3.2 Another contractor selected pursuant to paragraph 4.3 to perform the Contract.

4. When the OWNER has satisfied the conditions of paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions:

4.1. Arrange for the CONTRACTOR, with consent of the OWNER, to perform and complete the Contract; or

4.2. Undertake to perform and complete the Contract itself, through its agents or through independent contractors; or

4.3. Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to the OWNER for a contract for performance and completion of the Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the OWNER and the contractor selected with the OWNER's concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the Bonds issued on the Contract, and pay to the OWNER the amount of damages as described in paragraph 6 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the OWNER resulting from the CONTRACTOR Default; or

4.4. Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances;

4.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to the OWNER and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, tender payment therefor to the OWNER; or

 $4.4.2\,$ Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the OWNER citing reasons therefor.

5. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in paragraph 4 with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond fifteen days after receipt of an additional written notice from the OWNER to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the OWNER shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the OWNER. If the Surety proceeds as provided in paragraph 4.4, and the OWNER refuses the payment tendered or the Surety has denied pliability, in whole or in part, without further notice the OWNER shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the OWNER.

6. After the OWNER has terminated the CONTRACTOR's right to complete the Contract, and if the Surety elects to act under paragraph 4.1, 4.2, or 4.3 above, then the responsibilities of the Surety to the OWNER shall not be greater than those of the CONTRACTOR under the Contract, and the responsibilities of the OWNER to the Surety shall not be greater than those of the OWNER under the Contract. To a limit of the amount of this Bond, but subject to commitment by the OWNER of the Balance of the Contract Price to mitigation of costs and damages on the Contract, the Surety is obligated without duplication for:

6.1. The responsibilities of the CONTRACTOR for correction of defective Work and completion of the Contract;

6.2. Additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the CONTRACTOR's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under paragraph 4; and

6.3. Liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the CONTRACTOR.

7. The Surety shall not be liable to the OWNER or others for obligations of the CONTRACTOR that are unrelated to the Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the OWNER or its heirs, executors, administrators, or successors.

8. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders and other obligations.

9. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is located and shall be instituted within two years after CONTRACTOR Default or within two years after the CONTRACTOR ceased working or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.

10. Notice to the Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the signature page.

11. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the Contract was be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted here from and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. The intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.

12. Definitions.

12.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR under the Contract after all proper adjustments have been made, including allowance to the CONTRACTOR of any amounts received or to be received by the OWNER in settlement of insurance or other Claims for damages to which the CONTRACTOR is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the CONTRACTOR under the Contract.

12.2. Contract: The agreement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR identified on the signature page, including all Contract Documents and changes thereto.

12.3. CONTRACTOR Default: Failure of the CONTRACTOR, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with the terms of the Contract.

12.4. OWNER Default: Failure of the OWNER, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to pay the CONTRACTOR as required by the Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other terms thereof.

(FOR INFORMATION ONLY--Name, Address and Telephone) AGENT or BROKER: OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE (Engineer or other party):

Payment Bond

Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address):

SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business):

OWNER (Name and Address):

CONTRACT Date: Amount: Description (Name and Location):

BOND Date (Not earlier than Contract Date): Amount: Modifications to this Bond Form:

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this Payment Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent, or representative.

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURETY	
Company:	(Corp. Seal)	Company:	(Corp. Seal)
Signature:		Signature:	
Name and Title:		Name and Title:	
		(Attach Power of Attorney)	

(Space is provided below for signatures of additional parties, if required.)

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL		SURETY	
Company:	(Corp. Seal)	Company:	(Corp. Seal)
Signature:		Signature:	
Name and Title:		Name and Title:	

EJCDC No. 1910-28-B (1996 Edition)

Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General Contractors of America, the American Institute of Architects, the American Subcontractors Association, and the Associated Specialty Contractors.

1. The CONTRACTOR and the Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the OWNER to pay for labor, materials and equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.

2. With respect to the OWNER, this obligation shall be null and void if the CONTRACTOR:

2.1. Promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due Claimants, and

2.2. Defends, indemnifies and holds harmless the OWNER from all claims, demands, liens or suits by any person or entity who furnished labor, materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Contract, provided the OWNER has promptly notified the CONTRACTOR and the Surety (at the addresses described in paragraph 12) of any claims, demands, liens or suits and tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens or suits to the CONTRACTOR and the Surety, and provided there is no OWNER Default.

3. With respect to Claimants, this obligation shall be null and void if the CONTRACTOR promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due.

4. The Surety shall have no obligation to Claimants under this Bond until:

4.1. Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the CONTRACTOR have given notice to the Surety (at the addresses described in paragraph 12) and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, stating that a claim is being made under this Bond and, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the claim.

4.2. Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the CONTRACTOR:

1. Have furnished written notice to the CONTRACTOR and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, within 90 days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the claim stating, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the claim and the name of the party to whom the materials were furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed; and

2. Have either received a rejection in whole or in part from the CONTRACTOR, or not received within 30 days of furnishing the above notice any communication from the CONTRACTOR by which the CONTRACTOR had indicated the claim will be paid directly or indirectly; and

3. Not having been paid within the above 30 days, have sent a written notice to the Surety and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, stating that a claim is being made under this Bond and enclosing a copy of the previous written notice furnished to the CONTRACTOR.

5. If a notice required by paragraph 4 is given by the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR or to the Surety, that is sufficient compliance.

6. When the Claimant has satisfied the conditions of paragraph 4, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions:

6.1. Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the OWNER, within 45 days after receipt of the claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed.

6.2. Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts.

7. The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, and the amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the Surety.

8. Amounts owed by the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR under the Contract shall be used for the performance of the Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any Performance Bond. By the CONTRACTOR furnishing and the OWNER accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the CONTRACTOR in the performance of the Contract are dedicated to satisfy obligations of the CONTRACTOR and the Surety under this Bond, subject to the OWNER's priority to use the funds for the completion of the Work.

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the OWNER, Claimants or others for obligations of the CONTRACTOR that are unrelated to the Contract. The OWNER shall not be liable for payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligations to make payments to, give notices on behalf of, or otherwise have obligations to Claimants under this Bond.

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Contract or to related Subcontracts, purchase orders and other obligations.

11. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant gave the notice required by paragraph 4.1 or paragraph 4.2.3, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.

12. Notice to the Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR shall be mailed or delivered to the addresses shown on the signature page. Actual receipt of notice by Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received at the address shown on the signature page.

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the Contract was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. The intent is, that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory Bond and not as a common law bond.

14. Upon request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made.

15. DEFINITIONS

15.1. Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the CONTRACTOR or with a Subcontractor of the CONTRACTOR to furnish labor, materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Contract. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms "labor, materials or equipment" that part of water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service or rental equipment used in the Contract, architectural and engineering services required for performance of the Work of the CONTRACTOR and the CONTRACTOR's Subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials or equipment were furnished.

15.2. Contract: The agreement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR identified on the signature page, including all Contract Documents and changes thereto.

15.3. OWNER Default: Failure of the OWNER, which has neither been remedied nor waived, to pay the CONTRACTOR as required by the Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other terms thereof.

(FOR INFORMATION ONLY--Name, Address and Telephone) AGENCY or BROKER: OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE (Engineer or other party):

CONSENT OF SURETY COMPANY TO FINAL PAYMENT

PROJECT: Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas

OWNER: City of Port Lavaca

CONTRACTOR:

CONTRACT DATE: _____

In accordance with the provisions of the Contract between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR as indicated above,

_____, SURETY COMPANY, on bond of CONTRACTOR, hereby approves of the final payment to the CONTRACTOR, and agrees that final payment to the CONTRACTOR shall not relieve the SURETY COMPANY of any of its obligations to OWNER as set forth in the said SURETY COMPANY's bond.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SURETY COMPANY has hereunto set its hand this _____

day of _____, ____.

ATTEST:

SURETY COMPANY

Signature of Authorized Representative

Title

(SEAL)

APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT N	10
---------------------------	----

	feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gra Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.	wity main near the intersection of W. s ENGINEER's Project No.: E26133.00
1.	Original Contract Price:	\$
2.	Net change by Change Orders and Written Amendments (+ or -):	\$
3.	Current Contract Price (1 plus 2):	\$
4.	Total completed and stored to date:	\$
5.	Retainage (per Agreement):	
	% of completed Work: \$	
	% of stored material: \$	
	Total Retainage:	\$
6.	Total completed and stored to date less retainage (4 minus 5):	\$
7.	Less previous Applications for Payment:	\$
8.	DUE THIS APPLICATION (6 MINUS 7):	\$
Accomp	panying Documentation:	

CONTRACTOR's Certification:

The undersigned CONTRACTOR certifies that (1) all previous progress payments received from OWNER on account of Work done under the Contract referred to above have been applied on account to discharge CONTRACTOR's legitimate obligations incurred in connection with Work covered by prior Applications for Payment numbered 1 through ______ inclusive; (2) title of all Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or covered by this Application for Payment will pass to OWNER at time of payment free and clear of all Liens, security interests and encumbrances (except such as are covered by a Bond acceptable to OWNER indemnifying OWNER against any such Lien, security interest or encumbrance); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment is in accordance with the Contract Documents and not defective.

Dated	CONTRACTOR
	CONTRACTOR
	Ву:
State of	·
County of	_
Subscribed and sworn to before me this	day of,
Notary Public	
My Commission expires:	
,	-
Payment of the above AMOUNT DUE THIS AF	PPLICATION is recommended.
Dated	URBAN ENGINEERING
	Ву:
EJCDC No. 1910-8-E (1996 Edition) Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorse	ed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specification Institute.
E26133.00 - Application for Payment	

09/24

SCHEDULE OF VALUES

Application No.: _____ Date: _____

ltem No.	Description	Qty.	Unit	Unit Cost	Total Cost	Complete This Period	Complete To Date	Amount Due This Period	Amount Due To Date
	•			\$	\$			\$	\$
	TOTAL				¢			¢	•
	TOTAL				\$			\$	\$

CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE (Sample Form) (This can be replaced with form from Insurance Company)

Owner of Project:	
Address of Owner:	
Project to be Performed by Insured:	
Date of Certificate:	
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT	(Name and Address of Insured)

is, at this time, insured by this company with respect to the business operations hereinafter described, for the types of insurance and in accordance with the provisions of the standard policies used by this company, and further hereinafter described. Exceptions to standard policy noted on reverse side hereof.

TYPE OF INSURANCE

	Policy Number	Effective	Expires	Limits of Liability
Workmen's				
Compensation				
Public				
Liability				
Contingent				
Liability				
Property				
Damage				
Builder's				
Risk				
Automobile				
Other				

The foregoing policies (do) (do not) cover all subcontractors.

Locations covered:

Description of operations covered:

CERTIFICATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

DATE OF ISSUANCE _____

OWNER:
CONTRACTOR:City of Port LavacaCONTRACTOR:
CONTRACT:Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250
linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the
intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.PROJECT:Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas

OWNER'S CONTRACT NO .: N/A

ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO.: E26133.00

This Certificate of Substantial Completion applies to all Work under the Contract Documents or to the following specified parts thereof:

То	CITY OF PORT LAVACA	
	OWNER	
And To		
	CONTRACTOR	

The Work to which this Certificate applies has been inspected by authorized representatives of OWNER, CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER, and that Work is hereby declared to be substantially complete in accordance with the Contract Documents on

DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

A tentative list of items to be completed or corrected is attached hereto. This list may not be all-inclusive, and the failure to include an item in it does not alter the responsibility of CONTRACTOR to complete all the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. The items in the tentative list shall be completed or corrected by CONTRACTOR within _____ days of the above date of Substantial Completion.

EJCDC No. 1910-8-D (1996 Edition) Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute. The responsibilities between OWNER and CONTRACTOR for security, operation, safety, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance and warranties and guarantees shall be as follows:

OWNER:_____ CONTRACTOR: The following documents are attached to and made a part of this Certificate: [For items to be attached see definition of Substantial Completion as supplemented and other specifically noted conditions precedent to achieving Substantial Completion as required by Contract Documents.] This certificate does not constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Contract Documents nor is it a release of CONTRACTOR's obligation to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Executed by ENGINEER on _____ (Date) Urban Engineering (ENGINEER) By: _____(Authorized Signature) CONTRACTOR accepts this Certificate of Substantial Completion on (Date) (CONTRACTOR) By: _____(Authorized Signature) OWNER accepts this Certificate of Substantial Completion on _____ ____, ____ (Date) City of Port Lavaca (OWNER) By: _____(Authorized Signature)

CERTIFICATE OF FINAL COMPLETION

DATE OF ISSUANCE OWNER: City of Port Lavaca CONTRACTOR: CONTRACT DATE: CONTRACT AMOUNT: CONTRACT: Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca. Texas. PROJECT: Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas OWNER'S CONTRACT NO .: N/A ENGINEER's PROJECT NO: E26133.00 This Certificate of Final Completion applies to all Work under the Contract Documents. The Work to which this certificate applies has been inspected by authorized representatives of OWNER, CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER, and that the Work is hereby declared to be complete in accordance with the Contract Documents on (Date of Final Completion) Executed by ENGINEER on _____, ____, (Date) Urban Engineering (ENGINEER) By: ______(Authorized Signature) CONTRACTOR accepts this Certificate of Final Completion on _____ (Date) (CONTRACTOR) By: ______(Authorized Signature) OWNER accepts this Certificate of Final Completion on _____, ____ (Date) City of Port Lavaca (OWNER) By: ______(Authorized Signature)

AFFIDAVIT OF ALL BILLS PAID

THE STATE OF _____

COUNTY OF _____

______ personally appeared before the undersigned authority on this day and, having been duly sworn, states under oath that he is a duly authorized representative of the Contractor, ______, and that the Contract for the **Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas** has been fully completed and that all bills of the subcontractors for labor, materials and equipment, and supplies furnished in connection with this Project have been fully paid.

	Signature
	Typed Name
	ryped Name
	Title
Sworn to and subscribed before me this	_ day of,
	Notary Signature
	Printed Name
	In and for the State of
	Commission Expires
	Commission Expires

GUARANTEE

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That we, ________, ("CONTRACTOR"), of the City of _______, County of _______, and State of Texas, as CONTRACTOR for the Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas, jointly and severally represent, warrant, and guarantee as follows:

- 2. That all Work is free from faulty material in every particular throughout.
- 3. That all Work is free from improper workmanship throughout.
- 4. That all Work is guaranteed against unusual damage from proper and usual wear.
- 5. That CONTRACTOR will replace and/or re-execute, without cost to the OWNER such work as may be found to be defective or not completed in accordance with Contract Documents and Modifications, and will make good all damages caused to other work or materials as a result of such defective work or its required replacement or re-execution.
- 6. That CONTRACTOR agrees to replace and/or re-execute defective or improperly completed work for maintenance and all other purposes found within one (1) year after the date of final and unconditional acceptance of the Work by OWNER as evidenced by OWNER's Certificate of Acceptance of Work and/or the date of OWNER's written acceptance of Work.
- 7. That CONTRACTOR agrees in the event that CONTRACTOR attempts to replace and/or re-execute defective or improperly completed work during the initial one (1) year period of this Guarantee, but CONTRACTOR does not properly replace and/or re-execute such defective or improperly completed work, then the Guarantee period may be extended by OWNER at its sole option for an additional period necessary for proper replacement and/or re-execution of the Work by the CONTRACTOR within the terms of this Guarantee.
- 8. That CONTRACTOR agrees the one (1) year period of this Guarantee will not limit OWNER's other rights under common law to have defects remedied when discovered after one (1) year.

9. That notice of defective or improperly completed work shall be made in writing by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and addressed as follows:

OWNER:	City of Port Lav 202 N. Virginia Port Lavaca, Te	Street	
CONTRACTOR:			
EXECUTED on this the _	day of _		,
		CONTRACTOR	
		(Signature)	
		Ву:	
		Title:	

CERTIFICATE OF INTE	RESTED PARTIES		F	ORM 1295
Complete Nos. 1 - 4 and 6 if the Complete Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6		arties.	OFFIC	
Name of business entity filing form, a entity's place of business.	nd the city, state and country c	of the business		stile
2 Name of governmental entity or state which the form is being filed.	e agency that is a party to the c	ontract for	×+),S`
3 Provide the identification number use and provide a description of the serv	ed by the governmental entity o ices, goods, or other property t	or state agency to to be provided up	track of ident	tify the contract, ct.
4 Nome of Interacted Darty	City, State, Country	Natu	re of Interest (check applicable)
Name of Interested Party	(place of business) ◆		ntrolling	Intermediary
	www.ett			
	an an			
	N.			
	X			
	5			
5 Check only if there is to litterest	ed Party.		I	
6 UNSWORN DECLARATION				
My name is	, ar	nd my date of birth is _		
My address	3	3		_,
(street) L deviate under penalty of perjury that the fore	egoing is true and correct.	(city) (sta	te) (zip code)) (country)
Executed in County, S	State of, on the			ear)
	Signature of	authorized agent of c (Declarant		ess entity
ADD	ADDITIONAL PAGES AS	SNECESSAR	(
Form provided by Texas Ethics Commission	www.ethics.state.tx.u 00620-10	IS		Revised 12/22/2017

٦

FINAL WAIVER OF LIEN RIGHTS

FROM: (Contractor)

TO: City of Port Lavaca (Owner)

PROJECT: Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of Port Lavaca, Texas

- 1. The undersigned does hereby waive, release, and surrender any claim, lien, or right of lien resulting from labor, skill, and/or materials, subcontract work, equipment, or other work, rent services, or supplies, heretobefore furnished in and for the construction improvement, alteration or additions to the above-described project prior to the date hereof.
- 2. The undersigned further states that "Pay Estimate No. ______" attached hereto, as it relates to construction costs payable pursuant to its construction contract with the City of Port Lavaca is accurate as of the date hereof and that there are no mechanics' or materialmen's liens outstanding at the date of this Waiver. All due and payable bills with respect to the work performed by CONTRACTOR have been paid to date or are included in the amount requested in the attached Final Pay Estimate and there is no known basis for the filing of any mechanics' or materialmen's liens against the land or improvements of the OWNER; and waivers from all subcontractors and materialmen of subcontractor for work done and materials furnished have been obtained in such form as to constitute an effective waiver of all such liens under the laws of the State of Texas.
- 3. This Waiver of Lien Rights:
 - a. is given to secure payment for the work under the CONTRACTOR'S construction contract in the amount of \$______ as indicated in the attached Pay Estimate No. ______ Final;
 - b. will be fully effective upon receipt of said payment in full.
- 4. In further consideration of the payment as above set forth, and to induce the OWNER to make said payment, the undersigned agrees to defend and hold harmless the OWNER, City of Port Lavaca, OWNER'S lender, and/or any principal or surety from any claims hereinafter made by the undersigned and/or its employees, agents, servants, or assigns of such parties against the project.
- 5. The undersigned further states that upon receipt of the amount specified in Section 3(a) above, CONTRACTOR will have been fully paid for all sums due from OWNER under the construction contract and due from and after such receipt CONTRACTOR shall have no right or claim to any further payment from OWNER for any materials furnished or work performed by CONTRACTOR or by any person or entity claiming by, through, or under CONTRACTOR.

6. It is acknowledged that the designation of the above project constitutes an adequate description of the property and improvements for the purposes of this instrument.

Dated this	_ day of		
		CONTRACTOR	
		(Signature)	
		Ву:	
		Title:	
STATE OF COUNTY OF	§		
COUNTY OF	§		
The foregoing Fin	al Waiver of Lien Ri	ights was subscribed and sworn to me this	day of
	,, by		, as
		of	·

WITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICIAL SEAL.

Notary Public Signature

Printed Name

Commission Expires

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with respect to its use or modification. This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of the contemplated Project and the Controlling Law.

STANDARD GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT

Prepared by

ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE

and

Issued and Published Jointly By



National Society of Professional Engineers Professional Engineers in Private Practice



PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS IN PRIVATE PRACTICE a practice division of the NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS

AMERICAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS COUNCIL

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS

This document has been approved and endorsed by

The Associated General Contractors of America

Construction Specifications Institute

These General Conditions have been prepared for use with the Owner-Contractor Agreements (No. 1910-8-A-1 or 1910-8-A-2) (1996 Editions). Their provisions are interrelated and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other. Comments concerning their usage are contained in the EJCDC User's Guide (No. 1910-50). For guidance in the preparation of Supplementary Conditions, see Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (No. 1910-17) (1996 Edition).

EJCDC No. 1910-8 (1996 Edition)

Copyright ©1996

National Society of Professional Engineers 1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314

American Consulting Engineers Council 1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005

American Society of Civil Engineers 345 East 47th Street, New York, NY 10017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ARTIC	CLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY	6
	1.01 Defined Terms	6
	1.02 Terminology	8
ΔΡΤΙΟ	CLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS	0
ANTIC	2.01 Delivery of Bonds	
	2.02 Copies of Documents	
	2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed	
	2.04 Starting the Work	
	2.05 Before Starting Construction	
	2.06 Preconstruction Conference	
	2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules	10
ARTIC	CLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE	10
	3.01 Intent	
	3.02 Reference Standards	
	3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies	
	3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents	
	3.05 Reuse of Documents	11
	CLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIC	NIG. DECEDENCE
AKIIC	POINTS	
	4.01 Availability of Lands	
	4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions	
	4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions	
	4.05 Dijjering Substituce of Lingsteat Conditions	
	4.05 Reference Points	
	4.05 Reference Founds	
	4.06 Hazaraous Environmental Condition al Sile	14
ARTIC	CLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE	15
	5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds	
	5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers	
	5.03 Certificates of Insurance	
	5.04 CONTRACTOR's Liability Insurance	
	5.05 OWNER's Liability Insurance	
	5.06 Property Insurance	
	5.07 Waiver of Rights	
	5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds	
	5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace	
	5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer	19
ARTIC	LE 6 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES	10
¹ IIIIC	6.01 Supervision and Superintendence	
	6.02 Labor; Working Hours	
	6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment	
	6.04 Progress Schedule	
	6.05 Substitutes and "Or-Equals"	
	6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	
	0.00 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others	

6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties	22
6.08 Permits	22
6.09 Laws and Regulations	23
6.10 Taxes	23
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas	23
6.12 Record Documents	23
6.13 Safety and Protection	
6.14 Safety Representative	
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs	
6.16 Emergencies	
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples	
6.18 Continuing the Work	
6.19 CONTRACTOR's General Warranty and Guarantee	
6.20 Indemnification	
ARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK	27
7.01 Related Work at Site	27
7.02 Coordination	27
ARTICLE 8 - OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES	27
8.01 Communications to Contractor	27
8.02 Replacement of ENGINEER	
8.03 Furnish Data	
8.04 Pay Promptly When Due	
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests	
8.06 Insurance	
8.07 Change Orders	
8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals	
8.09 Limitations on OWNER's Responsibilities	
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition	
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements	
ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION	
9.01 OWNER'S Representative	
9.02 Visits to Site	
9.03 Project Representative	
9.04 Clarifications and Interpretations	
9.05 Authorized Variations in Work	
9.06 Rejecting Defective Work	
9.07 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments	
9.08 Determinations for Unit Price Work	
9.09 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work	
9.10 Limitations on ENGINEER's Authority and Responsibilities	
ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS	
10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work	
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work	
10.03 Execution of Change Orders	
10.04 Notification to Surety	
10.05 Claims and Disputes	
ARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; CASH ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK	
11.01 Cost of the Work	31

11.02 Cash Allowances	
11.03 Unit Price Work	
ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES	34
12.01 Change of Contract Price	
12.02 Change of Contract Times	
12.03 Delays Beyond CONTRACTOR's Control	
12.04 Delays Within CONTRACTOR's Control	
12.05 Delays Beyond OWNER's and CONTRACTOR's Control	
12.06 Delay Damages	
ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTAL	NCE OF
DEFECTIVE WORK	
13.01 Notice of Defects	
13.02 Access to Work	
13.03 Tests and Inspections	
13.04 Uncovering Work	
13.05 OWNER May Stop the Work	
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work	
13.07 Correction Period	
13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work	
13.09 OWNER May Correct Defective Work	
ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION	
14.01 Schedule of Values	
14.02 Progress Payments	
14.03 CONTRACTOR's Warranty of Title	
14.04 Substantial Completion	
14.05 Partial Utilization	
14.06 Final Inspection	
14.07 Final Payment	
14.08 Final Completion Delayed	
14.09 Waiver of Claims	
ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION	42
15.01 OWNER May Suspend Work	42
15.02 OWNER May Terminate for Cause	
15.03 OWNER May Terminate For Convenience	43
15.04 CONTRACTOR May Stop Work or Terminate	43
ARTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION	43
16.01 Methods and Procedures	43
ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS	
17.01 Giving Notice	
17.02 Computation of Times	
17.03 Cumulative Remedies	
17.04 Survival of Obligations	
17.05 Controlling Law	44

GENERAL CONDITIONS

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

1.01 Defined Terms

A. Wherever used in the Contract Documents and printed with initial or all capital letters, the terms listed below will have the meanings indicated which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof.

1. *Addenda*--Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or change the Bidding Requirements or the Contract Documents.

2. *Agreement--*The written instrument which is evidence of the agreement between OWNER and CONTRACTOR covering the Work.

3. Application for Payment--The form acceptable to ENGINEER which is to be used by CON-TRACTOR during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.

4. *Asbestos*--Any material that contains more than one percent asbestos and is friable or is releasing asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels established by the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration.

5. *Bid--*The offer or proposal of a bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.

6. *Bidding Documents--*The Bidding Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents (including all Addenda issued prior to receipt of Bids).

7. *Bidding Requirements*--The Advertisement or Invitation to Bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid security form, if any, and the Bid form with any supplements.

8. *Bonds*--Performance and payment bonds and other instruments of security.

9. *Change Order*--A document recommended by ENGINEER which is signed by CONTRACTOR and OWNER and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the

Contract Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement.

10. *Claim*--A demand or assertion by OWNER or CONTRACTOR seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.

11. *Contract*--The entire and integrated written agreement between the OWNER and CONTRACTOR concerning the Work. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, whether written or oral.

12. Contract Documents--The Contract Documents establish the rights and obligations of the parties and include the Agreement, Addenda (which pertain to the Contract Documents), CONTRACTOR's Bid (including documentation accompanying the Bid and any post Bid documentation submitted prior to the Notice of Award) when attached as an exhibit to the Agreement, the Notice to Proceed, the Bonds, these General Conditions, the Supplementary Conditions, the Specifications and the Drawings as the same are more specifically identified in the Agreement, together with all Written Amendments, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and ENGINEER's written interpretations and clarifications issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement. Approved Shop Drawings and the reports and drawings of subsurface and physical conditions are not Contract Documents. Only printed or hard copies of the items listed in this paragraph are Contract Documents. Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, and the like that may be furnished by OWNER to CONTRACTOR are not Contract Documents.

13. *Contract Price-*-The moneys payable by OWNER to CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the Agreement (subject to the provisions of paragraph 11.03 in the case of Unit Price Work).

14. *Contract Times--*The number of days or the dates stated in the Agreement to: (i) achieve Substantial Completion; and (ii) complete the Work so that it is ready for final payment as evidenced by ENGINEER's written recommendation of final payment.

15. *CONTRACTOR*--The individual or entity with whom OWNER has entered into the Agreement.

16. *Cost of the Work--*See paragraph 11.01.A for definition.

17. *Drawings--*That part of the Contract Documents prepared or approved by ENGINEER which graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by CONTRACTOR. Shop Drawings and other CONTRACTOR submittals are not Drawings as so defined.

18. *Effective Date of the Agreement-*-The date indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes effective, but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on which the Agreement is signed and delivered by the last of the two parties to sign and deliver.

19. *ENGINEER*--The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement.

20. *ENGINEER's Consultant*--An individual or entity having a contract with ENGINEER to furnish services as ENGINEER's independent professional associate or consultant with respect to the Project and who is identified as such in the Supplementary Conditions.

21. *Field Order--*A written order issued by ENGINEER which requires minor changes in the Work but which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times.

22. *General Requirements*--Sections of Division 1 of the Specifications. The General Requirements pertain to all sections of the Specifications.

23. *Hazardous Environmental Condition--*The presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, Petroleum, Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such quantities or circumstances that may present a substantial danger to persons or property exposed thereto in connection with the Work.

24. *Hazardous Waste--*The term Hazardous Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 1004 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as amended from time to time.

25. *Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations*-Any and all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.

26. *Liens--*Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or personal property.

27. *Milestone--*A principal event specified in the Contract Documents relating to an intermediate completion date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work.

28. *Notice of Award--*The written notice by OWNER to the apparent successful bidder stating that upon timely compliance by the apparent successful bidder with the conditions precedent listed therein, OWNER will sign and deliver the Agreement.

29. *Notice to Proceed*--A written notice given by OWNER to CONTRACTOR fixing the date on which the Contract Times will commence to run and on which CONTRACTOR shall start to perform the Work under the Contract Documents.

30. *OWNER*--The individual, entity, public body, or authority with whom CONTRACTOR has entered into the Agreement and for whom the Work is to be performed.

31. *Partial Utilization-*-Use by OWNER of a substantially completed part of the Work for the purpose for which it is intended (or a related purpose) prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work.

32. PCBs--Polychlorinated biphenyls.

33. *Petroleum*--Petroleum, including crude oil or any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard conditions of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 14.7 pounds per square inch absolute), such as oil, petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, kerosene, and oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste and crude oils.

34. *Project*--The total construction of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents may be the whole, or a part as may be indicated elsewhere in the Contract Documents.

35. *Project Manual*--The bound documentary information prepared for bidding and constructing the Work. A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, which may be bound in one or more volumes, is contained in the table(s) of contents.

36. *Radioactive Material*--Source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended from time to time.

37. *Resident Project Representative--*The authorized representative of ENGINEER who may be assigned to the Site or any part thereof.

38. *Samples*--Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and which establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.

39. *Shop Drawings*--All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information which are specifically prepared or assembled by or for CON-TRACTOR and submitted by CONTRACTOR to illustrate some portion of the Work.

40. *Site--*Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by OWNER upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements for access thereto, and such other lands furnished by OWNER which are designated for the use of CONTRACTOR.

41. *Specifications--*That part of the Contract Documents consisting of written technical descriptions of materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work and certain administrative details applicable thereto.

42. *Subcontractor*--An individual or entity having a direct contract with CONTRACTOR or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work at the Site.

43. *Substantial Completion--*The time at which the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the point where, in the opinion of ENGINEER, the Work (or a specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work (or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes for which it is intended. The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof.

44. *Supplementary Conditions--*That part of the Contract Documents which amends or supplements these General Conditions.

45. *Supplier*--A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with CONTRACTOR or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by CONTRACTOR or any Subcontractor.

46. Underground Facilities--All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such facilities, including those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other communications, cable

television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems.

47. *Unit Price Work--*Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices.

48. *Work*--The entire completed construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction, and furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction, all as required by the Contract Documents.

49. Work Change Directive--A written statement to CONTRACTOR issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and signed by OWNER and recommended by ENGINEER ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work, or responding to differing or unforeseen subsurface or physical conditions under which the Work is to be performed or to emergencies. A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the change ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if any, on the Contract Price or Contract Times.

50. Written Amendment--A written statement modifying the Contract Documents, signed by OWNER and CONTRACTOR on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and normally dealing with the nonengineering or nontechnical rather than strictly construction-related aspects of the Contract Documents.

1.02 Terminology

A. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives

1. Whenever in the Contract Documents the terms "as allowed," "as approved," or terms of like effect or import are used, or the adjectives "reasonable," "suitable," "acceptable," "proper," "satisfactory," or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or determination of ENGINEER as to the Work, it is intended that such action or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the completed Work for compliance with the requirements of and information in the Contract Documents and conformance with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective shall not be effective to assign to ENGINEER

any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of paragraph 9.10 or any other provision of the Contract Documents.

B. Day

1. The word "day" shall constitute a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight.

C. Defective

1. The word "defective," when modifying the word "Work," refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it does not conform to the Contract Documents or does not meet the requirements of any inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged prior to ENGINEER's recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by OWNER at Substantial Completion in accordance with paragraph 14.04 or 14.05).

D. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide

1. The word "furnish," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to supply and deliver said services, materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other specified location) ready for use or installation and in usable or operable condition.

2. The word "install," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to put into use or place in final position said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.

3. The words "perform" or "provide," when used in connection with services, materials, or equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said services, materials, or equipment complete and ready for intended use.

4. When "furnish," "install," "perform," or "provide" is not used in connection with services, materials, or equipment in a context clearly requiring an obligation of CONTRACTOR, "provide" is implied.

E. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases which have a well-known technical

or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS

2.01 Delivery of Bonds

A. When CONTRACTOR delivers the executed Agreements to OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall also deliver to OWNER such Bonds as CONTRACTOR may be required to furnish.

2.02 *Copies of Documents*

A. OWNER shall furnish to CONTRACTOR up to ten copies of the Contract Documents. Additional copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.

2.03 *Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed*

A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement or, if a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed may be given at any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the Agreement. In no event will the Contract Times commence to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of Bid opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement, whichever date is earlier.

2.04 Starting the Work

A. CONTRACTOR shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which the Contract Times commence to run.

2.05 Before Starting Construction

A. CONTRACTOR's Review of Contract Documents: Before undertaking each part of the Work, CONTRACTOR shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents and check and verify pertinent figures therein and all applicable field measurements. CONTRACTOR shall promptly report in writing to ENGINEER any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy which CONTRACTOR may discover and shall obtain a written interpretation or clarification from ENGINEER before proceeding with any Work affected thereby; however, CONTRACTOR shall not be liable to OWNER or ENGINEER for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless CONTRACTOR knew or reasonably should have known thereof.

B. *Preliminary Schedules:* Within ten days after the Effective Date of the Agreement (unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements), CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGINEER for its timely review:

1. a preliminary progress schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract Documents;

2. a preliminary schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals which will list each required submittal and the times for submitting, reviewing, and processing such submittal; and

3. a preliminary schedule of values for all of the Work which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work.

C. *Evidence of Insurance:* Before any Work at the Site is started, CONTRACTOR and OWNER shall each deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either of them or any additional insured may reasonably request) which CONTRACTOR and OWNER respectively are required to purchase and maintain in accordance with Article 5.

2.06 Preconstruction Conference

A. Within 20 days after the Contract Times start to run, but before any Work at the Site is started, a conference attended by CONTRACTOR, ENGINEER, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in paragraph 2.05.B, procedures for handling Shop Drawings and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and maintaining required records.

2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, at least ten days before submission of the first Application for Payment a conference attended by CON-TRACTOR, ENGINEER, and others as appropriate will be held to review for acceptability to ENGINEER as provided below the schedules submitted in accordance with paragraph 2.05.B. CONTRACTOR shall have an additional ten days to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to CONTRACTOR until acceptable schedules are submitted to ENGINEER.

> 1. The progress schedule will be acceptable to ENGINEER if it provides an orderly progression of the Work to completion within any specified Milestones and the Contract Times. Such acceptance will not impose on ENGINEER responsibility for the progress schedule, for sequencing, scheduling, or progress of the Work nor interfere with or relieve CONTRACTOR from CONTRACTOR's full responsibility therefor.

> 2. CONTRACTOR's schedule of Shop Drawing and Sample submittals will be acceptable to ENGINEER if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.

> 3. CONTRACTOR's schedule of values will be acceptable to ENGINEER as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to component parts of the Work.

ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE

3.01 Intent

A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is called for by one is as binding as if called for by all.

B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete Project (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or equipment that may reasonably be inferred from the Contract Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as being required to produce the intended result will be provided whether or not specifically called for at no additional cost to OWNER.

C. Clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents shall be issued by ENGINEER as provided in Article 9.

3.02 Reference Standards

A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and Regulations

1. Reference to standards, specifications, manuals, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the standard, specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents.

2. No provision of any such standard, specification, manual or code, or any instruction of a Supplier shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of OWNER, CONTRACTOR, or ENGINEER, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees from those set forth in the Contract Documents, nor shall any such provision or instruction be effective to assign to OWNER, ENGINEER, or any of ENGINEER's Consultants, agents, or employees any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the Contract Documents.

3.03 *Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies*

A. Reporting Discrepancies

1. If, during the performance of the Work, CONTRACTOR discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents or between the Contract Documents and any provision of any Law or Regulation applicable to the performance of the Work or of any standard, specification, manual or code, or of any instruction of any Supplier, CONTRACTOR shall report it to ENGINEER in writing at once. CONTRACTOR shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by paragraph 6.16.A) until an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents has been issued by one of the methods indicated in paragraph 3.04; provided, however, that CONTRACTOR shall not be liable to

OWNER or ENGINEER for failure to report any such conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy unless CONTRACTOR knew or reasonably should have known thereof.

B. Resolving Discrepancies

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of the Contract Documents shall take precedence in resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy between the provisions of the Contract Documents and:

a. the provisions of any standard, specification, manual, code, or instruction (whether or not specifically incorporated by reference in the Contract Documents); or

b. the provisions of any Laws or Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work (unless such an interpretation of the provisions of the Contract Documents would result in violation of such Law or Regulation).

3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents

A. The Contract Documents may be amended to provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the Work or to modify the terms and conditions thereof in one or more of the following ways: (i) a Written Amendment; (ii) a Change Order; or (iii) a Work Change Directive.

B. The requirements of the Contract Documents may be supplemented, and minor variations and deviations in the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the following ways: (i) a Field Order; (ii) ENGINEER's approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample; or (iii) ENGINEER's written interpretation or clarification.

3.05 *Reuse of Documents*

A. CONTRACTOR and any Subcontractor or Supplier or other individual or entity performing or furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect contract with OWNER: (i) shall not have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of ENGINEER or ENGINEER's Consultant, including electronic media editions; and (ii) shall not reuse any of such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Project or any other project without written consent of OWNER and ENGINEER and specific written verification or adaption by ENGINEER. This prohibition will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work, or termination or completion of the Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude CONTRACTOR from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.

ARTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE POINTS

4.01 *Availability of Lands*

A. OWNER shall furnish the Site. OWNER shall notify CONTRACTOR of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which CONTRACTOR must comply in performing the Work. OWNER will obtain in a timely manner and pay for easements for permanent structures or permanent changes in existing facilities. If CON-TRACTOR and OWNER are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of any delay in OWNER's furnishing the Site, CONTRACTOR may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

B. Upon reasonable written request, OWNER shall furnish CONTRACTOR with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which the Work is to be performed and OWNER's interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.

C. CONTRACTOR shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.

4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions

A. *Reports and Drawings:* The Supplementary Conditions identify:

1. those reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site that ENGINEER has used in preparing the Contract Documents; and

2. those drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) that ENGINEER has used in preparing the Contract Documents.

B. Limited Reliance by CONTRACTOR on Technical Data Authorized: CONTRACTOR may rely upon the general accuracy of the "technical data" contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. Such "technical data" is identified in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance on such "technical data," CONTRACTOR may not rely upon or make any Claim against OWNER, ENGINEER, or any of ENGINEER's Consultants with respect to:

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for CONTRACTOR's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by CONTRACTOR, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or

2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or

3. any CONTRACTOR interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.

4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions

A. *Notice:* If CONTRACTOR believes that any subsurface or physical condition at or contiguous to the Site that is uncovered or revealed either:

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any "technical data" on which CONTRACTOR is entitled to rely as provided in paragraph 4.02 is materially inaccurate; or

2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Contract Documents; or

3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or

4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents;

then CONTRACTOR shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by paragraph 6.16.A), notify OWNER and ENGINEER in writing about such condition. CONTRACTOR shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order to do so.

B. *ENGINEER's Review:* After receipt of written notice as required by paragraph 4.03.A, ENGINEER will promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the necessity of OWNER's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect thereto, and advise OWNER in writing (with a copy to CONTRACTOR) of ENGINEER's findings and conclusions.

C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments

1. The Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the extent that the existence of such differing subsurface or physical condition causes an increase or decrease in CONTRACTOR's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:

a. such condition must meet any one or more of the categories described in paragraph 4.03.A; and

b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a Unit Price Basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of paragraphs 9.08 and 11.03.

2. CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times if:

a. CONTRACTOR knew of the existence of such conditions at the time CONTRACTOR made a final commitment to OWNER in respect of Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract; or

b. the existence of such condition could reasonably have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for CONTRACTOR prior to CONTRACTOR's making such final commitment; or c. CONTRACTOR failed to give the written notice within the time and as required by paragraph 4.03.A.

3. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. However, OWNER, ENGINEER, and ENGINEER's Consultants shall not be liable to CONTRACTOR for any claims, costs, losses, or damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by CONTRACTOR on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.

4.04 Underground Facilities

A. *Shown or Indicated:* The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the Site is based on information and data furnished to OWNER or ENGINEER by the owners of such Underground Facilities, including OWNER, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:

1. OWNER and ENGINEER shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any such information or data; and

2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and CONTRACTOR shall have full responsibility for:

a. reviewing and checking all such information and data,

b. locating all Underground Facilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents,

c. coordination of the Work with the owners of such Underground Facilities, including OWNER, during construction, and

d. the safety and protection of all such Underground Facilities and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.

B. Not Shown or Indicated

1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was

not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents, CONTRACTOR shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by paragraph 6.16.A), identify the owner of such Underground Facility and give written notice to that owner and to OWNER and ENGINEER. ENGINEER will promptly review the Underground Facility and determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility. During such time, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility.

2. If ENGINEER concludes that a change in the Contract Documents is required, a Work Change Directive or a Change Order will be issued to reflect and document such consequences. An equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract Price of Contract Times, or both, to the extent that they are attributable to the existence or location of any Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy in the Contract Documents and that CONTRACTOR did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, OWNER or CONTRACTOR may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

4.05 *Reference Points*

A. OWNER shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction which in ENGINEER's judgment are necessary to enable CON-TRACTOR to proceed with the Work. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference points and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior written approval of OWNER. CONTRACTOR shall report to ENGINEER whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points or property monuments by professionally qualified personnel.

4.06 *Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site*

A. *Reports and Drawings:* Reference is made to the Supplementary Conditions for the identification of those reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that have been utilized by the ENGINEER in the preparation of the Contract Documents.

B. Limited Reliance by CONTRACTOR on Technical Data Authorized: CONTRACTOR may rely upon the general accuracy of the "technical data" contained in such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. Such "technical data" is identified in the Supplementary Conditions. Except for such reliance on such "technical data," CONTRACTOR may not rely upon or make any Claim against OWNER, ENGINEER or any of ENGINEER's Consultants with respect to:

1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for CONTRACTOR's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by CONTRACTOR and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or

2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or

3. any CONTRACTOR interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.

C. CONTRACTOR shall not be responsible for any Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site which was not shown or indicated in Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for a Hazardous Environmental Condition created with any materials brought to the Site by CON-TRACTOR, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible.

D. If CONTRACTOR encounters a Hazardous Environmental Condition or if CONTRACTOR or anyone for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, CONTRACTOR shall immediately: (i) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (ii) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by paragraph 6.16); and (iii) notify OWNER and ENGINEER (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing). OWNER shall promptly consult with ENGINEER concerning the necessity for OWNER to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any.

E. CONTRACTOR shall not be required to resume Work in connection with such condition or in any affected area until after OWNER has obtained any required permits related thereto and delivered to CONTRACTOR written notice: (i) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work; or (ii) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by CONTRACTOR, either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

F. If after receipt of such written notice CONTRACTOR does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then OWNER may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a result of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. OWNER may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by OWNER's own forces or others in accordance with Article 7.

G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, OWNER shall indemnify and hold harmless CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, other consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition: (i) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (ii) was not created by CONTRACTOR or by anyone for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible. Nothing in this paragraph 4.06.E shall obligate OWNER to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.

H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, other consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by CONTRACTOR or by anyone for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible. Nothing in this paragraph 4.06.F shall obligate CONTRACTOR to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.

I. The provisions of paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 are not intended to apply to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.

ARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE

5.01 *Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds*

A. CONTRACTOR shall furnish performance and payment Bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and payment of all CONTRACTOR's obligations under the Contract Documents. These Bonds shall remain in effect at least until one year after the date when final payment becomes due, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations or by the Contract Documents. CONTRAC-TOR shall also furnish such other Bonds as are required by the Contract Documents.

B. All Bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the current list of "Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies" as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. All Bonds signed by an agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent's authority to act.

C. If the surety on any Bond furnished by CON-TRACTOR is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the Project is located or it ceases to meet the requirements of paragraph 5.01.B, CONTRACTOR shall within 20 days thereafter substitute another Bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the requirements of paragraphs 5.01.B and 5.02.

5.02 *Licensed Sureties and Insurers*

A. All Bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be purchased and maintained by OWNER or CONTRACTOR shall be obtained from surety or insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue Bonds or insurance policies for the limits and coverages so required. Such surety and insurance companies shall also meet such additional requirements and qualifications as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

5.03 Certificates of Insurance

A. CONTRACTOR shall deliver to OWNER, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance requested by OWNER or any other additional insured) which CONTRACTOR is required to purchase and maintain. OWNER shall deliver to CONTRACTOR, with copies to each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other evidence of insurance requested by CONTRACTOR or any other additional insured) which OWNER is required to purchase and maintain.

5.04 CONTRACTOR's Liability Insurance

A. CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain such liability and other insurance as is appropriate for the Work being performed and as will provide protection from claims set forth below which may arise out of or result from CONTRACTOR's performance of the Work and CONTRACTOR's other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable:

1. claims under workers' compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit acts;

2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of CONTRACTOR's employees;

3. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than CONTRACTOR's employees;

4. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage which are sustained: (i) by any person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the employment of such person by CONTRACTOR, or (ii) by any other person for any other reason;

5. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom; and

6. claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle.

B. The policies of insurance so required by this paragraph 5.04 to be purchased and maintained shall:

1. with respect to insurance required by paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive, include as additional insureds (subject to any customary exclusion in respect of professional liability) OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, all of whom shall be listed as additional insureds, and include coverage for the respective officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insureds, and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby;

2. include at least the specific coverages and be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater;

3. include completed operations insurance;

4. include contractual liability insurance covering CONTRACTOR's indemnity obligations under paragraphs 6.07, 6.11, and 6.20;

5. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed or renewal refused until at least thirty days prior written notice has been given to OWNER and CONTRACTOR and to each other additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued (and the certificates of insurance furnished by the CONTRACTOR pursuant to paragraph 5.03 will so provide);

6. remain in effect at least until final payment and at all times thereafter when CON-TRACTOR may be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work in accordance with paragraph 13.07; and

7. with respect to completed operations insurance, and any insurance coverage written on a claims-made basis, remain in effect for at least two years after final payment (and CONTRACTOR shall furnish OWNER and each other additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued, evidence satisfactory to OWNER and any such additional insured of continuation of such insurance at final payment and one year thereafter).

5.05 OWNER's Liability Insurance

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by CONTRACTOR under paragraph 5.04, OWNER, at OWNER's option, may purchase and maintain at OWNER's expense OWNER's own liability insurance as will protect OWNER against claims which may arise from operations under the Contract Documents.

5.06 Property Insurance

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, OWNER shall purchase and maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the full replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary Conditions or required by Laws and Regulations). This insurance shall:

> 1. include the interests of OWNER, CON-TRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants. and anv other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as an additional insured;

> 2. be written on a Builder's Risk "all-risk" or open peril or special causes of loss policy form

that shall at least include insurance for physical loss or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, false work, and materials and equipment in transit, and shall insure against at least the following perils or causes of loss: fire, lightning, extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, water damage, and such other perils or causes of loss as may be specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions;

3. include expenses incurred in the repair or replacement of any insured property (including but not limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects);

4. cover materials and equipment stored at the Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing by OWNER prior to being incorporated in the Work, provided that such materials and equipment have been included in an Application for Payment recommended by ENGINEER;

5. allow for partial utilization of the Work by OWNER;

6. include testing and startup; and

7. be maintained in effect until final payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing by OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER with 30 days written notice to each other additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued.

B. OWNER shall purchase and maintain such boiler and machinery insurance or additional property insurance as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or Laws and Regulations which will include the interests of OWNER, CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and any other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be listed as an insured or additional insured.

C. All the policies of insurance (and the certificates or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased and maintained in accordance with paragraph 5.06 will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to OWNER and CONTRACTOR and to each other additional insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued and will contain waiver provisions in accordance with paragraph 5.07.

D. OWNER shall not be responsible for purchasing and maintaining any property insurance specified in this paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, or others in the Work to the extent of any deductible amounts that are identified in the Supplementary Conditions. The risk of loss within such identified deductible amount will be borne by CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, or others suffering any such loss, and if any of them wishes property insurance coverage within the limits of such amounts, each may purchase and maintain it at the purchaser's own expense.

E. If CONTRACTOR requests in writing that other special insurance be included in the property insurance policies provided under paragraph 5.06, OWNER shall, if possible, include such insurance, and the cost thereof will be charged to CONTRACTOR by appropriate Change Order or Written Amendment. Prior to commencement of the Work at the Site, OWNER shall in writing advise CONTRACTOR whether or not such other insurance has been procured by OWNER.

5.07 Waiver of Rights

A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR intend that all policies purchased in accordance with paragraph 5.06 will protect OWNER, CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds (and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them) in such policies and will provide primary coverage for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of loss covered thereby. All such policies shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery against any of the insureds or additional insureds thereunder. OWNER and CONTRACTOR waive all rights against each other and their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in addition, waive all such rights against Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds (and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them) under such policies for losses and damages so caused. None of the above waivers shall extend to the rights that any party making such waiver may have to the proceeds of insurance held by OWNER as trustee or otherwise payable under any policy so issued.

B. OWNER waives all rights against CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them for:

> 1. loss due to business interruption, loss of use, or other consequential loss extending beyond direct physical loss or damage to OWNER's property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other peril whether or not insured by OWNER; and

> 2. loss or damage to the completed Project or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss covered by any property insurance maintained on the completed Project or part thereof by OWNER during partial utilization pursuant to paragraph 14.05, after Substantial Completion pursuant to paragraph 14.04, or after final payment pursuant to paragraph 14.07.

C. Any insurance policy maintained by OWNER covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to in paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of recovery against CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, or ENGINEER's Consultants and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them.

5.08 *Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds*

A. Any insured loss under the policies of insurance required by paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted with OWNER and made payable to OWNER as fiduciary for the insureds, as their interests may appear, subject to the requirements of any applicable mortgage clause and of paragraph 5.08.B. OWNER shall deposit in a separate account any money so received and shall distribute it in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no other special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be repaired or replaced, the moneys so received applied on account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered by an appropriate Change Order or Written Amendment.

B. OWNER as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of the parties

in interest shall object in writing within 15 days after the occurrence of loss to OWNER's exercise of this power. If such objection be made, OWNER as fiduciary shall make settlement with the insurers in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach. If no such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, OWNER as fiduciary shall adjust and settle the loss with the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in interest, OWNER as fiduciary shall give bond for the proper performance of such duties.

5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace

A. If either OWNER or CONTRACTOR has any objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions of the Bonds or insurance required to be purchased and maintained by the other party in accordance with Article 5 on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract Documents, the objecting party shall so notify the other party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the certificates (or other evidence requested) required by paragraph 2.05.C. OWNER and CONTRACTOR shall each provide to the other such additional information in respect of insurance provided as the other may reasonably request. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the Bonds and insurance required of such party by the Contract Documents, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent Bonds or insurance to protect such other party's interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and a Change Order shall be issued to adjust the Contract Price accordingly.

5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer

A. If OWNER finds it necessary to occupy or use a portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work as provided in paragraph 14.05, no such use or occupancy shall commence before the insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to paragraph 5.06 have acknowledged notice thereof and in writing effected any changes in coverage necessitated thereby. The insurers providing the property insurance shall consent by endorsement on the policy or policies, but the property insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy.

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

6.01 *Supervision and Superintendence*

A. CONTRACTOR shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, but CONTRACTOR shall not be responsible for the negligence of OWNER or ENGINEER in the design or specification of a specific means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction which is shown or indicated in and expressly required by the Contract Documents. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to see that the completed Work complies accurately with the Contract Documents.

B. At all times during the progress of the Work, CONTRACTOR shall assign a competent resident superintendent thereto who shall not be replaced without written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER except under extraordinary circumstances. The superintendent will be CONTRACTOR's representative at the Site and shall have authority to act on behalf of CONTRACTOR. All communications given to or received from the superintendent shall be binding on CONTRACTOR.

6.02 Labor; Working Hours

A. CONTRACTOR shall provide competent, suitably qualified personnel to survey, lay out, and construct the Work as required by the Contract Documents. CON-TRACTOR shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.

B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, and CON-TRACTOR will not permit overtime work or the performance of Work on Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday without OWNER's written consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld) given after prior written notice to ENGINEER.

6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment

A. Unless otherwise specified in the General Requirements, CONTRACTOR shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start-up, and completion of the Work.

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All warranties and guarantees specifically called for by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of OWNER. If required by ENGINEER, CONTRACTOR shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents.

6.04 Progress Schedule

A. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to the progress schedule established in accordance with paragraph 2.07 as it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below.

1. CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGI-NEER for acceptance (to the extent indicated in paragraph 2.07) proposed adjustments in the progress schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times (or Milestones). Such adjustments will conform generally to the progress schedule then in effect and additionally will comply with any provisions of the General Requirements applicable thereto.

2. Proposed adjustments in the progress schedule that will change the Contract Times (or Milestones) shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 12. Such adjustments may only be made by a Change Order or Written Amendment in accordance with Article 12.

6.05 Substitutes and "Or-Equals"

A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the specification or description is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or "or-equal" item or no substitution is permitted, other items of material or equipment or material or equipment of other Suppliers may be submitted to ENGINEER for review under the circumstances described below.

1. "Or-Equal" Items: If in ENGINEER's sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by CONTRACTOR is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, it may be considered by ENGINEER as an "or-equal" item, in which case review and approval of the proposed item may, in ENGINEER's sole discretion, be accomplished without compliance with some or all of the requirements for approval of proposed substitute items. For the purposes of this paragraph 6.05.A.1, a proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:

a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment ENGINEER determines that: (i) it is at least equal in quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics; (ii) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole, and;

b. CONTRACTOR certifies that: (i) there is no increase in cost to the OWNER; and (ii) it will conform substantially, even with deviations, to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.

2. Substitute Items

a. If in ENGINEER's sole discretion an item of material or equipment proposed by CONTRACTOR does not qualify as an "or-equal" item under paragraph 6.05.A.1, it will be considered a proposed substitute item.

b. CONTRACTOR shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow ENGI-NEER to determine that the item of material or equipment proposed is essentially equivalent to that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Requests for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment will not be accepted by ENGINEER from anyone other than CON-TRACTOR.

c. The procedure for review by ENGI-NEER will be as set forth in paragraph 6.05.A.2.d, as supplemented in the General Requirements and as ENGINEER may decide is appropriate under the circumstances.

d. CONTRACTOR shall first make written application to ENGINEER for review of a proposed substitute item of material or equipment that CONTRACTOR seeks to furnish or use. The application shall certify that the proposed substitute item will perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general design, be similar in substance to that specified, and be suited to the same use as that specified. The application will state the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will prejudice CONTRACTOR's achievement of Substantial Completion on time, whether or not use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with OWNER for work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute item and whether or not incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty. All variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified will be identified in the applicaengineering, tion. and available sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services will be indicated. The application will also contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or indirectly from use of such substitute item, including costs of redesign and claims of other contractors affected by any resulting change, all of which will be considered by ENGINEER in evaluating the proposed substitute item. ENGINEER may require CONTRACTOR to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item.

B. Substitute Construction Methods or Procedures: If a specific means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction is shown or indicated in and expressly required by the Contract Documents, CON-TRACTOR may furnish or utilize a substitute means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction approved by ENGINEER. CONTRACTOR shall submit sufficient information to allow ENGINEER, in ENGINEER's sole discretion, to determine that the substitute proposed is equivalent to that expressly called for by the Contract Documents. The procedure for review by ENGINEER will be similar to that provided in subparagraph 6.05.A.2.

C. *Engineer's Evaluation:* ENGINEER will be allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate each proposal or submittal made pursuant to paragraphs 6.05.A

and 6.05.B. ENGINEER will be the sole judge of acceptability. No "or-equal" or substitute will be ordered, installed or utilized until ENGINEER's review is complete, which will be evidenced by either a Change Order for a substitute or an approved Shop Drawing for an "or equal." ENGINEER will advise CONTRACTOR in writing of any negative determination.

D. *Special Guarantee:* OWNER may require CON-TRACTOR to furnish at CONTRACTOR's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute.

E. *ENGINEER's Cost Reimbursement:* ENGINEER will record time required by ENGINEER and ENGINEER's Consultants in evaluating substitute proposed or submitted by CONTRACTOR pursuant to paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B and in making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with OWNER for work on the Project) occasioned thereby. Whether or not ENGINEER approves a substitute item so proposed or submitted by CONTRACTOR, CON-TRACTOR shall reimburse OWNER for the charges of ENGINEER and ENGINEER's Consultants for evaluating each such proposed substitute.

F. *CONTRACTOR's Expense:* CONTRACTOR shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or "or-equal" at CONTRACTOR's expense.

6.06 *Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others*

A. CONTRACTOR shall not employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including those acceptable to OWNER as indicated in paragraph 6.06.B), whether initially or as a replacement, against whom OWNER may have reasonable objection. CONTRACTOR shall not be required to employ any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against whom CONTRACTOR has reasonable objection.

B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities to be submitted to OWNER in advance for acceptance by OWNER by a specified date prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if CONTRACTOR has submitted a list thereof in accordance with the Supplementary Conditions, OWNER's acceptance (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection in the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified may be revoked on the basis of reasonable objection after due investigation. CONTRACTOR shall

submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and the Contract Price will be adjusted by the difference in the cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate Change Order will be issued or Written Amendment signed. No acceptance by OWNER of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of any right of OWNER or ENGINEER to reject defective Work.

C. CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible to OWNER and ENGINEER for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as CONTRACTOR is responsible for CONTRACTOR's own acts and omissions. Nothing in the Contract Documents shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity any contractual relationship between OWNER or ENGINEER and any such Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or entity, nor shall it create any obligation on the part of OWNER or ENGINEER to pay or to see to the payment of any moneys due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.

D. CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the Work of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect contract with CONTRACTOR.

E. CONTRACTOR shall require all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work to communicate with ENGI-NEER through CONTRACTOR.

F. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control CONTRACTOR in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.

G. All Work performed for CONTRACTOR by a Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an appropriate agreement between CONTRACTOR and the Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of OWNER and ENGINEER. Whenever any such agreement is with a Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as an additional insured on the property insurance provided in paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the CONTRACTOR and the Subcontractor or Supplier will contain provisions whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives all rights against OWNER, CONTRACTOR, ENGINEER, ENGINEER'S Consultants, and all other individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds (and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them) for all losses and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any other property insurance applicable to the Work. If the insurers on any such policies require separate waiver forms to be signed by any Subcontractor or Supplier, CONTRAC-TOR will obtain the same.

6.07 *Patent Fees and Royalties*

A. CONTRACTOR shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if to the actual knowledge of OWNER or ENGINEER its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by OWNER in the Contract Documents. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees or agents, and other consultants of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents.

6.08 Permits

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, CONTRACTOR shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses. OWNER shall assist CONTRACTOR, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. CONTRACTOR shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of opening of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective Date of the Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections to the Work, and OWNER shall pay all charges of such utility owners for capital costs related thereto, such as plant investment fees.

6.09 Laws and Regulations

A. CONTRACTOR shall give all notices and comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither OWNER nor ENGINEER shall be responsible for monitoring CONTRACTOR's compliance with any Laws or Regulations.

B. If CONTRACTOR performs any Work knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall bear all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work; however, it shall not be CONTRACTOR's primary responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve CONTRACTOR of CONTRACTOR's obligations under paragraph 3.03.

C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at the time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the Work may be the subject of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

6.10 *Taxes*

A. CONTRACTOR shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by CONTRACTOR in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable during the performance of the Work.

6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas

A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas

1. CONTRACTOR shall confine construction equipment, the storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site and other areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and other areas with construction equipment or other materials or equipment. CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility for any damage to any such land or area, or to the owner or occupant

thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas resulting from the performance of the Work.

2. Should any claim be made by any such owner or occupant because of the performance of the Work, CONTRACTOR shall promptly settle with such other party by negotiation or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law.

3 To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultant, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by any such owner or occupant against OWNER, ENGINEER, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the extent caused by or based upon CONTRACTOR's performance of the Work.

B. *Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work:* During the progress of the Work CONTRACTOR shall keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations.

C. *Cleaning:* Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work CONTRACTOR shall clean the Site and make it ready for utilization by OWNER. At the completion of the Work CONTRACTOR shall remove from the Site all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents.

D. Loading Structures: CONTRACTOR shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall CONTRACTOR subject any part of the Work or adjacent property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it.

6.12 *Record Documents*

A. CONTRACTOR shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Written Amendments, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and written interpretations and clarifications in good order and annotated to show changes made during construction. These record documents together with all approved Samples and a counterpart of all approved Shop Drawings will be available to ENGINEER for reference. Upon completion of the Work, these record documents, Samples, and Shop Drawings will be delivered to ENGINEER for OWNER.

6.13 Safety and Protection

A. CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. CONTRACTOR shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to:

1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;

2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and

3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, utilities, and Underground Facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction.

B. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. CONTRACTOR shall notify owners of adjacent property and of Underground Facilities and other utility owners when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 6.13.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by CONTRACTOR (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of OWNER or ENGINEER or ENGINEER's Consultant, or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of CONTRACTOR or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them). CONTRACTOR's duties and responsibilities for safety and for protection of the Work shall continue until such time as all the Work is completed and ENGINEER has issued a notice to OWNER and CONTRACTOR in accordance with paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion).

6.14 *Safety Representative*

A. CONTRACTOR shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and programs.

6.15 Hazard Communication Programs

A. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.

6.16 Emergencies

A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, CONTRACTOR is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. CONTRACTOR shall give ENGINEER prompt written notice if CONTRACTOR believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If ENGINEER determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by CONTRACTOR in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.

6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples

A. CONTRACTOR shall submit Shop Drawings to ENGINEER for review and approval in accordance with the acceptable schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample submittals. All submittals will be identified as ENGINEER may require and in the number of copies specified in the General Requirements. The data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show ENGINEER the services, materials, and equipment CONTRACTOR proposes to provide and to enable ENGINEER to review the information for the limited purposes required by paragraph 6.17.E. B. CONTRACTOR shall also submit Samples to ENGINEER for review and approval in accordance with the acceptable schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample submittals. Each Sample will be identified clearly as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, and the use for which intended and otherwise as ENGI-NEER may require to enable ENGINEER to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by paragraph 6.17.E. The numbers of each Sample to be submitted will be as specified in the Specifications.

C. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample submittals acceptable to ENGINEER as required by paragraph 2.07, any related Work performed prior to ENGINEER's review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of CONTRACTOR.

D. Submittal Procedures

1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or Sample, CONTRACTOR shall have determined and verified:

a. all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect thereto;

b. all materials with respect to intended use, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work;

c. all information relative to means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; and

d. CONTRACTOR shall also have reviewed and coordinated each Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents.

2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written indication that CONTRACTOR has satisfied CONTRACTOR's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to CONTRACTOR's review and approval of that submittal.

3. At the time of each submittal, CON-TRACTOR shall give ENGINEER specific written notice of such variations, if any, that the Shop Drawing or Sample submitted may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents, such notice to be in a written communication separate from the submittal; and, in addition, shall cause a specific notation to be made on each Shop Drawing and Sample submitted to ENGINEER for review and approval of each such variation.

E. ENGINEER's Review

1. ENGINEER will timely review and approve Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance with the schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample submittals acceptable to ENGINEER. ENGINEER's review and approval will be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents.

2. ENGINEER's review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction (except where a particular means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction is specifically and expressly called for by the Contract Documents) or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto. The review and approval of a separate item as such will not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.

3. ENGINEER's review and approval of Shop Drawings or Samples shall not relieve CON-TRACTOR from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless CONTRACTOR has in writing called ENGINEER's attention to each such variation at the time of each submittal as required by paragraph 6.17.D.3 and ENGINEER has given written approval of each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the Shop Drawing or Sample approval; nor will any approval by ENGINEER relieve CONTRACTOR from responsibility for complying with the requirements of paragraph 6.17.D.1.

F. Resubmittal Procedures

1. CONTRACTOR shall make corrections required by ENGINEER and shall return the required number of corrected copies of Shop Drawings and submit as required new Samples for review and approval. CONTRACTOR shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the corrections called for by ENGINEER on previous submittals.

6.18 *Continuing the Work*

A. CONTRACTOR shall carry on the Work and adhere to the progress schedule during all disputes or disagreements with OWNER. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, except as permitted by paragraph 15.04 or as OWNER and CONTRACTOR may otherwise agree in writing.

6.19 CONTRACTOR's General Warranty and Guarantee

A. CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees to OWNER, ENGINEER, and ENGINEER's Consultants that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. CONTRACTOR's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:

> 1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than CON-TRACTOR, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible; or

> 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage.

B. CONTRACTOR's obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of CONTRACTOR's obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents:

1. observations by ENGINEER;

2. recommendation by ENGINEER or payment by OWNER of any progress or final payment;

3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by ENGINEER or any payment related thereto by OWNER;

4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by OWNER;

5. any acceptance by OWNER or any failure to do so;

6. any review and approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal or the issuance of a notice of acceptability by ENGINEER;

7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or

8. any correction of defective Work by OWNER.

6.20 *Indemnification*

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's Consultants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage:

> 1. is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom; and

> 2. is caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of whether or not caused in part by any negligence or omission of an individual or entity indemnified hereunder or whether liability is imposed upon such indemnified party by Laws and Regulations regardless of the negligence of any such individual or entity.

B. In any and all claims against OWNER or ENGI-NEER or any of their respective consultants, agents, officers, directors, partners, or employees by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under paragraph 6.20.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for CONTRACTOR or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.

C. The indemnification obligations of CONTRAC-TOR under paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the liability of ENGINEER and ENGINEER's Consultants or to the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them arising out of:

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve, maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

ARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK

7.01 Related Work at Site

A. OWNER may perform other work related to the Project at the Site by OWNER's employees, or let other direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by utility owners. If such other work is not noted in the Contract Documents, then:

1. written notice thereof will be given to CONTRACTOR prior to starting any such other work; and

2. if OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times that should be allowed as a result of such other work, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

B. CONTRACTOR shall afford each other contractor who is a party to such a direct contract and each utility owner (and OWNER, if OWNER is performing the other work with OWNER's employees) proper and safe access to the Site and a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work and shall properly coordinate the Work with theirs. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, CONTRACTOR shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. CON- TRACTOR shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering their work and will only cut or alter their work with the written consent of ENGINEER and the others whose work will be affected. The duties and responsibilities of CONTRACTOR under this paragraph are for the benefit of such utility owners and other contractors to the extent that there are comparable provisions for the benefit of CONTRACTOR in said direct contracts between OWNER and such utility owners and other contractors.

C. If the proper execution or results of any part of CONTRACTOR's Work depends upon work performed by others under this Article 7, CONTRACTOR shall inspect such other work and promptly report to ENGINEER in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of CONTRACTOR's Work. CONTRACTOR's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with CONTRACTOR's Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work.

7.02 Coordination

A. If OWNER intends to contract with others for the performance of other work on the Project at the Site, the following will be set forth in Supplementary Conditions:

1. the individual or entity who will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors will be identified;

2. the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility will be itemized; and

3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities will be provided.

B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, OWNER shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.

ARTICLE 8 - OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

8.01 *Communications to Contractor*

A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, OWNER shall issue all communications to CONTRACTOR through ENGINEER.

8.02 Replacement of ENGINEER

A. In case of termination of the employment of ENGINEER, OWNER shall appoint an engineer to whom CONTRACTOR makes no reasonable objection, whose status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former ENGINEER.

8.03 Furnish Data

A. OWNER shall promptly furnish the data required of OWNER under the Contract Documents.

8.04 Pay Promptly When Due

A. OWNER shall make payments to CONTRACTOR promptly when they are due as provided in paragraphs 14.02.C and 14.07.C.

8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests

A. OWNER's duties in respect of providing lands and easements and providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in paragraphs 4.01 and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to OWNER's identifying and making available to CONTRACTOR copies of reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions and drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site that have been utilized by ENGINEER in preparing the Contract Documents.

8.06 Insurance

A. OWNER's responsibilities, if any, in respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 5.

8.07 Change Orders

A. OWNER is obligated to execute Change Orders as indicated in paragraph 10.03.

8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals

A. OWNER's responsibility in respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in paragraph 13.03.B.

8.09 Limitations on OWNER's Responsibilities

A. The OWNER shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, CONTRACTOR's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of CON-TRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. OWNER will not be responsible for CONTRACTOR's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition

A. OWNER's responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in paragraph 4.06.

8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements

A. If and to the extent OWNER has agreed to furnish CONTRACTOR reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to satisfy OWNER's obligations under the Contract Documents, OWNER's responsibility in respect thereof will be as set forth in the Supplementary Conditions.

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

9.01 *OWNER'S Representative*

A. ENGINEER will be OWNER's representative during the construction period. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of ENGINEER as OWNER's representative during construction are set forth in the Contract Documents and will not be changed without written consent of OWNER and ENGINEER.

9.02 Visits to Site

A. ENGINEER will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction as ENGINEER deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of CONTRACTOR's executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, ENGINEER, for the benefit of OWNER, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. ENGINEER will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. ENGINEER's efforts will be directed toward providing for OWNER a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, ENGINEER will keep OWNER

informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard OWNER against defective Work.

B. ENGINEER's visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on ENGINEER's authority and responsibility set forth in paragraph 9.10, and particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result of ENGINEER's visits or observations of CONTRACTOR's Work ENGINEER will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for CONTRACTOR's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of CONTRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work.

9.03 Project Representative

A. If OWNER and ENGINEER agree, ENGINEER will furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist ENGINEER in providing more extensive observation of the Work. The responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of any such Resident Project Representative and assistants will be as provided in paragraph 9.10 and in the Supplementary Conditions. If OWNER designates another representative or agent to represent OWNER at the Site who is not ENGINEER's Consultant, agent or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions.

9.04 Clarifications and Interpretations

A. ENGINEER will issue with reasonable promptness such written clarifications or interpretations of the requirements of the Contract Documents as ENGINEER may determine necessary, which shall be consistent with the intent of and reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents. Such written clarifications and interpretations will be binding on OWNER and CONTRACTOR. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, that should be allowed as a result of a written clarification or interpretation, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

9.05 Authorized Variations in Work

A. ENGINEER may authorize minor variations in the Work from the requirements of the Contract Documents which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times and are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. These may be accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on OWNER and also on CONTRACTOR, who shall perform the Work involved promptly. If OWNER and CONTRAC-TOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of a Field Order, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

9.06 *Rejecting Defective Work*

A. ENGINEER will have authority to disapprove or reject Work which ENGINEER believes to be defective, or that ENGINEER believes will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the Contract Documents or that will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. ENGINEER will also have authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work as provided in paragraph 13.04, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.

9.07 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments

A. In connection with ENGINEER's authority as to Shop Drawings and Samples, see paragraph 6.17.

B. In connection with ENGINEER's authority as to Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12.

C. In connection with ENGINEER's authority as to Applications for Payment, see Article 14.

9.08 Determinations for Unit Price Work

A. ENGINEER will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by CONTRACTOR. ENGINEER will review with CON-TRACTOR the ENGINEER's preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). ENGINEER's written decision thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by ENGINEER to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR, subject to the provisions of paragraph 10.05.

9.09 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work

A. ENGINEER will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder. Claims, disputes and other matters relating to the acceptability of the Work, the quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work, the

interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the performance of the Work, and Claims seeking changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times will be referred initially to ENGINEER in writing, in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10.05, with a request for a formal decision.

B. When functioning as interpreter and judge under this paragraph 9.09, ENGINEER will not show partiality to OWNER or CONTRACTOR and will not be liable in connection with any interpretation or decision rendered in good faith in such capacity. The rendering of a decision by ENGINEER pursuant to this paragraph 9.09 with respect to any such Claim, dispute, or other matter (except any which have been waived by the making or acceptance of final payment as provided in paragraph 14.07) will be a condition precedent to any exercise by OWNER or CONTRACTOR of such rights or remedies as either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws or Regulations in respect of any such Claim, dispute, or other matter.

9.10 *Limitations on ENGINEER's Authority and Responsibilities*

A. Neither ENGINEER's authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the Contract Documents nor any decision made by ENGINEER in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by ENGINEER shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by ENGINEER to CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.

B. ENGINEER will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for CONTRACTOR's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of CONTRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. ENGINEER will not be responsible for CONTRACTOR's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

C. ENGINEER will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of CONTRACTOR or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.

D. ENGINEER's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, Bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by paragraph 14.07.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals that the results certified indicate compliance with, the Contract Documents.

E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this paragraph 9.10 shall also apply to ENGINEER's Consultants, Resident Project Representative, and assistants.

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS

10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work

A. Without invalidating the Agreement and without notice to any surety, OWNER may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work by a Written Amendment, a Change Order, or a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, CONTRACTOR shall promptly proceed with the Work involved which will be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents (except as otherwise specifically provided).

B. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, of an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, that should be allowed as a result of a Work Change Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work

A. CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents as amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in paragraph 3.04, except in the case of an emergency as provided in paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in paragraph 13.04.B.

10.03 Execution of Change Orders

A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR shall execute appropriate Change Orders recommended by ENGINEER (or Written Amendments) covering:

1. changes in the Work which are: (i) ordered by OWNER pursuant to paragraph 10.01.A, (ii) required because of acceptance of defective Work under paragraph 13.08.A or OWNER's

correction of defective Work under paragraph 13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties;

2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive; and

3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which embody the substance of any written decision rendered by ENGINEER pursuant to paragraph 10.05; provided that, in lieu of executing any such Change Order, an appeal may be taken from any such decision in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents and applicable Laws and Regulations, but during any such appeal, CONTRACTOR shall carry on the Work and adhere to the progress schedule as provided in paragraph 6.18.A.

10.04 Notification to Surety

A. If notice of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times) is required by the provisions of any Bond to be given to a surety, the giving of any such notice will be CONTRACTOR's responsibility. The amount of each applicable Bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change.

10.05 Claims and Disputes

A. Notice: Written notice stating the general nature of each Claim, dispute, or other matter shall be delivered by the claimant to ENGINEER and the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto. Notice of the amount or extent of the Claim, dispute, or other matter with supporting data shall be delivered to the ENGINEER and the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start of such event (unless ENGINEER allows additional time for claimant to submit additional or more accurate data in support of such Claim, dispute, or other matter). A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 12.01.B. A Claim for an adjustment in Contract Time shall be prepared in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 12.02.B. Each Claim shall be accompanied by claimant's written statement that the adjustment claimed is the entire adjustment to which the claimant believes it is entitled as a result of said event. The opposing party shall submit any response to ENGINEER and the claimant within 30 days after receipt of the claimant's last submittal (unless ENGINEER allows additional time).

B. *ENGINEER's Decision:* ENGINEER will render a formal decision in writing within 30 days after receipt of the last submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any. ENGINEER's written decision on such Claim, dispute, or other matter will be final and binding upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR unless:

> 1. an appeal from ENGINEER's decision is taken within the time limits and in accordance with the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Article 16; or

> 2. if no such dispute resolution procedures have been set forth in Article 16, a written notice of intention to appeal from ENGINEER's written decision is delivered by OWNER or CONTRAC-TOR to the other and to ENGINEER within 30 days after the date of such decision, and a formal proceeding is instituted by the appealing party in a forum of competent jurisdiction within 60 days after the date of such decision or within 60 days after Substantial Completion, whichever is later (unless otherwise agreed in writing by OWNER and CONTRACTOR), to exercise such rights or remedies as the appealing party may have with respect to such Claim, dispute, or other matter in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.

C. If ENGINEER does not render a formal decision in writing within the time stated in paragraph 10.05.B, a decision denying the Claim in its entirety shall be deemed to have been issued 31 days after receipt of the last submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the opposing party, if any.

D. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times (or Milestones) will be valid if not submitted in accordance with this paragraph 10.05.

ARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; CASH ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

11.01 Cost of the Work

A. *Costs Included:* The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessarily incurred and paid by CON-TRACTOR in the proper performance of the Work. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to be reimbursed to CONTRACTOR will be only those additional or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the Claim. Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by OWNER, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall include only the following items, and shall not include any of the costs itemized in paragraph 11.01.B.

> Payroll costs for employees in the direct 1. employ of CONTRACTOR in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by OWNER and CONTRACTOR. Such employees shall include without limitation superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time at the Site. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers' compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by OWNER.

> 2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to CONTRACTOR unless **OWNER** deposits funds with CONTRACTOR with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to OWNER. All trade discounts, rebates and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to OWNER. and CONTRACTOR shall make provisions so that they may be obtained.

> 3. Payments made by CONTRACTOR to Subcontractors for Work performed by If required by OWNER, CON-Subcontractors. TRACTOR shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to OWNER and CON-TRACTOR and shall deliver such bids to OWNER. who will then determine, with the advice of ENGI-NEER, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as

CONTRACTOR's Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this paragraph 11.01.

4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work.

5. Supplemental costs including the following:

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of CONTRACTOR's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.

b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of CONTRACTOR.

c. Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof whether rented from CONTRACTOR or others in accordance with rental agreements approved by OWNER with the advice of ENGINEER, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.

d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which CON-TRACTOR is liable, imposed by Laws and Regulations.

e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.

f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by CONTRACTOR in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with paragraph 5.06.D), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of OWNER. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining CONTRACTOR's fee.

g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.

h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long distance telephone calls, telephone service at the Site, expressage, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.

i. When the Cost of the Work is used to determine the value of a Change Order or of a Claim, the cost of premiums for additional Bonds and insurance required because of the changes in the Work or caused by the event giving rise to the Claim.

j. When all the Work is performed on the basis of cost-plus, the costs of premiums for all Bonds and insurance CONTRACTOR is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain.

B. *Costs Excluded:* The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items:

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of CONTRACTOR's officers, executives, principals (of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by CONTRACTOR, whether at the Site or in CONTRACTOR's principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be considered administrative costs covered by the CONTRACTOR's fee.

2. Expenses of CONTRACTOR's principal and branch offices other than CONTRACTOR's office at the Site.

3. Any part of CONTRACTOR's capital expenses, including interest on CONTRACTOR's capital employed for the Work and charges against CONTRACTOR for delinquent payments.

4. Costs due to the negligence of CON-TRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.

5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B.

C. CONTRACTOR's Fee: When all the Work is performed on the basis of cost-plus, CONTRACTOR's fee shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, CONTRACTOR's fee shall be determined as set forth in paragraph 12.01.C.

D. *Documentation:* Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to paragraphs 11.01.A and 11.01.B, CONTRACTOR will establish and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to ENGINEER an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data.

11.02 Cash Allowances

A. It is understood that CONTRACTOR has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums as may be acceptable to OWNER and ENGINEER. CONTRACTOR agrees that:

> 1. the allowances include the cost to CON-TRACTOR (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; and

> 2. CONTRACTOR's costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation costs, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no

demand for additional payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid.

B. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by ENGINEER to reflect actual amounts due CONTRACTOR on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted.

11.03 Unit Price Work

A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Determinations of the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by CONTRACTOR will be made by ENGINEER subject to the provisions of paragraph 9.08.

B. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by CONTRACTOR to be adequate to cover CONTRACTOR's overhead and profit for each separately identified item.

C. OWNER or CONTRACTOR may make a Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with paragraph 10.05 if:

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price Work performed by CONTRACTOR differs materially and significantly from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and

2. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect any other item of Work; and

3. if CONTRACTOR believes that CONTRACTOR is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having incurred additional expense or OWNER believes that OWNER is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price and the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any such increase or decrease.

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES

12.01 Change of Contract Price

A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order or by a Written Amendment. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to the ENGINEER and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10.05.

B. The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:

> 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of paragraph 11.03); or

> 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with paragraph 12.01.C.2); or

> 3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in paragraph 11.01) plus a CONTRACTOR's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in paragraph 12.01.C).

C. *CONTRACTOR's Fee:* The CONTRACTOR's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or

2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a fee based on the following percentages of the various portions of the Cost of the Work:

a. for costs incurred under paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the CONTRACTOR's fee shall be 15 percent;

b. for costs incurred under paragraph 11.01.A.3, the CONTRACTOR's fee shall be five percent;

c. where one or more tiers of subcontracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of paragraph 12.01.C.2.a is that the Subcontractor who actually performs the Work, at whatever tier, will be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs incurred by such Subcontractor under paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that any higher tier Subcontractor and CONTRACTOR will each be paid a fee of five percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier Subcontractor;

d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of costs itemized under paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;

e. the amount of credit to be allowed by CONTRACTOR to OWNER for any change which results in a net decrease in cost will be the amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a deduction in CONTRACTOR's fee by an amount equal to five percent of such net decrease; and

f. when both additions and credits are involved in any one change, the adjustment in CONTRACTOR's fee shall be computed on the basis of the net change in accordance with paragraphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclusive.

12.02 Change of Contract Times

A. The Contract Times (or Milestones) may only be changed by a Change Order or by a Written Amendment. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times (or Milestones) shall be based on written notice submitted by the party making the claim to the ENGINEER and the other party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10.05.

B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times (or Milestones) covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times (or Milestones) will be determined in accordance with the provisions of this Article 12.

12.03 Delays Beyond CONTRACTOR's Control

A. Where CONTRACTOR is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times (or Milestones) due to delay beyond the control of CONTRACTOR, the Contract Times (or Milestones) will be extended in an amount equal to the time lost due to such delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in paragraph 12.02.A. Delays beyond the control of CONTRACTOR shall include, but not be limited to, acts or neglect by OWNER, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, or acts of God.

12.04 Delays Within CONTRACTOR's Control

A. The Contract Times (or Milestones) will not be extended due to delays within the control of CONTRACTOR. Delays attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be delays within the control of CONTRACTOR.

12.05 Delays Beyond OWNER's and CONTRACTOR's Control

A. Where CONTRACTOR is prevented from completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times (or Milestones) due to delay beyond the control of both OWNER and CONTRACTOR, an extension of the Contract Times (or Milestones) in an amount equal to the time lost due to such delay shall be CONTRACTOR's sole and exclusive remedy for such delay.

12.06 Delay Damages

A. In no event shall OWNER or ENGINEER be liable to CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any other person or organization, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them, for damages arising out of or resulting from:

1. delays caused by or within the control of CONTRACTOR; or

2. delays beyond the control of both OWNER and CONTRACTOR including but not limited to fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, acts of God, or acts or neglect by utility owners or other contractors performing other work as contemplated by Article 7.

B. Nothing in this paragraph 12.06 bars a change in Contract Price pursuant to this Article 12 to compensate CONTRACTOR due to delay, interference, or disruption directly attributable to actions or inactions of OWNER or anyone for whom OWNER is responsible.

ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

13.01 Notice of Defects

A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which OWNER or ENGINEER has actual knowledge will be given to CONTRACTOR. All defective Work may be rejected, corrected, or accepted as provided in this Article 13.

13.02 Access to Work

A. OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER'S Consultants, other representatives and personnel of OWNER, independent testing laboratories, and governmental agencies with jurisdictional interests will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspecting, and testing. CONTRACTOR shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of CONTRACTOR's Site safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable.

13.03 Tests and Inspections

A. CONTRACTOR shall give ENGINEER timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections, tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections or tests.

B. OWNER shall employ and pay for the services of an independent testing laboratory to perform all inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract Documents except:

1. for inspections, tests, or approvals covered by paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below;

2. that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections conducted pursuant to paragraph 13.04.B shall be paid as provided in said paragraph 13.04.B; and

3. as otherwise specifically provided in the Contract Documents.

C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, CONTRACTOR shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish ENGINEER the required certificates of inspection or approval.

D. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for arranging and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connection with any inspections, tests, or approvals required for OWNER's and ENGINEER's acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to CONTRACTOR's purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work. Such inspections, tests, or approvals shall be performed by organizations acceptable to OWNER and ENGINEER.

E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by CONTRAC-TOR without written concurrence of ENGINEER, it must, if requested by ENGINEER, be uncovered for observation.

F. Uncovering Work as provided in paragraph 13.03.E shall be at CONTRACTOR's expense unless CON-TRACTOR has given ENGINEER timely notice of CONTRACTOR's intention to cover the same and ENGI-NEER has not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice.

13.04 Uncovering Work

A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of ENGINEER, it must, if requested by ENGINEER, be uncovered for ENGINEER's observation and replaced at CONTRACTOR's expense.

B. If ENGINEER considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work be observed by ENGINEER or inspected or tested by others, CONTRACTOR, at ENGINEER's request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as ENGINEER may require, that portion of the Work in question, furnishing all necessary labor, material, and equipment. If it is found that such Work is defective, CONTRACTOR shall pay all Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others); and OWNER shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. If, however, such Work is not found to be defective, CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times (or

Milestones), or both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, CONTRACTOR may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

13.05 OWNER May Stop the Work

A. If the Work is defective, or CONTRACTOR fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, OWNER may order CONTRACTOR to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of OWNER to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of OWNER to exercise this right for the benefit of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them.

13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work

A. CONTRACTOR shall correct all defective Work, whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the Work has been rejected by ENGINEER, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective. CONTRACTOR shall pay all Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or removal (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others).

13.07 Correction Period

A. If within one year after the date of Substantial Completion or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by Laws or Regulations or by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents, any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the land or areas made available for CONTRACTOR's use by OWNER or permitted by Laws and Regulations as contemplated in paragraph 6.11.A is found to be defective, CONTRACTOR shall promptly, without cost to OWNER and in accordance with OWNER's written instructions: (i) repair such defective land or areas, or (ii) correct such defective Work or, if the defective Work has been rejected by OWNER, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and (iii) satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others or other land or areas resulting therefrom. If CONTRACTOR does not promptly comply with the terms of such instructions, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, OWNER may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced, and all Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others) will be paid by CONTRACTOR.

B. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications or by Written Amendment.

C. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph 13.07, the correction period hereunder with respect to such Work will be extended for an additional period of one year after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.

D. CONTRACTOR's obligations under this paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or warranty. The provisions of this paragraph 13.07 shall not be construed as a substitute for or a waiver of the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.

13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, OWNER (and, prior to ENGINEER's recommendation of final payment, ENGINEER) prefers to accept it, OWNER may do so. CONTRACTOR shall pay all Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) attributable to OWNER's evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by ENGINEER as to reasonableness) and the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by CONTRACTOR pursuant to this sentence. If any such acceptance occurs prior to ENGINEER's recommendation of final payment, a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work, and OWNER shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided in

paragraph 10.05. If the acceptance occurs after such recommendation, an appropriate amount will be paid by CONTRACTOR to OWNER.

13.09 OWNER May Correct Defective Work

A. If CONTRACTOR fails within a reasonable time after written notice from ENGINEER to correct defective Work or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by ENGINEER in accordance with paragraph 13.06.A, or if CONTRACTOR fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if CONTRACTOR fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, OWNER may, after seven days written notice to CONTRACTOR, correct and remedy any such deficiency.

B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this paragraph, OWNER shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective and remedial action, OWNER may exclude CONTRACTOR from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend CONTRACTOR's services related thereto, take possession of CONTRACTOR's tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which OWNER has paid CONTRACTOR but which are stored elsewhere. CONTRACTOR shall allow OWNER, OWNER's representatives, agents and employees, OWNER's other contractors, and ENGINEER and ENGINEER's Consultants access to the Site to enable OWNER to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph.

C. All Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred or sustained by OWNER in exercising the rights and remedies under this paragraph 13.09 will be charged against CON-TRACTOR, and a Change Order will be issued incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work; and OWNER shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount of the adjustment, OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of CONTRACTOR's defective Work.

D. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times (or Milestones) because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by OWNER of OWNER's rights and remedies under this paragraph 13.09.

ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION

14.01 Schedule of Values

A. The schedule of values established as provided in paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to ENGINEER. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed.

14.02 Progress Payments

A. Applications for Payments

1. At least 20 days before the date established for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGINEER for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by CONTRACTOR covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that OWNER has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance or other arrangements to protect OWNER's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to OWNER.

2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of CONTRACTOR stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge CONTRACTOR's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.

3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement.

B. Review of Applications

1. ENGINEER will, within 10 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to OWNER or return the Application to CONTRACTOR indicating in writing ENGINEER's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, CONTRACTOR may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.

2. ENGINEER's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by ENGINEER to OWNER, based on ENGINEER's observations on the Site of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional and on ENGINEER's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of ENGINEER's knowledge, information and belief:

a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;

b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, to the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, to a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under paragraph 9.08, and to any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and

c. the conditions precedent to CONTRACTOR's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is ENGINEER's responsibility to observe the Work.

3. By recommending any such payment ENGINEER will not thereby be deemed to have represented that: (i) inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract Documents; or (ii) that there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle CONTRACTOR to be paid additionally by OWNER or entitle OWNER to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR.

ENGINEER's 4. Neither review of CONTRACTOR's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor ENGINEER's recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on ENGINEER to supervise, direct, or control the Work or for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for CONTRACTOR's failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to CONTRACTOR's performance of the Work. Additionally, said review or recommendation will not impose responsibility on ENGINEER to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes CONTRACTOR has used the moneys paid on account of the Contract Price, or to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to OWNER free and clear of any Liens.

5. ENGINEER may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in ENGINEER's opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to OWNER referred to in paragraph 14.02.B.2. ENGINEER may also refuse to recommend any such payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence or the results of subsequent inspections or tests, revise or revoke any such payment recommendation previously made, to such extent as may be necessary in ENGINEER's opinion to protect OWNER from loss because:

a. the Work is defective, or completed Work has been damaged, requiring correction or replacement;

b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Written Amendment or Change Orders;

c. OWNER has been required to correct defective Work or complete Work in accordance with paragraph 13.09; or

d. ENGINEER has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in paragraph 15.02.A.

C. Payment Becomes Due

1. Ten days after presentation of the Application for Payment to OWNER with ENGINEER's recommendation, the amount recommended will (subject to the provisions of paragraph 14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by OWNER to CONTRACTOR.

D. Reduction in Payment

1. OWNER may refuse to make payment of the full amount recommended by ENGINEER because:

a. claims have been made against OWNER on account of CONTRACTOR's performance or furnishing of the Work;

b. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where CONTRACTOR has delivered a specific Bond satisfactory to OWN-ER to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;

c. there are other items entitling OWNER to a set-off against the amount recommended; or

d. OWNER has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or paragraph 15.02.A.

2. If OWNER refuses to make payment of the full amount recommended by ENGINEER, OWNER must give CONTRACTOR immediate written notice (with a copy to ENGINEER) stating the reasons for such action and promptly pay CON-TRACTOR any amount remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. OWNER shall promptly pay CONTRACTOR the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by OWNER and CONTRACTOR, when CONTRACTOR corrects to OWNER's satisfaction the reasons for such action.

3. If it is subsequently determined that OWNER's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by paragraph 14.02.C.1.

14.03 CONTRACTOR's Warranty of Title

A. CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by any Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the Project or not, will pass to OWNER no later than the time of payment free and clear of all Liens.

14.04 Substantial Completion

A. When CONTRACTOR considers the entire Work ready for its intended use CONTRACTOR shall notify OWNER and ENGINEER in writing that the entire Work is

substantially complete (except for items specifically listed by CONTRACTOR as incomplete) and request that ENGINEER issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Promptly thereafter, OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If ENGINEER does not consider the Work substantially complete, ENGINEER will notify CONTRACTOR in writing giving the reasons therefor. If ENGINEER considers the Work substantially complete, ENGINEER will prepare and deliver to OWNER a tentative certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. There shall be attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment. OWNER shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative certificate during which to make written objection to ENGINEER as to any provisions of the certificate or attached list. If, after considering such objections, ENGINEER concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, ENGINEER will within 14 days after submission of the tentative certificate to OWNER notify CONTRACTOR in writing, stating the reasons therefor. If, after consideration of OWNER's objections, ENGINEER considers the Work substantially complete, ENGINEER will within said 14 days execute and deliver to OWNER and CONTRACTOR a definitive certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised tentative list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate as ENGINEER believes justified after consideration of any objections from OWNER. At the time of delivery of the tentative certificate of Substantial Completion ENGINEER will deliver to OWNER and CONTRACTOR a written recommendation as to division of responsibilities pending final payment between OWNER and CONTRACTOR with respect to security, operation, safety, and protection of the Work, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and warranties and guarantees. Unless OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing and so inform ENGINEER in writing prior to ENGINEER's issuing the definitive certificate of Substantial Completion, ENGINEER's aforesaid recommendation will be binding on OWNER and CONTRACTOR until final payment.

B. OWNER shall have the right to exclude CONTRACTOR from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion, but OWNER shall allow CONTRACTOR reasonable access to complete or correct items on the tentative list.

14.05 *Partial Utilization*

A. Use by OWNER at OWNER's option of any substantially completed part of the Work which has specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or which OWNER, ENGINEER, and CONTRACTOR agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by OWNER for its intended purpose without significant interference with CONTRACTOR's performance of the remainder of the Work, may be accomplished prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work subject to the following conditions.

> OWNER at any time may request CON-1. TRACTOR in writing to permit OWNER to use any such part of the Work which OWNER believes to be ready for its intended use and substantially complete. If CONTRACTOR agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, CONTRACTOR will certify to OWNER and ENGINEER that such part of the Work is substantially complete and request ENGINEER to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. CONTRACTOR at any time may notify OWNER and ENGINEER in writing that CONTRACTOR considers any such part of the Work ready for its intended use and substantially complete and request ENGINEER to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work. Within a reasonable time after either such request, OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If ENGINEER does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, ENGINEER will notify OWNER and CONTRACTOR in writing giving the reasons therefor. If ENGINEER considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of paragraph 14.04 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto.

> 2. No occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of paragraph 5.10 regarding property insurance.

14.06 Final Inspection

A. Upon written notice from CONTRACTOR that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, ENGINEER will promptly make a final inspection with OWNER and CONTRACTOR and will notify CON-TRACTOR in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. CONTRACTOR shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

14.07 Final Payment

A. Application for Payment

1. After CONTRACTOR has, in the opinion of ENGINEER, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents. all maintenance and operating instructions, Bonds, schedules, guarantees, certificates or other evidence of insurance certificates of inspection, marked-up record documents (as provided in paragraph 6.12), and other documents, CONTRACTOR may make application for final payment following the procedure for progress payments.

2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: (i) all documentation called for in the Contract Documents, including but not limited to the evidence of insurance required by subparagraph 5.04.B.7; (ii) consent of the surety, if any, to final payment; and (iii) complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to OWNER) of all Lien rights arising out of or Liens filed in connection with the Work.

3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved by OWNER, CONTRACTOR may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of CONTRACTOR that: (i) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which OWNER or OWNER's property might in any way be responsible have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, CONTRACTOR may furnish a Bond or other collateral satisfactory to OWNER to indemnify OWNER against any Lien.

B. *Review of Application and Acceptance*

1. If, on the basis of ENGINEER's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, and ENGINEER's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, ENGINEER is satisfied that the Work has been completed and CONTRACTOR's other obligations under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, ENGINEER will, within ten days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in writing ENGINEER's recommendation of payment and present the Application for Payment to OWNER for payment. At the same time ENGINEER will also give written notice to OWNER and CON-TRACTOR that the Work is acceptable subject to the provisions of paragraph 14.09. Otherwise, ENGINEER will return the Application for Payment to CONTRACTOR, indicating in writing the reasons for refusing to recommend final payment, in which case CONTRACTOR shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment.

C. Payment Becomes Due

1. Thirty days after the presentation to OWNER of the Application for Payment and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by ENGINEER will become due and, when due, will be paid by OWNER to CON-TRACTOR.

14.08 Final Completion Delayed

A. If, through no fault of CONTRACTOR, final completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if ENGINEER so confirms, OWNER shall, upon receipt of CONTRACTOR's final Application for Payment and recommendation of ENGINEER, and without terminating the Agreement, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance to be held by OWNER for Work not fully completed or corrected is less than the retainage stipulated in the Agreement, and if Bonds have been furnished as required in paragraph 5.01, the written consent of the surety to the payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by CONTRACTOR to ENGINEER with the Application for such payment. Such payment shall be made under the terms and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of Claims.

14.09 Waiver of Claims

A. The making and acceptance of final payment will constitute:

1. a waiver of all Claims by OWNER against CONTRACTOR, except Claims arising from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to paragraph 14.06, from failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees specified therein, or from CONTRACTOR's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents; and

2. a waiver of all Claims by CONTRAC-TOR against OWNER other than those previously made in writing which are still unsettled.

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

15.01 OWNER May Suspend Work

A. At any time and without cause, OWNER may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to CON-TRACTOR and ENGINEER which will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. CONTRACTOR shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension if CONTRACTOR makes a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.

15.02 OWNER May Terminate for Cause

A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events will justify termination for cause:

1. CONTRACTOR's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the progress schedule established under paragraph 2.07 as adjusted from time to time pursuant to paragraph 6.04);

2. CONTRACTOR's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction;

3. CONTRACTOR's disregard of the authority of ENGINEER; or

4. CONTRACTOR's violation in any substantial way of any provisions of the Contract Documents.

B. If one or more of the events identified in paragraph 15.02.A occur, OWNER may, after giving CONTRACTOR (and the surety, if any) seven days written notice, terminate the services of CONTRACTOR, exclude CONTRACTOR from the Site, and take possession of the Work and of all CONTRACTOR's tools, appliances, construction equip-

ment, and machinery at the Site, and use the same to the full extent they could be used by CONTRACTOR (without liability to CONTRACTOR for trespass or conversion), incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which OWNER has paid CONTRACTOR but which are stored elsewhere, and finish the Work as OWNER may deem expedient. In such case, CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is finished. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by OWNER arising out of or relating to completing the Work, such excess will be paid to CONTRACTOR. If such claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such unpaid balance, CONTRACTOR shall pay the difference to OWNER. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by OWNER will be reviewed by ENGINEER as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by ENGINEER, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph OWNER shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.

C. Where CONTRACTOR's services have been so terminated by OWNER, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of OWNER against CONTRACTOR then existing or which may thereafter accrue. Any retention or payment of moneys due CONTRACTOR by OWNER will not release CONTRACTOR from liability.

15.03 OWNER May Terminate For Convenience

A. Upon seven days written notice to CON-TRACTOR and ENGINEER, OWNER may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of OWNER, elect to terminate the Contract. In such case, CONTRACTOR shall be paid (without duplication of any items):

> 1. for completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;

> 2. for expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses;

3. for all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred in settlement of terminated contracts with Subcontractors, Suppliers, and others; and

4. for reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination.

B. CONTRACTOR shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

15.04 CONTRACTOR May Stop Work or Terminate

A. If, through no act or fault of CONTRACTOR, the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by OWNER or under an order of court or other public authority, or ENGINEER fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or OWNER fails for 30 days to pay CONTRACTOR any sum finally determined to be due, then CONTRACTOR may, upon seven days written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER, and provided OWNER or ENGINEER do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the Contract and recover from OWNER payment on the same terms as provided in paragraph 15.03. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if ENGINEER has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or OWNER has failed for 30 days to pay CONTRACTOR any sum finally determined to be due, CONTRACTOR may, seven days after written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due CONTRACTOR, including interest thereon. The provisions of this paragraph 15.04 are not intended to preclude CONTRACTOR from making a Claim under paragraph 10.05 for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly attributable to CONTRACTOR's stopping the Work as permitted by this paragraph.

ARTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION

16.01 Methods and Procedures

A. Dispute resolution methods and procedures, if any, shall be as set forth in the Supplementary Conditions. If no method and procedure has been set forth, and subject to the provisions of paragraphs 9.09 and 10.05, OWNER and CONTRACTOR may exercise such rights or remedies as

either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws or Regulations in respect of any dispute.

ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS

17.01 Giving Notice

A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be deemed to have been validly given if delivered in person to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for whom it is intended, or if delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known to the giver of the notice.

17.02 Computation of Times

A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract Documents by days, it will be computed to exclude the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation.

17.03 Cumulative Remedies

A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract Documents, and the provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply.

17.04 Survival of Obligations

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract Documents, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract Documents, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Agreement.

17.05 Controlling Law

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

These Supplementary Conditions amend or supplement the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (No. 1910-8, 1996 Edition) and other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated below. All provisions which are not so amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect.

The terms used in these Supplementary Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. Additional terms used in these Supplementary Conditions have the meanings indicated below, which are applicable to both the singular and plural thereof.

SC-1.01.A.20 ENGINEER's Consultant(s) include:

Urban Surveying, Inc. 2004 N. Commerce Street Victoria, TX 77901-5510 (361) 578-9837

SC-1.01.A.40 Add the following sentence at the end of paragraph 1.01.A.40:

The Site of the work is within the corporate limits of Port Lavaca, Calhoun County, Texas and is more clearly defined on the accompanying Drawings.

SC-4.02.A.1 Geotechnical data, if any, is available from the Engineer upon request.

SC-4.06.A There are no known hazardous environmental conditions at the Site.

SC-5.04.B.1 Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 5.04.B.1:

The following entities shall be listed as additional insureds and certificate holders to all policies required by paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6, inclusive:

Urban Engineering	City of Port Lavaca
2004 N. Commerce Street	202 N. Virginia Street
Victoria, Texas 77901	Port Lavaca, Texas 77979

SC-5.04.B.2 Add the following new paragraphs immediately after paragraph 5.04.B.2:

Public Liability Insurance in an amount not less than One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) for damages arising out of bodily or personal injury, sickness or disease, or death of one person and subject to the same limit for each person and in an amount not less than Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) in any one occurrence.

Property Damage Insurance in an amount not less than Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000.00) for all damages arising out of injury to or destruction of property of others in any one occurrence with an aggregate limit in the same amount. The Property Damage portion of this coverage shall include, where applicable, explosion, collapse and underground exposure coverage.

Automobile Liability and Property Damage Insurance in an amount not less than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000.00) for injury or death of one person and not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00) in any one occurrence; and Property Damage Limits of not less than Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000.00) in any one occurrence.

SC-5.06 Delete 5.06 in its entirety.

SC-5.07 Delete 5.07 in its entirety.

SC-5.08 Delete 5.08 in its entirety.

SC-5.10 Delete 5.10 in its entirety.

SC-6.02.B Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 6.02.B:

Work shall not be performed without written permission of the OWNER on the following holidays:

New Year's Day Good Friday Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Veterans Day Thanksgiving Day Day After Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day

SC-6.06.B Add the following new paragraph immediately after paragraph 6.06.B:

All major subcontractors must have been listed and submitted with the Bid. Bidder may change subcontractors after Bid submittal only as approved by the Engineer. Major subcontractors are those who will do work having a total value of more than five percent (5%) of the Contract amount. The maximum total value of work performed by all subcontractors on the Project shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the Contract amount.

SC-6.10.A Delete paragraph 6.10.A in its entirety and insert the following in its place:

OWNER is exempt from state and local sales tax pursuant to the provisions of Article 20.04(F) of the Texas Limited Sales, Excise and Use Tax Act. Taxes normally levied on the purchase, rent or lease of all materials, supplies and equipment used or consumed in the performance of this contract may be exempted by issuing to suppliers an exemption certificate in lieu of the tax. The exemption certificate complies with State Comptroller of Public Accounts Ruling No. 95-0.07. Any such exemption certificate issued in lieu of the tax shall be subject to the provisions of the State Comptroller of Public Accounts Ruling No. 95-0.09 as amended to be effective October 2, 1968. CONTRACTOR shall pay any and all other taxes for the Work provided by CONTRACTOR which are legally enacted when bids are received or negotiations concluded, whether or not yet effective or merely scheduled to go into effect.

SC-7.01 Related Work at Site

OWNER reserves the right to perform additional work on the Project Site concurrent with this contract.

SC-9.03.A Add the following new paragraphs immediately after paragraph 9.03.A:

The duties and responsibilities of OWNER's Onsite Representative are limited and described as follows:

OWNER's Onsite Representative shall only observe, monitor and inspect CONTRACTOR's work in progress for the sole benefit of OWNER to determine if the work is proceeding in accordance with the job specifications set forth by the Project Engineer in the Contract Documents for this specific project. At the request of ENGINEER or CONTRACTOR and at OWNER's sole discretion, OWNER may provide a copy of the results of said observations, monitoring and inspections to ENGINEER or CONTRACTOR.

OWNER's Onsite Representative shall not:

- 1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or substitution of materials or equipment (including "or equal" items).
- 2. Undertake any of the responsibilities or obligations of the Project ENGINEER or of a CONTRACTOR, Subcontractor, Supplier or a CONTRACTOR's or a Subcontractor Superintendent.
- 3. Advise on, issue directions relative to or assume control over any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of the work unless such advice or directions are specifically required on the part of OWNER by the Contract Documents.
- 4. Advise on, issue directions regarding or assume control over safety precautions and programs in connection with the activities or operations of a CONTRACTOR, Subcontractor or Supplier.
- 5. During OWNER's Onsite Representative's inspection, observation or monitoring of CONTRACTOR's work in progress, OWNER's Onsite Representative shall not supervise, direct or have control over the CONTRACTOR's work nor shall OWNER's Onsite Representative have authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, procedures selected by CONTRACTOR or Subcontractor for safety precautions and programs incident to CONTRACTOR or Subcontractor's work in progress, for any failure of a CONTRACTOR or Subcontractor to comply with laws and regulations applicable to a CONTRACTOR or Subcontractor performing and furnishing the work, or responsibility for a CONTRACTOR or Subcontractor's failure to furnish and perform the work in accordance with the job specifications set forth by the Project ENGINEER in the Contract Documents.
- **SC-11.03.C** Delete paragraph 11.03.C in its entirety and insert the following in its place:
- C. The unit price of an item of Unit Price Work shall be subject to reevaluation and adjustment under the following conditions:

- 1. if the total cost of a particular item of Unit Price Work amounts to five percent (5%) or more of the Contract Price and the variation in the quantity of that particular item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs by more than twenty-five percent (25%) from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and
- 2. if there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
- 3. if CONTRACTOR believes that CONTRACTOR has incurred additional expense as a result thereof; or if OWNER believes that the quantity variation entitles OWNER to an adjustment in the unit price, either OWNER or CONTRACTOR may make a claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with Article 10 if the parties are unable to agree as to the effect of any such variations in the quantity of Unit Price Work performed.

SC-12.03.A Amend the second sentence of paragraph 12.03.A to read as follows:

Delays beyond the control of CONTRACTOR shall include, but not be limited to, acts or neglect by OWNER, acts or neglect of utility owners or other contractors performing other work as contemplated by Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather conditions, saturated soil conditions, or acts of God.

- **SC-16.01.A** Methods and Procedures include:
- A. The parties shall endeavor to resolve their claims by mediation. Request for mediation shall be filed in writing with the other party to the Contract. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of litigation but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of legal or equitable proceedings, which shall be stayed pending mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order.
- B. The parties shall share the mediator's fee equally. The mediation must take place in Calhoun County, Texas unless another location is mutually agreed upon. The parties may either agree upon a mediator, or if they cannot agree, the presiding judge of the district courts of Calhoun County, Texas shall select the mediator. Agreements reached in mediation shall be binding on both parties and shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

SC-18 Add ARTICLE 18 – MINIMUM WAGE RATES

- 18.01 Minimum Wage Rates
- A. The CONTRACTOR shall pay at least the wage rates for the various classes of labor employed directly on this project in accordance with the appropriate current U.S. Department of Labor General Wage Decision Numbers, which are attached to these Contract Documents and included herein. Intentional failure of CONTRACTOR to pay these wage rates for workers directly employed on this project may subject the CONTRACTOR to a penalty as specified by Texas Government Code §2258.023.

"General Decision Number: TX20240277 01/05/2024

Superseded General Decision Number: TX20230277

State: Texas

Construction Type: Building

Counties: Calhoun, Goliad and Victoria Counties in Texas.

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family homes or apartments up to and including 4 stories).

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658. Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered contracts entered into by the federal government that are subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts, including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(1).

If the contract is entered into on or after January 30, 2022, or the contract is renewed or extended (e.g., an option is exercised) on or after January 30, 2022:	 Executive Order 14026 generally applies to the contract. The contractor must pay all covered workers at least \$17.20 per hour (or the applicable wage rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for all hours spent performing on the contract in 2024.
If the contract was awarded on or between January 1, 2015 and January 29, 2022, and the contract is not renewed or extended on or after January 30, 2022:	

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for performance of work on the contract does not appear on this wage determination, the contractor must still submit a conformance request.

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the Executive Orders is available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number Publication Date 0 01/05/2024 BOIL0074-003 07/01/2023 Rates Fringes BOILERMAKER.....\$ 37.00 24.64 _____ ELEC0278-002 08/27/2023 Rates Fringes ELECTRICIAN.....\$ 29.50 8.94 _____ ENGI0178-005 06/01/2020 Rates Fringes POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR (1) Tower Crane.....\$ 32.85 13.10 (2) Cranes with Pile Driving or Caisson Attachment and Hydraulic Crane 60 tons and above....\$ 28.75 10.60 (3) Hydraulic cranes 59 Tons and under.....\$ 32.35 13.10 _____ _____ IRON0084-011 06/01/2023 Rates Fringes IRONWORKER, ORNAMENTAL.....\$ 27.51 8.13 _____ SUTX2014-057 07/21/2014 Rates Fringes BRICKLAYER.....\$ 20.04 0.00 CARPENTER.....\$ 15.21 ** 0.00 CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER...\$ 15.33 ** 0.00 INSULATOR - MECHANICAL (Duct, Pipe & Mechanical

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

System Insulation)\$ 19.77	7.13
IRONWORKER, REINFORCING\$ 12.27 **	0.00
IRONWORKER, STRUCTURAL\$ 22.16	5.26
LABORER: Common or General\$ 9.68 **	0.00
LABORER: Mason Tender - Brick\$ 11.36 **	0.00
LABORER: Mason Tender - Cement/Concrete\$ 10.58 **	0.00
LABORER: Pipelayer\$ 12.49 **	2.13
LABORER: Roof Tearoff\$ 11.28 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Backhoe/Excavator/Trackhoe\$ 14.25 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Bobcat/Skid Steer/Skid Loader\$ 13.93 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Bulldozer\$ 18.29	1.31
OPERATOR: Drill\$ 16.22 **	0.34
OPERATOR: Forklift\$ 14.83 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Grader/Blade\$ 13.37 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Loader\$ 13.55 **	0.94
OPERATOR: Mechanic\$ 17.52	3.33
OPERATOR: Paver (Asphalt, Aggregate, and Concrete)\$ 16.03 **	0.00
OPERATOR: Roller\$ 12.70 **	0.00
PAINTER (Brush, Roller, and Spray)\$ 14.45 **	0.00
PIPEFITTER\$ 25.80	8.55
PLUMBER\$ 25.64	8.16
ROOFER\$ 13.75 **	0.00
SHEET METAL WORKER (HVAC Duct Installation Only)\$ 22.73	7.52
SHEET METAL WORKER, Excludes HVAC Duct Installation\$ 21.13	6.53

TILE FINISHER.	\$	11.22	* *	0.00
TILE SETTER	\$	14.74	* *	0.00
TRUCK DRIVER:	Dump Truck\$	12.39	* *	1.18
TRUCK DRIVER:	Flatbed Truck\$	19.65		8.57
TRUCK DRIVER: Truck	Semi-Trailer \$	12.50	* *	0.00
TRUCK DRIVER:	Water Truck\$	12.00	**	4.11

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing operation to which welding is incidental.

** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 (\$17.20) or 13658 (\$12.90). Please see the Note at the top of the wage determination for more information. Please also note that the minimum wage requirements of Executive Order 14026 are not currently being enforced as to any contract or subcontract to which the states of Texas, Louisiana, or Mississippi, including their agencies, are a party.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (iii)). _____

The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or ""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 indicates the local union number or district council number where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 2014.

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate prevailed for those classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is based.

WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can be:

- * an existing published wage determination
- * a survey underlying a wage determination
- * a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination matter
- * a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour National Office because National Office has responsibility for the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to:

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations Wage and Hour Division U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by the action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator (See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

Wage and Hour Administrator U.S. Department of Labor

200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to:

Administrative Review Board U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

END OF GENERAL DECISION"

"General Decision Number: TX20240029 01/05/2024

Superseded General Decision Number: TX20230029

State: Texas

Construction Type: Highway

Counties: Aransas, Calhoun, Goliad, Nueces and San Patricio Counties in Texas.

HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (excluding tunnels, building structures in rest area projects & railroad construction; bascule, suspension & spandrel arch bridges designed for commercial navigation, bridges involving marine construction; and other major bridges).

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658. Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered contracts entered into by the federal government that are subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts, including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(1).

If the contract is entered into on or after January 30, 2022, or the contract is renewed or extended (e.g., an option is exercised) on or after January 30, 2022:	 Executive Order 14026 generally applies to the contract. The contractor must pay all covered workers at least \$17.20 per hour (or the applicable wage rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for all hours spent performing on the contract in 2024.
If the contract was awarded on or between January 1, 2015 and January 29, 2022, and the contract is not renewed or extended on or after January 30, 2022:	

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for performance of work on the contract does not appear on this wage determination, the contractor must still submit a conformance request.

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the Executive Orders is available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number 0	Publication Date 01/05/2024	
SUTX2011-010 08/08/202	11	
	Rates	Fringes
CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER (Paving & Strue	ctures)\$ 12.64	**
FORM BUILDER/FORM SETTED Paving & Curb Structures	\$ 10.69	
LABORER Asphalt Raker Flagger Laborer, Common Laborer, Utility Pipelayer Work Zone Barricado Servicer	\$ 8.81 \$ 10.25 \$ 11.23 \$ 11.17 e	* * * * * *
PAINTER (Structures)	\$ 21.29	
POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR Asphalt Distributor Asphalt Paving Mach Mechanic Motor Grader, Fine Motor Grader, Rough	r\$ 14.25 hine\$ 13.44 \$ 17.00 Grade\$ 17.74	**
TRUCK DRIVER Lowboy-Float Single Axle		
WELDERS - Receive rate poperation to which weld		

** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 (\$17.20) or 13658 (\$12.90). Please see the Note at the top of the wage determination for more information. Please also note that the minimum wage requirements of Executive Order 14026 are not currently being enforced as to any contract or subcontract to which the states of Texas, Louisiana, or Mississippi, including their agencies, are a party.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (iii)).

The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or ""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 indicates the local union number or district council number

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 2014.

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate prevailed for those classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is based.

WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can be:

- * an existing published wage determination
- * a survey underlying a wage determination
- * a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination matter
- * a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour National Office because National Office has responsibility for the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to:

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations Wage and Hour Division U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by the action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator (See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

Wage and Hour Administrator U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to:

Administrative Review Board U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

END OF GENERAL DECISION"

"General Decision Number: TX20240045 01/05/2024

Superseded General Decision Number: TX20230045

State: Texas

Construction Type: Heavy

Counties: Aransas, Austin, Calhoun and Goliad Counties in Texas.

HEAVY CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658. Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered contracts entered into by the federal government that are subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts, including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(1).

If the contract is entered into on or after January 30, 2022, or the contract is renewed or extended (e.g., an option is exercised) on or after January 30, 2022:	 Executive Order 14026 generally applies to the contract. The contractor must pay all covered workers at least \$17.20 per hour (or the applicable wage rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for all hours spent performing on the contract in 2024.
If the contract was awarded on or between January 1, 2015 and January 29, 2022, and the contract is not renewed or extended on or after January 30, 2022:	! !

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for performance of work on the contract does not appear on this wage determination, the contractor must still submit a conformance request.

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the Executive Orders is available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number Publication Date 0 01/05/2024

SUTX2005-023 09/08/2005

	Rates		Fringes
Asphalt Distributor Operator	3 12.57	* *	
Asphalt paving machine operator	3 11.60	* *	
Asphalt Raker	3 10.63	* *	
Asphalt Shoveler	9.23	* *	
Broom or Sweeper Operator	9.32	* *	
Bulldozer operator	3 11.69	* *	
CARPENTER	3 11.70	* *	
Concrete Finisher, Paving	3 11.64	* *	
Concrete Finisher, Structures	3 10.23	* *	
Concrete Rubber	9.00	* *	
Crane, Clamshell, Backhoe, Derrick, Dragline, Shovel Operator	5 12.00	* *	
Flagger	8.60	* *	
Form Builder/Setter, Structures	3 10.51	* *	
Form Setter, Paving & Curb	9.48	* *	
Foundation Drill Operator, Truck Mounted	3 14.58	* *	
Front End Loader Operator	5 10.62	* *	
Laborer, common	8.91	* *	

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

Laborer, Utility.....\$ 9.21 ** MECHANIC (Undefined).....\$ 12.18 ** Motor Grader Operator Fine Grade.....\$ 15.15 ** Motor Grader Operator Rough.....\$ 12.95 ** Pavement Marking Machine Operator.....\$ 13.32 ** Pipelayer.....\$ 9.71 ** Roller Operator, Pneumatic, Self-Propelled.....\$ 8.90 ** Roller Operator, Steel Wheel, Flat Wheel/Tamping.....\$ 9.30 ** Roller Operator, Steel Wheel, Plant Mix Pavement.....\$ 10.59 ** Scraper Operator.....\$ 9.85 ** Servicer....\$ 11.18 ** Spreader Box Operator.....\$ 13.00 ** Traveling Mixer Operator.....\$ 12.67 ** Truck Driver Single Axle Heavy...\$ 10.87 ** Truck Driver Single Axle, Light.....\$ 10.85 ** Truck driver, lowboy-Float.....\$ 13.70 ** Truck Driver, Tandem Axle, Semi-Trailer.....\$ 10.05 ** Work Zone Barricade Servicer....\$ 9.63 ** _____ WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing operation to which welding is incidental. _____ ** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 (\$17.20) or 13658 (\$12.90). Please see the Note at the top of the wage

determination for more information. Please also note that the minimum wage requirements of Executive Order 14026 are not

currently being enforced as to any contract or subcontract to which the states of Texas, Louisiana, or Mississippi, including their agencies, are a party.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (iii)).

The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or ""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 indicates the local union number or district council number where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 2014.

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate prevailed for those classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is based.

WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can be:

* an existing published wage determination

- * a survey underlying a wage determination
- * a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination matter
- * a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour National Office because National Office has responsibility for the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to:

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations Wage and Hour Division U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by the action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator (See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

Wage and Hour Administrator U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to:

Administrative Review Board U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

END OF GENERAL DECISION"

"General Decision Number: TX20240049 01/05/2024

Superseded General Decision Number: TX20230049

State: Texas

Construction Type: Residential

County: Calhoun County in Texas.

RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658. Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered contracts entered into by the federal government that are subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts, including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(1).

If the contract is entered into on or after January 30, 2022, or the contract is renewed or extended (e.g., an option is exercised) on or after January 30, 2022:	 Executive Order 14026 generally applies to the contract. The contractor must pay all covered workers at least \$17.20 per hour (or the applicable wage rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for all hours spent performing on the contract in 2024.
If the contract was awarded on or between January 1, 2015 and January 29, 2022, and the contract is not renewed or extended on or after January 30, 2022:	

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for performance of work on the contract does not appear on this wage determination, the contractor must still submit a conformance request. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the Executive Orders is available at http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number Publication Date 0 01/05/2024

SUTX1990-046 01/24/1990

RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION

1	Rates	Fringes
Air Conditioning Mechanic\$	7.25	**
BRICKLAYER\$	8.50	**
CARPENTER\$	7.25	**
CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER\$	7.25	* *
ELECTRICIAN\$	7.31	* *
GLAZIER\$	7.25	* *
IRONWORKER\$	7.25	* *
Laborers: LABORERS\$ MASON TENDERS\$	7.25 7.25	
PAINTER\$	7.25	* *
Plumbers and Pipefitters\$	8.01	**
ROOFER\$	7.25	**
Sheet metal worker\$	9.44	**
TRUCK DRIVER\$	7.25	**
WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed operation to which weld		
WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed : operation to which welding is incid		
** Workers in this classification	may be	entitled to a higher

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 (\$17.20) or 13658 (\$12.90). Please see the Note at the top of the wage determination for more information. Please also note that the minimum wage requirements of Executive Order 14026 are not currently being enforced as to any contract or subcontract to which the states of Texas, Louisiana, or Mississippi, including their agencies, are a party.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017. If this contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. Additional information on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO is available at

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within the scope of the classifications listed may be added after award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses (29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (iii)).

The body of each wage determination lists the classification and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate (weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or ""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of the union which prevailed in the survey for this classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198

SC-18.01A-Minimum Wage Rates (Continued)

indicates the local union number or district council number where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 2014.

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that classification. As this weighted average rate includes all rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate that no single majority rate prevailed for those classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is based.

WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can

be:

- * an existing published wage determination
- * a survey underlying a wage determination
- * a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on a wage determination matter
- * a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour National Office because National Office has responsibility for the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal process described here, initial contact should be with the Branch of Construction Wage Determinations. Write to:

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations Wage and Hour Division U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an interested party (those affected by the action) can request review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator (See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

Wage and Hour Administrator U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the interested party's position and by any information (wage payment data, project description, area practice material, etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board). Write to:

Administrative Review Board U.S. Department of Labor 200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

END OF GENERAL DECISION"

No. _____

DATE OF ISSUANCE _____

EFFECTIVE DATE_____

OWNER: CONTRACTOR:	City of Port Lavaca	
ENGINEER:	Urban Engineering	
CONTRACT:	Construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station	n including the construction of approximately
	250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 5	0 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the
	intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Stre	et in Port Lavaca, Texas.
PROJECT:	Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for the City of	f Port Lavaca, Texas
OWNER's CONTR	ACT NO.: N/A	ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO .: E26133.00

You are directed to make the following changes in the Contract Documents:

Description:

Reason for Change Order:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change)

CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRI	ICE:	CHANGE IN CONTRACT TIMES:
Original Contract Price: \$		Original Contract Times: Substantial Completion: Ready for final payment:(days or dates)
Net Increase (Decrease) from previous Orders No to: \$	Change	Net change from previous Change Orders No to No: Substantial Completion: Ready for final payment: (days)
Contract Price prior to this Change Orde	ər:	Contract Times prior to this Change Order: Substantial Completion: Ready for final payment:(days or dates)
Net increase (decrease) of this Change	Order:	Net increase (decrease) this Change Order: Substantial Completion: Ready for final payment: (days)
Contract Price with all approved Change	e Orders:	Contract Times with all approved Change Orders: Substantial Completion: Ready for final payment: (days or dates)
RECOMMENDED:	APPROVED	ACCEPTED:
By: ENGINEER (Authorized Signature)	_ By: OWNER (Auth	norized Signature) By: CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)
Date:	Date:	Date:

EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition) Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

WORK CHANGE DIRECTIVE

No. _____

DATE OF ISSUANCE _____

EFFECTIVE DATE

OWNER: CONTRACTOR:	City of Port Lavaca	
ENGINEER:	Urban Engineering	
CONTRACT:		r lift station including the construction of approximately
	intersection of W. Railroad Street and	nain and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.
PROJECT:	Ann Street Lift Station Replacement for	r the City of Port Lavaca, Texas
OWNER's CONTR	ACT NO.: N/A	ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO.: E26133.00

You are directed to make the following change(s):

Description:

Purpose of Work Change Directive:

Attachments: (List documents supporting change):

If OWNER or CONTRACTOR believes that the above change has affected Contract Price, any Claim for a Change Order based thereon will involve one or more of the following methods as defined in the Contract Documents.

Method of determining change in Contract Price:

🗌 Unit Price	25
--------------	----

Lump Sum

Cost of the Work _____

Estimated increase (decrease) in Contract Price: \$_

If the change involves an increase, the estimated amount is not to be exceeded without further authorization.

Estimated increase (decrease) in Contract Times: Substantial Completion: _____ days; Ready for final payment: _____ days.

_ By: _

ACCEPTED: CONTRACTOR

By:

ENGINEER

By: ENGINEER (Authorized Signature)

OWNER (Authorized Signature)

CONTRACTOR (Authorized Signature)

EJCDC 1910-8-B (1996 Edition)

RECOMMENDED:

Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of America and the Construction Specifications Institute.

AUTHORIZED:

OWNER

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS

Division 1 - General Requirements

Section 01010	Summary of Work
Section 01015	Contractor Use of Premises
Section 01025	Measurement and Payment
Section 01035	Change Order Procedures
Section 01040	Coordination and Meetings
Section 01045	Cutting and Patching
Section 01050	Field Surveying
Section 01090	Reference Standards
Section 01300	Submittals
Section 01380	Construction Photographs and Videos
Section 01410	Testing Laboratory Services
Section 01420	Inspection Services
Section 01500	Temporary Facilities and Controls
Section 01505	Mobilization
Section 01511	Diversion Pumping
Section 01526	Trench Safety System
Section 01535	Tree and Plant Protection
Section 01560	Storm Water Pollution Prevention
Section 01563	Control of Ground Water and Surface Water
Section 01564	Waste Material Disposal
Section 01566	Source Controls for Erosion and Sedimentation
Section 01567	Filter Fabric Fence
Section 01568	Reinforced Filter Fabric Barrier
Section 01569	Stabilized Construction Exit
Section 01570	Traffic Control and Regulation
Section 01630	Product Options and Substitutions
Section 01700	Contract Closeout
Section 01720	Project Record Documents

Division 2 – Site Work

Section 02210	Demolition
Section 02227	Excavation and Backfill for Utilities
Section 02229	Utility Backfill Materials
Section 02602	Fiberglass Manholes
Section 02603	Frames, Grates, Rings, and Covers
Section 02610	Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings
Section 02619	High Density Polyethylene (HDPE) Solid Wall Pipe
Section 02620	PVC Pipe
Section 02640	Gate Valves
Section 02642	Air Release and Vacuum Relief Valves
Section 02730	Gravity Sanitary Sewers
Section 02731	Sanitary Sewage Force Mains

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS

Section 02732	Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers
Section 02765	Abandonment of Sanitary Sewers

Division 11 – Equipment

Section 11308 Submersible Pump Lift Station

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Summary of the Work including work by Owner, Owner furnished products, required Work sequence, and Owner occupancy.

1.02 WORK COVERED BY CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

Work of the contract is for the construction of one (1) sanitary sewer lift station including the construction of approximately 250 linear feet of 6 and 8-inch force main and 50 linear feet of 12-inch gravity main near the intersection of W. Railroad Street and N. Ann Street in Port Lavaca, Texas.

- 1.03 ALTERNATES None
- 1.04 WORK BY OWNER None
- 1.05 OWNER FURNISHED PRODUCTS None
- 1.06 REQUIRED WORK SEQUENCE None
- 1.07 OWNER OCCUPANCY
 - A. The Owner will occupy the site during the entire period of construction for the conduct of normal operations.
 - B. Cooperate with the Owner to minimize conflict and to facilitate the Owner's operations. Coordinate Contractor's activities with Engineer.
 - C. Schedule Work to accommodate this requirement.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

END OF SECTION

[This page intentionally left blank]

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Section includes general use of the site including properties inside and outside of the site, work affecting roadways, ramps, streets and driveways and notification to adjacent occupants.
- 1.02 SITE
 - A. Confine access and operations and storage areas to site provided by Owner; trespassing on abutting lands or other lands in the area is not allowed.
 - B. Contractor may make arrangements, at Contractor's cost, for temporary use of private properties, in which case Contractor and Contractor's surety shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner against claims or demands arising from such use of properties outside of the site.

1.03 PROPERTIES OUTSIDE OF SITE

- A. Altering the condition of properties adjacent to the site will not be permitted unless authorized by the Engineer.
- B. Means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures which will result in damage to properties or improvements in the vicinity outside of the site will not be permitted.
- C. Any damage to properties outside of the site shall be repaired or replaced to the satisfaction of the Engineer and at no cost to the Owner.

1.04 USE OF SITE

- A. Obtain approvals of governing authorities prior to impeding or closing public roads or streets.
- B. Notify Engineer 48 hours prior to closing a street or a street crossing. Permits for street closures are required in advance and are the responsibility of the Contractor.
- C. Maintain access for emergency vehicles including access to fire hydrants.
- D. Avoid obstructing drainage ditches or inlets; when obstruction is unavoidable due to requirements of the Work, provide grading and temporary drainage structures to maintain unimpeded flow.
- E. Locate and protect private lawn sprinkler systems which may exist within the site. Repair or replace damaged systems to condition equal to or better than that existing at start of Work.
- F. Perform daily clean up of dirt outside the construction zone, and debris, scrap materials, and other disposable items. Keep streets, driveways, and sidewalks clean of dirt, debris and scrap materials. Do not leave buildings, roads, streets or other construction areas unclean overnight.

1.05 NOTIFICATION TO ADJACENT OCCUPANTS

A. Notify individual occupants in areas to be affected by the Work of the proposed construction and time schedule. Notification shall be not less than 72 hours or more than 2 weeks prior to work being performed within 200 feet of the homes or businesses.

CONTRACTOR USE OF PREMISES

- B. Include in notification name and telephone numbers of a company representative for resident contact. Include precautions which will be taken to protect private property and identify potential access or utility inconvenience or disruption.
- C. Submit proposed notification to Engineer for approval. Consideration shall be given to the ethnicity of the neighborhood where English is not the dominant language. Notice shall be in an understandable language.

1.06 PUBLIC, TEMPORARY, AND CONSTRUCTION ROADS AND RAMPS

- A. Construct and maintain temporary detours, ramps, and roads to provide for normal public traffic flow when use of public roads or streets is closed by necessities of the Work.
- B. Operate all trucks in accordance with applicable provisions of the City's Ordinances.
- C. Provide mats or other means to prevent overloading or damage to existing roadways from tracked equipment or exceptionally large or heavy trucks or equipment.
- D. Construct and maintain access roads and parking areas as specified in Section 01500 Temporary Facilities and Controls.

1.07 EXCAVATION IN STREETS AND DRIVEWAYS

- A. Avoid hindering or needlessly inconveniencing public travel on a street or any intersecting alley or street for more than two blocks at any one time, except by permission of the Engineer.
- B. Obtain the Engineer's approval when the nature of the Work requires closing of an entire street. Permits required for street closure are the Contractor's responsibility. Avoid unnecessary inconvenience to abutting property owners.
- C. Remove surplus materials and debris and open each block for public use as work in that block is complete.
- D. Acceptance of any portion of the Work will not be based on return of street to public use.
- E. Avoid obstructing driveways or entrances to private property.
- F. Provide temporary crossing or complete the excavation and backfill in one continuous operation to minimize the duration of obstruction when excavation is required across drives or entrances.
- 1.08 TRAFFIC CONTROL
 - A. Provide barricades and signs in accordance with Section VI of the State of Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

END OF SECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Procedures for measurement and payment plus conditions for nonconformance assessment and nonpayment for rejected products.

1.02 AUTHORITY

- A. Measurement methods delineated in Specification sections are intended to complement the criteria of this section. In the event of conflict, the requirements of the Specification section shall govern.
- B. Measurements and quantities submitted by the Contractor will be verified by the Engineer.
- C. Contractor shall provide necessary equipment, workers, and survey personnel as required by Engineer to verify quantities.

1.03 UNIT QUANTITIES SPECIFIED

- A. Quantity and measurement estimates stated in the Agreement are for contract purposes only. Quantities and measurements supplied or placed in the Work and verified by Engineer shall determine payment as stated in the General Conditions.
- B. If the actual Work requires greater or lesser quantities than those quantities indicated in the Unit Price Bid, provide the required quantities at the unit prices contracted, except as otherwise stated in the General Conditions.

1.04 MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES

- A. Measurement by Weight: Reinforcing steel, rolled or formed steel or other metal shapes will be measured by CRSI or AISC Manual of Steel Construction weights. Welded assemblies will be measured by CRSI or AISC Manual of Steel Construction or scale weights.
- B. Measurement by Volume:
 - 1. Stockpiles: Measured by cubic dimension using mean length, width, and height or thickness.
 - 2. Excavation and Embankment Materials: Measured by cubic dimension using the average end area method.
- C. Measurement by Area: Measured by square dimension using mean length and width or radius.
- D. Linear Measurement: Measured by linear dimension, at the item centerline or mean chord.
- E. Stipulated Price Measurement: By unit designated in the agreement.
- F. Other: Items measured by weight, volume, area, or lineal means or combination, as appropriate, as a completed item or unit of the Work.

1.05 PAYMENT

A. Payment Includes: Full compensation for all required supervision, labor, products, tools, equipment, plant, transportation, services, and incidentals; and erection, application or installation of an item of the Work; and Contractor's overhead and profit.

- B. Total compensation for required Unit Price Work shall be included in the Unit Price Bid. Claims for payment as Unit Price Work, but not specifically covered in the list of unit prices contained in the Unit Price Bid, will not be accepted.
- C. Interim payments for stored materials will be made only for materials to be incorporated under items covered in unit prices, unless disallowed in Supplementary Conditions. Such materials must be stored on the jobsite or at a location approved by the Engineer.
- D. Progress payments will be based on the Engineer's observations and evaluations of quantities incorporated in the Work multiplied by the unit price.
- E. Final payment for Work governed by unit prices will be made on the basis of the actual measurements and quantities determined by Engineer multiplied by the unit price for Work which is incorporated in or made necessary by the Work.
- F. Some individual technical specifications may contain measurement and/or payment provisions that may not be consistent with the Bid Form. In all cases, the Bid Form will take precedence over the technical specifications with regard to measurement and payment.

1.06 NONCONFORMANCE ASSESSMENT

- A. Remove and replace the Work, or portions of the Work, not conforming to the Contract Documents.
- B. If, in the opinion of Engineer, it is not practical to remove and replace the Work, the Engineer will direct one of the following remedies:
 - 1. The nonconforming Work will remain as is, but the unit price will be adjusted to a lower price at the discretion of Engineer.
 - 2. The nonconforming Work will be modified as authorized by the Engineer, and the unit price will be adjusted to a lower price at the discretion of Engineer, if the modified work is deemed to be less suitable than originally specified.
- C. Specification sections may modify these options or may identify a specific formula or percentage price reduction.
- D. The authority of Engineer to assess the nonconforming work and identify payment adjustment is final.

1.07 NONPAYMENT FOR REJECTED PRODUCTS

- A. Payment will not be made for any of the following:
 - 1. Products wasted or disposed of in a manner that is not acceptable to Engineer.
 - 2. Products determined as nonconforming before or after placement.
 - 3. Products not completely unloaded from transporting vehicle.
 - 4. Products placed beyond the lines and levels of the required Work.
 - 5. Products remaining on hand after completion of the Work, unless specified otherwise.
 - 6. Loading, hauling, and disposing of rejected products.

PART 2 P R O D U C T S - Not Used

PART 3 E X E C U T I O N - Not Used

END OF SECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Procedures for processing Change Orders, including:
 - 1. Assignment of a responsible individual for approval and communication of changes in the Work;
 - 2. Documentation of change in Contract Price and Contract Time;
 - 3. Change procedures, using proposals and construction contract modifications, work change directive, stipulated price change order, unit price change order, time and materials change order;
 - 4. Execution of Change Orders;
 - 5. Correlation of Contractor submittals.

1.02 REFERENCES

- A. Rental Rate Blue Book for Construction Equipment (Data Quest Blue Book). Rental Rate is defined as the full unadjusted base rental rate for the appropriate item of construction equipment.
- 1.03 RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL
 - A. Contractor shall provide a letter indicating the name and address of the individual authorized to execute change documents, and who shall also be responsible for informing others in Contractor's employ and Subcontractors of changes to the Work. The information shall be provided at the Preconstruction Conference.
- 1.04 DOCUMENTATION OF CHANGE IN CONTRACT PRICE AND CONTRACT TIME
 - A. Contractor shall maintain detailed records of changes in the Work. Provide full information required for identification and evaluation of proposed changes, and to substantiate costs of changes in the Work.
 - B. Contractor shall document each proposal for a change in cost or time with sufficient data to allow evaluation of the proposal.
 - C. Proposals shall include, as a minimum, the following information as applicable:
 - 1. Quantities of items in the original Bid Form with additions, reductions, deletions, and substitutions.
 - 2. When Work items were not included in the Bid Form, Contractor shall provide unit prices for the new items, with supporting information as required by the Engineer.
 - 3. Justification for any change in Contract Time.
 - 4. Additional data upon request.
 - D. For changes in the Work performed on a time-and-material basis, the following additional information may be required:
 - 1. Quantities and description of products and equipment.
 - 2. Taxes, insurance and bonds.
 - 3. Overhead and profit.
 - 4. Dates and times work was performed, and by whom.
 - 5. Time records and certified copies of applicable payrolls.
 - 6. Invoices and receipts for products, rented equipment, and subcontracts, similarly documented.
 - E. Rented equipment will be paid to the Contractor by actual invoice cost for the duration of time required to complete the extra work. If the extra work comprises only a portion of the rental

invoice where the equipment would otherwise be on the site, the Contractor shall compute the hourly equipment rate by dividing the actual monthly invoice by 176. (One day equals 8 hours and one week equals 40 hours.) Operating costs shall not exceed the estimated operating costs given for the item of equipment in the Blue Book.

- F. For changes in the work performed on a time-and-materials basis using Contractor-owned equipment, compute rates with the Blue Book as follows:
 - 1. Multiply the appropriate Rental Rate by an adjustment factor of 70 percent plus the full rate shown for operating costs. The Rental Rate utilized shall be the lowest cost combination of hourly, daily, weekly or monthly rates. Use 150 percent of the Rental Rate for double shifts (one extra shift per day) and 200 percent of the Rental Rate for more than two shifts per day. No other rate adjustments shall apply.
 - 2. Standby rates shall be 50 percent of the appropriate Rental Rate shown in the Blue Book. Operating costs will not be allowed.

1.05 CHANGE PROCEDURES

- A. Changes to Contract Price or Contract Time can only be made by issuance of a Change Order. Issuance of a Work Change Directive or written acceptance by the Engineer of changes will be formalized into Change Orders. All changes will be in accordance with the requirements of the General Conditions.
- B. The Engineer will advise of minor changes in the Work not involving an adjustment to Contract Price or Contract Time as authorized by the General Conditions by issuing supplemental instructions.
- C. Contractor may request clarification of Drawings, Specifications or Contract Documents or other information. Response by the Engineer to a Request for Information does not authorize the Contractor to perform tasks outside the scope of the Work. All changes must be authorized as described in this section.

1.06 PROPOSALS AND CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS

- A. The Engineer may issue a Request for Proposal, which includes a detailed description of a proposed change with supplementary or revised Drawings and Specifications. The Engineer may also request a proposal in the response to a Request for Information. Contractor will prepare and submit its Proposal within 7 days or as specified in the request.
- B. The Contractor may propose an unsolicited change by submitting a Proposal to the Engineer describing the proposed change and its full effect on the Work, with a statement describing the reason for the change and the effect on the Contract Price and Contract Time including full documentation.

1.07 WORK CHANGE DIRECTIVE

- A. Engineer may issue a signed Work Change Directive instructing the Contractor to proceed with a change in the Work, for subsequent inclusion in a Change Order.
- B. The document will describe changes in the Work and will designate a method of determining any change in Contract Price or Contract Time.
- C. Contractor shall proceed promptly to execute the changes in the Work in accordance with the Work Change Directive.

1.08 STIPULATED PRICE CHANGE ORDER

A. A stipulated price Change Order will be based on an accepted Proposal including the Contractor's lump sum price quotation.

1.09 UNIT PRICE CHANGE ORDER

- A. Where Unit Prices for the affected items of Work are included in the Bid Form, the unit price Change Order will be based on unit prices as originally bid, subject to provisions of the General Conditions.
- B. Where unit prices of Work are not pre-determined in the Bid Form, Work Change Directive or accepted Proposal will specify the unit prices to be used.

1.10 TIME-AND-MATERIAL CHANGE ORDER

- A. Contractor shall provide an itemized account and supporting data after completion of change, within time limits indicated for claims in the General Conditions.
- B. Engineer will determine the change allowable in Contract Price and Contract Time as provided in the General Conditions.
- C. Contractor shall maintain detailed records of work done on time-and-material basis as specified in paragraph 1.04, Documentation of Change in Contract Price and Contract Time.
- D. Contractor shall provide full information required for evaluation of changes, and shall substantiate costs for changes in the Work.

1.11 EXECUTION OF CHANGE DOCUMENTATION

A. Engineer will issue Change Orders, Work Change Directives, or accepted Proposals for signatures of parties as described in the General Conditions.

1.12 CORRELATION OF CONTRACTOR SUBMITTALS

- A. For Stipulated Price Contracts, Contractor shall promptly revise Schedule of Values and Application for Payment forms to record each authorized Change Order as a separate line item and adjust the Contract Price.
- B. For Unit Price Contracts, the next monthly estimate of work after acceptance of a Change Order will be revised to include any new items not previously included and the appropriate unit rates.
- C. Contractor shall promptly revise progress schedules to reflect any change in Contract Time, and shall revise schedules to adjust time for other items of work affected by the change, and resubmit for review.
- D. Contractor shall promptly enter changes to the on-site and record copies of the Drawings, Specifications or Contract Documents as required in Section 01720 - Project Record Documents.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

END OF SECTION

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Section includes general coordination including preconstruction conference, site mobilization conference, and progress meetings.

1.02 RELATED DOCUMENTS

A. Coordination is required throughout the documents. Refer to all of the Contract Documents and coordinate as necessary.

1.03 ENGINEER AND REPRESENTATIVES

A. The Engineer may act directly or through designated representatives as defined in the General Conditions and as identified by name at the preconstruction conference.

1.04 CONTRACTOR COORDINATION

- A. Coordinate scheduling, submittals, and Work of the various Specifications sections to assure efficient and orderly sequence of installation of interdependent construction elements.
- B. Coordinate completion and clean up of Work for Substantial Completion and for portions of Work designated for Owner's partial occupancy.
- C. Coordinate access to site for correction of nonconforming Work to minimize disruption of Owner's activities where Owner is in partial occupancy.

1.05 PRECONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE

- A. Engineer will schedule a preconstruction conference.
- B. Attendance Required: Engineer's representatives, Consultants, Contractor, and major Subcontractors.

C. Agenda:

- 1. Distribution of Contract Documents.
- 2. Designation of personnel representing the parties in Contract, and the Consultant.
- 3. Review of insurance.
- 4. Discussion of formats proposed by the Contractor for schedule of values, and construction schedule.
- 5. Procedures and processing of shop drawings and other submittals, substitutions, pay estimates or applications for payment, Requests for Information, Request for Proposal, Change Orders, and Contract closeout.
- 6. Scheduling of the Work and coordination with other contractors.
- 7. Review of Subcontractors.
- 8. Appropriate agenda items listed for Site Mobilization Conference, paragraph 1.06 C, when preconstruction conference and site mobilization conference are combined.
- 9. Procedures for testing.
- 10. Procedures for maintaining record documents.

1.06 SITE MOBILIZATION CONFERENCE

A. When required by the Contract Documents, Engineer will schedule a conference at the Project site prior to Contractor occupancy.

- B. Attendance Required: Engineer representatives, Consultants, Contractor's Superintendent, and major Subcontractors.
- C. Agenda:
 - 1. Use of premises by Owner and Contractor
 - 2. Safety and first aid procedures
 - 3. Construction controls provided by Owner
 - 4. Temporary utilities
 - 5. Survey and layout
 - 6. Security and housekeeping procedures

1.07 PROGRESS MEETINGS

- A. Project meetings shall be held at Project field office or other location as designated by the Engineer. Meeting shall be held at monthly intervals, or more frequent intervals if directed by Engineer.
- B. Attendance Required: Job superintendent, major Subcontractors and suppliers, Engineer representatives, and Consultants as appropriate to agenda topics for each meeting.
- C. Engineer or his representative will make arrangements for meetings and recording minutes.
- D. Engineer or his representative will prepare the agenda and preside at meetings.
- E. Contractor shall provide required information and be prepared to discuss each agenda item.

F. Agenda:

- 1. Review minutes of previous meetings
- 2. Review of Work progress schedule submittal, and pay estimates, payroll and compliance submittals
- 3. Field observations, problems, and decisions
- 4. Identification of problems which impede planned progress
- 5. Review of submittals schedule and status of submittals
- 6. Review of Request for Information and Request for Proposal status
- 7. Change order status
- 8. Review of off-site fabrication and delivery schedules
- 9. Maintenance of progress schedule
- 10. Corrective measures to regain projected schedules
- 11. Planned progress during succeeding work period
- 12. Coordination of projected progress
- 13. Maintenance of quality and work standards
- 14. Effect of proposed changes on progress schedule and coordination
- 15. Other items relating to Work

PART 2 P R O D U C T S - Not Used

PART 3 E X E C U T I O N - Not Used

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Cutting, patching and fitting of Work to existing facilities, or to accommodate installation or connection of Work with existing facilities, or to uncover work for access, inspection or testing.

1.02 CUTTING AND PATCHING

- A. Perform activities to avoid interference with facility operations and the Work of others in accordance with the Document 00700 General Conditions of the Contract.
- B. Execute cutting and patching, including excavation, backfill and fitting to:
 - 1. Remove and replace defective Work or Work not conforming to the Drawings and Specifications.
 - 2. Take samples of installed Work as required for testing.
 - 3. Remove construction required to provide for specified alteration or addition to existing work.
 - 4. Uncover Work to provide for inspection or reinspection of covered Work by the Engineer or regulatory agencies having jurisdiction.
 - 5. Connect any Work that was not accomplished in the proper sequence to completed Work.
 - 6. Remove or relocate existing utilities and pipes which obstruct Work to which connections must be made.
 - 7. Make connections or alterations to existing or new facilities.
 - 8. Provide openings, channels, chases and flues, if any, and do cutting, patching and finishing.
- C. Restore existing work to a state equal to or better than that prior to cutting and patching. Restore new Work to standards of these Specifications.
- D. Support, anchor, attach, match, trim and seal materials to the Work of others. Unless otherwise specified, furnish and install sleeves, inserts, hangers, required for the execution of the Work.
- E. Provide shoring, bracing and support as required to maintain structural integrity and protect adjacent Work from damage during cutting and patching. Before cutting beams or other structural members, anchors, lintels or other supports, request written instructions from the Engineer. Follow such instructions, as applicable.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submit written notice to the Engineer requesting consent to proceed prior to cutting which may affect structural integrity or design function, Owner operations, or work of another contractor.
- B. Include the following in submittal:
 - 1. Identification of project.
 - 2. Description of affected Work.
 - 3. Necessity for cutting.
 - 4. Effect on other work and on structural integrity.
 - 5. Include description of proposed Work:
 - a. Scope of cutting and patching.
 - b. Contractor, subcontractor or trade to execute Work.
 - c. Products proposed to be used.

- d. Extent of refinishing.
- e. Schedule of operations.
- 6. Alternatives to cutting and patching, if any.
- C. Should conditions of Work or schedule indicate change of materials or methods, submit a written recommendation to the Engineer including:
 - 1. Conditions indicating change.
 - 2. Recommendations for alternative materials or methods.
 - 3. Submittals as required for substitutions.
- D. Submit written notice to the Engineer designating time Work will be uncovered for observation. Do not begin cutting or patching operations until authorized by the Engineer.

1.04 CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING FACILITIES

- A. Perform construction necessary to complete connections and tie-ins to existing facilities. Keep all existing facilities in continuous operation unless otherwise specifically permitted in these Specifications or approved by the Engineer.
- B. Coordinate with the Engineer and utility owner, interruption of service requiring connection into existing facilities. Bypassing of wastewater or sludge to waterways is not permitted. Provide temporary pumping facilities to handle wastewater if necessary. Use temporary bulkheads (e.g., inflatable plugs) to minimize disruption. Provide temporary power supply and piping to facilitate construction where necessary.
- C. Submit a detailed schedule of proposed connections, including shut-downs and tie-ins. Include in the submittal the proposed time and date as well as the anticipated duration of the Work. Submit the detailed schedule coordinated with the construction schedule.
 - 1. Provide specific time and date information to the Engineer 48 hours in advance of proposed Work.
- D. Procedures and Operations:
 - 1. The Contractor shall operate existing pumps, valves and gates required for sequencing procedures as directed by the Engineer. Do not operate any valve, gate or other item of equipment without the knowledge of the Engineer.
 - 2. Insofar as possible, equipment shall be tested and in operating condition before final tie-ins are made to connect equipment to the existing facility.
 - 3. Carefully coordinate Work and schedules. Provide written notice to the Engineer and utility owner at least 48 hours before shut-downs or by-passes are required.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

1.01 QUALITY CONTROL

A. Conform to State of Texas laws for surveys requiring licensed surveyors. Employ a land surveyor acceptable to Engineer, if required.

1.02 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submit to Engineer the name, address, and telephone number of Surveyor before starting survey work.
- B. Submit documentation verifying accuracy of survey work on request.
- C. Submit information under provisions of Section 01300 Submittals.

1.03 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

- A. Maintain a complete and accurate log of control and survey work as it progresses.
- B. Submit Record Documents under provisions of Section 01720 Project Record Documents.

1.04 EXAMINATION

- A. Verify locations of survey control points prior to starting Work.
- B. Notify Engineer immediately of any discrepancies discovered.
- 1.05 SURVEY REFERENCE POINTS
 - A. Control datum for survey is that established by Owner-provided survey as indicated on Drawings or in the Special Conditions.
 - B. Locate and protect survey control points, including property corners, prior to starting site work; preserve permanent reference points during construction.
 - C. Notify Engineer 48 hours in advance of need for relocation of reference points due to changes in grades or other reasons.
 - D. Report promptly to Engineer the loss or destruction of any reference point.
 - E. Contractor shall reimburse Owner for cost of reestablishment of permanent reference points disturbed by Contractor's operations.

1.06 SURVEY REQUIREMENTS

- A. Utilize recognized engineering survey practices.
- B. Establish a minimum of two permanent benchmarks on site, referenced to established control points. Record locations, with horizontal and vertical data, on Project Record Documents.
- C. Establish elevations, lines and levels to provide quantities required for measurement and payment and to provide appropriate controls for the Work. Locate and lay out by instrumentation and similar appropriate means:
 - 1. Site improvements including pavements; stakes for grading; fill and topsoil placement; utility locations, slopes, and invert elevations.

- 2. Grid or axis for structures.
- D. Verify periodically layouts by same means.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Section includes general quality assurance as related to Reference Standards and a list of references.

1.02 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. For Products or workmanship specified by association, trade, or Federal Standards, comply with requirements of the standard, except when more rigid requirements are specified or are required by applicable codes.
- B. Conform to reference standard by date of issue current on the date as stated in the General Conditions.
- C. Request clarification from Engineer before proceeding should specified reference standards conflict with Contract Documents.

1.03 SCHEDULE OF REFERENCES

- AASHTO American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 444 North Capitol Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20001
- ACI American Concrete Institute P.O. Box 19150 Reford Station Detroit, MI 48219-0150
- AGC Associated General Contractors of America 1957 E Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20006
- Al Asphalt Institute Asphalt Institute Building College Park, MD 20740
- AITC American Institute of Timber Construction 333 W. Hampden Avenue Englewood, CO 80110
- AISC American Institute of Steel Construction 400 North Michigan Avenue, Eighth Floor Chicago, IL 60611
- AISI American Iron and Steel Institute 1000 16th Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20036
- ASME American Society of Mechanical Engineers 345 East 47th Street New York, NY 10017

ANSI	American National Standards Institute 1430 Broadway New York, NY 10018
ΑΡΑ	American Plywood Association Box 11700 Tacoma, WA 98411
API	American Petroleum Institute 1220 L Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20005
AREA	American Railway Engineering Association 50 F Street. N.W.

ASTM American Society for Testing and Materials 1916 Race Street Philadelphia, PA 19103

Washington, DC 20001

- AWPA American Wood-Preservers' Association 7735 Old Georgetown Road Bethesda, MD 20014
- AWS American Welding Society P.O. Box 35104 Miami, FL 33135
- AWWA American Water Works Association 6666 West Quincy Avenue Denver, CO 80235
- CLFMI Chain Link Fence Manufacturers Institute 1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20036
- CRD U.S.A. Corps. of Engineers
- CRSI Concrete Reinforcing Steel Institute 933 Plum Grove Road Schaumburg, IL 60173-4758
- EJMA Expansion Joint Manufacturers Association 707 Westchester Avenue White Plains, NY 10604
- FS Federal Standardization Documents General Services Administration, Specifications Unit (WFSIS) 7th and D Streets, S.W. Washington, DC 20406
- ICEA Insulated Cable Engineer Association P.O. Box 440 S. Yarmouth, MA 02664

IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers 445 Hoes Lane P.O. Box 1331 Piscataway, NJ 0855-1331
MIL	Military Specifications General Services Administration, Specifications Unit (WFSIS) 7th and D Streets, S.W. Washington, DC 20406
NACE	National Association of Corrosion Engineers P. O. Box 986 Katy , TX 77450
NEMA	National Electrical Manufacturers' Association 2101 L Street, N.W., Suite 300 Washington, DC 20037
NFPA	National Fire Protection Association Batterymarch Park, P.O. Box 9101 Quincy, MA 02269-9101
OSHA	Occupational Safety Health Administration U.S. Department of Labor, Government Printing Office Washington, DC 20402
PCA	Portland Cement Association 5420 Old Orchard Road Skokie, IL 60077-1083
PCI	Prestressed Concrete Institute 201 North Wacker Drive Chicago, IL 60606
SDI	Steel Deck Institute Box 9506 Canton, OH 44711
SSPC	Steel Structures Painting Council 4400 Fifth Avenue Pittsburgh, PA 15213
TAC	Texas Administrative Code
TCEQ	Texas Commission on Environmental Quality P. O. Box 13087 Austin, TX 78711-3087
TxDOT	Texas Department of Transportation 11th and Brazos Austin, TX 78701 2483
UL	Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc. 333 Pfingston Road Northbrook, IL 60062

- UNI-BELL UNI-BELL Pipe Association 2655 Villa Creek Drive, Suite 155 Dallas, TX 75234
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Submittal procedures for:
 - 1. Schedule of Values
 - 2. Construction Schedules
 - 3. Shop Drawings, Product Data, and Samples
 - 4. Operations and Maintenance Data
 - 5. Manufacturer's Certificates
 - 6. Construction Photographs
 - 7. Project Record Documents
 - 8. Design Mixes

1.02 SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

- A. Scheduling and Handling
 - 1. Schedule submittals well in advance of the need for the material or equipment for construction. Allow time to make delivery of material or equipment after submittal is approved.
 - 2. Develop a submittal schedule that allows sufficient time for initial review, correction, resubmission and final review of all submittals. The Engineer will review and return submittals to the Contractor as expeditiously as possible but the amount of time required for review will vary depending on the complexity and quantity of data submitted. In no case will a submittal schedule be acceptable which allows less than 30 days for initial review by the Engineer. This time for review shall in no way be justification for delays or additional compensation to the Contractor.
 - 3. The Engineer's review of submittals covers only general conformity to the Drawings, Specifications and dimensions which affect the layout. The Contractor is responsible for quantity determination. No quantities will be verified by the Engineer. The Contractor is responsible for any errors, omissions or deviations from the Contract requirements; review of submittals in no way relieves the Contractor from his obligation to furnish required items according to the Drawings and Specifications.
 - 4. Submit five copies of documents unless otherwise specified in the following paragraphs or in the Specifications.
 - 5. Revise and resubmit submittals as required. Identify all changes made since previous submittal.
 - 6. The Contractor shall assume the risk for material or equipment which is fabricated or delivered prior to approval. No material or equipment shall be incorporated into the Work or included in periodic progress payments until approval has been obtained in the specified manner.
- B. Transmittal Form and Numbering
 - 1. Transmit each submittal to the Engineer with a transmittal form.
 - Sequentially number each transmittal form beginning with the number 1. Resubmittals shall use the original number with an alphabetic suffix (i.e., 2A for first resubmittal of Submittal 2 or 15C for third resubmittal of Submittal 15). Each submittal shall only contain one type of work, material, or equipment. Mixed submittals will not be accepted.
 - 3. Identify variations from requirements of Contract Documents and identify product or system limitations.
- C. Contractor's Certification
 - 1. Each submittal shall contain a statement, signed by the Contractor, certifying that the items have been reviewed in detail and are correct and in accordance with Contract Documents, except as noted by any requested variance.

1.03 SCHEDULE OF VALUES

- A. Submit a Schedule of Values at least 10 days prior to the first Application for Payment. A Schedule of Values shall be provided for each of the items indicated as Lump Sum (LS) in the Unit Price Bid for which the Contractor requests to receive progress payments.
- B. Schedule of Values shall be typewritten on 8-1/2" x 11", plain bond, white paper. Use the Table of Contents of this Project Manual as a format for listing costs of Work by Section.
- C. Round off figures for each listed item to the nearest \$100.00 except for the value of one item, if necessary, to make the total price for all items listed in the Schedule of Values equal to the applicable lump sum amount in the Unit Price Bid.
- D. For Unit Price Contracts, items should include a proportional share of Contractor's overhead and profit, such that the total of all items listed in the Schedule of Values equals the Contract amount. For Stipulated Price Contracts, mobilization, bonds, and insurance may be listed as separate items in the Schedule of Values.
- E. For lump sum equipment items where submittal of operations and maintenance data and testing are required, include a separate item for equipment operation and maintenance data submittal valued at 5 percent of the lump sum amount and a separate item for testing and adjusting valued at 5 percent of the lump sum amount.
- F. Revise the Schedule of Values and resubmit for items affected by Contract Modifications, Change Orders, and Work Change Directives. Submit revised Schedule of Values 10 days prior to the first Application for Payment after the changes are approved by the Engineer.

1.04 CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES

- A. Submit Construction Schedules for the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Section. The Construction Schedule Submittal shall be a bar chart, either computer generated, or prepared manually and a narrative report.
- B. During the Pre-construction Meeting, as noted in Section 01040 Coordination and Meetings, the Contractor shall provide a sample of the format to be used for the Construction Schedule Submittal. The format is subject to approval by the Engineer. Review of the submittal will be provided within 7 days of the submittal of the sample.
- C. Within 7 days of the receipt of approval of the Contractor's format, or 14 days of the Notice to Proceed, whichever is later, the Contractor shall submit a proposed Construction Schedule for review. The Construction Schedule Submittal shall meet the following requirements:
 - 1. The schedule shall usually include a total of at least 20 but not more than 50 activities. Fewer activities may be accepted, if approved by the Engineer.
 - 2. For projects with work at different physical locations, each location should be indicated separately within the schedule.
 - 3. For projects with multiple crafts or significant subcontractor components, these elements should be indicated separately within the schedule.
 - 4. For projects with multiple types of tasks within the scope, these types of work should be indicated separately within the schedule.
 - 5. For projects with significant major equipment items or materials worth over 30 percent of the Total Contract Price, the schedule shall indicate dates when these items are to be purchased, when they are to be delivered, and when installed.
 - 6. For projects where operating plants are involved, each period of work which will require the shut down of any process or operation shall be identified in the Schedule and must be agreed to by the Engineer prior to starting work in the area.

- 7. A tabulation of the estimated monthly billings for the work shall be prepared and submitted by the Contractor with the first schedule submittal. This information is not required in the monthly updates, unless significant changes in Work require resubmittal of the schedule for review. The total for each month and a cumulative total will be indicated. These monthly forecasts are only for planning purposes of the Engineer. Monthly payments for actual work completed will be made by the Engineer in accordance with the General Conditions.
- D. The Contractor must receive approval of the Engineer for the Schedule and billing estimate prior to the first monthly Application for Payment. No payment will be made until these are accepted.
- E. Upon written request from the Engineer, the Contractor shall revise and submit for approval all or any part of the Construction Schedule to reflect changed conditions in the Work or deviations made from the original plan and schedule.
- F. The Contractor's Construction Schedule shall thereafter be updated with the Actual Start and Actual Finish Dates, Percent Complete, and Remaining Duration of each Activity and submitted monthly. The date to be used in updating the monthly Construction Schedule shall be the same Date as is used in the monthly Application for Payment. This monthly update of the schedule shall be required before the monthly Application for Payment will be processed for payment.
- G. The narrative Schedule Report shall include a description of changes made to the Construction Schedule; Activities Added to the Schedule; Activities Deleted from the Schedule; any other changes made to the Schedule other than the addition of Actual Start Dates and Actual Finish Dates and Remaining Durations.

1.05 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA, AND SAMPLES

- A. Shop Drawings
 - 1. Submit shop drawings for review as required by the Specifications.
 - 2. Contractor's Certification, as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on each drawing.
 - 3. The drawings shall accurately and distinctly present the following:
 - a. Field and erection dimensions clearly identified as such
 - b. Arrangement and section views
 - c. Relation to adjacent materials or structure including complete information for making connections between work under this Contract and work under other contracts
 - d. Kinds of materials and finishes
 - e. Parts list and descriptions
 - f. Assembly drawings of equipment components and accessories showing their respective positions and relationships to the complete equipment package
 - g. Where necessary for clarity, identify details by reference to drawing sheet and detail numbers, schedule or room numbers as shown on the Contract Drawings.
 - 4. Drawings shall be to scale, and shall be a true representation of the specific equipment or item to be furnished.
- B. Product Data
 - 1. Submit product data for review as required in Specification sections.
 - 2. Contractor's Certification, as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on each data item submitted.
 - 3. Mark each copy to identify applicable products, models, options to be used in this Project. Supplement manufacturers' standard data to provide information unique to this Project, where required by the Specifications.

- 4. For products specified only by reference standard, give manufacturers, trade name, model or catalog designation and applicable reference standard.
- 5. For products proposed as alternates to "approved" products, as described in Section 01630 Product Options and Substitutions, provide all information required to demonstrate the proposed products meet the level of quality and performance criteria of the "approved product".
- C. Samples
 - 1. Submit samples for review as required by the Specifications.
 - 2. Contractor's Certification, as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on each sample or a firmly attached sheet of paper.
 - 3. Submit the number of samples specified in Specifications; one of which will be retained by the Engineer.
 - 4. Reviewed samples which may be used in the Work are identified in Specifications.

1.06 OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE DATA

- A. When specified in Specification sections, submit manufacturers' printed instructions for delivery, storage, assembly, installation, start-up, operation, adjusting, finishing, and maintenance.
- B. Contractor's Certification, as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on front page of each document.
- C. Identify conflicts between manufacturers' instructions and Contract Documents.

1.07 MANUFACTURER'S CERTIFICATES

- A. When specified in Specification sections, submit manufacturers' certificate of compliance for review by Engineer.
- B. Contractor's Certification, as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on front page of the certificate.
- C. Submit supporting reference data, affidavits, and certifications as appropriate.
- D. Certificates may be recent or previous test results on material or product, but must be acceptable to Engineer.
- 1.08 CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS
 - A. When required, submit photographs in accordance with Section 01380.
- 1.09 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS
 - A. Submit Project Record Documents in accordance with Section 01720 Project Record Documents.
- 1.10 DESIGN MIXES
 - A. When specified in Specifications, submit design mixes for review.
 - B. Contractor's Certification as described in paragraph 1.02C, shall be placed on front page of each design mix.

- C. Mark each design mix to identify proportions, gradations, and additives for each class and type of design mix submitted. Include applicable test results on samples for each mix.
- D. Maintain a copy of approved design mixes at mixing plant.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 EXECUTION Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEOS

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Requirements for construction photographs and video submittals.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No separate payment will be made for work under this section. Include the cost in the unit price of related work.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Submit one (1) copy of photographs and/or videos to the Engineer.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 PRECONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEOS
 - A. Prior to the commencement of any construction, take photographs and/or videos which adequately and completely show the project area.
- 2.02 POST CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEOS
 - A. On completion of construction, provide photographs and/or videos of the entire project site including any public or private property which has been repaired or restored and any damage which is the subject of complaints.
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Testing Laboratory Services and Contractor responsibilities related to those services.

1.02 SELECTION AND PAYMENT

- A. Owner will employ and pay for services of an independent testing laboratory to perform inspection and testing identified in individual Specification sections.
- B. Employment of testing laboratory shall not relieve Contractor of obligation to perform work in accordance with requirements of Contract Documents.
- C. Contractor shall schedule and monitor testing as required to provide timely results and to avoid delay to the Work.

1.03 LABORATORY REPORTS

A. The Engineer will receive three copies, and the Contractor will receive two copies of laboratory reports from the testing laboratory. One of the Contractor's copies shall remain at site field office for duration of project. Test results which indicate non-conformance shall be transmitted immediately via fax from the testing laboratory, to the Contractor and Engineer.

1.04 LIMITS ON TESTING LABORATORY AUTHORITY

- A. Laboratory may not release, revoke, alter, or enlarge on requirements of Contract Documents.
- B. Laboratory may not approve or accept any portion of the Work.
- C. Laboratory may not assume any duties of Contractor.
- D. Laboratory has no authority to stop the Work.

1.05 CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITIES

- A. Notify Engineer, and laboratory 24 hours prior to expected time for operations requiring inspection and testing services. Notify Consultant if specification section requires the presence of the Consultant.
- B. Cooperate with laboratory personnel in collecting samples to be tested or collected on site.
- C. Provide access to the Work and to manufacturer's facilities.
- D. Provide samples to laboratory in advance of their intended use to allow thorough examination and testing.
- E. Provide incidental labor and facilities for access to the Work to be tested; to obtain and handle samples at the site or at source of products to be tested; and to facilitate tests and inspections including storage and curing of test samples.
- F. Arrange with laboratory and pay for
 - 1. All failed tests.
 - 2. Retesting for nonconforming Work.
 - 3. Additional sampling and tests requested by Contractor beyond specified requirements.

- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 CONDUCTING TESTING
 - A. Laboratory sampling and testing shall conform to ASTM D3740 and ASTM E329, plus other test standards specified in individual Specification sections.
 - B. The frequency or number of tests specified in individual sections may be decreased at the discretion of the Engineer.

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Inspection services and references.
- 1.02 INSPECTION
 - A. The Owner may appoint an Inspector to perform inspections, tests, and other services specified in individual specification Sections.
 - B. Alternately, the Engineer may appoint, employ, and pay an independent firm to provide additional inspection or construction management services.
 - C. Reports will be submitted by the independent firm to Engineer, Consultant, and Owner, indicating observations and results of tests and indicating compliance or non-compliance with Contract Documents.
 - D. Assist and cooperate with the Inspector; furnish samples of materials, design mix, equipment, tools, and storage.
 - E. Notify Engineer 24 hours prior to expected time for operations requiring services. Notify Consultant and independent firm when noted.
 - F. Sign and acknowledge report for Inspector.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Temporary facilities and the necessary controls for the project including utilities, telephone, sanitary facilities, field office, storage sheds and building, safety requirements, first aid equipment, fire protection, security measures, protection of the Work and property, access roads and parking, environmental controls, disposal of trash, debris, and excavated material, pest and rodent control, water runoff and erosion control.

1.02 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

- A. The facilities and controls specified in this section are considered minimum for the Project. The Contractor may provide additional facilities and controls for the proper execution of the Work and to meet Contractor's responsibilities for protection of persons and property.
- B. Comply with applicable requirements specified in other sections of the Specifications.
 - 1. Maintain and operate temporary facilities and systems to assure continuous service.
 - 2. Modify and extend systems as Work progress requires.
 - 3. Completely remove temporary materials and equipment when their use is no longer required.
 - 4. Restore existing facilities used for temporary services to specified or to original condition as specified by the Engineer.

1.03 TEMPORARY UTILITIES

- A. Obtaining Temporary Service.
 - 1. Make arrangements with utility service companies for temporary services.
 - 2. Abide by rules and regulations of the utility service companies or authorities having jurisdiction.
 - 3. Be responsible for utility service costs until the Work is substantially complete. Included are fuel, power, light, heat, and other utility services necessary for execution, completion, testing, and initial operation of the Work.
- B. Water.
 - 1. Provide water required for and in connection with Work to be performed and for specified tests of piping, equipment, devices, or for other use as required for proper completion of the Work.
 - 2. For water to be drawn from public fire hydrants, obtain special permit or license from the proper officials. Install backflow preventor on fire hydrant supply.
 - 3. Provide and maintain an adequate supply of potable water for domestic consumption by Contractor personnel.
- C. Electricity and Lighting.
 - 1. Provide electric power service as required for the Work, including testing of Work. Provide power for lighting, operation of the Contractor's equipment, or for any other use by Contractor.
 - 2. Electric power service includes temporary power service or generator to maintain plant operations during any scheduled shutdown.
 - 3. Minimum lighting level shall be 5 foot-candles for open areas; 10-foot-candles for stairs and shops.
- D. Temporary Heat and Ventilation.
 - 1. Provide temporary heat as necessary for protection or completion of the Work.
 - 2. Provide temporary heat and ventilation to assure safe working conditions; maintain enclosed areas at a minimum of 50 degrees F.

- E. Telephone.
 - 1. Provide emergency telephone service at the Contractor's field office, or by mobile telephone, for use by Contractor personnel and others performing work or furnishing services at the site.
- F. Sanitary Facilities.
 - 1. Provide and maintain sanitary facilities for persons on the job site; comply with the regulations of State and local departments of health.
 - 2. Enforce the use of sanitary facilities by construction personnel at the job site. Such facilities shall be enclosed. Pit-type toilets will not be permitted. No discharge will be allowed from these facilities. Collect and store sewage and waste so as not to cause a nuisance or health problem; have sewage and waste hauled off-site and properly disposed in accordance with local regulations.
 - 3. Locate toilets near the Work site and secluded from view insofar as possible. Keep toilets clean and supplied throughout the course of the Work.

1.04 FIELD OFFICE

A. Provision of a field office is not required. If the Contractor chooses to provide one, locate it in a place approved by the Engineer.

1.05 STORAGE OF MATERIALS

- A. Provide adequately ventilated, watertight storage facilities with floor above ground level for materials and equipment susceptible to weather damage.
- B. Storage of materials not susceptible to weather damage may be on blocks off the ground.
- C. Store materials in a neat and orderly manner. Place materials and equipment to permit easy access for identification, inspection and inventory.

1.06 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

- A. Submit and follow a safety program. Include in the safety program documented response to trench safety requirements as specified in Section 01526 Trench Safety System.
- B. Conduct operations in strict accord with applicable Federal, State and local safety codes and statutes and with good construction practice. The Contractor is fully responsible and obligated to establish and maintain procedures for safety of all work, personnel and equipment involved in the Project.
- C. Observe and comply with Texas Occupational Safety Act (Art. 5182a, V.C.S.) and with all safety and health standards promulgated by Secretary of Labor under Section 107 of Contract Work Hours and Standards Act, published in 29 CFR Part 1926 and adopted by Secretary of Labor as occupational safety and health standards under the Williams-Steiger Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, and to any other legislation enacted for safety and health of Contractor employees. Such safety and health standards apply to subcontractors and their employees as well as to the Contractor and its employees.
- D. Observance of and compliance with the regulations shall be solely and without qualification the responsibility of the Contractor without reliance or superintendence of or direction by the Engineer or the Engineer's representative. Immediately advise the Engineer of investigation or inspection by Federal Safety and Health inspectors of the Contractor or subcontractor's work or place of work on the job site under this Contract, and after such investigation or

inspection, advise the Engineer of the results. Submit one copy of accident reports to Engineer within 10 days of occurrence.

- E. Protect areas occupied by workmen using the best available devices for detection of lethal and combustible gases. Test such devices frequently to assure their functional capability. Constantly observe infiltration of liquids into the Work area for visual or odor evidences of contamination, immediate take appropriate steps to seal off entry of contaminated liquids to the Work area.
- F. Safety measures, including but not limited to safety personnel, first-aid equipment, ventilating equipment and safety equipment, in the specifications and shown on the Drawings are obligations of the Contractor.
- G. Maintain required coordination with the local Police and Fire Departments during the entire period covered by the Contract.

1.07 FIRST AID EQUIPMENT

- A. Provide a first aid kit throughout the construction period. List telephone numbers for physicians, hospitals, and ambulance services in each first aid kit.
- B. Have at least one person thoroughly trained in first aid procedures present on the site whenever Work is in progress.

1.08 FIRE PROTECTION

A. Fire Protection Standards.

- 1. Conform to specified fire protection and prevention requirements as well as those which may be established by Federal, State, or local governmental agencies.
- 2. Comply with all applicable provisions of NFPA Standard No. 241, Safeguarding Building Construction and Demolition Operations.
- 3. Provide portable fire extinguishers, rated not less than 2A or 5B in accordance with NFPA Standard No. 10, Portable Fire Extinguishers, for each temporary building, and for every 3000 square feet of floor area of facilities under construction.
- 4. Locate portable fire extinguishers within 50 feet maximum from any point in the Project area.
- B. Fire Prevention and Safety Measures.
 - 1. Prohibit smoking in hazardous areas. Post suitable warning signs in areas which are continuously or intermittently hazardous.
 - 2. Use metal safety containers for storage and handling of flammable and combustible liquids.
 - 3. Do not store flammable or combustible liquids in or near stairways or exits.
 - 4. Maintain clear exits from all points within a structure.

1.09 SECURITY MEASURES

- A. Protect all Work materials, equipment, and property from loss, theft, damage, and vandalism. Contractor's duty to protect property includes Owner's property.
- B. If existing fencing or barriers are breached or removed for purposes of construction. Provide and maintain temporary security fencing equal to existing.

1.10 PROTECTION OF PUBLIC UTILITIES

A. Prevent damage to existing public utilities during construction. These utilities are shown on the Drawings at their approximate locations. Give owners of these utilities at least 48 hours notice before commencing Work in the area, for locating the utilities during construction, and for making adjustments or relocation of the utilities when they conflict with the proposed Work.

1.11 PROTECTION OF THE WORK AND PROPERTY

- A. Preventive Actions.
 - 1. Take precautions, provide programs, and take actions necessary to protect the Work and public and private property from damage.
 - 2. Take action to prevent damage, injury or loss, including, but not limited to, the following:
 - a. Store apparatus, materials, supplies, and equipment in an orderly, safe manner that will not unduly interfere with progress of the Work or the Work of any other contractor, any utility service company, or the Owner's operations.
 - b. Provide suitable storage for materials which are subject to damage by exposure to weather, theft, breakage, or otherwise.
 - c. Place upon the Work or any part thereof only such loads as are consistent with the safety of that portion of the Work.
 - d. Frequently clean up refuse, rubbish, scrap materials, and debris caused by construction operations, keeping the Project site safe and orderly.
 - e. Provide safe barricades and guard rails around openings, for scaffolding, for temporary stairs and ramps, around excavations, elevated walkways, and other hazardous areas.
 - 3. Obtain written consent from proper parties before entering or occupying with workers, tools, materials or equipment, privately-owned land except on easements provided for construction.
 - 4. Assume full responsibility for the preservation of public and private property on or adjacent to the site. If any direct or indirect damage is done by or on account of any act, omission, neglect, or misconduct in execution of the Work by the Contractor, it shall be restored by the Contractor to a condition equal to or better than that existing before the damage was done.
- B. Barricades and Warning Signals.
 - 1. Where Work is performed on or adjacent to any roadway, right-of-way, or public place, furnish and erect barricades, fences, lights, warning signs, and danger signals; provide watchmen; and take other precautionary measures for the protection of persons or property and protection of the Work. Conform to Section 01570 Traffic Control and Regulation.
- C. Tree and Plant Protection.
 - 1. Protect trees and plants as shown on plans.
- D. Protection of Existing Structures.
 - 1. Underground Structures:
 - a. Underground structures are defined to include, but not be limited to, sewer, water, gas, and other piping, and manholes, chambers, electrical and signal conduits, tunnels, and other existing subsurface installations located within or adjacent to the limits of the Work.
 - b. Known underground structures, including water, sewer, electric, and telephone services are shown on the Drawings in accordance with the best information available, but is not guaranteed to be correct or complete.

- c. Explore ahead of trenching and excavation work and uncover obstructing underground structures sufficiently to determine their location, to prevent damage to them and to prevent interruption of utility services. Restore to original condition damages to underground structure at no additional cost to the Owner.
- d. Necessary changes in location of the Work may be made by the Engineer to avoid unanticipated underground structures.
- e. If permanent relocation of an underground structure or other subsurface installations is required and not otherwise provided for in the Contract Documents, the Engineer will direct Contractor in writing to perform the Work, which shall be paid for under the provisions for changes in the Contract Price as described in the General Conditions.
- 2. Surface Structures:
 - a. Surface structures are defined as existing buildings, structures and other constructed installations above the ground surface. Included with such structures are their foundations or any extension below the surface. Surface structures include, but are not limited to buildings, tanks, walls, bridges, roads, dams, channels, open drainage, piping, poles, wires, posts, signs, markers, curbs, walks, guard cables, fencing, and other facilities that are visible above the ground surface.
- 3. Protection of Underground and Surface Structures:
 - a. Support in place and protect from direct or indirect injury to underground and surface structures located within or adjacent to the limits of the Work. Install such supports carefully and as required by the party owning or controlling such structure. Before installing structure supports, Contractor shall satisfy the Engineer that the methods and procedures to be used have been approved by the owner of the structure.
 - b. Avoid moving or in any way changing the property of public utilities or private service corporations without prior written consent of a responsible official of that service or public utility. Representatives of these utilities reserve the right to enter within the limits of this project for the purpose of maintaining their properties, or of making such changes or repairs to their property that may be considered necessary by performance of this Contract.
 - c. Notify the owners and/or operators of utilities and pipelines of the nature of construction operations to be performed and the date or dates on which those operations will be performed. When construction operations are required in the immediate vicinity of existing structures, pipelines, or utilities, give a minimum of five working days advance notice. Probe and flag the location of underground utilities prior to commencement of excavation. Keep flags in place until construction operation reach and uncover the utility.
 - d. Assume risks attending the presence or proximity of underground and surface structures within or adjacent to the limits to the Work including but not limited to damage and expense for direct or indirect injury caused by the Work to any structure. Immediately repair damage caused, to the satisfaction of the owner of the damaged structure.
- E. Protection of Installed Products.
 - 1. Provide protection of installed products to prevent damage from subsequent operations. Remove protection facilities when no longer needed, prior to completion of Work.
 - 2. Control traffic to prevent damage to equipment, materials, and surfaces.

1.12 ROADS AND PARKING

- A. Prevent interference with traffic and Owner operations on existing roads.
- B. Designate temporary parking areas to accommodate construction personnel. When site space is not adequate, provide additional off-site parking. Locate as approved by Engineer.

- C. Minimize use by construction traffic of existing streets and driveways.
- D. Do not allow heavy vehicles or construction equipment in existing parking areas.

1.13 ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROLS

- A. Provide and maintain methods, equipment, and temporary construction as necessary for controls over environmental conditions at the construction site and adjacent areas.
- B. Comply with statutes, regulations, and ordinances which relate to the proposed Work for the prevention of environmental pollution and preservation of natural resources, including but not limited to the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, PL 91-190, Executive Order 11514.
- C. Recognize and adhere to the environmental requirements of the Project. Disturbed areas shall be strictly limited to boundaries established by the Contract Documents. Particularly avoid pollution of "on-site" streams, sewers, wells, or other water sources.
- D. Burning of rubbish, debris or waste materials is not permitted.

1.14 POLLUTION CONTROL

- A. Provide methods, means, and facilities required to prevent contamination of soil, water or atmosphere by discharge of noxious substances from construction operations.
- B. Provide equipment and personnel to perform emergency measures required to contain any spillage, and to remove contaminated soils or liquids. Excavate and dispose of any contaminated earth off-site, and replace with suitable compacted fill and topsoil.
- C. Take special measures to prevent harmful substances from entering public waters. Prevent disposal of wastes, effluents, chemicals, or other such substances adjacent to streams, or in sanitary or storm sewers.
- D. Provide systems for control of atmospheric pollutants.
 - 1. Prevent toxic concentrations of chemicals.
 - 2. Prevent harmful dispersal of pollutants into the atmosphere.
- E. Use equipment during construction that conforms to current Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

1.15 PEST AND RODENT CONTROL

- A. Provide rodent and pest control as necessary to prevent infestation of construction or storage areas.
- B. Employ methods and use materials which will not adversely affect conditions at the site or on adjoining properties.

1.16 NOISE CONTROL

- A. Provide vehicles, equipment, and construction activities that reduce noise to the greatest degree practicable. Noise levels shall conform to the latest OSHA standards and City Ordinances and in no case will noise levels be permitted which create a nuisance in the surrounding neighborhoods.
- B. Conduct construction operations during daylight hours except as approved by Engineer.

1.17 DUST CONTROL

A. Control objectionable dust caused by operation of vehicles and equipment. Apply water or use other methods, subject to approval of the Engineer, which will control the amount of dust generated.

1.18 WATER RUNOFF AND EROSION CONTROL

- A. Provide methods to control surface water, runoff, subsurface water, and water pumped from excavations and structures to prevent damage to the Work, the site, or adjoining properties.
- B. Control fill, grading and ditching to direct water away from excavations, pits, and other construction areas; and to direct drainage to proper runoff courses so as to prevent any erosion, sedimentation or damage.
- C. Provide, operate, and maintain equipment and facilities of adequate size to control surface water.
- D. Dispose of drainage water in a manner to prevent flooding, erosion, or other damage to any portion of the site or to adjoining areas and in conformance with environmental requirements.
- E. Retain existing drainage patterns external to the construction site by constructing temporary earth berms, sedimentation basins, retaining areas, and temporary ground cover as needed to control conditions.
- F. Plan and execute construction and earthwork by methods to control surface drainage from cuts and fills, and from borrow and waste disposal areas, to prevent erosion and sedimentation.
 - 1. Keep to a minimum the area of bare soil exposed at one time.
 - 2. Provide temporary control measures, such as berms, dikes, and drains.
- G. Construct fills and waste areas by selective placement to eliminate surface silts or clays which will erode.
- H. Inspect earthwork periodically to detect any evidence of the start of erosion. Apply corrective measures as required to control erosion.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Mobilization of construction equipment and facilities onto the site.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. Measurement for mobilization is on a lump sum basis.
- B. Mobilization payments will be included in monthly payment estimates upon written application by Contractor subject to the following provisions:
 - 1. Authorization for payment of the contract price for mobilization, up to an amount equal to 5% of the total Contract Price, will be made upon the mobilization of personnel, construction equipment, and facilities onto the site and the receipt and approval by Engineer of the following items, as applicable:
 - a. Schedule of values, if required by Section 01010
 - b. Trench Safety Program
 - c. Construction Schedule
 - d. Pre-construction Photographs
 - 2. Authorization for payment of the contract price for mobilization in excess of 5% of the total Contract Price, if any, will be made on a proration based on the percentage completed of Work throughout the remainder of the project.
- C. Mobilization payments will be subject to retainage amounts stipulated in the General Conditions.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 EXECUTION Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Diversion pumping for the flow of wastewater around the section of sections of pipe designated for rehabilitation or replacement, including active services. The Work covered by this item consists of furnishing all labor, supervision, tools, equipment, appliances and materials to perform all operations in connection with pumping of wastewater and wet weather flows around pipe segment(s). The purpose of diversion pumping is to prevent sewage overflows and provide reliable sewer service to the users of the sanitary sewer at all times. The Contractor shall maintain sewage flow in the construction area in order to prevent back-up and/or overflow into upstream pipe segments and laterals, adjacent ditches, storm sewers and waterways.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. No separate payment will be made for Diversion Pumping. The work performed and materials furnished as prescribed by this item shall be subsidiary to associated items such as, but not limited to:
 - 1. Pipe Costs
 - 2. Cured in Place Pipe Methods
 - 3. Cleaning and Televising of Sanitary Sewers
 - 4. Point Repairs/Obstruction Removal
 - 5. Pipe Bursting/Crushing of Sanitary Sewers

1.03 DEFINITIONS

A. Diversion pumping is the installation and operation of bulkheads, plugs, hoses, piping and pumps to maintain wastewater flow and prevent backup and overflow. Diversion pumping provides continuous sewer service to the users of the sanitary sewer system while maintenance or construction operations are in progress by diverting flow when necessary around the construction location and pumping it to a downstream manhole.

1.04 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

- A. It is the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR to locate and identify all existing sewer lines and services and to provide any and all labor, material equipment, techniques and methods to diversion pump as necessary for his construction methods and to monitor the effectiveness of this installed system and its effect on adjacent facilities.
- B. Operate, maintain and modify the system(s) as required to conform to this specification. Upon completion to the Construction, CONTRACTOR shall remove the system(s).
- C. Assume sole responsibility for diversion pumping systems and for all loss or damage resulting from partial or complete failure of protective measures and any spills or resultant damage caused by his operation.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

A. Submit data in accordance with Section 01300 – Submittals.

DIVERSION PUMPING

- B. The Contractor will be required to provide a written plan/sketch for implementation and sequencing of diversion pumping for review and approval of the Engineer prior to installation of the diversion system. The plan shall include sufficient detail to show the location, number and size of pumps, the number, location, size and type of hoses and/or rigid piping and the location of the downstream discharge. Show any special features where pipes or hoses cross roadways, such as temporary trenches, support bridges, etc. A plan for each line segment(s) around which flows are being diverted is required. The plan shall include but not limited to details of the following:
 - 1. Contact information for general contractor/submitting entity shall include the company name, contact person (24 hrs/day), phone number(s) and fax number.
 - 2. Staging areas for pumps including a schematic showing the arrangement and layout of the pumping and diverting facilities at various stages in the work.
 - 3. Sewer plugging method and types of plugs.
 - 4. Length, size, material, location and method of installation of suction piping (if required).
 - 5. Length, size, material, location, method of installation and location of discharge piping.
 - 6. Pump manufacturer, model, sizes, capacity and number of each size to be on site and power requirements.
 - 7. Calculations of static lift, friction losses and flow velocity, (pump curves showing pump operation range shall be submitted).
 - 8. Standby power generator size, location (if required).
 - 9. Downstream discharge plan.
 - 10. Method of protecting discharge manholes or structures from erosion and damage.
 - 11. Thrust and restraint block sizes and locations.
 - 12. Sections showing suction and discharge pipe depth, embedment, select fill and special backfill.
 - 13. Method of noise control for each pump and/or generator.
 - 14. Any temporary pipe supports and anchoring required.
 - 15. Schedule for installation of and maintenance of diversion pumping lines.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 MATERIALS
 - A. The pump and diversion pumping lines shall be of adequate capacity and size to handle the peak flow conditions. All piping, joints and accessories shall be designed to withstand at least twice the maximum system pressure, or a minimum of 50 psi, whichever is greater.
 - B. Internal and or external diversion pumping operations shall use 100% leak proof pipe such as yellow mine of HDPE with positive, restrained joints. Discharge hose will only be allowed in short sections and by specific permission from the engineer.

- C. All pumps shall be fully automatic and solids handling, self-priming or submersible pumps in good working order with a working pressure gauge on the discharge. Self-priming pumps shall not require the use of foot-valves or vacuum pumps in the priming system. All pumps used must be constructed to allow dry running for long periods of time to accommodate the cyclical nature of effluent flows. The Contractor shall provide the necessary stop/start controls for each pump. A back-up pump of the same capacity as the primary pump shall be maintained on site at all times to be used in the event that the primary pump fails. No wastewater shall be allowed to drain or stand in earthen sump pits.
- D. The Contractor shall be required to demonstrate that the pumping system is in good working order and is sufficiently sized to successfully handle flows by performing a test run for a period of 24 hours prior to beginning the Work.
- E. The Contractor shall be required to have all materials, equipment and labor necessary to complete the repair or replacement on the job site prior to isolating the wastewater manhole or line segment and beginning diversion-pumping operations.
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 GENERAL
 - A. Maintain sewage flow to prevent back up or overflow onto streets, yards and unpaved areas or into buildings, adjacent ditches, storm sewers and waterways. Do not divert sewage outside of the sanitary sewer system. The Contractor shall take all necessary steps to prevent flooding of public or private property. Maintaining flow inside the existing pipe during rehabilitation operations is preferred.
 - B. Any time the diversion pump(s) are operating, an experienced operator shall be on site to monitor the operations: adjust pump speed, valves, etc.; maintain and make minor repairs to the system; and report problems.
 - C. Where work requires diverting beyond working hours, the Contractor shall operate diversion pumping and man the system for twenty-four (24) hours per day.
 - D. Contractor shall ensure that no damage will be caused to private property as a result of diversion pumping operations. Access to adjacent properties shall be maintained at all times. Ramps, steel plates or other methods shall be employed by the Contractor to facilitate traffic over surface piping. High traffic commercial properties may require alternate methods.
 - E. Contractor shall complete the Work as quickly as possible and satisfactorily pass all tests, inspections and repair all deficiencies prior to discontinuing diversion pumping operations and returning flow to the sewer manhole or line segment.
 - F. During diversion pumping, do not allow sewage to be leaked, dumped or spilled in or onto any area outside of the existing sanitary sewer system.
 - G. In the event of accidental spill of overflow, immediately stop the discharge and take action to clean up and disinfect the spill. Promptly notify the Owner so that required reporting can be made to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) by the Owner.
 - H. In the event of accidental spill of overflow, the Contractor is responsible for any damages that may have occurred to public or private property including cleaning, disinfection and other corrections to the satisfaction of the Engineer at no cost to the Owner.
 - I. Contractor shall not intentionally damage, alter or remove portions of the existing sewer system structures for the purpose of installing a diversion pumping system without specific

approval from the Engineer or Inspector. If a structure is damaged, it shall be reconstruct or replaced to the satisfaction of the Engineer at no additional cost to the Owner.

- J. The Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damage that results directly or indirectly from the interference of storm water runoff to diverting equipment, piping and/or appurtenances.
- K. When diversion pumping operations are complete, piping shall be drained into the sanitary sewer prior to disassembly and all pumps and lines shall be flushed with clean water until all discharge is clear.
- 3.02 SCHEDULING
 - A. The Contractor shall report any diversion pumping activities not included in the submitted plan to the Engineer prior to proceeding with these activities.
 - B. The Contractor shall cease diversion pumping operations when directed by the Engineer.
 - C. The Contractor shall perform leakage and pressure tests of the diversion pumping discharge piping using clean water prior to actual operation. The Engineer will be given 24 hours notice prior to testing.

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Trench safety system for the construction of trench excavations.
- B. Trench safety system for structural excavations which fall under provisions of State and Federal trench safety laws.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. Measurement for trench safety systems used on trench excavations is on a linear foot basis measured along the centerline of the trench, including manholes and other line structures. No separate measurement will be made of shoring systems used by the Contractor for protection unless identified as Special Shoring on the Drawings. Shoring, other than Special shoring, will be included in the trench safety system measurements.
- B. Measurement for Special Shoring system installations shown on the Drawings and included in the Unit Price Bid for trench excavations, is on a square foot basis.
- C. No payment will be made for trench safety systems for structural excavations under this section. Include payment for trench safety system in applicable structure installation sections.
- D. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 DEFINITIONS

- A. A trench is defined as a narrow excavation (in relation to its depth) made below the surface of the ground. In general, the depth is greater than the width, but the width of a trench (measured at the bottom) is not greater than 15 feet.
- B. The trench safety system requirements apply to larger open excavations if the erection of structures or other installations limits the space between the excavation slope and the installation to dimensions equivalent to a trench as defined.
- C. Trench Safety Systems include both Protective Systems and Shoring Systems but are not limited to sloping, sheeting, trench boxes or trench shields, slide rail systems, sheet piling, cribbing, bracing, shoring, dewatering or diversion of water to provide adequate drainage.
 - 1. Protective Systems: A method of protecting employees from cave-ins, from material that could fall or roll from an excavation face or into an excavation, or from the collapse of an adjacent structure.
 - 2. Shoring System: A structure that supports the sides of an excavation and which is designed to prevent cave-ins, or to prevent movements of the ground affecting adjacent installations or improvements.
 - 3. Special Shoring: A shoring system meeting Special Shoring Requirements for locations identified on the Drawings.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit a safety program specifically for the construction of trench excavation. Design the trench safety program to be in accordance with OSHA 29CFR standards governing the presence and activities of individuals working in and around trench excavations, and in accordance with any Special Shoring requirements at locations shown on the Drawings.

- C. Have construction and shop drawings for trench safety systems sealed as required by OSHA by a licensed Professional Engineer retained and paid by the Contractor.
- D. Review of the safety program by the Engineer will only be in regard to compliance with the Contract Documents and will not constitute approval by the Engineer nor relieve Contractor of obligations under State and Federal trench safety laws.

1.05 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

- A. Install and maintain trench safety systems in accordance with the provision of Excavations, Trenching, and Shoring, Federal Occupation Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Standards, 29CFR, Part 1926, Subpart P, as amended, including Final Rule, published in the Federal Register Vol. 54, No. 209 on Tuesday, October 31, 1989. The sections that are incorporated into these specifications by reference include Sections 1926-650 through 1926-652.
- B. A reproduction of the OSHA standards included in "Subpart P Excavations" from the Federal Register Vol. 54, No. 209 is available upon request to Contractors bidding on Owner's projects. The Owner assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of the reproduction. The Contractor is responsible for obtaining a copy of this section of the Federal Register.
- C. Legislation that has been enacted by the Texas Legislature with regard to Trench Safety Systems, is hereby incorporated, by reference, into these specifications. Refer to Texas Health and Safety Code Ann., §756.021 (Vernon 1991).
- D. Reference materials, if developed for a specific project, will be issued with the Bid Documents, including the following:
 - 1. Geotechnical information obtained for use in design of the trench safety system.
 - 2. Special Shoring Requirements.
- 1.06 Indemnification
 - A. Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Engineer, Owner, its employees, and agents, from any and all damages, costs (including, without limitation, legal fees, court costs, and the cost of investigation), judgments or claims by anyone for injury or death of persons resulting from the collapse or failure of trenches constructed under this Contract.
 - B. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that this indemnity provision provides indemnity for the Owner in case the Owner is negligent either by act or omission in providing for trench safety, including, but not limited to safety program and design reviews, inspections, failures to issue stop work orders, and the hiring of the Contractor.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 INSTALLATION
 - A. Install and maintain trench safety systems in accordance with provisions of OSHA 29CFR.
 - B. Install specially designed trench safety systems in accordance with the Contractor's trench excavation safety program for the locations and conditions identified in the program. Install Special Shoring at the locations shown on the Drawings.
 - C. Obtain verification from a competent person, as identified in the Contractor's trench excavation safety program, that trench boxes and other premanufactured systems are

certified for the actual installation conditions.

3.02 INSPECTION

- A. Conduct daily inspections by Contractor or Contractor's independently retained consultant, of the trench safety systems to ensure that the installed systems and operations meet OSHA 29CFR and other personnel protection regulations requirements.
- B. If evidence of possible cave-ins or slides is apparent, immediately stop work in the trench and move personnel to safe locations until necessary precautions have been taken to safeguard personnel.
- C. Maintain a permanent record of daily inspections.
- 3.03 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Verify specific applicability of the selected or specially designed trench safety systems to each field condition encountered on the project.

[This page intentionally left blank]

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Tree and plant protection.
- 1.02 PROJECT CONDITIONS
 - A. Preserve and protect existing trees and plants to remain from foliage, branch, trunk, or root damage that could result from construction operations.
 - B. Prevent following types of damage:
 - 1. Compaction of root zone by foot or vehicular traffic, or material storage.
 - 2. Trunk damage from equipment operations, material storage, or from nailing or bolting.
 - 3. Trunk and branch damage caused by ropes or guy wires.
 - 4. Root poisoning from spilled solvents, gasoline, paint, and other noxious materials.
 - 5. Branch damage due to improper pruning or trimming.
 - 6. Damage from lack of water due to:
 - a. Cutting or altering natural water migration patterns near root zones.
 - b. Failure to provide adequate watering.
 - 7. Damage from alteration of soil pH factor caused by depositing lime, concrete, plaster, or other base materials near roots.
 - 8. Cutting of roots larger than 1-1/2 inches in diameter.

1.03 DAMAGE ASSESSMENT

- A. When trees other than those designated for removal are destroyed or badly damaged as a result of construction operations, remove and replace with same size, species, and variety up to and including 8 inches in trunk diameter. Tree larger than 8 inches in diameter shall be replaced with an 8-inch diameter tree of the same species and variety and total contract amount will be reduced by an amount determined from the following International Shade Tree Conference formula: 0.7854 x D² x \$10.00 where D is diameter in inches of tree or shrub trunk measured 12 inches above grade.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 MATERIALS
 - A. Asphalt paint: Emulsified asphalt or other adhesive, elastic, antiseptic coating formulated for horticultural use on cut or injured plant tissue, free from kerosene and coal creosote.
 - B. Burlap: Suitable for use as tree wrapping.
 - C. Fertilizer: Liquid containing 20 percent nitrogen, 10 percent phosphorus, and 5 percent potash.
 - D. All necessary tree replacements shall be as approved by Engineer.

PART 3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 PROTECTION AND MAINTENANCE OF EXISTING TREES AND SHRUBS
 - A. Except for trees and shrubs shown on Drawings to be removed, all trees and shrubs within the project area are to remain and be protected from damage.
 - B. For trees to be removed, as designated on the Drawings, perform the following:

- 1. Stake right-of-way limits and identify any tree of diameter greater than 4 inches which is to be removed. Mark trees prior to felling with an X in orange paint, clearly visible, on the trunk, and at eye level.
- 2. After marking trees give a minimum of 48-hours notice in writing to the Engineer of intent to begin felling operations.
- 3. Trees whose trunks are only partially in the right-of-way shall be protected and preserved as described below.
- C. For trees or shrubs to remain, perform the following:
 - 1. Trim trees and shrubs only as necessary.
 - a. Trees and shrubs requiring pruning for construction should also be pruned for balance as well as to maintain proper form and branching habit.
 - b. Cut limbs at branch collar. No stubs should remain on trees. Branch cuts should not gouge outer layer of tree structure or trunk.
 - 2. Use extreme care to prevent excessive damage to root systems.
 - a. Roots in construction areas will be cut smoothly with a trencher before excavation begins. Do not allow ripping of roots with a backhoe or other equipment.
 - b. Temporarily cover exposed roots with wet burlap to prevent roots from drying out.
 - c. Cover exposed roots with soil as soon as possible.
 - 3. Prevent damage or compaction of root zone (area below dripline) by construction activities.
 - a. Do not allow scarring of trunks or limbs by equipment or other means.
 - b. Do not store construction materials, vehicles, or excavated material under dripline of trees.
 - c. Do not pour liquid materials under dripline.
 - 4. Water and fertilize trees and shrubs that will remain to maintain their health during construction period.
 - a. Supplemental watering of landscaping during construction should be done once every 7 days in cold months and once every 4 days in hotter months.
 - b. This watering shall consist of saturating soils at least 6 to 8 inches beneath surface.
 - 5. Water areas currently being served by private sprinkler systems while systems are temporarily taken out of service to maintain health of existing landscapes.
 - 6. At option of the Contractor and with the Engineer's permission, trees and shrubs to remain may be temporarily transplanted and returned to original positions under supervision of professional horticulturist.

3.02 PROTECTION

- A. Protection of Trees or Shrubs in Open Area:
 - 1. Install steel drive-in fence posts in protective circle, approximately 8 feet on center, not closer than 4 feet to trunk of trees or stems of shrubs.
 - 2. Drive steel drive-in fence posts 3 feet minimum into ground, leaving 5 feet minimum above ground.
 - 3. Mount steel hog-wire on fence posts.
 - 4. For trees or shrubs in paved areas, mount concrete-filled steel pipe 2-1/2 inches in diameter minimum in rubber auto tires filled with concrete (movable posts).
- B. Timber Wrap Protection for Trees in Close Proximity of Moving or Mechanical Equipment and Construction Work:
 - 1. Wrap trunk with layer of burlap.
 - 2. Install 2 x 4's or 2 x 6's (5-foot to 6-foot lengths) vertically, spaced 3 inches to 5 inches apart around circumference of tree trunk.
 - 3. Tie in place with 12 to 9 gage steel wire.

3.03 MAINTENANCE OF NEWLY PLANTED TREES

- A. Water trees during dry periods.
- B. The Contractor guarantees that trees planted for this Project shall remain alive and healthy at least until the end of a one-year warranty period.
 - 1. Within four weeks of notice from Owner, Contractor shall replace, at his expense, any dead trees or any trees that in the opinion of Owner, have become unhealthy or unsightly or have lost their natural shape as a result of additional growth, improper pruning or maintenance, or weather conditions.
 - 2. When tree must be replaced, the guarantee period for that tree shall begin on date of replacement of tree, subject to the Owner's inspection, for no less than one year.
 - 3. Straighten leaning trees and bear entire cost.
 - 4. Dispose of trees rejected at any time by Engineer at Contractor's expense.

[This page intentionally left blank]

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

This section covers the minimum requirements and responsibilities of the Contractor (Operator) for storm water pollution prevention.

1.02 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

The cost for performing the storm water pollution prevention requirements set forth herein shall be included in related items of work or as otherwise shown on the Bid Form.

1.03 REFERENCES

The applicable regulations of the following agencies shall apply as if written here in their entirety:

- TCEQ Texas Commission on Environmental Quality
- EPA Environmental Protection Agency

1.04 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The Contractor shall take all necessary measures to prevent storm water pollution and comply with the applicable requirements of the controlling regulatory agencies as required for the project and any other requirements set forth herein.

1.05 DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of the Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (TPDES) general permit, the Contractor is hereby defined as the Operator having operational control over construction plans and specifications necessary to meet the requirements of the permit <u>and</u> having day to day operational control of those activities at this construction site which are necessary to ensure compliance with the permit.

1.06 SUBMITTALS

The Contractor shall submit to Engineer three (3) copies of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3) when a SWP3 is required for the project. The Contractor shall also submit three (3) copies of all required supporting documents including, but not limited to, a Notice of Intent (NOI) and a Notice of Termination (NOT) for Storm Water Discharges Associated with Construction Activity under the Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System.

1.07 PROJECT/SITE CONDITIONS

Contractor shall develop and implement a storm water pollution prevention plan based on the actual conditions encountered on the project and shall implement the plan and any other requirements in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. Contractor shall be responsible for determining the area (acres) that will be disturbed to prosecute the work required for the project and take the appropriate actions as outlined in this section based on the disturbed area as described in subsequent paragraphs of this specification.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIALS AND/OR EQUIPMENT

For a project where a SWP3 is required to be prepared and implemented by the Contractor, all methods, materials and equipment used to prevent storm water pollution shall be the sole responsibility of the Contractor. Typical drawings and notes may be shown on the plans and/or in this specification and may include locations or types of typical structural controls such as silt fencing, sedimentation basins, straw bales, rock berms, and other methods for preventing storm water pollution prevention. The typical drawings and notes that may be shown on drawings or described in the specifications for this project relieves the Contractor from sole responsibility for preventing storm water pollution in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. Alternate or additional methods, materials and equipment shall be detailed in the SWP3 that is to be prepared by the Contractor and submitted to the Engineer.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION REQUIREMENTS

Contractor has the sole responsibility for preventing storm water pollution and following all applicable city, state and federal regulations in preventing storm water pollution. The Contractor is hereby designated as the "Operator" of the construction site and has sole responsibility for determining the area that will be disturbed to prosecute the work. The following paragraphs provide a general description of the requirements for obtaining authorization to discharge storm water under a Texas Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (TPDES) permit based on the size of the project:

- A. Large Projects. Large projects are those projects that disturb five (5) acres or more. The Contractor (Operator) shall comply with the following:
 - 1. Obtain a copy of the most recent version of the TCEQ Construction General Permit and comply with all requirements set forth therein.
 - 2. Develop and implement a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3).
 - 3. Complete and submit a Notice of Intent (NOI) to the TCEQ using the appropriate TCEQ form and instructions.
 - 4. When applicable, provide notification to the operator of any Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) when storm water from the project site will be discharging into the MS4.
 - 5. Submit a Notice of Termination (NOT) to the TCEQ using the appropriate TCEQ form and instructions once the project site has reached final stabilization.
 - 6. Pay all fees that may be associated with complying with the requirements for a Large Project including application fees and annual fees.
- B. Small Projects. Small projects are those projects that disturb one (1) or more acres, but less than five (5) acres. The Contractor (Operator) shall comply with the following:

STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION

- 1. Obtain a copy of the most recent version of the TCEQ Construction General Permit and comply with all requirements set forth therein.
- 2. Develop and implement a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWP3).
- 3. Complete and post a site notice using the appropriate TCEQ form.
- 4. When applicable, provide notification to the operator of any Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) when storm water will be discharging into the MS4.
- C. Projects With A Larger Common Plan of Development. Contractor (Operator) shall comply with the Large Project requirements listed in Paragraph 3.01.A of this specification on those projects that will disturb one (1) or more acres, but less than five (5) acres, and are part of larger common plan of development that will disturb five (5) or more acres.

3.02 CLEAN-UP

Once the site is permanently stabilized, remove and dispose of all temporary erosion control devices unless otherwise directed by Engineer.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Dewatering, depressurizing, draining, and maintaining trench and structure excavations and foundation beds in dry and stable condition.
- B. Protecting work against surface runoff and rising flood waters.
- C. Disposing of removed water.

1.02 METHOD OF PAYMENT

A. No separate payment will be made for control of ground water and surface water. Include the cost to control ground water and surface water in unit price for work requiring such controls.

1.03 DEFINITIONS

- A. Ground water control includes both dewatering and depressurization of water-bearing soil layers.
 - 1. Dewatering includes lowering the water table and intercepting seepage which would otherwise emerge from slopes or bottoms of excavations and disposing of removed water. The intent of dewatering is to increase stability of excavated slopes; prevent dislocation of material from slopes or bottoms of excavations; reduce lateral loads on sheeting and bracing; improve excavating and hauling characteristics of excavated material; prevent failure or heaving of the bottom of excavations; and to provide suitable conditions for placement of backfill materials and construction of structures and other installations.
 - 2. Depressurization includes reduction in piezometric pressure within strata not controlled by dewatering alone, as required to prevent failure or heaving of excavation bottom.
- B. Excavation drainage includes keeping excavations free of surface and seepage water.
- C. Surface drainage includes use of temporary drainage ditches and dikes and installation of temporary culverts and sump pumps with discharge lines as required to protect the Work from any source of surface water.
- D. Equipment and instrumentation for monitoring and control of the ground water control system includes piezometers and monitoring wells, and devices, such as flow meters, for observing and recording flow rates.

1.04 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

- A. Conduct subsurface investigations to identify groundwater conditions and to provide parameters for design, installation, and operation of groundwater control systems.
- B. Design a ground water control system, compatible with requirements of Federal Regulations 29 CFR Part 1926 and Section 01526 - Trench Safety System, to produce the following results:
 - 1. Effectively reduce the hydrostatic pressure affecting excavations.
 - 2. Develop a substantially dry and stable subgrade for subsequent construction operations.
 - 3. Preclude damage to adjacent properties, buildings, structures, utilities, installed facilities, and other work.
 - 4. Prevent the loss of fines, seepage, boils, quick condition, or softening of the foundation strata.
 - 5. Maintain stability of sides and bottom of excavations.

- C. Ground water control systems may include single-stage or multiple-stage well point systems, eductor and ejector-type systems, deep wells, or combinations of these equipment types.
- D. Provide drainage of seepage water and surface water, as well as water from any other source entering the excavation. Excavation drainage may include placement of drainage materials, such as crushed stone and filter fabric, together with sump pumping.
- E. Provide ditches, berms, pumps and other methods necessary to divert and drain surface water from excavation and other work areas.
- F. Locate ground water control and drainage systems so as not to interfere with utilities, construction operations, adjacent properties, or adjacent water wells.
- G. Assume sole responsibility for ground water control systems and for any loss or damage resulting from partial or complete failure of protective measures and any settlement or resultant damage caused by the ground water control operations. Modify ground water control systems or operations if they cause or threaten to cause damage to new construction, existing site improvements, adjacent property, or adjacent water wells, or affect potentially contaminated areas. Repair damage caused by ground water control systems or resulting from failure of the system to protect property as required.
- H. Provide an adequate number of piezometers installed at the proper locations and depths as required to provide meaningful observations of the conditions affecting the excavation, adjacent structures, and water wells.
- Provide environmental monitoring wells installed at the proper locations and depths as required to provide adequate observations of hydrostatic conditions and possible contaminant transport from contamination sources into the work area or into the ground water control system.
- J. Decommission piezometers and monitoring wells installed during design phase studies and left for Contractors monitoring and use.
- 1.05 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Submit a Ground Water and Surface Water Control Plan for review by the Engineer prior to start of any fieldwork. The Plan shall be signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Texas. Submit a plan to include the following:
 - 1. Results of subsurface investigation and description of the extent and characteristics of water bearing layers subject to ground water control.
 - 2. Names of equipment suppliers and installation subcontractors.
 - 3. A description of proposed ground water control systems indicating arrangement, location, depth and capacities of system components, installation details and criteria, and operation and maintenance procedures.
 - 4. A description of proposed monitoring and control system indicating depths and locations of piezometers and monitoring wells, monitoring installation details and criteria, type of equipment and instrumentation with pertinent data and characteristics.
 - 5. A description of proposed filters including types, sizes, capacities and manufacturer's application recommendations.
 - 6. Design calculations demonstrating adequacy of proposed systems for intended applications. Define potential area of influence of ground water control operation near contaminated areas.
 - 7. Operating requirements, including piezometric control elevations for dewatering and depressurization.

- 8. Excavation drainage methods including typical drainage layers, sump pump application and other necessary means.
- 9. Surface water control and drainage installations.
- 10. Proposed methods and locations for disposing of removed water.
- C. Submit the following records upon completed initial installation:
 - 1. Installation and development reports for well points, eductors, and deep wells.
 - 2. Installation reports and baseline readings for piezometers and monitoring wells.
 - 3. Baseline analytical test data of water from monitoring wells.
 - 4. Initial flow rates.
- D. Submit the following records on a weekly basis during operations:
 - 1. Records of flow rates and piezometric elevations obtained during monitoring of dewatering and depressurization. Refer to Paragraph 3.02, Requirements for Eductor, Well Points, or Deep Wells.
 - 2. Maintenance records for ground water control installations, piezometers, and monitoring wells.
- E. Submit the following records at end of work. Decommissioning (abandonment) reports for monitoring wells and piezometers installed by other during the design phase and left for Contractor's monitoring and use.
- 1.06 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS
 - A. Comply with requirements of agencies having jurisdiction.
 - B. Comply with Texas Commission on Environmental Quality regulations and Texas Water Well Drillers Association for development, drilling, and abandonment of wells used in dewatering system.
 - C. Obtain all necessary permits from agencies with control over the use of groundwater and matters affecting well installation, water discharge, and use of existing storm drains and natural water sources. Because the review and permitting process may be lengthy, take early action to pursue and submit for the required approvals.
 - D. Monitor ground water discharge for contamination while performing pumping in the vicinity of potentially contaminated sites.

PART2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 EQUIPMENT AND MATERIALS
 - A. Equipment and materials are at the option of Contractor as necessary to achieve desired results for dewatering. Selected equipment and materials are subject to review of the Engineer through submittals required in Paragraph 1.05, Submittals.
 - B. Eductors, well points, or deep wells, where used, must be furnished, installed and operated by an experienced contractor regularly engaged in ground water control system design, installation, and operation.
 - C. All equipment must be in good repair and operating order.
 - D. Sufficient standby equipment and materials shall be kept available to ensure continuous operation, where required.

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 GROUND WATER CONTROL

- A. Perform a subsurface investigation by borings as necessary to identify water bearing layers, piezometric pressures, and soil parameters for design and installation of ground water control systems. Perform pump tests, if necessary to determine the drawdown characteristics of the waterbearing layers. The results shall be presented in the Ground Water and Surface Water Control Plan (See Paragraph 1.05B.1).
- B. Provide labor, material, equipment, techniques and methods to lower, control and handle ground water in a manner compatible with construction methods and site conditions. Monitor effectiveness of the installed system and its effect on adjacent property.
- C. Install, operate, and maintain ground water control systems in accordance with the Ground Water and Surface Water Control Plan. Notify Engineer in writing of any changes made to accommodate field conditions and changes to the Work. Provide revised drawings and calculations with such notification.
- D. Provide for continuous system operation, including nights, weekends, and holidays. Arrange for appropriate backup if electrical power is primary energy source for dewatering system.
- E. Monitor operations to verify that the system lowers ground water piezometric levels at a rate required to maintain a dry excavation resulting in a stable subgrade for prosecution of subsequent operations.
- F. Where hydrostatic pressures in confined water-bearing layers exist below excavation, depressurize those zones to eliminate risk of uplift or other instability of excavation or installed works. Allowable piezometric elevations shall be defined in the Ground Water and Surface Water Control Plan.
- G. Maintain water level below subgrade elevation. Do not allow levels to rise until foundation concrete has achieved design strength.
- H. During backfilling, dewatering may be reduced to maintain water level a minimum of 5 feet below prevailing level of backfill. However, do not allow that water level to result in uplift pressures in excess of 80 percent of downward pressure produced by weight of structure or backfill in place. Do not allow water levels to rise into cement stabilized sand until at least 48 hour after placement.
- I. Provide a uniform diameter for each pipe drain run constructed for dewatering. Remove pipe drain when it has served its purpose. If removal of pipe is impractical, provide grout connections at 50-foot intervals and fill pipe with cement-bentonite grout or cement-sand grout when pipe is removed from service.
- J. Extent of construction ground water control for structures with a permanent perforated underground drainage system may be reduced, such as for units designed to withstand hydrostatic uplift pressure. Provide a means of draining the affected portion of underground system, including standby equipment. Maintain drainage system during operations and remove it when no longer required.
- K. Remove system upon completion of construction or when dewatering and control of surface or ground water is no longer required.
- L. Compact backfill to not less than 95 percent of the maximum dry density in accordance with ASTM D698.

3.02 REQUIREMENTS FOR EDUCTOR, WELL POINTS OR DEEP WELLS

- A. For aboveground piping in ground water control system, include a 12-inch minimum length of clear, transparent piping between every eductor well or well point and discharge header so that discharge from each installation can be visually monitored.
- B. Install sufficient piezometers or monitoring wells to show that all trench or shaft excavations in water bearing materials are predrained prior to excavation. Provide separate piezometers for monitoring of dewatering and for monitoring of depressurization. Install piezometers and monitoring wells for tunneling as appropriate for Contractor's selected method of work.
- C. Install piezometers or monitoring wells not less than one week in advance of beginning the associated excavation.
- D. Dewatering may be omitted for portions of underdrains or other excavations, but only where auger borings and piezometers or monitoring wells show that soil is predrained by an existing system such that the criteria of the ground water control plan are satisfied.
- E. Replace installations that produce noticeable amounts of sediments after development.
- F. Provide additional ground water control installations, or change the methods, in the event that the installations according to the ground water control plan does not provide satisfactory results based on the performance criteria defined by the plan and by the specification. Submit a revised plan according to Paragraph 1.05B.

3.03 EXCAVATION DRAINAGE

A. Contractor may use excavation drainage methods if necessary to achieve well-drained conditions. The excavation drainage may consist of a layer of crushed stone and filter fabric, and sump pumping in combination with sufficient wells for ground water control to maintain stable excavation and backfill conditions.

3.04 MAINTENANCE AND OBSERVATION

- A. Conduct daily maintenance and observation of piezometers or monitoring wells while the ground water control installations or excavation drainage are operating in an area. Keep system in good condition.
- B. Replace damaged and destroyed piezometers or monitoring wells with new piezometers or wells as necessary to meet observation schedule.
- C. Cut off piezometers or monitoring wells in excavation areas where piping is exposed, only as necessary to perform observation as excavation proceeds. Continue to maintain and make observations, as specified.
- D. Remove and grout piezometers inside or outside the excavation area when ground water control operations are complete. Remove and grout monitoring wells when directed by the Engineer.

3.05 MONITORING AND RECORDING

A. Monitor and record average flow rate of operation for each deep well, or for each wellpoint or eductor header used in dewatering system. Also monitor and record water level and ground water recovery. These records shall be obtained daily until steady conditions are achieved, and twice weekly thereafter. B. Observe and record elevation of water level daily as long as ground water control system is in operation, and weekly thereafter until the Work is completed or piezometers or wells are removed, except when Engineer determines that more frequent monitoring and recording are required. Comply with Engineer's direction for increased monitoring and recording and take measures as necessary to ensure effective dewatering for intended purpose.

3.06 SURFACE WATER CONTROL

- A. Intercept surface water and divert it away from excavations through use of dikes, ditches, curb walls, pipes, sumps or other approved means. The requirement includes temporary works required to protect adjoining properties from surface drainage caused by construction operations.
- B. Divert surface water and seepage water into sumps and pump it into drainage channels or storm drains, when approved by agencies having jurisdiction. Provide settling basins when required by such agencies.

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Disposal of waste material and salvageable material.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No separate payment will be made for waste material disposal under this Section. Include payment in unit price for related sections.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Obtain and submit disposal permits for proposed disposal sites if required by local ordinances.
 - C. Submit a copy of written permission from property owner, along with description of property, prior to disposal of excess material adjacent to the Project. Submit a written and signed release from property owner upon completion of disposal work.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 SALVAGEABLE MATERIAL
 - A. Excavated material: When indicated on Drawings, load, haul, and deposit excavated material at a location or locations shown on Drawings outside the limits of Project.
 - B. Base, surface, and bedding material: Deliver shell, gravel, bituminous, or other base and surfacing material designated for salvage to the location designated by the Engineer.
 - C. Pipe culvert: Deliver culverts designated for salvage to Owner's storage area.
 - D. Other salvageable materials: Conform to requirements of individual Specification Sections.
 - E. Coordinate delivery of salvageable material with Engineer.

3.02 EXCESS MATERIAL

- A. Vegetation, rubble, broken concrete, debris, asphaltic concrete pavement, excess soil, and other materials not designated for salvage, shall become the property of Contractor and shall be removed from the job site and legally disposed of.
- B. Excess soil may be deposited on private property adjacent to the Project when written permission is obtained from property owner. See Paragraph 1.03C above.
- C. Verify the flood plain status of any proposed disposal site. Do not dispose of excavated materials in an area designated as within the City or County 100-year Flood Hazard Area.
- D. Waste materials shall be removed from the site on a daily basis, such that the site is maintained in a neat and orderly condition.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Description of erosion and sediment control and other control-related practices which shall be utilized during construction activities.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Unless indicated in the Unit Price Bid as a pay item, no separate payment will be made for work performed under this Section. Include cost of work performed under this Section in pay items of which this work is a component.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS Not Used
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 PREPARATION AND INSTALLATION
 - A. No clearing and grubbing or rough cutting shall be permitted until erosion and sediment control systems are in place, other than site work specifically directed by the Engineer to allow soil testing and surveying.
 - B. Equipment and vehicles shall be prohibited by the Contractor from maneuvering on areas outside of dedicated rights-of-way and easements for construction. Damage caused by construction traffic to erosion and sediment control systems shall be repaired immediately by the Contractor.
 - C. The Contractor shall be responsible for collecting, storing, hauling, and disposing of spoil, silt, and waste materials as specified in this or other Specifications and in compliance with applicable federal, state, and local rules and regulations.
 - D. Contractor shall conduct all construction operations under this Contract in conformance with the erosion control practices described in the Drawings and this Specification.
 - E. The Contractor shall install, maintain, and inspect erosion and sediment control measures and practices as specified in the Drawings and in this or other Specifications.
 - 3.02 TOPSOIL PLACEMENT FOR EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL SYSTEMS
 - A. When topsoil is specified as a component of another Specification, the Contractor shall conduct erosion control practices described in this Specification during topsoil placement operations.
 - 1. When placing topsoil, maintain erosion and sediment control systems, such as swales, grade stabilization structures, berms, dikes, silt fences, and sediment basins.
 - 2. Maintain grades which have been previously established on areas to receive topsoil.
 - 3. After the areas to receive topsoil have been brought to grade, and immediately prior to dumping and spreading the topsoil, loosen the subgrade by discing or by scarifying to a depth of at least 2 inches to permit bonding of the topsoil to the subsoil.

3.03 DUST CONTROL

A. Implement dust control methods to control dust creation and movement on construction sites and roads and to prevent airborne sediment from reaching receiving streams or storm water conveyance systems, to reduce on-site and off-site damage, to prevent health hazards, and to improve traffic safety.

- B. Control blowing dust by using one or more of the following methods:
 - 1. Mulches bound with chemical binders.
 - 2. Temporary vegetative cover.
 - 3. Tillage to roughen surface and bring clods to the surface.
 - 4. Irrigation by water sprinkling.
 - 5. Barriers using solid board fences, burlap fences, crate walls, bales of hay, or similar materials.
- C. Implement dust control methods immediately whenever dust can be observed blowing on the project site.

3.04 KEEPING STREETS CLEAN

- A. Keep streets clean of construction debris and mud carried by construction vehicles and equipment. If necessary to keep the streets clean, install stabilized construction exits at construction, staging, storage, and disposal areas. A vehicle/equipment wash area (stabilized with coarse aggregate) may be installed adjacent to the stabilized construction exit, as needed. Release wash water into a drainage swale or inlet protected by erosion and sediment control measures. Construction exit and wash areas are specified in Section 01569 Stabilized Construction Exit.
- B. In lieu of or in addition to stabilized construction exits, shovel or sweep the pavement to the extent necessary to keep the street clean. Waterhosing or sweeping of debris and mud off of the street into adjacent areas is not allowed.

3.05 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR

- A. Confine maintenance and repair of construction machinery and equipment to areas specifically designated for that purpose. Locate such areas so that oils, gasoline, grease, solvents, and other potential pollutants cannot be washed directly into receiving streams or storm water conveyance systems. Provide these areas with adequate waste disposal receptacles for liquid as well as solid waste. Clean and inspect maintenance areas daily.
- B. On a construction site where designated equipment maintenance areas are not feasible, take precautions during each individual repair or maintenance operation to prevent potential pollutants from washing into streams or conveyance systems. Provide temporary waste disposal receptacles.

3.06 WASTE COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL

- A. Contractor shall formulate and implement a plan for the collection and disposal of waste materials on the construction site. In plan, designate locations for trash and waste receptacles and establish a collection schedule. Methods for ultimate disposal of waste shall be specified and carried out in accordance with applicable local, state, and federal health and safety regulations. Make special provisions for the collection and disposal of liquid wastes and toxic or hazardous materials.
- B. Keep receptacles and waste collection areas neat and orderly to the extent possible. Waste shall not be allowed to overflow its container or accumulate from day-to-day. Locate trash collection points where they will least likely be affected by concentrated storm water runoff.

3.07 WASHING AREAS

A. Vehicles such as concrete delivery trucks or dump trucks and other construction equipment shall not be washed at locations where the runoff will flow directly into a watercourse or storm water conveyance system. Designate special areas for washing vehicles. Locate these

areas where the wash water will spread out and evaporate or infiltrate directly into the ground, or where the runoff can be collected in a temporary holding or seepage basin. Beneath wash areas construct a gravel or rock base to minimize mud production.

3.08 STORAGE OF CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS AND CHEMICALS

- A. Isolate sites where chemicals, cements, solvents, paints, or other potential water pollutants are stored in areas where they will not cause runoff pollution.
- B. Store toxic chemicals and materials, such as pesticides, paints, and acids in accordance with manufacturers' guidelines. Protect groundwater resources from leaching by placing a plastic mat, packed clay, tarpaper, or other impervious materials on any areas where toxic liquids are to be opened and stored.

3.09 DEMOLITION AREAS

A. Demolition activities which create large amounts of dust with significant concentrations of heavy metals or other toxic pollutants shall use dust control techniques to limit transport of airborne pollutants. However, water or slurry used to control dust contaminated with heavy metals or toxic pollutants shall be retained on the site and shall not be allowed to run directly into watercourses or storm water conveyance systems. Methods of ultimate disposal of these materials shall be carried out in accordance with applicable local, state, and federal health and safety regulations.

3.10 SANITARY FACILITIES

A. Provide the construction sites with adequate portable toilets for workers in accordance with Section 01500 - Temporary Facilities and Controls, and applicable health regulations.

3.11 PESTICIDES

A. Use and store pesticides during construction in accordance with manufacturers' guidelines and with local, state, and federal regulations. Avoid overuse of pesticides which could produce contaminated runoff. Take great care to prevent accidental spillage. Never wash pesticide containers in or near flowing streams or storm water conveyance systems.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Installation of erosion and sediment control filter fabric fences used during construction and until final development of the site. The purpose of filter fabric fences is to contain pollutants from overland flow. Filter fabric fences are not for use in channelized flow areas.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Filter fabric fence will be measured by the linear foot of completed and accepted filter fabric fence between the limits of the beginning and ending of wooden stakes. Filter fabric fence, measured as stated, will be paid for at the unit price bid for Filter Fabric Fence, complete-in-place.
 - B. Payment for filter fabric fence will include and be full compensation for all labor, equipment, materials, supervision, and all incidental expenses for construction of these items, complete in place, including, but not limited to protection of trees, maintenance requirements, repair and replacement of damaged sections, removal of sediment deposits, and removal of erosion and sediment control systems at the end of construction.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Manufacturer's catalog sheets and other product data on geotextile fabric.
- PART2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 FILTER FABRIC
 - A. Provide woven or nonwoven geotextile filter fabric made of either polypropylene, polyethylene, ethylene, or polyamide material.
 - B. Geotextile fabric shall have a grab strength of 100 psi in any principal direction (ASTM D-4632), Mullen burst strength exceeding 200 psi (ASTM D-3786), and the equivalent opening size between 50 and 140.
 - C. Filter fabric material shall contain ultraviolet inhibitors and stabilizers to provide a minimum of 6 months of expected usable construction life at a temperature range of 0 degrees F to 120 degrees F.

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION AND INSTALLATION

- A. Provide erosion and sediment control systems at the locations shown on Drawings. Such systems shall be of the type indicated and shall be constructed in accordance with the requirements shown on the Drawings and specified in this Section.
- B. No clearing and grubbing or rough cutting shall be permitted until erosion and sediment control systems are in place, other than site work specifically directed by the Engineer to allow soil testing and surveying.
- C. Regularly inspect and repair or replace damaged components of filter fabric fences as specified in this Section. Unless otherwise directed, maintain the erosion and sediment control systems until the project area stabilization is accepted by the Owner. Remove

erosion and sediment control systems promptly when directed by the Engineer. Discard removed materials off site.

- D. Remove sediment deposits and dispose of them at the designated spoil site for the project. If a project spoil site is not designated on the Drawings, dispose of sediment off site at a location not in or adjacent to a stream or floodplain. Off-site disposal is the responsibility of the Contractor. Sediment to be placed at the project site should be spread evenly throughout the site, compacted and stabilized. Sediment shall not be allowed to flush into a stream or drainage way. If sediment has been contaminated, it shall be disposed of in accordance with existing federal, state, and local rules and regulations.
- E. Conduct all construction operations under this Contract in conformance with the erosion control practices described in Section 01566-Source Controls for Erosion and Sedimentation.

3.02 CONSTRUCTION METHODS

- A. Provide filter fabric fence systems in accordance with the Drawing detail for Filter Fabric Fences. Filter fabric fences shall be installed in such a manner that surface runoff will percolate through the system in sheet flow fashion and allow sediment to be retained and accumulated.
- B. Attach the filter fabric to 2-inch by 2-inch wooden stakes spaced a maximum of 3 feet apart and embedded a minimum of 8 inches. If filter fabric is factory preassembled with support netting, then maximum spacing allowable is 8 feet. Install wooden stakes at a slight angle toward the source of anticipated runoff.
- C. Trench in the toe of the filter fabric fence with a spade or mechanical trencher as shown on the Drawings. Lay filter fabric along the edges of the trench. Backfill and compact trench.
- D. Filter fabric fence shall have a minimum height of 18 inches and a maximum height of 36 inches above natural ground.
- E. Provide the filter fabric in continuous rolls and cut to the length of the fence to minimize the use of joints. When joints are necessary, splice the fabric together only at a support post with a minimum 6-inch overlap and seal securely.
- F. Inspect sediment filter barrier systems after each rainfall, daily during periods of prolonged rainfall, and at a minimum once each week. Repair or replace damaged sections immediately. Remove sediment deposits when silt reaches a depth one-third the height of the fence or 6 inches, whichever is less.

REINFORCED FILTER FABRIC BARRIER

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Installation of reinforced filter fabric barriers for erosion and sediment control used during construction and until the final development of the site. Reinforced filter fabric barriers are used to retain sedimentation in channelized flow areas.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Filter fabric barrier will be measured by the linear foot of completed and accepted filter fabric barrier between the limits of the beginning and ending fence posts. Filter fabric barrier, measured as stated, will be paid for at the unit price bid for Reinforced Filter Fabric Barrier, complete-in-place.
 - B. Payment for filter fabric barrier will include and be full compensation for all labor, equipment, materials, supervision, and incidental expenses for construction of these items, complete in place, including, but not limited to protection of trees, maintenance requirements, repair and replacement of damaged sections, removal of sediment deposits, and removal of erosion and sediment control systems at the end of construction.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Manufacturer's catalog sheets and other product data on geotextile fabrics.
- PART2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 FILTER FABRIC
 - A. Provide woven or nonwoven geotextile filter fabric made of either polypropylene, polyethylene, ethylene, or polyamide material.
 - B. Geotextile fabric shall have a minimum grab strength of 100 psi in any principal direction (ASTM D-4632), Mullen burst strength exceeding 200 psi (ASTM D-3786), and the equivalent opening size between 50 and 140.
 - C. Filter fabric material shall contain ultraviolet inhibitors and stabilizers to provide a minimum of 6 months of expected usable construction life at a temperature range of 0 degrees F to 120 degrees F.
 - 2.02 FENCING
 - A. Provide woven galvanized steel wire fence with minimum thickness of 14 gauge and a maximum mesh spacing of 6 inches.

PART3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 PREPARATION AND INSTALLATION
 - A. Provide erosion and sediment control systems at the locations shown on the Drawings. Such systems shall be of the type indicated and shall be constructed in accordance with the requirements shown on the Drawings and specified in this Section.
 - B. No clearing and grubbing or rough cutting shall be permitted until erosion and sediment control systems are in place, other than as specifically directed by the Engineer to allow soil testing and surveying.

REINFORCED FILTER FABRIC BARRIER

- C. Regularly inspect and repair or replace damaged components of the reinforced filter fabric barrier as specified in this Section. Unless otherwise directed, maintain the erosion and sediment control systems until the project area stabilization is accepted by the Owner. Remove erosion and sediment control systems promptly when directed by the Engineer. Discard removed materials off site.
- D. Remove sediment deposits and dispose of them at the designated spoil site for the project. If a project spoil site is not designated on the Drawings, dispose of sediment off site at a location not in or adjacent to a stream or floodplain. Off-site disposal is the responsibility of the Contractor. Sediment to be placed at the project site should be spread evenly throughout the site, compacted and stabilized. Sediment shall not be allowed to flush into a stream or drainage way. If sediment has been contaminated, it shall be disposed of in accordance with existing federal, state, and local rules and regulations.
- E. Conduct all construction operations under this Contract in conformance with the erosion control practices described in Section 01566 Source Controls for Erosion and Sedimentation.

3.02 CONSTRUCTION METHODS

- A. Provide filter fabric barriers in accordance with the Drawing detail for Reinforced Filter Fabric Barrier. Filter fabric barrier systems shall be installed in such a manner that surface runoff will percolate through the system in sheet flow fashion and allow sediment to be retained and accumulated.
- B. Attach the woven wire support to 2-inch by 2-inch wooden stakes spaced a maximum of 6 feet apart and embedded a minimum of 8 inches. Install wooden stakes at a slight angle toward the source of the anticipated runoff.
- C. Trench in the toe of the filter fabric barrier with a spade or mechanical trencher as shown on the Drawings. Lay filter fabric along the edges of the trench. Backfill and compact trench.
- D. Securely fasten the filter fabric material to the woven wire with tie wires.
- E. Reinforced filter fabric barrier shall have a height of 18 inches.
- F. Provide the filter fabric in continuous rolls and cut to the length of the fence to minimize the use of joints. When joints are necessary, splice the fabric together only at a support post with a minimum 6-inch overlap and seal securely.
- G. Inspect the reinforced filter fabric barrier systems after each rainfall, daily during periods of prolonged rainfall, and at a minimum once each week. Repair or replace damaged sections immediately. Remove sediment deposits when silt reaches a depth one-third the height of the barrier or 6 inches, whichever is less.

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Installation of erosion and sediment control for stabilized construction exits used during construction and until final development of the site.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Unless indicated in the Unit Price Bid as a pay item, no separate payment will be made for work performed under this Section. Include cost of work performed under this Section in pay items for which this work is a component.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Manufacturer's catalog sheets and other product data on geotextile fabric.
 - B. Sieve analysis of aggregates conforming to requirements of this Specification.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 GEOTEXTILE FABRIC
 - A. Provide woven or nonwoven geotextile fabric made of either polypropylene, polyethylene, ethylene, or polyamide material.
 - B. Geotextile fabric shall have a minimum grab strength of 270 psi in any principal direction (ASTM D-4632), and the equivalent opening size between 50 and 140.
 - C. Both the geotextile and threads shall be resistant to chemical attack, mildew, and rot and shall contain ultraviolet ray inhibitors and stabilizers to provide a minimum of 6 months of expected usable life at a temperature range of 0°F to 120°F.

2.02 COARSE AGGREGATES

- A. Coarse aggregate shall consist of crushed stone, gravel, crushed blast furnace slag, or a combination of these materials. Aggregate shall be composed of clean, hard, durable materials free from adherent coatings, salt, alkali, dirt, clay, loam, shale, soft or flaky materials, or organic and injurious matter.
- B. Coarse aggregates shall conform to the following gradation requirements.

Percent Retained
<u>(By Weight)</u>
0
0 - 20
15 - 50
60 - 80
95 – 100

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION AND INSTALLATION

A. If necessary to keep the street clean of mud carried by construction vehicles and equipment, Contractor shall provide stabilized construction roads and exits at the construction, staging,

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT

parking, storage, and disposal areas. Such erosion and sediment controls shall be constructed in accordance with the requirements shown on the Drawings and specified in this Section.

- B. No clearing and grubbing or rough cutting shall be permitted until erosion and sediment control systems are in place, other than as specifically directed by the Engineer to allow soil testing and surveying.
- C. Maintain existing erosion and sediment control systems located within the project site until acceptance of the project or until directed by the Engineer to remove and discard the existing system.
- D. Regularly inspect and repair or replace components of stabilized construction exits. Unless otherwise directed, maintain the stabilized construction roads and exits until the project is accepted by the Owner. Remove stabilized construction roads and exits promptly when directed by the Engineer. Discard removed materials off site.
- E. Remove sediment deposits and dispose of them at the designated spoil site for the project. If a project spoil site is not designated on the Drawings, dispose of sediment off site at location not in or adjacent to a stream or floodplain. Off-site disposal is the responsibility of the Contractor. Sediment to be placed at the project site should be spread evenly throughout the site, compacted and stabilized. Sediment shall not be allowed to flush into a stream or drainage way. If sediment has been contaminated, it shall be disposed of in accordance with existing federal, state, and local rules and regulations.
- F. Equipment and vehicles shall be prohibited by the Contractor from maneuvering on areas outside of dedicated rights-of-way and easements for construction. Damage caused by construction traffic to erosion and sediment control systems shall be repaired immediately.
- G. Conduct all construction operations under this Contract in conformance with the erosion control practices described in Section 01566 - Source Controls for Erosion and Sedimentation.

3.02 CONSTRUCTION METHODS

- A. Provide stabilized access roads, subdivision roads, parking areas, and other on-site vehicle transportation routes where shown on Drawings.
- B. Provide stabilized construction exits and truck washing areas, when approved by Engineer, of the sizes and locations where shown on Drawings or as specified in this Section.
- C. Vehicles leaving construction areas shall have their tires cleaned to remove sediment prior to entrance onto public right-of-way. When washing is needed to remove sediment, Contractor shall construct a truck washing area. Truck washing shall be done on stabilized areas which drain into a drainage system protected by erosion and sediment control measures.
- D. Details for stabilized construction exit are shown on the Drawings. Construction of all other stabilized areas shall be to the same requirements. Roadway width shall be at least 14 feet for one-way traffic and 20 feet for two-way traffic and shall be sufficient for all ingress and egress. Furnish and place geotextile fabric as a permeable separator to prevent mixing of coarse aggregate with underlying soil. Exposure of geotextile fabric to the elements between laydown and cover shall be a maximum of 14 days to minimize damage potential.
- E. Roads and parking areas shall be graded to provide sufficient drainage away from stabilized areas. Use sandbags, gravel, boards, or similar methods to prevent sediment from entering public right-of-way, receiving stream or storm water conveyance system.

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT

- F. The stabilized areas shall be inspected and maintained daily. Provide periodic top dressing with additional coarse aggregates to maintain the required depth. Repair and clean out damaged control measures used to trap sediment. All sediment spilled, dropped, washed, or tracked onto public right-of-way shall be removed immediately.
- G. The length of the stabilized area shall be as shown on the Drawings, but not less than 50 feet. The thickness shall not be less than 8 inches. The width shall not be less than full width of all points of ingress or egress.
- H. Stabilization for other areas shall have the same coarse aggregate, thickness, and width requirements as the stabilized construction exit, except where shown otherwise on the Drawings.
- I. Stabilized area may be widened or lengthened to accommodate truck-washing area when authorized by Engineer.
- J. Alternative methods of construction may be utilized when shown on Drawings, or when approved by the Engineer. These methods include the following:
 - 1. Cement-Stabilized Soil Compacted cement-stabilized soil or other fill material in an application thickness of at least 8 inches.
 - 2. Wood Mats/Mud Mats Oak or other hardwood timbers placed edge-to-edge and across support wooden beams which are placed on top of existing soil in an application thickness of at least 6 inches.
 - 3. Steel Mats Perforated mats placed across perpendicular support members.

[This page intentionally left blank]

TRAFFIC CONTROL AND REGULATION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Requirements for signs, signals, control devices, flagmen, lights and traffic signals, as well as construction parking control, designated haul routes and bridging of trenches and excavations.
- 1.02 SUBMITTALS
 - A. If the Contractor proposes to implement traffic control different than the plan provided, he shall submit a traffic control plan in conformance with the Texas Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (TMUTCD) for approval of the Engineer.
 - B. Make submittals in accordance with Section 01300 Submittals.

1.03 UNIT PRICES

- A. Traffic Control and Regulation. Measurement is on a lump sum basis for traffic control and regulation, including submittal of a traffic control plan if different from the plan shown on the Drawings, provision of traffic control devices, and provision of equipment and personnel as necessary to protect the work and the public. The amount invoiced shall be determined based on the schedule of values submitted for traffic control and regulation.
- 1.04 FLAGMEN
 - A. Use flagmen to control, regulate and direct the even flow or movement of vehicular or pedestrian traffic when construction operations encroach on public traffic lanes.
- PART2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 SIGNS, SIGNALS, AND DEVICES
 - A. Comply with Texas State Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices.
 - B. Traffic Cones and Drums, Flares and Lights: As approved by local jurisdictions.

PART3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 PUBLIC ROADS
 - A. Abide by laws and regulations of governing authorities when using public roads. If the Contractor's work requires that public roads be temporarily impeded or closed, approvals shall be obtained from governing authorities and permits paid for before starting any work. Notify the Engineer 48 hours prior to closing roadways.
 - B. Contractor shall maintain at all times a 10-foot-wide all-weather lane adjacent to work areas which shall be kept free of construction equipment and debris and shall be for the use of emergency vehicles, or as otherwise provided in the traffic control plan.
 - C. Contractor shall not obstruct the normal flow of traffic from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. on designated major arterials or as directed by the Engineer.
 - D. Contractor shall maintain local driveway access to residential and commercial properties adjacent to work areas at all times, unless otherwise allowed on the Plans.

TRAFFIC CONTROL AND REGULATION

- E. Keep streets used for entering or leaving the job area free of excavated material, debris, and any foreign material resulting from construction operations.
- F. Control vehicular parking to prevent interference with public traffic and parking, and access by emergency vehicles.
- G. Monitor parking of construction personnel's vehicles in existing facilities. Maintain vehicular access to and through parking areas.
- H. Prevent parking on or adjacent to access roads or in non-designated areas.

3.02 LIGHTS

A. Provide lights during hours of low visibility to delineate traffic lanes and to guide traffic.

3.03 HAUL ROUTES

- A. Utilize haul routes designated by authorities or shown on the Drawings for construction traffic.
- B. Confine construction traffic to designated haul routes and applicable provisions of the City's Ordinances.
- C. Provide traffic control at critical areas of haul routes to regulate traffic and minimize interference with public traffic.
- 3.04 TRAFFIC SIGNS AND SIGNALS
 - A. Install traffic control devices at approaches to the site and on site, at crossroads, detours, parking areas, and elsewhere as needed to direct construction and affected public traffic.
 - B. Relocate traffic signs and control devices as Work progresses to maintain effective traffic control.

3.05 BRIDGING TRENCHES AND EXCAVATIONS

- A. Whenever necessary, bridge trenches and excavation to permit an unobstructed flow of traffic.
- B. Secure bridging against displacement by using adjustable cleats, angles, bolts or other devices whenever bridge is installed:
 - 1. On an existing bus route;
 - 2. When more than five percent of daily traffic is comprised of commercial or truck traffic;
 - 3. When more than two separate plates are used for the bridge; or
 - 4. When bridge is to be used for more than five consecutive days.
- C. Install bridging to operate with minimum noise.
- D. Adequately shore the trench or excavation to support bridge and traffic.
- E. Extend steel plates used for bridging a minimum of one foot beyond edges of trench or excavation. Use temporary paving materials (premix) to feather edges of plates to minimize wheel impact on secured bridging.
- F. Use steel plates of sufficient thickness to support H-20 loading, truck or lane, that produces maximum stress.

TRAFFIC CONTROL AND REGULATION

3.06 REMOVAL

- A. Remove equipment and devices when no longer required.
- B. Repair damage caused by installation.
- C. Remove post settings to a depth of 2 feet.

[This page intentionally left blank]

PRODUCT OPTIONS AND SUBSTITUTIONS

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Options for making product or process selections
 - B. Procedures for proposing equivalent construction products or processes, including preapproved, and approved products or processes

1.02 DEFINITIONS

- A. Product: Means materials, equipment, or systems incorporated into the Project. Product does not include machinery and equipment used for production, fabrication, conveying, and erection of the Work. Products may also include existing materials or components designated for re-use.
- B. Process: Any proprietary system or method for installing system components resulting in an integral, functioning part of the Work. For this Section, the word Product includes Processes.

1.03 SELECTION OPTIONS

- A. Preapproved Products: Construction products of certain manufacturers or suppliers are designated in the Specifications as preapproved. Products of other manufacturers or suppliers will not be acceptable for this Project and will not be considered under the submittal process for approving alternate products.
- B. Approved Products: Construction products or processes of certain manufacturers or suppliers designated in the Specifications followed by the words "or approved equal." Approval of alternate products or processes not listed in the Specifications may be obtained by following the submittal procedures specified in Section 01300 - Submittals. The procedure for approval of alternate products is not applicable to preapproved products.
- C. Product Compatibility: To the maximum extent possible, provide products that are of the same type or function from a single manufacturer, make, or source. Where more than one choice is available as a Contractor's option, select a product which is compatible with other products already selected, specified, or in use by the Owner.

1.04 CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

- A. Furnish information the Engineer deems necessary to judge equivalency of the alternate product.
- B. Pay for laboratory testing, as well as any other review or examination costs, needed to establish the equivalency between products in order to obtain information upon which the Engineer can base a decision.
- C. If the Engineer determines that an alternate product is not equal to that named in the Specifications, the Contractor shall furnish one of the specified products.

1.05 ENGINEER'S REVIEW

- A. Alternate products or processes may be used only if approved in writing by the Engineer. The Engineer's determination regarding acceptance of a proposed alternate product is final.
- B. Alternate products will be accepted if the product is judged by the Engineer to be equivalent to the specified product or to offer substantial benefit to the Owner.

PRODUCT OPTIONS AND SUBSTITUTIONS

C. The Owner retains the right to accept any product or process deemed advantageous to the Owner, and similarly, to reject any product or process deemed not beneficial to the Owner.

1.06 SUBSTITUTION PROCEDURE

- A. Collect and assemble technical information applicable to the proposed product to aid in determining equivalency as related to the approved product specified.
- B. Submit a written request for a construction product to be considered as an alternate product.
- C. Submit the product information after the effective date of the Agreement and within the time period allowed for substitution submittals given in the General Conditions. After the submittal period has expired, requests for alternate products will be considered only when a specified product becomes unavailable because of conditions beyond the Contractor's control.
- D. Submit five copies of each request for alternate product approval. Include the following information:
 - 1. Complete data substantiating compliance of proposed substitution with Contract Documents
 - 2. For products:
 - a. Product identification, including manufacturer's name and address
 - b. Manufacturer's literature with product description, performance and test data, and reference standards
 - c. Samples, as applicable
 - d. Name and address of similar projects on which product was used and date of installation. Include the name of the Owner, Architect/Engineer, and installing contractor.
 - 3. For construction methods:
 - a. Detailed description of proposed method
 - b. Drawings illustrating methods
 - 4. Itemized comparison of proposed substitution with product or method specified
 - 5. Data relating to changes in construction schedule
 - 6. Relation to separate contracts, if any
 - 7. Accurate cost data on proposed substitution in comparison with product or method specified.
 - 8. Other information requested by the Engineer.
- E. Approved alternate products will be subject to the same review process as the specified product would have been for shop drawings, product data, and samples.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Closeout procedures including final submittals such as operation and maintenance data, warranties, and spare parts and maintenance materials.

1.02 CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

- A. Comply with the General Conditions regarding Final Completion and Final Payment when Work is complete and ready for Engineer's final inspection.
- B. Provide Project Record Documents in accordance with Section 01720 Project Record Documents.
- C. Complete or correct items on punch list, with no new items added. Any new items will be addressed during warranty period.
- D. The Owner will occupy portions of the Work as specified in other Sections.

1.03 FINAL CLEANING

- A. Execute final cleaning prior to final inspection.
- B. Clean debris from drainage systems.
- C. Clean site; sweep paved areas, rake clean landscaped surfaces.
- D. Remove waste and surplus materials, rubbish, and temporary construction facilities from the site following the final test of utilities and completion of the work.
- 1.04 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA
 - A. Submit operations and maintenance data as noted in Section 01300 Submittals.
- 1.05 WARRANTIES
 - A. Provide one original of each warranty from Subcontractors, suppliers, and manufacturers.
 - B. Provide Table of Contents and assemble warranties in 3-ring/D binder with durable plastic cover.
 - C. Submit warranties prior to final Application for Payment.
 - D. Warranties shall commence in accordance with the requirements in the General Conditions.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Maintenance and Submittal of Record Documents and Samples.

1.02 MAINTENANCE OF DOCUMENTS AND SAMPLES

- A. Maintain one record copy of documents at the site.
- B. Store Record Documents and samples in field office if a field office is required by Contract Documents, or in a secure location. Provide files, racks, and secure storage for Record Documents and samples.
- C. Label each document "PROJECT RECORD" in neat, large, printed letters.
- D. Maintain Record Documents in a clean, dry, and legible condition. Do not use Record Documents for construction purposes.
- E. Keep Record Documents and Samples available for inspection by Engineer.

1.03 RECORDING

- A. Record information concurrently with construction progress. Do not conceal any work until required information is recorded.
- B. Contract Drawings and Shop Drawings: Legibly mark each item to record all actual construction, or "as built" conditions, including:
 - 1. Measured horizontal locations and elevations of underground utilities and appurtenances, referenced to permanent surface improvements.
 - 2. Elevations of underground utilities referenced to benchmark utilized for project.
 - 3. Field changes of dimension and detail.
 - 4. Changes made by modifications.
 - 5. Details not on original contract drawings.
 - 6. References to related shop drawings and Modifications.
- C. Record information with a red pen or pencil on a set of blue line opaque drawings, provided by Engineer.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. At contract closeout, deliver Project Record Documents to Engineer.
- PART 2 P R O D U C T S Not Used
- PART 3 E X E C U T I O N Not Used

[This page intentionally left blank]

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Labor, materials, equipment and services necessary to complete all demolition work as shown on the accompanying plans, as determined by site inspection and as specified herein, or both.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Measurement for demolition is on a lump sum basis.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS Not Used

PART3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 DEMOLITION BY OWNER
 - A. The Owner will remove or relocate any items not intended for demolition prior to notice to proceed.
 - B. All other demolition or relocation of items required to perform the work shall be by the Contractor.
- 3.02 DISPOSAL OF MATERIALS & DEBRIS
 - A. All material removed by Contractor shall be removed from the site and legally disposed of, and all costs associated with such disposal shall be borne by the Contractor.
- 3.03 PROTECTION OF EXISTING FACILITIES
 - A. The project area shall be vacated before a notice to proceed is issued and the Contractor begins work. The Contractor shall, as soon as he receives a notice to proceed, enter the premises and do any and all things necessary to protect the premises from damage by unauthorized persons.
 - B. The Contractor shall protect all existing benchmarks, fences, sidewalks, equipment, floors, poles, pipes, utilities, structures, etc., which are not to be affected by demolition work. The Contractor shall provide any shoring, bracing, tarps, temporary partitions, barricades, and/or other safety devices deemed necessary by the Engineer for the protection of existing facilities. If portions of the project which are intended to remain are damaged, the Contractor shall repair or replace to restore the site to its prior condition.
 - C. The Contractor shall be responsible for removing any demolition debris or mud from any street, pavement, sidewalk, etc. resulting from the demolition work. Any additional cost incurred in cleaning up any litter or mud shall be charged to the Contractor and be deducted from funds due from the work.
 - D. Littering of the site shall not be permitted. All waste materials shall be promptly removed from the site.

3.04 PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC

A. Sidewalks: The Contractor shall be responsible for any damage to the public sidewalks abutting or adjacent to the demolition properties resulting from the execution of the demolition

work. The cost of repair or replacement shall be considered incidental to the work and the Contractor shall obtain all permits and pay any fees.

B. Pedestrian Access: It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to place the necessary minimum six feet high construction site perimeter fencing (with lockable gate(s), warning signs, barricades, and alternate pedestrian access for sidewalks as directed by the Engineer and required by O.S.H.A. and to maintain these items throughout the extent of the demolition work. The cost of these items shall be considered incidental to the work.

3.05 OWNERSHIP OF PROPERTY

A. All salvage becomes the property of the Contractor, but storage of such materials and equipment in the project area will not be permitted except for the duration of the contract.

3.06 DEMOLITION REQUIREMENTS

- A. The work under this contract shall consist of the following:
 - 1. Remove vegetation, improvements, or obstructions interfering with installation of new construction, as shown on the plans. Remove such items from the premises. Removal includes digging out stumps and roots.
 - 2. Performance of all other incidental work necessary to fully complete the contract.
 - 3. All rubbish, debris, equipment, etc., resulting from demolition work shall be removed from the premises during and/or upon the completion of work, leaving the site area acceptable to the satisfaction of the Engineer.
 - 4. The Contractor shall furnish the legal disposal site for all demolition materials. Remove all demolition materials from the demolition site in accordance with federal, state and local regulations.
 - 5. The Contractor shall take appropriate and reasonable precautions to minimize pollution and to prevent particulate matter from becoming airborne or from entering the surrounding bay waters, and providing coverings for open-bodied trucks transporting materials likely to give rise to airborne dusts. The Contractor will monitor the haul road for debris and keep clean.
 - 6. The Contractor shall be responsible for having and maintaining the correct type and class of fire extinguisher on site at all times. When a cutting torch or other equipment that might cause a fire is being used, a fire extinguisher shall be placed close at hand for immediate use. No fires of any kind shall be permitted in the demolition work area or any area of school district property.
 - 7. All construction equipment used in conjunction with this project shall be in good repair and adequately muffled to control noise.
 - 8. Utility Lines: Contractor will disconnect and cap or permanently terminate all appropriate utilities prior to start of demolition.
- B. Structural Condition Not Used

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Excavation, trenching, foundation, embedment, and backfill for installation of utilities, including manholes and other pipeline structures.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. No additional payment will be made for trench excavation, embedment and backfill. Include cost in the unit price for installed underground piping, sewer, conduit, or duct work.
- B. No separate or additional payment will be made for surface water control, ground water control, or for excavation drainage. Include in the unit price for the installed piping, sewer, conduit, or duct work.
- C. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 DEFINITIONS

- A. Pipe Foundation: Suitable and stable native soils that are exposed at the trench subgrade after excavation to depth of bottom of the bedding as shown on the Drawings, or foundation backfill material placed and compacted in over-excavations.
- B. Pipe Bedding: The portion of trench backfill that extends vertically from top of foundation up to a level line at bottom of pipe, and horizontally from one trench sidewall to opposite sidewall.
- C. Haunching: The material placed on either side of pipe from top of bedding up to springline of pipe and horizontally from one trench sidewall to opposite sidewall.
- D. Initial Backfill: The portion of trench backfill that extends vertically from springline of pipe (top of haunching) up to a level line 6 inches above top of pipe, and horizontally from one trench sidewall to opposite sidewall.
- E. Pipe Embedment: The portion of trench backfill that consists of bedding, haunching and initial backfill.
- F. Trench Zone: The portion of trench backfill that extends vertically from top of pipe embedment up to pavement subgrade or up to final grade when not beneath pavement.
- G. Unsuitable Material: Unsuitable soil materials are the following:
 - 1. Materials that are classified as ML, CL-ML, MH, PT, OH and OL according to ASTM D 2487.
 - 2. Materials that cannot be compacted to required density due to gradation, plasticity, or moisture content.
 - 3. Materials that contain large clods, aggregates, stones greater than 4 inches in any dimension, debris, vegetation, waste or any other deleterious materials.
 - 4. Materials that are contaminated with hydrocarbons or other chemical contaminants.
- H. Suitable Material: Suitable soil materials are those meeting specification requirements. Unsuitable soils meeting specification requirements for suitable soils after treatment with lime or cement are considered suitable, unless otherwise indicated.
- I. Backfill: Suitable material meeting specified quality requirements, placed and compacted under controlled conditions.

- J. Ground Water Control Systems: Installations external to trench, such as well points, eductors, or deep wells. Ground water control includes dewatering to lower ground water, intercepting seepage, which would otherwise emerge from side or bottom of trench excavation, and depressurization to prevent failure or heaving of excavation bottom. Refer to Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water.
- K. Surface Water Control: Diversion and drainage of surface water runoff and rainwater away from trench excavation. Rain water and surface water accidentally entering trench shall be controlled and removed as a part of excavation drainage.
- L. Excavation Drainage: Removal of surface and seepage water in trench by sump pumping and using a drainage layer, as defined in ASTM D 2321, placed on the foundation beneath pipe bedding or thickened bedding layer of Class I material.
- M. Trench Conditions are defined with regard to the stability of trench bottom and trench walls of pipe embedment zone. Maintain trench conditions that provide for effective placement and compaction of embedment material directly on or against undisturbed soils or foundation backfill, except where structural trench support is necessary.
 - 1. Dry Stable Trench: Stable and substantially dry trench conditions exist in pipe embedment zone as a result of typically dry soils or achieved by ground water control (dewatering or depressurization) for trenches extending below ground water level.
 - 2. Stable Trench with Seepage: Stable trench in which ground water seepage is controlled by excavation drainage.
 - a. Stable Trench with Seepage in Clayey Soils: Excavation drainage is provided in lieu of or to supplement ground water control systems to control seepage and provide stable trench subgrade in predominately clayey soils prior to bedding placement.
 - b. Stable Wet Trench in Sandy Soils: Excavation drainage is provided in the embedment zone in combination with ground water control in predominately sandy or silty soils.
 - 3. Unstable Trench: Unstable trench conditions exist in the pipe embedment zone if ground water inflow or high water content causes soil disturbances, such as sloughing, sliding, boiling, heaving or loss of density.
- N. Subtrench: Subtrench is a special case of benched excavation. Subtrench excavation below trench shields or shoring installations may be used to allow placement and compaction of foundation or embedment materials directly against undisturbed soils. Depth of a subtrench depends upon trench stability and safety as determined by the Contractor.
- O. Over-Excavation and Backfill: Excavation of subgrade soils with unsatisfactory bearing capacity or composed of otherwise unsuitable materials below top of foundation as shown on Drawings, and backfilled with foundation backfill material.
- P. Foundation Backfill Materials: Natural soil or manufactured aggregate of controlled gradation, and geotextile filter fabrics as required, to control drainage and material separation. Foundation backfill material is placed and compacted as backfill to provide stable support for bedding. Foundation backfill materials may include concrete seal slabs.
- Q. Trench Safety Systems include both Protective Systems and Shoring Systems as defined in Section 01526 - Trench Safety Systems.
- R. Trench Shield (Trench Box): A portable worker safety structure moved along the trench as work proceeds, used as a Protective System and designed to withstand forces imposed on it by cave-in, thereby protecting persons within the trench. Trench shields may be stacked if so designed or placed in a series depending on depth and length of excavation to be protected.

- S. Shoring System: A structure that supports sides of an excavation to maintain stable soil conditions and prevent cave-ins, or to prevent movements of the ground affecting adjacent installations or improvements.
- T. Special Shoring: A shoring system meeting Special Shoring requirements for locations identified on the Drawings.

1.04 SCHEDULING

A. Schedule work so that pipe embedment can be completed on the same day that acceptable foundation has been achieved for each section of pipe installation, manhole, or other structures.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit a written description for information only of the planned typical method of excavation, backfill placement and compaction, including:
 - 1. Sequence of work and coordination of activities.
 - 2. Selected trench widths.
 - 3. Procedures for foundation and embedment placement, and compaction.
 - 4. Procedure for use of trench boxes and other premanufactured systems while assuring specified compaction against undisturbed soil.
 - 5. Procedure for installation of Special Shoring at locations identified on the Drawings.
- C. Submit a ground and surface water control plan in accordance with requirements in this Section and Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water.
- D. Submit backfill material sources and product quality information in accordance with requirements of Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials.
- E. Submit a trench excavation safety program in accordance with requirements of Section 01526 Trench Safety System. Include designs for special shoring, meeting the requirements defined in Paragraph 1.09.
- F. Submit record of location of utilities as installed, referenced to survey control points. Include locations of utilities encountered or rerouted. Give stations, horizontal dimensions, elevations, inverts, and gradients.

1.06 TESTS

- A. Perform backfill material source qualification testing in accordance with requirements of Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials.
- B. Testing and analysis of backfill materials for soil classification and compaction during construction will be performed by an independent laboratory provided by the Owner in accordance with requirements of Section 01410 Testing Laboratory Services and as specified in this Section.

1.07 PROTECTION

A. Protect trees, shrubs, lawns, existing structures, and other permanent objects outside of grading limits and within the grading limits as designated on the Drawings, and in accordance with requirements of Section 01535 - Tree and Plant Protection.

- B. Protect and support above-grade and below-grade utilities which are to remain.
- C. Restore damaged permanent facilities to pre-construction conditions unless replacement or abandonment of facilities is indicated on the Drawings.

1.08 SPECIAL SHORING DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

A. Have Special Shoring designed or selected by the Contractor's Professional Engineer to provide support for the sides of the excavations, including soils and hydrostatic ground water pressures as applicable, and to prevent ground movements affecting adjacent installations or improvements such as structures, pavements and utilities. Special Shoring may be a premanufactured system selected by the Contractor's Professional Engineer to meet the project site requirements based on the manufacturer's standard design.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 EQUIPMENT
 - A. Perform excavation with hydraulic excavator or other equipment suitable for achieving the requirements of this Section.
 - B. Use only hand-operated tamping equipment until a minimum cover of 12 inches is obtained over pipes, conduits, and ducts. Do not use heavy compacting equipment until adequate cover is attained to prevent damage to pipes, conduits, or ducts.
 - C. Use trench shields or other Protective Systems or Shoring Systems, which are designed and operated to achieve placement and compaction of backfill directly against undisturbed native soil.
 - D. Use Special Shoring systems where required which may consist of braced sheeting, braced soldier piles and lagging, slide rail systems, or other systems meeting the Special Shoring design requirements.

2.02 MATERIAL CLASSIFICATIONS

- A. Embedment and Trench Zone Backfill materials: Conform to the classifications and product descriptions of Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials.
- B. Concrete Backfill: Conform to requirements for Class B concrete as specified in Section 03305 Concrete for Utility Construction.
- C. Timber Shoring Left in Place: Untreated oak.

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 STANDARD PRACTICE

- A. Install flexible pipe, including "semi-rigid" pipe, to conform to standard practice described in ASTM D 2321, and as described in this Section. Where an apparent conflict occurs between the standard practice and the requirements of this Section, this Section governs.
- B. Install rigid pipe to conform to standard practice described in ASTM C 12, and as described in this Section. Where an apparent conflict occurs between the standard practice and the requirements of this Section, this Section governs.

3.02 PREPARATION

- A. Establish traffic control to conform to requirements of Section 01570 Traffic Control and Regulation. Maintain barricades and warning lights for streets and intersections where Work is in progress or where affected by the Work, and is considered hazardous to traffic movements.
- B. Perform Work to conform to applicable safety standards and regulations. Employ a trench safety system as specified in Section 01526 Trench Safety Systems.
- C. Immediately notify the agency or company owning any existing utility line, which is damaged, broken, or disturbed. Obtain approval from the Engineer and agency for any repairs or relocations, either temporary or permanent.
- D. Remove existing pavements and structures, including sidewalks and driveways, to conform to requirements of Section 02210 Site Preparation, as applicable.
- E. Install and operate necessary dewatering and surface water control measures to conform with Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water.
- F. Maintain permanent benchmarks, monumentation, and other reference points. Unless otherwise directed in writing, replace those which are damaged or destroyed in accordance with Section 01050 Field Surveying.

3.03 EXCAVATION

- A. Except as otherwise specified or shown on the Drawings, install underground utilities in open cut trenches with vertical sides.
- B. Perform excavation work so that pipe, conduit, and ducts can be installed to depths and alignments shown on the Drawings. Avoid disturbing surrounding ground and existing facilities and improvements.
- C. Determine trench excavation widths using the following schedule as related to pipe outside diameter (O.D.). Maximum trench width shall be the minimum trench width plus 24 inches.

Nominal	Minimum Trench	Maximum Trench
Pipe Size, Inches	Width, Inches	Width, Inches
6" to 30"	O.D. + 12"	O.D. + 16"
36" & Larger	O.D. + 16"	O.D. + 24"

- D. Use sufficient trench width or benches above the embedment zone for installation of well point headers or manifolds and pumps where depth of trench makes it uneconomical or impractical to pump from the surface elevation. Provide sufficient space between shoring cross braces to permit equipment operations and handling of forms, pipe, embedment and backfill, and other materials.
- E. Upon discovery of unknown utilities, badly deteriorated utilities not designated for removal, or concealed conditions, discontinue work at that location. Notify the Engineer and affected agency to obtain instructions before proceeding.

- F. Shoring of Trench Walls.
 - 1. Install Special Shoring in advance of trench excavation or simultaneously with the trench excavation, so that the soils within the full height of the trench excavation walls will remain fully laterally supported at all times.
 - 2. For all types of shoring, support trench walls in the pipe embedment zone throughout the installation. Provide trench wall supports sufficiently tight to prevent washing the trench wall soil out from behind the trench wall support.
 - 3. Unless otherwise directed by the Engineer, leave sheeting driven into or below the pipe embedment zone in place to preclude loss of support of foundation and embedment materials. Leave rangers, walers, and braces in place as long as required to support sheeting, which has been cut off, and the trench wall in the vicinity of the pipe zone.
 - 4. Employ special methods for maintaining the integrity of embedment or foundation material. Before moving supports, place and compact embedment to sufficient depths to provide protection of pipe and stability of trench walls. As supports are moved, finish placing and compacting embedment.
 - 5. If sheeting or other shoring is used below top of the pipe embedment zone, do not disturb pipe foundation and embedment materials by subsequent removal. Maximum thickness of removable sheeting extending into the embedment zone 1 inch. Fill voids left on removal of supports with compacted backfill material.
- G. Use of Trench Shields. When a trench shield (trench box) is used as a worker safety device, the following requirements apply:
 - 1. Make trench excavations of sufficient width to allow shield to be lifted or pulled freely, without damage to the trench sidewalls.
 - 2. Move trench shields so that pipe, and backfill materials, after placement and compaction, are not damaged nor disturbed, nor the degree of compaction reduced.
 - 3. When required, place, spread, and compact pipe foundation and bedding materials beneath the shield. For backfill above bedding, lift the shield as each layer of backfill is placed and spread. Place and compact backfill materials against undisturbed trench walls and foundation.
 - 4. Maintain trench shield in position to allow sampling and testing to be performed in a safe manner.

3.04 HANDLING EXCAVATED MATERIALS

- A. Use only excavated materials which are suitable as defined in this Section and conforming to Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials. Place material suitable for backfilling in stockpiles at a distance from the trench to prevent slides or cave-ins.
- B. When required, provide additional backfill material conforming to requirements of Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials.
- C. Do not place stockpiles of excavated materials on streets and adjacent properties. Maintain site conditions in accordance with Section 01500 Temporary Facilities and Controls.

3.05 GROUND WATER CONTROL

A. Implement ground water control according to Section 01563 - Control of Ground Water and Surface Water. Provide a stable trench to allow installation in accordance with the Specifications.

3.06 TRENCH FOUNDATION

A. Excavate bottom of trench to uniform grade to achieve stable trench conditions and satisfactory compaction of foundation or bedding materials.

3.07 PIPE EMBEDMENT PLACEMENT AND COMPACTION

- A. Immediately prior to placement of embedment materials, the bottoms and sidewalls of trenches shall be free of loose, sloughing, caving, or otherwise unsuitable soil.
- B. Place embedment including bedding, haunching and initial backfill to meet requirements indicated on Drawings.
- C. For pipe installation, manually spread embedment materials around the pipe to provide uniform bearing and side support when compacted. Perform placement and compaction directly against the undisturbed soils in the trench sidewalls, or against sheeting which is to remain in place.
- D. Do not place trench shields or shoring within height of the embedment zone unless means to maintain the density of compacted embedment material are used. If moveable supports are used in embedment zone, lift the supports incrementally to allow placement and compaction of the material against undisturbed soil.
- E. Do not damage coatings or wrappings of pipes during backfilling and compacting operations. When embedding coated or wrapped pipes, do not use crushed stone or other sharp, angular aggregates.
- F. Place haunching material manually around the pipe and compact it to provide uniform bearing and side support. If necessary, hold small-diameter or lightweight pipe in place during compaction of haunch areas and placement beside the pipe with sandbags or other suitable means.
- G. Shovel pipe embedment material in place and compact it using pneumatic tampers in restricted areas, and vibratory-plate compactors or engine-powered jumping jacks in unrestricted areas. Compact each lift before proceeding with placement of the next lift. The type of embedment material shall be as indicated on the Plans.
 - 1. Class I embedment materials.
 - a. Maximum 6-inches compacted lift thickness.
 - b. Systematic compaction by at least two passes of vibrating equipment. Increase compaction effort as necessary to effectively embed the pipe to meet the deflection test criteria.
 - c. Moisture content as determined by Contractor for effective compaction without softening the soil of trench bottom, foundation or trench walls.
 - 2. Class II embedment and cement stabilized sand.
 - a. Maximum 6-inches compacted thickness.
 - b. Compaction by methods determined by Contractor to achieve a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density as determined according to ASTM D 698 for Class II materials and according to ASTM D 558 for cement stabilized materials.
 - c. Moisture content of Class II materials within 3 percent of optimum as determined according to ASTM D 698. Moisture content of cement stabilized sands on the dry side of optimum as determined according to ASTM D 558 but sufficient for effective hydration.

3.08 TRENCH ZONE BACKFILL PLACEMENT AND COMPACTION

- A. Place backfill for pipe or conduits and restore surface as soon as practicable. Leave only the minimum length of trench open as necessary for construction.
- B. Where damage to completed pipe installation work is likely to result from withdrawal of sheeting, leave the sheeting in place. Cut off sheeting 1.5 feet or more above the crown of the pipe. Remove trench supports within 5 feet from the ground surface.

- C. For trench excavations under pavement or less than two feet from back of curb, place trench zone backfill in lifts and compact by methods indicated below. Fully compact each lift before placement of the next lift.
 - . 1. Bank run sand.
 - a. Maximum 9-inches compacted lift thickness.
 - b. Compaction by vibratory equipment to a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density determined according to ASTM D 698.
 - c. Moisture content within 3 percent of optimum determined according to ASTM D 698.
 - 2. Cement-stabilized sand.
 - a. Maximum lift thickness determined by Contractor to achieve uniform placement and required compaction, but not exceeding 24 inches.
 - b. Compaction by vibratory equipment to a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density determined according to ASTM D 558.
 - c. Moisture content on the dry side of optimum determined according to ASTM D 558 but sufficient for cement hydration.
 - 3. Select fill.
 - a. Maximum 6-inches compacted thickness.
 - b. Compaction by equipment providing tamping or kneading impact to a minimum of 95 percent of the maximum dry density determined according to ASTM D 698.
 - c. Moisture content at minus 1 to plus 3 percentage points of optimum determined according to ASTM D 698.
 - 4. Native soil When approved by the Engineer.
 - a. Windrow soil from trench excavation and eliminate clods larger than 6 inches, stones, organic matter and foreign material.
 - b. Maximum 8-inch compacted lift thickness.
 - c. Compaction by equipment providing tamping or kneading impact to the same density and moisture content as the adjacent undisturbed soil.
- D. For trench excavations outside pavements, a random backfill of suitable material may be used in the trench zone.
 - 1. Fat clays (CH) may be used as trench zone backfill outside paved areas at the Contractor's option. If the required density is not achieved, the Contractor, at his option and at no additional cost to the Owner, may use lime stabilization to achieve compaction requirements or use a different suitable material.
 - 2. Maximum 9-inch compacted lift thickness for clayey soils and maximum 12-inch lift thickness for granular soils.
 - 3. Compact to a minimum of 90 percent of the maximum dry density determined according to ASTM D 698, or to same density as adjacent soils.
 - 4. Moisture content as necessary to achieve density.

3.09 MANHOLES, JUNCTION BOXES AND OTHER PIPELINE STRUCTURES

- A. Meet the requirements of adjoining utility installations for backfill of pipeline structures, as shown on the Drawings.
- 3.10 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Test for material source qualifications as defined in Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials.
 - B. Provide excavation and trench safety systems at locations and to depths required for testing and retesting during construction.
 - C. Tests will be performed on a minimum of three different samples of each material type for plasticity characteristics, in accordance with ASTM D 4318, and for gradation characteristics, in accordance with Tex-101-E and Tex-110-E. Additional classification tests will be performed whenever there is a noticeable change in material gradation or plasticity.

- D. At least three tests for moisture-density relationships will be performed initially for backfill materials in accordance with ASTM D 698, and for cement- stabilized sand in accordance with ASTM D 558. Additional moisture-density relationship tests will be performed whenever there is a noticeable change in material gradation or plasticity.
- E. In-place density tests of compacted pipe foundation, embedment and trench zone backfill soil materials will be performed according to ASTM D 1556, or ASTM D 2922 and ASTM D 3017, and at the following frequencies and conditions.
 - 1. A minimum of one test for every 20 cubic yards of compacted embedment and for every 50 cubic yards of compacted trench zone backfill material.
 - 2. A minimum of three density tests for each full shift of Work.
 - 3. Density tests will be distributed among the placement areas. Placement areas are: foundation, bedding, haunching, initial backfill and trench zone.
 - 4. The number of tests will be increased if inspection determines that soil type or moisture content is not uniform or if compacting effort is variable and not considered sufficient to attain uniform density, as specified.
 - 5. Density tests may be performed at various depths below the fill surface by pit excavation. Material in previously placed lifts may therefore be subject to acceptance/rejection.
 - 6. Two verification tests will be performed adjacent to in-place tests showing density less than the acceptance criteria. Placement will be rejected unless both verification tests show acceptable results.
 - 7. Recompacted placement will be retested at the same frequency as the first test series, including verification tests.
- F. Recondition, recompact, and retest at Contractor's expense if tests indicate Work does not meet specified compaction requirements. For hardened soil cement with nonconforming density, core and test for compressive strength at Contractor's expense.
- G. Acceptability of crushed rock compaction will be determined by inspection.
- 3.11 DISPOSAL OF EXCESS MATERIAL
 - A. Dispose of excess materials in accordance with requirements of Section 01564 Waste Material Disposal.

[This page intentionally left blank]

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Material Classifications.
- B. Utility Backfill Materials:
 - 1. Pea gravel.
 - 2. Crushed stone.
 - 3. Crushed concrete.
 - 4. Bank run sand.
 - 5. Select backfill.
 - 6. Random backfill.
- C. Material handling and quality control requirements.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. No payment will be made for backfill material unless specifically listed in Bid Form. Include payment in unit price for applicable utility installation.
- B. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 DEFINITIONS

- A. Backfill: Suitable material meeting specified quality requirements for the designated application as embedment or trench zone backfill.
- B. Embedment: Material placed under controlled conditions within the embedment zone extending vertically upward from top of foundation to an elevation 6 to 12 inches above top of pipe as shown on Plans, and including pipe bedding, haunching and initial backfill.
- C. Trench Zone Backfill: Material meeting specified quality requirements and placed under controlled conditions in the trench zone from top of embedment zone to base course in paved areas or to the surface grading material in unpaved areas.
- D. Foundation: Either suitable soil of the trench bottom, or material placed as backfill of overexcavation for removal and replacement of unsuitable or otherwise unstable soils.
- E. Source: A source selected by the Contractor for supply of embedment or trench zone backfill material. A selected source may be the project excavation, off-site borrow pits, commercial borrow pits, or sand and aggregate production or manufacturing plants.
- F. Refer to Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities for other definitions regarding utility installation by trench construction.

1.04 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit a description of source, material classification and product description, production method, and application of backfill materials.
- C. Submit test results for samples of off-site backfill materials to comply with Paragraph 3.02, Quality Control.

- D. Identify off-site sources for backfill materials at least 14 days ahead of intended use and supply supporting data to document compliance with the plans and specifications to the Engineer for approval.
- E. Before stockpiling materials, submit a copy of temporary easement or approval from landowner for stockpiling backfill material on private property.

1.05 TESTS

- A. Perform tests of sources for backfill material in accordance with Paragraph 3.03A.
- B. Verification tests of backfill materials may be performed by the Owner in accordance with Section 01410 Testing Laboratory Services and in accordance with Paragraph 3.03B.
- C. Random fill obtained from the Project excavation as source is exempt from prequalification requirements by Contractor but must be inspected for unacceptable materials based on ASTM D 2488.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 MATERIAL CLASSIFICATIONS
 - A. Materials for backfill shall be classified for the purpose of quality control in accordance with the Unified Soil Classification Symbols as defined in ASTM D 2487. Material use and application is defined in utility installation specifications and Drawings either by class, as described in Paragraph 2.01B, or by product descriptions, as given in Paragraph 2.02.
 - B. Class Designations Based on Laboratory Testing:
 - 1. Class I: Well graded sands and gravels, gravel-sand mixtures, crushed well graded rock, little or no fines (GW, SW)
 - a. Plasticity Index: Nonplastic
 - b. Gradation: D_{60}/D_{10} greater than 4 percent. Amount passing No. 200 Sieve less than or equal to 5 percent
 - 2. Class II: Poorly graded gravels and sands, silty sands and gravels, little to moderate fines (GM, GP, SP, SM)
 - a. Plasticity Index: Nonplastic to 4
 - b. Gradation (GP, SP): Amount passing No. 200 Sieve less than 5 percent
 - c. Gradation (GM, SM): Amount passing No. 200 Sieve between 12 percent and 50 percent
 - 3. Class III: Clayey gravels and sands, poorly graded mixtures of sand, gravel, and clay (GC, SC)
 - a. Plasticity Index: greater than 7
 - b. Gradation: Amount passing No. 200 Sieve between 12 percent and 50 percent
 - 4. Class IV: Lean clays (CL)
 - a. Plasticity Index: greater than 7
 - b. Liquid Limit: less than 50
 - c. Gradation: Amount passing No. 200 Sieve greater than 50 percent
 - d. Inorganic
 - 5. Use soils with dual class designation according to ASTM D 2487 according to the more restrictive class.

2.02 PRODUCT DESCRIPTIONS

- A. Soils classified as silt (ML), silty clay (CL ML with PI of 4 to 7), elastic silt (MH), organic clay and organic silt (OL, OH), and organic matter (PT) are not acceptable as backfill materials. These soils may be used for site grading and restoration in unimproved areas as approved by the Engineer. Soils classified as fat clay (CH) may be used as backfill materials where allowed by the applicable backfill installation specification. Refer to Section 02227 -Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
- B. Provide backfill material that is free of stones greater than 6 inches, free of roots, waste, debris, trash, organic material, unstable material, non-soil matter, hydrocarbon or other contamination, conforming to the following limits for deleterious materials:
 - 1. Clay lumps: Less than 0.5 percent for Class I, and less than 2.0 percent for Class II, when tested in accordance with ASTM C 142.
 - 2. Lightweight pieces: Less than 5 percent when tested in accordance with ASTM C 123.
 - 3. Organic impurities: No color darker than standard color when tested in accordance with ASTM C 40.
- C. Manufactured materials may be substituted for natural soil or rock products where indicated in the product specification, and approved by the Engineer, provided that the physical property criteria are determined to be satisfactory by testing.
- D. Bank Run Sand: Durable bank run sand classified as SP, SW, or SM by the Unified Soil Classification System (ASTM D 2487) meeting the following requirements:
 - 1. Less than 15 percent passing the number 200 sieve when tested in accordance with ASTM C 136. The amount of clay lumps or balls not exceeding 2 percent.
 - 2. Material passing the number 40 sieve shall meet the following requirements when tested in accordance with ASTM D 4318:
 - a. Liquid limit not exceeding 25.
 - b. Plasticity index not exceeding 7.
- E. Pea Gravel: Durable particles composed of small, smooth, rounded stones or pebbles and graded within the following limits when tested in accordance with ASTM C 136:

Sieve	Percent Passing
1/2"	100
3/8"	85 to 100
No. 4	10 to 30
No. 8	0 to 10
No. 16	0 to 5

- F. Crushed Aggregates: All crushed aggregates consist of durable particles obtained from an approved source and meeting the following requirements:
 - 1. All materials of one product delivered for the same construction activity from a single source.
 - 2. Non-plastic fines.
 - 3. Los Ángeles abrasion test wear not exceeding 40 percent when tested in accordance with ASTM C 131.
 - 4. Gradations, as determined in accordance with TEX-110-E.

Sieve	Percent Passing by Weight for Pipe Embedment By Ranges of Nominal Pipe Sizes		
	>15"	15" - 8"	<8"
1"	95 - 100	100	-
3/4"	60 - 90	90 - 100	100
1/2"	25 - 60	-	90 – 100
3/8"	-	20 - 55	40 – 70
No. 4	0 - 5	0 - 10	0 – 15
No. 8	-	0 - 5	0 – 5

- 5. Crushed stone: Produced from oversize quarried aggregate, sized by crushing from a naturally occurring single source. Crushed gravel or uncrushed gravel are not acceptable material for utility embedment.
- 6. Crushed Concrete: Crushed concrete is an acceptable substitute for crushed stone as utility backfill. Gradation and quality control test requirements are the same as crushed stone. Provide crushed concrete produced from normal weight concrete of uniform quality; containing particles of aggregate and cement material, free from other substances such as asphalt, base course material, reinforcing steel fragments, soil, debris, or deteriorated concrete fragments.
- G. Select Backfill: Class III clayey gravel or sand or Class IV lean clay with a plasticity index between 7 and 20 or clayey soils treated with lime in accordance with Section 02571 Pavement Repair and Resurfacing, to meet plasticity criteria.
- H. Random Backfill: Any suitable soil or mixture of soils within Classes I, II, III and IV; or fat clay (CH) where allowed by the applicable backfill installation specification. Refer to Section 02227 - Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
- I. Cement Stabilized Sand: Conform to requirements of Section 02252 Cement Stabilized Sand.
- J. Concrete Backfill: Conform to Class B concrete as specified in Section 03305 Concrete for Utility Construction.

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 SOURCES

- A. Use of material encountered in the trench excavations is acceptable, provided applicable specification requirements are satisfied. If excavation material is not acceptable, provide from other source.
- B. Obtain approval for each material source by the Engineer before delivery is started. If sources previously approved do not produce uniform and satisfactory products, furnish materials from other approved sources. All materials may be subjected to inspection or additional verification testing after delivery. Materials which do not meet the requirements of the specifications will be rejected. Do not use material, which, after approval, has become unsuitable for use due to segregation, mixing with other materials, or by contamination. Once a material is approved by the Engineer, sampling and testing required to change to a different material will be at the Contractor's expense.
- C. Bank run sand, select backfill, and random backfill, if available in the Project excavation, may be obtained by selective excavation and acceptance testing. Obtain additional quantities of these materials and other materials required to complete the work from off-site sources.
- D. The Owner does not represent or guarantee that any soil found in the excavation work will be suitable and acceptable as backfill material.

3.02 MATERIAL HANDLING

- A. When backfill material is obtained from either a commercial or non-commercial borrow pit, have that pit opened to expose the vertical faces of the various strata of acceptable material to be used. Excavate the material by vertical cuts extending through the exposed strata to achieve uniformity in the product.
- B. Establish temporary stockpile locations for practical material handling and control, and verification testing by the Contractor if required by the Engineer in advance of final placement. Obtain approval from landowner for storage of backfill material on adjacent private property.
- C. When stockpiling backfill material near the Project site, use appropriate covers to eliminate blowing of materials into adjacent areas and prevent runoff containing sediments from entering the drainage system.
- D. Place stockpiles in layers to avoid segregation of processed materials. Load material by making successive vertical cuts through entire depth of stockpile.

3.03 MATERIAL QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Ensure that material selected, produced and delivered to the Project meets applicable specifications and is of sufficient uniform properties to allow practical construction and quality control. Responsibilities include:
 - Source or Supplier Qualification. Perform testing, or obtain representative tests by suppliers, for selection of material sources and products. Provide test results for a minimum of three samples for each source and material type. Test samples of processed materials from current production representing material to be delivered. Tests shall verify that the materials meet specification requirements. Repeat qualification test procedures each time the source characteristic changes or there is a planned change in source location or supplier. Qualification tests shall include, as applicable:

- a. Gradation. Complete sieve analyses shall be reported regardless of the specified control sieves. The range of sieves shall be from the largest particle through the No. 200 sieve.
- b. Plasticity.
- c. Los Angeles abrasion.
- d. Clay lumps.
- e. Light weight pieces.
- f. Organic impurities.
- 2. Production Testing. Establish a program to provide assurance that backfill materials delivered from the sources and placed in the Work meet applicable specification requirements. Report results to the Engineer.
- 3. If required, the Contractor will assist the Engineer in obtaining material samples for verification testing at the source or at the production plant.
- 4. Notify the Engineer in the field when non-conforming material is detected.
- B. Quality Control
 - 1. The Engineer may sample and test backfill at:
 - a. Sources including borrow pits, production plants and Contractor's designated off-site stockpiles.
 - b. On-site stockpiles.
 - c. Materials placed in the Work.
 - 2. The Engineer may resample material at any stage of work or location if changes in characteristics are apparent.
 - 3. The Engineer will notify Contractor at the Project site about non-conforming materials and will, as appropriate, resample materials to verify results.
- C. Tolerances

The following tolerances apply to production quality control testing.

- 1. Embedment Material and Select Backfill: The Engineer may accept material provided that not more than one out of the most recent five consecutive tests are out of the specification limits for:
 - a. Gradation: Not more than 5 percentage points on any individual sieve.
 - b. Plasticity: Not more than 2 percentage points.
- 2. Trench Zone Backfill Material: Except for select and random backfill, the Engineer may accept the material provided that not more than one out of the most recent three consecutive tests are out of the specification limits for:
 - a. Gradation: Not more than 8 percentage points on any individual sieve.
 - b. Plasticity: Not more than 5 percentage points.
- 3. Select and Random Backfill: No quantified tolerances. Remove non-conforming material identifiable by visual-manual procedure.

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Fiberglass sanitary sewer manholes.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. Measurement and payment for manholes is on a unit price basis for each manhole installed as listed on the Unit Price Bid. Depth is measured from top of cover to sewer invert.
- B. Measurement and payment for shallow depth manholes is on a unit price basis for each manhole installed. Shallow manholes have a depth of 4 feet or less measured from the top of cover to sewer invert.
- C. Measurement and payment for extra depth manholes is on a unit price basis per vertical foot for each foot of depth greater than 6 feet or on a unit price for each manhole based on the depth of the manhole. Depth is measured from top of cover to sewer invert.
- D. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit manufacturer's data and details of following items for approval:
 - 1. Design and fabrication details of fiberglass manhole components.
 - 2. Manufacturer's installation instruction for fiberglass manholes.
 - 3. Frames, grates, rings, and covers.
 - 4. Materials to be used in fabricating drop connections.
 - 5. Materials to be used for pipe connections at manhole walls.
 - 6. Materials to be used for stubs and stub plugs, if required.
 - 7. Plugs to be used for sanitary sewer hydrostatic testing.
 - 8. Manufacturer's data for pre-mix (bag) concrete if used for channel inverts and benches.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 FIBERGLASS MANHOLES AND BASE SECTIONS
 - A. Use prefabricated fiberglass manholes which conform in shape, size, dimensions, and details shown on Drawings. Unless modified by the Drawings, use manhole sections conforming to ASTM D 3753.
 - B. Mark date of manufacture and name or trademark of manufacturer in 1-inch-high stenciled letters on inside of barrel.
 - C. Unless a larger size is required, use a 48-inch-diameter barrel for fiberglass manholes. Make wall section of the appropriate thickness for depth of manhole according to ASTM D 3753, but not less than 0.48 inches in thickness.
 - D. Provide a fabricated reducer bonded at the factory to form one continuous unit at the top of the manhole barrel to accept concrete grade rings and cast iron frame and cover. For the reducer, use an acceptable design with sufficient strength to safely support H-20 loading.
 - E. Manhole base shall be a precast concrete base conforming to Section 02601 Precast Concrete Manholes, unless a cast-in-place base is required by the Drawings. For precast

manhole bases, use an approved steel-reinforced design of sufficient strength to withstand imposed loads. Form the base so that the joint with the fiberglass manhole barrel, as shown on the Drawings, is sealed against leakage.

2.02 CONCRETE

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 03305 Concrete for Utility Construction.
- B. Channel Inverts: Concrete for inverts not integrally formed with manhole base shall be either 5 sack premix (bag) concrete, with a minimum compressive strength of 4000 psi, or Class A concrete.
- C. Cement Stabilized Sand Foundation: Provide cement stabilized sand foundation under base section in lieu of foundation slab, where allowed, conforming to requirements of Section 02252 Cement Stabilized Sand.
- D. Concrete Foundation: Use Class A concrete with minimum compressive strength of 4000 psi for cast-in-place base and for foundation slab under manhole base section where indicated on Drawings.
- 2.03 REINFORCING STEEL
 - A. Reinforcing steel shall conform to requirements of Section 03305 Concrete for Utility Construction.
- 2.04 MORTAR
 - A. Conform to requirements of ASTM C 270, Type S using portland cement.
- 2.05 MISCELLANEOUS METALS
 - A. Provide cast-iron frames, rings, and covers conforming to requirements of Section 02603 Frames, Grates, Rings, and Covers.
- 2.06 DROP CONNECTIONS AND STUBS
 - A. Drop connections and stubs shall conform to the same pipe material requirements used in the main pipe, unless otherwise indicated on the Drawings.
- 2.07 PIPE CONNECTIONS FOR SANITARY SEWERS
 - A. Use resilient connectors conforming to requirements of ASTM C 923 for connection to precast concrete base. Metallic mechanical devices as defined in ASTM C 923 shall be made of the following materials:
 - 1. External clamps: Type 316 stainless steel.
 - 2. Internal expandable clamps on standard manholes: Type 304 stainless steel, 11-gauge minimum.
 - 3. Internal expandable clamps on corrosion-resistant manholes:
 - a. Type 316 stainless steel, 11-gauge minimum, or
 - b. Type 304 stainless steel, 18-gauge minimum, coated with minimum 16-mil fusionbonded epoxy conforming to AWWA C 213.
 - B. For drop pipes, provide a manufactured connector, such as Insert-a-Tee or equal, which provides a positive seal between the pipe and the fiberglass manhole wall.

- C. For cast-in-place concrete manhole base, use sealant material specified in this Section at locations and to dimensions shown on the Drawings.
- 2.08 SEALANT MATERIALS
 - A. Water Swelling Sealant: Provide and install in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.
- 2.09 BACKFILL MATERIALS
 - A. Backfill materials shall conform to the requirements of Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
- 2.10 NON-SHRINK GROUT
 - A. Non-shrink grout shall be prepackaged, inorganic, flowable, non-gas-liberating, nonmetallic, cement-based grout requiring only the addition of water. It shall meet the requirements of ASTM C 1107 and shall have a minimum 28-day compressive strength of 7000 psi.
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 EXAMINATION
 - A. Verify lines and grades are correct.
 - B. Determine if the subgrade, when scarified and recompacted, can be compacted to 95 percent of maximum Standard Proctor Density according to ASTM D 698 prior to placement of foundation material and base section. If it cannot be compacted to that density, the subgrade shall be moisture conditioned until that density can be reached or shall be treated as an unstable subgrade.
 - C. Do not build sanitary sewer manholes in ditches, swales, or drainage paths unless directed by the Engineer.
 - 3.02 PLACEMENT
 - A. Install fiberglass manholes to conform to locations and dimensions shown on Drawings.
 - B. Place manholes at points of change of alignment, grade, size, pipe intersections, and end of sewer.
 - 3.03 MANHOLE BASE SECTIONS AND FOUNDATIONS
 - A. Place precast base on 12-inch-thick (minimum) foundation of cement stabilized sand; or a concrete foundation slab. Compact cement-sand in accordance with requirements of Section 02252- Cement Stabilized Sand.
 - B. Unstable Subgrade Treatment: When unstable subgrade is identified, the subgrade will be examined by the Engineer to determine if the subgrade has heaved upwards after being excavated. If heaving has not occurred, the subgrade shall be over-excavated to allow for a 24-inch thick layer of crushed stone wrapped in filter fabric as the foundation material under the manhole base. If there is evidence of heaving, a pile-supported concrete foundation, as detailed on the Drawings, shall be provided under the manhole base, when indicated by the Engineer.

3.04 CAST-IN-PLACE FOUNDATION

A. Where the Drawings indicate a cast-in-place manhole base, place concrete as shown on the Drawings on a 4-inch (minimum) layer of either cement stabilized sand or seal slab. When unstable subgrade is identified, over-excavate the subgrade to allow for placement of a 12-inch-thick layer of crushed stone wrapped in filter fabric.

3.05 MANHOLE BARREL

- A. Lower manhole barrel onto base section. Seal with manufacturer's gasket or approved sealant.
- B. Where a cast-in-place base is used, support the manhole barrel in place and brace it from the sides of the excavation to prevent any movement of the barrel during concrete placement and while concrete is setting. Provide a minimum clearance between the reinforcing steel and the manhole barrel bottom as shown on the Drawings. Do not support the manhole barrel on reinforcing steel. Place a bead of water swelling sealant around the inside of the barrel near the bottom, as shown on the Drawings, to form a seal.

3.06 PIPE CONNECTIONS AT PRECAST MANHOLE BASE

- A. Install approved resilient connectors at each pipe entering and exiting sanitary sewer manholes in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- B. Ensure that no concrete, cement stabilized sand, fill, or other rigid material is allowed to enter the space between the pipe and the edge of the wall opening at and around the resilient connector on either the interior or exterior of the manhole. If necessary, fill the space with a compressible material to guarantee the full flexibility provided by the resilient connector.
- C. Test connection for watertight seal before backfilling.

3.07 PIPE CONNECTIONS AT CAST-IN PLACE BASE

- A. Cut the manhole barrel for pipe penetrations following the curvature of the pipe and with a maximum of 1-inch clearance. Seal cut edges with resin. The hole may be circular or a cutout with a semi-circular top which extends to the bottom of the barrel.
- B. Place a continuous bead of water swelling sealant, as shown on the Drawings, around pipe penetrations on the interior of the manhole barrel. Roughen the surface of the fiberglass prior to placement to improve the bond with the sealant. Allow the sealant to completely cure before placing concrete against it.
- C. Extend pipe entering the manhole at least 8 inches into the manhole. Fit the pipes with a neoprene waterstop gasket seal placed tightly around the pipe using a stainless steel clamp. Alternately, pipes may have a continuous bead of water swelling sealant, as detailed on the Drawings, placed around the pipe circumference.
- D. When forming the invert surface in the bottom of the manhole, mound the concrete around the pipe penetrations so that the water swelling sealant beads and neoprene waterstop gasket have a minimum 2 inches of concrete cover.
- E. Test connection for watertight seal before backfilling.

3.08 INVERTS FOR SANITARY SEWERS

- A. Construct invert channels to provide a smooth flow transition waterway with no disruption of flow at pipe-to-manhole connections. Conform to following criteria:
 - 1. Slope of invert bench: 1-inch per foot minimum; 1-1/2 inch per foot maximum.
 - 2. Depth of bench to invert:
 - a. Pipe smaller than 15 inches: 1/2 largest pipe diameter.
 - b. Pipe 15 to 24 inches: 3/4 largest pipe diameter.
 - c. Pipe larger than 24 inches: equal to the largest pipe diameter.
 - 3. Invert slope through manhole: 0.10-foot drop across manhole with smooth transition of invert through manhole unless otherwise indicated on Drawings.
- B. Form invert channels with concrete if not integral with manhole base section. For direction changes of mains, construct channels tangent to mains with maximum possible radius of curvature. Provide curves for side inlets.

3.09 DROP CONNECTIONS FOR SANITARY SEWERS

- A. Backfill drop assembly to form a solid mass with cement stabilized sand or Class A concrete. Extend cement stabilized sand or concrete outside of bells a minimum 4-inches.
- B. Install a drop connection when a sewer line enters a manhole higher than 30-inches above the invert of a manhole.
- C. At drop pipe connections through the fiberglass barrel, cut a circular hole sized to the requirements of the manufactured connector. Seal the cut edge with resin. Install the watertight connector according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

3.10 STUBS FOR FUTURE CONNECTIONS

- A. Where future connections are indicated on the Drawings, install resilient connectors and pipe stubs with approved watertight plugs in manholes.
- B. At cast-in-place base, where future connections are indicated on the Drawings, install a section of pipe extending no further than 12 inches from the edge of the foundation, ending in a bell, and provided with a rubber-gasketed watertight plug.
- 3.11 ADJUSTMENT RINGS AND FRAME
 - A. Install concrete grade rings for height adjustment, as required. Construct chimney on flat shoulder. Do not load manhole except on load bearing shoulder of manhole. Adjustment height is limited to 18 inches. Do not use brick for adjustment of manholes to grade.
 - B. Set cast iron frame on top of cone or adjustment rings using water swelling sealant materials and adjust elevation of casting cover to be 3/8 inch below pavement surface. For manholes in unpaved areas, set the top frame a minimum of 6 inches above existing ground line unless otherwise indicated on Drawings.

3.12 BACKFILL

A. Place and compact backfill material in the area of excavation surrounding manholes in accordance with requirements of Section 02227- Excavation and Backfill for Utilities. Use embedment zone backfill material, as specified for the adjacent utilities, from manhole foundation up to an elevation 12-inches over each pipe connected to the manhole. Provide trench zone backfill, as specified for the adjacent utilities, above the embedment zone backfill.

B. In unpaved areas, provide positive drainage away from manhole frame to natural grade.

3.13 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

A. Conduct leakage testing of manholes in accordance with requirements of Section 02732 - Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers.

3.14 PROTECTION

A. Protect manholes from damage until work has been finally accepted. Repair damage to manholes at no additional cost to Owner.

FRAMES, GRATES, RINGS, AND COVERS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Iron castings for manhole frames and covers, inlet frames and grates, catch basin frames and grates, meter vault frames and covers, adjustment rings and extensions.
- B. Ring grates.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No payment will be made for frames, grates, rings, covers, and seals under this Section. Include payment in unit price for related item.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Submit product data in accordance with Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Provide copies of manufacturer's specifications, load tables, dimension diagrams, anchor details, and installation instructions.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 CASTINGS
 - A. Castings for frames, grates, rings and covers shall conform to ASTM A48, Class 30. Provide locking covers if indicated on Drawings.
 - B. Castings shall be capable of withstanding the application of an AASHTO H-20 loading without permanent deformation.
 - C. Fabricate castings to conform to the shapes, dimensions, and with wording or logos shown on the Drawings.
 - D. Castings shall be clean, free from blowholes and other surface imperfections. Cast holes in covers shall be clean and symmetrical, free of plugs.

2.02 BEARING SURFACES

A. Machine bearing surfaces between covers or grates and their respective frames so that even bearing is provided for any position in which the casting may be seated in the frame.

2.03 SPECIAL FRAMES AND COVERS

A. Where indicated on the Drawings, provide watertight manhole frames and covers with a minimum of four bolts and a gasket designed to seal cover to frame.

2.04 FABRICATED RING GRATES

- A. Ring grates shall be fabricated from reinforcing steel conforming to ASTM A615.
- B. Welds connecting the bars shall conform to AWS D12.1.

FRAMES, GRATES, RINGS, AND COVERS

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 INSTALLATION

- A. Install castings according to approved shop drawings, instructions given in related specifications, and applicable directions from the manufacturer's printed materials.
- B. Set castings accurately at required locations to proper alignment and elevation. Keep castings plumb, level, true and free of rack. Measure location accurately from established lines and grades. Brace or anchor frames temporarily in formwork until permanently set.

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Ductile iron pipe and fittings for water mains and wastewater force mains.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No separate payment will be made for ductile iron pipe and fittings under this Section. Include cost in unit price for water mains and force mains.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Submit shop drawings showing design of new pipe and fittings indicating alignment and grade, laying dimensions, fabrication, fitting, flange, and special details. Show station numbers for pipe and fittings corresponding to Drawings. Production of pipe and fittings prior to review by the Engineer is at Contractor's risk.
- 1.04 QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Provide manufacturer's certifications that all ductile iron pipe and fittings meet provisions of this Section and have been hydrostatically tested at factory and meet requirements of ANSI A21.51.
 - B. Provide certifications that all pipe joints have been tested and meet requirements of ANSI A21.11.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 DUCTILE IRON PIPE
 - A. Ductile iron pipe barrels: ANSI A21.15, ANSI A21.50 or ANSI A21.51; bear mark of Underwriters' Laboratories approval; pressure classes as shown on the Drawings.
 - B. Provide pipe sections in standard lengths, not less than 18 feet long, except for special fittings and closure sections as indicated on shop drawings.
 - 2.02 JOINTS
 - A. Joint types: ANSI A21.11 mechanical joint or ANSI A21.15 flanged end. For bolted joints, bolts shall conform to requirements of AWWA C111.
 - B. Where restrained joints for buried service are required by Drawings, provide one of the following, or equal:
 - 1. Super-Lock Joint by Clow Corporation.
 - 2. Flex-Ring or Lok-Ring by American Cast Iron Pipe Company.
 - 3. TR-Flex Joint by U.S. Pipe and Foundry Company.
 - C. Threaded or grooved type joints which reduce pipe wall thickness below minimum required are not acceptable.

- D. Provide for restrained joints designed to meet test pressures required under Section 02676-Hydrostatic Testing of Pipelines or Section 02731 - Sanitary Sewage Force Mains, as applicable.
- E. Where ductile iron water main is cathodically protected from corrosion, bond rubber gasketed joints as shown on Drawings to provide electrical continuity along entire pipeline, except where insulating flanges are required by Drawings.

2.03 GASKETS

- A. Furnish, when no contaminant is identified, plain rubber (SBR) gasket material; for flanged joints 1/8-inch thick gasket in accordance with ANSI A21.15.
- B. Pipes to be installed in potentially contaminated areas, especially where free product is found near the elevation of the proposed pipeline, shall have the following gasket materials for the noted contaminants:

Contaminant	Gasket Material Required	
Petroleum (diesel, gasoline)	Nitrile Rubber	
Other contaminants	As recommended by the pipe manufacture	

2.04 FITTINGS

- A. Use fittings of same size as pipe. Reducers are not permitted to facilitate an off-size fitting. Reducing bushings are also prohibited. Make reductions in piping size by reducing fittings. Line and coat fittings as specified for pipe they serve.
- B. Push-on Fittings will not be allowed.
- C. Flanged Fittings: ANSI A21.10; ANSI B16.1 cast or ductile iron. Flanges: ANSI B16.1, Class 125; pressure rated at 250 psig.
- D. Mechanical Joint Fittings: ANSI A21.10 (AWWA C110); pressure rated at 250 psi.
- E. Ductile Iron Compact Fittings for Water Mains: ANSI A21.53 (AWWA C153); 4-inch through 12-inch diameter; cement-mortar lining; wrap in 8-mil polyethylene film.
- 2.05 COATINGS AND LININGS
 - A. Water Main Interiors: ANSI A21.4, cement lined with seal coat.
 - B. Sanitary Sewer and Force Main Interiors:
 - 1. Preparation: Commercial blast cleaning conforming to SSPC-SP6.
 - 2. Liner thickness: Nominal 40 mils, minimum 35 mils, for pipe barrel interior; minimum 6 10 mils at gasket groove and outside spigot end to 6-inches back from end.
 - 3. Testing: ASTM G62, Method B for voids and holidays; provide written certification.
 - 4. Acceptable Lining Materials:
 - a. Virgin polyethylene conforming to ASTM D1248, with inert fillers and carbon black to resist ultraviolet degradation during storage heat bonded to interior surface of pipe and fittings; "Polyline" by American Cast Iron Pipe Company; or equal.
 - b. Polyurethane: Corro-pipe II by Madison Chemicals.
 - c. Ceramic Epoxy: Protecto-401 by Enduron Protective Coatings.

DUCTILE IRON PIPE AND FITTINGS

- C. Sanitary Sewer Point Repair Pipe: For pipes which will be lined with high density polyethylene liner pipe or cured-in-place liner, provide cement-lined with seal coat in accordance with ANSI A21.4. For pipes which will not be provided with named liner, provide pipe as specified in Paragraph 2.05B.
- D. Exterior: Prime coat and outside asphaltic coating conforming to ANSI A21.10, ANSI A21.15, or ANSI A21.51 for pipe and fittings in open cut excavation and in casings.
- E. Polyethylene Wrap: For buried water lines and sanitary sewers, including point repairs, provide polyethylene wrap unless otherwise specified or shown. Provide Polyethylene Wrap for all buried ductile iron pipe, including polyurethane coated pipe. Conform to requirements of Section 02630 Polyethylene Wrap.
- F. For flanged joints in buried service, provide petrolatum wrapping system, Denso, or equal, for the complete joint and all alloy steel fasteners. Alternatively, provide bolts made of Type 304 Stainless Steel
- G. Pipe to be installed in potentially contaminated areas shall have coatings and linings recommended by the manufacturer as resistant to the contaminants.
- 2.06 MANUFACTURERS
 - A. Pre-approved manufacturers of ductile iron are American Cast Iron Pipe Co., McWane Cast Iron Pipe Co., and U. S. Pipe and Foundry Co.
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 INSTALLATION
 - A. Conform to installation requirements of Sections 02664 Water Mains, 02730 Gravity Sanitary Sewers, and 02731 - Sanitary Sewage Force Mains, except as modified in this Section.
 - B. Install in accordance with AWWA C600 and manufacturer's recommendations.
 - C. Install all ductile iron pipe in polyethylene wrap, unless cathodic protection is provided. Do not use polyethylene wrap with a cathodic protection system.

[This page intentionally left blank]

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. High Density Polyethylene (HDPE) pipe for gravity sewers and drains, including fittings.
 - B. HDPE pipe for sanitary sewer force mains, including fittings.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No separate payment will be made for HDPE pipe under this Section. Include cost in unit prices for gravity sanitary sewers and storm sewers.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Submit shop drawings showing design of pipe and fittings indicating alignment and grade, laying dimensions, fabrication, fittings, flanges, and special details.
- 1.04 QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Provide the manufacturer's certificate of conformance to the Specifications.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 APPROVED AND PREAPPROVED PRODUCTS

A. Provide HDPE pipe as follows:

WALL CONSTRUCTION	MANUFACTURER	PRODUCT OPTIONS	ASTM DESIGNATION	PIPE STIFFNESS (MIN)	DIAMETER RANGE (INCHES)
Solid Wall	Provide Submittals	Approved	F714	72 psi or as shown on Bid Sheet or Drawings	8 to 48

B. Solid wall pipe shall be produced with plain end construction for heat joining (butt fusion) conforming to ASTM D2657. Utilize controlled temperatures and pressures for joining to produce a fused leak-free joint.

2.02 MATERIALS

- A. Pipe and Fittings: High density, high molecular weight polyethylene pipe material meeting the requirements of Type III, Class C, Category 5, Grade P34, as defined in ASTM D1248. Material meeting the requirements of cell classification in accordance with ASTM D3350 are also suitable for making pipe products under these specifications.
- B. Gaskets
 - 1. Use gaskets meeting requirements of ASTM F477. Use gasket molded into a circular form or extruded to the proper section and then spliced into circular form. When no contaminant is identified, use gaskets of a properly cured, high-grade elastomeric

compound. The basic polymer shall be natural rubber, synthetic elastomer, or a blend of both.

2. Pipes to be installed in potentially contaminated areas, especially where free product is found near the elevation of the proposed sewer, shall have the following gasket materials for the noted contaminants:

CONTAMINANT	GASKET MATERIAL REQUIRED				
Petroleum (diesel, gasoline)	Nitrile Rubber				
Other Contaminants	As recommended by the pipe manufacturer				

C. Lubricant. Use a lubricant for assembly of gasketed joints which has no detrimental effect on the gasket or on the pipe, in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations.

2.03 WORKMANSHIP

- A. Furnish pipe and fittings that are homogeneous throughout and free from visible cracks, holes, foreign inclusions, or other injurious defects. Provide pipe as uniform as commercially practical in color, opacity, density, and other physical properties.
- 2.04 INSPECTIONS
 - A. The Engineer reserves the right to inspect pipes or witness pipe manufacturing. Such inspection shall in no way relieve the manufacturer of the responsibilities to provide products that comply with the applicable standards and these Specifications.
 - B. Manufacturer's Notification to Customer. Should the Engineer wish to witness the manufacture of specific pipes, the manufacturer shall provide the Engineer with adequate advance notice of when and where the production of those specific pipes will take place.
 - C. Failure to Inspect. Approval of the products or tests is not implied by the Engineer's decision not to inspect the manufacturing, testing, or finished pipes.

2.05 TEST METHODS

- A. Conditioning. Conditioning of samples prior to and during tests are subject to approval by the Engineer. When referee tests are required, condition the specimens in accordance with Procedure A in ASTM D618 at 73.4 degrees F plus or minus 3.6 degrees F (23 degrees C plus or minus 2 degrees C) and 50 percent relative humidity plus or minus 5 percent relative humidity for not less than 40 hours prior to test. Conduct tests under the same conditions of temperature and humidity unless otherwise specified.
- B. Flattening. Flatten three specimens of pipe, prepared in accordance with Paragraph 2.05A, in a suitable press until the internal diameter has been reduced to 40 percent of the original inside diameter of the pipe. The rate of loading shall be uniform and at 2-inches per minute. The test specimens, when examined under normal light and with the unaided eye, shall show no evidence of splitting, cracking, breaking, or separation of the pipe walls or bracing profiles.
- C. Joint Tightness. Test for joint tightness in accordance with ASTM D3212, except replace the shear load transfer bars and supports with 6-inch-wide support blocks that can be either flat or contoured to conform to the pipe's outer contour.
- D. Purpose of Tests. The flattening and the joint tightness tests are not intended to be routine quality control tests, but rather to qualify pipe to a specified level of performance.

2.06 MARKING

- A. Mark each standard and random length of pipe in compliance with these Specifications with the following information:
 - 1. Pipe size
 - 2. Pipe class
 - 3. Production code
 - 4. Material designation

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 INSTALLATION

- A. Conform to requirements of the following Sections:
 - 1. Section 02720 Storm Sewers
 - 2. Section 02730 Gravity Sanitary Sewers
- B. Install pipe in accordance with the manufacturer's recommended installation procedures.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Polyvinyl chloride pressure pipe for water distribution in nominal diameters 4 inches through 16 inches.
- B. Polyvinyl chloride sewer pipe for gravity sanitary sewers in nominal diameters 4 inches through 48 inches.
- C. Polyvinyl chloride pressure pipe for gravity sanitary sewers and force mains in nominal diameters 4 inches through 36 inches.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

A. No separate payment will be made for PVC pipe under this section. Include cost in unit price for water mains, gravity sanitary sewer, and force mains.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit shop drawings showing design of new pipe and fittings indicating alignment and grade, laying dimensions, fabrication, fittings, flanges, and special details.

1.04 QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Submit manufacturer's certifications that PVC pipe and fittings meet requirements of this Section and AWWA C 900 or AWWA C 905 for pressure pipe applications, or the appropriate ASTM standard specified for gravity sewer pipe.
- B. Submit manufacturer's certification that PVC pressure pipe has been hydrostatically tested at the factory in accordance with AWWA C 900 or AWWA C 905 and this Section.
- C. When foreign manufactured material is proposed for use, have material tested for conformance to applicable ASTM requirements by certified independent testing laboratory located in United States. Certification from any other source is not acceptable. Furnish copies of test reports to the Engineer for review. Cost of testing shall be borne by Contractor or Supplier.

PART2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MATERIAL

- A. Use PVC compounds in the manufacture of pipe that contain no ingredient in an amount that has been demonstrated to migrate into water in quantities considered to be toxic.
- B. Furnish PVC pressure pipe manufactured from Class 12454-A or Class 12454-B virgin PVC compounds as defined in ASTM D 1784. Use compounds qualifying for a rating of 4000 psi for water at 73.4 degrees F per requirements of PPI TR3. Provide pipe which is homogeneous throughout, free of voids, cracks, inclusions, and other defects, uniform as commercially practical in color, density, and other physical properties. Deliver pipe with surfaces free from nicks and scratches with joining surfaces of spigots and joints free from gouges and imperfections which could cause leakage.

- C. For PVC pressure pipe used for water mains, provide self-extinguishing PVC pipe that bears Underwriters' Laboratories mark of approval and is acceptable without penalty to Texas State Fire Insurance Committee for use in fire protection lines.
- D. Gaskets:
 - 1. Gaskets shall meet the requirements of ASTM F 477. Use elastomeric factory-installed gaskets to make joints flexible and watertight.
 - 2. Pipes to be installed in potentially contaminated areas, especially where free product is found near the elevation of the proposed sewer, shall have the following gasket materials for the noted contaminants.

CONTAMINANT	GASKET MATERIAL REQUIRED
Petroleum (diesel, gasoline)	Nitrile Rubber
Other contaminants	As recommended by the pipe manufacturer

E. Lubricant for rubber-gasketed joints: Water soluble, non-toxic, non-objectionable in taste and odor imparted to fluid, non-supporting of bacteria growth, having no deteriorating effect on PVC or rubber gaskets.

2.02 WATER PIPE

- A. Pipe 4-inch through 12-inch: AWWA C 900, Class 150, DR 18; nominal 20-foot lengths; cast iron equivalent outside diameters.
- B. Pipe 16-inch: AWWA C 905; Class 235; DR 18; nominal 20-foot lengths; cast iron equivalent outside diameter.
- C. Joints: ASTM D 3139; push-on type joints in integral bell or separate sleeve couplings. Do not use socket type or solvent weld type joints.
- D. Make curves and bends by deflecting the joints. Do not exceed 1/2 maximum deflection recommended by the pipe manufacturer. Submit details of other methods of providing curves and bends for review by the Engineer.
- E. Hydrostatic Test: AWWA C900, AWWA C905, ANSI A21.10 (AWWA C110); at point of manufacture; submit manufacturer's written certification.

2.03 BENDS AND FITTINGS FOR PVC PRESSURE PIPE

- A. Bends and Fittings: ANSI A21.10/AWWA C110 or C153, ductile iron; ANSI A21.11/AWWA C111, mechanical joint fittings; minimum 250 psi pressure rating.
- B. All bolts on mechanical joint fittings shall be coated with Texaco rust proofing compound.
- C. Fittings shall be wrapped in 8-mil polyethylene film conforming to ANSI A21.5/AWWA C105.

2.04 GRAVITY SANITARY SEWER PIPE

A. PVC gravity sanitary sewer pipe shall be in accordance with the provisions in the following table:

WALL CONSTRUCTION	MANUFACTURER	Product Options	ASTM Designation	SDR (MAX.)/ Stiffness (Min.)	Diameter Size Range
Solid	J-M Pipe CertainTeed Can-Tex	Approved	D3034 SDR 26 / PS 115		6" to 10"
	Carlon Diamond	Approved	D3034	SDR 35 / PS 46	12" & 15"
			F679	SDR 35 / PS 46	18" to 27"
		Approved	AWWA C900	DR 18 / N/A	4" to 12"
		Approved	AWWA C905	DR 18 / N/A	14" to 36"
Profile	Contech A-2000 ETI Ultra-Rib Lamson Vylon	Only when included in the Bid Form	F949 F794 F794	N/A / 50 psi N/A / 46 psi N/A / 46 psi	12" to 36" 12" to 48" 21" to 48"

- B. When solid wall PVC pipe 18 inches to 27 inches in diameter is required in SDR 26, provide pipe conforming to ASTM F679, except provide wall thickness as required for SDR 26 and pipe strength of 115 psi.
- C. For sewers up to 12-inch-diameter crossing over waterlines, or crossing under waterlines with less than 2 feet separation, provide minimum 150 psi pressure-rated pipe conforming to ASTM D 2241 with suitable PVC adapter couplings.
- D. Joints: Spigot and integral wall section bell with solid cross section elastometric or rubber ring gasket conforming to requirements of ASTM D 3212 and ASTM F 477, or ASTM
- E. D 3139 and ASTM F 477, shall be provided. Gaskets shall be factory-assembled and securely bonded in place to prevent displacement. The manufacturer shall test a sample from each batch conforming to requirements ASTM D2444.
- F. Fittings: Provide PVC gravity sewer sanitary bends, tee, or wye fittings for new sanitary sewer construction. PVC pipe fittings shall be full-bodied, either injection molded or factory fabricated. Saddle-type tee or wye fittings are not acceptable.

2.05 SANITARY SEWER FORCE MAIN PIPE

- A. Provide PVC pressure pipe conforming to the requirements for water pipe, and conforming to the minimum working pressure rating specified in Section 02731 Sanitary Sewage Force Mains.
- B. Acceptable pipe joints are integral bell-and-spigot, containing a bonded-in elastomeric sealing ring meeting the requirements of ASTM F 477. In designated areas requiring restrained joint pipe and fittings, use EBAA Iron Series 2000PV, Uniflange Series 1350 restrainer, or equal joint restraint device conforming to UNI-B-13, for PVC pipe 12-inch diameter and less.
- C. Fittings: Provide ductile iron fittings as per Paragraph 2.03, except furnish all fittings with one of the following internal linings:
 - 1. Nominal 40 mils (35 mils minimum) virgin polyethylene complying with ASTM D 1248, heat fused to the interior surface of the fitting, as manufactured by American Cast Iron Pipe "Polybond", or U.S. Pipe "Polyline".
 - 2. Nominal 40 mils (35 mils minimum) polyurethane, Corro-pipe II by Madison Chemicals, Inc.
 - 3. Nominal 40 mils (35 mils minimum) ceramic epoxy, Protecto 401 by Enduron Protective Coatings.
- D. Exterior Protection: Provide 8-mil polyethylene wrapping of ductile iron fittings.
- E. Hydrostatic Tests: Hydrostatically test pressure rated pipe in accordance with Paragraph 2.02 E.
- F. Manufacturers: Approved manufacturers of pressure rated, solid wall PVC pipe for sanitary sewer force mains are:
 - 1. J & M Manufacturing Company, Inc.
 - 2. CertainTeed Corporation
 - 3. Diamond Plastics Corporation
 - 4. Carlon Company
 - 5. North American Pipe Corporation (NAPCO)

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 PROTECTION

A. Store pipe under cover out of direct sunlight and protect from excessive heat or harmful chemicals in accordance with the manufacturer's recommendations.

3.02 INSTALLATION

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 02664 Water Mains, Section 02730 Gravity Sanitary Sewers, Section 02731 Sanitary Sewage Force Mains, and Section 02763 Point Repairs to Sanitary Sewers, as applicable.
- B. Install PVC pipe in accordance with Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities, ASTM D 2321, and manufacturer's recommendations.
- C. Water service pipe 12 inches in diameter and smaller: Installed to clear utility lines and have minimum 3 feet of cover below lowest property line grade of street, unless otherwise required by Drawings.
- D. For water service, exclude use of PVC within 200 feet (along the public right-of-way) of underground storage tanks or in undeveloped commercial acreage. Underground storage

tanks are primarily located on service stations but can exist at other commercial establishments.

- E. Avoid imposing strains that will overstress or buckle the pipe when lowering pipe into trench.
- F. Hand shovel pipe bedding under the pipe haunches and along the sides of the pipe barrel and compact to eliminate voids and ensure side support.

[This page intentionally left blank]

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Furnishing and installing gate valves.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Measurement for gate valves is on a lump sum basis for installation of each valve of each size.
- 1.03 SUBMITTALS
 - A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
 - B. Submit manufacturer's product data for proposed valves for approval.
- 1.04 QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Provide manufacturer's affidavit that all gate valves have been satisfactorily tested in the United States in accordance with AWWA C500 and C509.
- PART2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 MATERIALS
 - A. Gate Valves: AWWA C500, C509 and additional requirements of this Section; direct bury and in subsurface vaults open counterclockwise.
 - B. If type of valve is not indicated on Drawings, gate valves shall be used as line valves for sizes less than 16-inches. If type of valve is specified, no substitute will be allowed.
 - C. Gate Valves 1-1/2 Inches in Diameter and Smaller: 125 psig; bronze; rising-stem; single-wedge; disc type; screwed ends; Crane No. 428, or equal.
 - D. Coatings for Gate Valves 2 Inches and Larger: AWWA C550; Indurall 3300 or approved equal; non-toxic; not impart taste to water; function as physical, chemical, and electrical barrier between base metal and surroundings; minimum 8-mil-thick; fusion-bonded epoxy; prior to assembly of valve, apply protective coating to interior and exterior surfaces of body.
 - E. Gate Valves 2 Inches in Diameter: Iron body; double gate; non-rising stem; 150-pound test; 2-inch square nut operating clockwise to open.
 - F. Gate Valves 4 inches to 24 inches in Diameter: Resilient seated, epoxy coated meeting the latest AWWA C500 specifications, 200 psig, mechanical joint type, Clow F6100, Mueller A2360, American Darling AFC-500, US Pipe Metroseal 200 or approved equal. Gate Valves over 16 inches in diameter shall be furnished with and enclosed bevel gear assembly.
 - G. Gate Valves in Factory Mutual (Fire Service) Type Meter Installations: Conform to provisions of this specification; outside screw and yoke valves; carry label of Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc.; flanged, Class 125; clockwise to close.
 - H. Provide flanged joints when valve is connected to steel.

PART3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 EARTHWORK
 - A. Conform to applicable provisions of Section 02227 Excavation and Backfilling for Utilities.
- 3.02 SETTING VALVES AND VALVE BOXES
 - A. Remove foreign matter from within valves prior to installation. Inspect valves in open and closed positions to verify that all parts are in satisfactory working condition.
 - B. Install valves and valve boxes where shown on Drawings or as located by the Engineer. Set valves plumb and as detailed. Center valve boxes on valves. Carefully tamp earth around each valve box for minimum radius of 4 feet, or to undisturbed trench face if less than 4 feet. Install valves completely closed when placed in water line.
 - C. Regardless of type of pipe used in water line construction, pipe section of each valve box must be of cast iron, ductile iron, or DR18 PVC pipe cut to proper length. Size to allow proper future operation of valve. Assemble and brace box in vertical position as indicated on drawings.
- 3.03 DISINFECTION AND TESTING
 - A. Disinfect valves and appurtenances as required by Section 02675.
- 3.04 PAINTING OF VALVES
 - A. Paint valves in vaults, stations and aboveground using ACRO Paint No. 2215 or approved equal, unless otherwise directed.

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Air release and vacuum relief valves.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. Measurement is on a lump sum basis for each valve installed.
- B. Payment includes air release valve manholes and fittings and appurtenances necessary for complete installation of valve.
- C. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit manufacturer's product data for proposed valves for approval.
- 1.04 QUALITY CONTROL
 - A. Provide manufacturer's affidavit that air release and vacuum relief valves purchased for Work, were manufactured and tested in the United States, and conform to applicable requirements of this Section.
 - B. Alternatively, provide manufacturer's ISO 9002 Certification and certificates stating that air release and vacuum relief valves purchased for Work, were manufactured and tested under strict quality control, and they conform to applicable performance requirements of this Section.
- PART 2 PRODUCTS
 - 2.01 GENERAL
 - A. Combination air valves called for on Drawings are air valves designed to fulfill the functions of air release valves (discharge air accumulated in line at high points of elevation while line is under pressure), as well as the functions of air/vacuum valves (large volume air discharge at pipe filling and vacuum relief at draining or water column separation). The air release and the air/vacuum components of the combination air valves shall be self-contained in one unit (body).
 - 2.02 MATERIALS
 - A. Air Release Valves:
 - 1. Apco No. 200, GA Industries Fig. 2-AR, or equal. Materials: body and cover, ASTM A48, Class 30, cast iron; float and leverage mechanism, ASTM A240 or A276 stainless steel; orifice and seat, stainless steel against Buna-N or Viton mechanically retained with hex head nut and bolt; other valve internals, stainless steel or bronze. Provide inlet and outlet connections, and orifice as shown on Drawings.
 - ANSI/NSF Standard 61 certified, A.R.I. D-040-C, Combination Air Valves or equal. Materials: body and base – ASTM A48, Class 35B, cast iron; float – Foamed Polypropylene; seal plug, plug cover, clamping stem – nylon; body sleeve - nylon 6; plug screws – SAE 316 stainless steel; rolling seal – E.P.D.M. rubber; O-ring – NBR-70; and base fastening nuts and bolts – ASTM A-307 GR-B Galvanized Steel, Chromate Plated.

- 3. A.R.I. S-050-C, Air Release Valves or equal. Materials: body ASTM A48, Class 20B, cast iron; float Foamed Polypropylene; clamping stem and body sleeve reinforced nylon; rolling seal E.P.D.M. rubber; O-ring Buna-N; and base ASTM B-124 Brass.
- B. Air Release and Vacuum Valves: Provide single-body, standard combination or duplex-body custom combination valves as indicated on Drawings.
 - 1. For 2-inch and 3-inch, single-body valves, provide inlet and outlet sizes as shown on Drawings and orifice sized for 100 psi working pressure.
 - a. Valve materials: body, cover and baffle, ASTM A48, Class 35, or ASTM A126, Grade B cast iron; plug or poppet, ASTM A276 stainless steel; float, ASTM A240 stainless steel; seat, Buna-N; other valve internals, stainless steel. Valve exterior: Painted with shop-applied primer suitable for contact with potable water. Provide Apco Model 145C or 147C, Val-Matic Series 200, or equal valves.
 - b. Combination air valves will be ANSI/NSF Standard 61 certified, A.R.I. D-040-C, Combination Air Valves or equal. Materials: body and base – ASTM A48, Class 35B, cast iron; float – Foamed Polypropylene; seal plug, plug cover, clamping stem – nylon; body sleeve – nylon 6; plug screws – SAE 316 stainless steel; rolling seal – E.P.D.M. –61 rubber; O-ring – NBR-70; and base fastening nuts and bolts – ASTM A-307 GR-B Galvanized Steel, Chromate Plated.
 - 2. For 3-inch and larger duplex body valves as shown on Drawings, provide:
 - a. Apco Series 1700 with No. 200 air release valve, GA Industries Fig. No. AR/GH-21K/280, or equal. Air and vacuum valve materials: body and cover, ASTM A48, Class 35, cast iron; float, ASTM A240 stainless steel; seat, Type-304, stainless steel and Buna-N; other valve internals, stainless steel or bronze. Air release valve: constructed as specified in paragraph above on Air Release Valves.
 - b. ARI HF (High Flow) Series air valves, or equal. Air and vacuum valve will be ANSI/NSF Standard 61 certified, such as ARI K-060 HF or ARI K-060 HF NS or equal. Materials: body, cover, and strainer protective cover ASTM A48, Class 35, cast iron; float SAE 316L stainless steel; orifice seat SAE 304 stainless steel; orifice seal E.P.D.M. 60; O-ring NBR-70; screen SAE 304 stainless steel; bolts and domed nuts for screen protective covers and cover bolts and nuts ASTM A-307 GR-B Galvanized Steel, Chromate Plated; disc for NS model SAE 316 stainless steel. Air release valve: A.R.I. S-050-C, Air Release Valves or equal. Materials: body ASTM A48, Class 20B, cast iron; float Foamed Polypropylene; clamping stem and body sleeve reinforced nylon; rolling seal E.P.D.M. rubber; O-ring Buna-N; and base ASTM B-124 Brass.
- C. Vacuum Relief Valves: Provide air inlet vacuum relief valves with flanged inlet and outlet connections as shown on Drawings. Provide air release valves in combination with inlet and outlet, and orifice as shown on Drawings. Valve shall open under pressure differential not to exceed 0.25 psi. Provide:
 - 1. Apco Series 1500 with a No. 200A air release valve, GA Industries Fig. No. HCARV, or equal. Materials for vacuum relief valves: valve body, ASTM A48, Class 35, cast iron; seat and plug, ASTM B584 bronze, copper alloy 836; spring, ASTM A313, Type-304, stainless steel; bushing, ASTM B584 bronze, copper alloy 932; retaining screws, ASTM A276, Type-304, stainless steel.
 - ANSI/NSF Standard 61 certified, A.R.I. D-040-C, Combination Air Valves with one-way, vacuum relief attachment, or equal. Materials: body and base – ASTM A48, Class 35B, cast iron; float – Foamed Polypropylene; seal plug, plug cover, clamping stem – nylon; body sleeve – nylon 6; plug screws – SAE 316 stainless steel; rolling seal – E.P.D.M. rubber; O-ring – NBR-70; and base fastening nuts and bolts – ASTM A-307 GR-B Galvanized Steel, Chromate Plated.
 - For 3" and higher, ANSI/NSF Standard 61 certified ARI K-060 HF with a one-way, vacuum relief attachment, or equal. Materials: body, cover, and strainer protective cover – ASTM A48, Class 35, cast iron; float – SAE 316L stainless steel; orifice seat – SAE 304 stainless steel; orifice seal – E.P.D.M. 60; O-ring – NBR-70; screen – SAE 304 stainless

steel; bolts and domed nuts for screen protective covers and cover bolts and nuts – ASTM A-307 GR-B Galvanized Steel, Chromate Plated; disc for NS model – SAE 316 stainless steel.

- D. Air Release Valve Vault as detailed in Drawings.
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 EARTHWORK
 - A. Conform to applicable provisions of Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
 - 3.02 SETTING VALVES AND VALVE BOXES
 - A. Provide services of technical representative of valve manufacturer available on site during installation of valves.
 - B. Prior to installing valves, remove foreign matter from within valves. Inspect valves in open and closed position to verify that all parts are in satisfactory working condition.
 - C. Install valves and valve boxes where indicated on Drawings or as located by Engineer. Set valves plumb and as detailed. Center valve boxes on valves. Carefully tamp earth around each valve box for minimum radius of 4 feet, or to undisturbed trench face if less than 4 feet. Provide aboveground vents for valve boxes as indicated on Drawings.
 - 3.03 DISINFECTION AND TESTING
 - A. Disinfect valves and appurtenances as required by Section 02675 Disinfection of Waterlines and test as required by Section 02676 Hydrostatic Testing of Pipelines.
 - 3.04 PAINTING OF PIPING
 - A. Paint valves in vaults, stations, and aboveground per Section 09900 Protective Coatings or Engineer approved equal, unless otherwise directed.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

A. Gravity sanitary sewers and appurtenances, including cleanouts, stacks, and service connections.

1.02 UNIT PRICES

- A. Measurement for payment of pipe is on a unit price per linear foot basis. Measurement will be taken along the centerline of the pipe from centerline to centerline of manholes. Payment will be made for each linear foot installed, complete-in-place, including sewer pipe, excavation, bedding, backfill and special backfill, shoring, earthwork, connections to existing manholes and pipe, stacks, cleanouts, accessories, inspection and testing.
- B. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit proposed methods, equipment, materials and sequence of operations for sewer construction. Plan operations to minimize disruption of utilities to occupied facilities or adjacent property.

1.04 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Qualifications: Install a sanitary sewer that is watertight both in pipe-to-pipe joints and in pipe-to-manhole connections. Perform testing in accordance with Section 02732 Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers.
- B. Regulatory Requirements.
 - Install sewer lines to meet the minimum separation distance from any potable water line, as scheduled below. The separation distance is defined as the distance between the outside of the water pipe and the outside of the sewer pipe. When possible, install new sanitary sewers no closer to water lines than 9 feet in all directions. Where this separation distance cannot be achieved, new sanitary sewers shall be installed as specified in this Section.
 - 2. Make notification to the Engineer if water lines are uncovered during sanitary sewer installation where the minimum separation distance cannot be maintained.
 - 3. Lay gravity sewer lines in straight alignment and grade.

1.05 PRODUCT DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

- A. Inspect pipe and fittings upon arrival of materials at the job site.
- B. Handle and store pipe materials and fittings to protect them from damage due to impact, shock, shear or free fall. Do not drag pipe and fittings along the ground. Do not roll pipe unrestrained from delivery trucks.
- C. Use mechanical means to move or handle pipe. Employ acceptable clamps, rope or slings around the outside barrel of pipe and fittings. Do not use hooks, bars, or other devices in contact with the interior surface of the pipe to lift or move lined pipe.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 PIPE
 - A. Provide piping materials for gravity sanitary sewers of the sizes and types indicated on the Drawings or as specified.
 - B. Reinforced concrete pipe is not acceptable.
- 2.02 PIPE MATERIAL SCHEDULE
 - A. Unless otherwise shown on the Drawings, use pipe materials that conform to requirements specified in one or more of the following Sections:
 - 1. Section 02618 Centrifugally Cast Fiberglass Pipe.
 - 2. Section 02619 HDPE Solid Wall when specified.
 - 3. Section 02620 PVC Pipe.
 - B. Where shown on the Drawings, provide pipe meeting the minimum class, dimension ratio, or other criteria indicated.
 - C. Pipe materials other than those listed above shall not be used for gravity sanitary sewers.

2.03 APPURTENANCES

- A. Stacks. Conform to the requirements of Section 02762 Sanitary Sewer Service Stubs or Reconnections.
- B. Service Connections. Conform to requirements of Section 02762 Sanitary Sewer Service Stubs or Reconnections.
- C. Roof, street or other type of surface water drains shall not be connected or reconnected into the sanitary sewer lines.
- 2.04 BEDDING, BACKFILL, AND TOPSOIL MATERIAL
 - A. Bedding and Backfill: Conform to requirements of Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities, Section 02229 - Utility Backfill Material, and Section 02252 - Cement Stabilized Sand.
 - B. Topsoil: Conform to requirements of Section 02920 Topsoil.

PART3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

- A. Prepare traffic control plans and set up street detours and barricades in preparation for excavation if construction will affect traffic. Conform to requirements of Section 01570 -Traffic Control and Regulation.
- B. Provide barricades, flashing warning lights, and warning signs for excavations. Conform to requirements of Section 01570 Traffic Control and Regulation. Maintain barricades and warning lights where work is in progress or where traffic is affected by the work.
- C. Perform work in accordance with OSHA standards. Employ a trench safety system as specified in Section 01526 Trench Safety System for excavations over five feet deep.

- D. Immediately notify the agency or company owning any utility line which is damaged, broken or disturbed. Obtain approval from the Engineer and agency or utility company for any repairs or relocations, either temporary or permanent.
- E. Remove old pavements and structures including sidewalks and driveways in accordance with requirements of Section 02100 Right-of-Way Preparation.
- F. Install and operate dewatering and surface water control measures in accordance with Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water.
- G. Do not allow sand, debris or runoff to enter sewer system.

3.02 DIVERSION PUMPING

- A. Install and operate required bulkheads, plugs, piping, and diversion pumping equipment to maintain sewage flow and to prevent backup or overflow. Obtain approval for diversion pumping equipment and procedures from the Engineer.
- B. Design piping, joints and accessories to withstand twice the maximum system pressure or 50 psi, whichever is greater.
- C. No sewage shall be diverted into any area outside of the sanitary sewer.
- D. In the event of accidental spill or overflow, immediately stop the overflow and take action to clean up and disinfect spillage. Promptly notify the Engineer so that required reporting can be made to the Texas Natural Resources Conservation Commission and the Environmental Protection Agency by the Engineer.

3.03 EXCAVATION

- A. Earthwork. Conform to requirements of Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities. Use bedding as indicated on Drawings.
- B. Line and Grade. Establish the required uniform line and grade in the trench as shown in the Drawings. Maintain this control for a minimum of 100 feet behind and ahead of the pipe-laying operation. Use laser beam equipment to establish and maintain proper line and grade of the work. Use of appropriately sized grade boards which are substantially supported is also acceptable. Protect the boards and location stakes from damage or dislocation.
- C. Trench Excavation. Excavate pipe trenches to depths shown on Drawings and as specified in Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.

3.04 PIPE INSTALLATION BY OPEN CUT

- A. Install pipe in accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations and as specified in the following paragraphs.
- B. Install pipe only after excavation is completed, the bottom of the trench fine graded, bedding material is installed, and the trench has been approved by the Engineer.
- C. Install pipe to the line and grade indicated. Place pipe so that it has continuous bearing of barrel on bedding material and is laid in the trench so the interior surfaces of the pipe follow the grades and alignment indicated. Provide bell holes where necessary.
- D. Install pipe with the spigot ends toward the direction of flow.

- E. Form a concentric joint with each section of adjoining pipe so as to prevent offsets.
- F. Keep the interior of pipe clean as the installation progresses. Where cleaning after laying the pipe is difficult because of small pipe size, use a suitable swab or drag in the pipe and pull it forward past each joint immediately after the joint has been completed. Remove foreign material and debris from the pipe.
- G. Provide lubricant, place and drive home newly laid sections with come-a-long winches so as to eliminate damage to sections. Install pipe to "home" mark where provided. Use of backhoes or similar powered equipment will not be allowed unless protective measures are provided and approved in advance by the Engineer.
- H. Keep excavations free of water during construction and until final inspection.
- I. When work is not in progress, cover the exposed ends of pipes with an approved plug to prevent foreign material from entering the pipe.
- J. If a water line is encountered closer than nine feet to the proposed sewer and no special provisions are indicated on the Drawings, notify the Engineer before proceeding.
- K. Where the length of stubs is not indicated, install a 12-inch length and seal the free end with an approved plug.
- 3.05 PIPE INSTALLATION OTHER THAN OPEN CUT
 - A. For installation of pipe by augering, or jacking conform to requirements of Specification Sections on augering or jacking work as appropriate.
- 3.06 INSTALLATION OF APPURTENANCES
 - A. Service Connections: Install service connections to conform to requirements of Section 02762 Sanitary Sewer Service Stubs or Reconnections.
 - B. Stacks: Construct stacks to conform to requirements of Section 02762 Sanitary Sewer Service Stubs or Reconnections.
 - C. Construct manholes to conform to requirements of Section 02600 Cast-in-Place Manholes, Section 02601 - Precast Concrete Manholes, and Section 02608 - Fiberglass Manholes, as applicable. Install frames, rings, and covers to conform to requirements of Section 02603 -Frames, Grates, Rings, and Covers.

3.07 INSPECTION AND TESTING

- A. Visual Inspection. Check pipe alignment in accordance with Section 02732 Acceptance Testing For Sanitary Sewers.
- B. Mandrel Testing. Use a Mandrel Test to test flexible pipe for deflection. Refer to Section 02732 Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers.
- C. Leakage Testing. After backfilling a line segment and prior to tie-in of service connections, test for leakage in accordance with Section 02732 Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers. Maintain piezometers installed to conform with Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water, until acceptance testing is completed.
- D. The Owner may elect to perform television inspection of the completed sewer before acceptance. The Contractor will assist with traffic control.

3.08 BACKFILL AND SITE CLEANUP

- A. Backfill and compact soil in accordance with Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
- B. Backfill the trench in specified lifts only after pipe installation is approved by the Engineer.
- C. Repair and replace removed or damaged pavement, curbs, gutters, and sidewalks as specified in Section 02570 Pavement Repair and Resurfacing.
- D. Conform to requirements of Section 01564 Waste Material Disposal.

[This page intentionally left blank]

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Sanitary sewage force mains.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. Measurement for payment for pipe is on a unit price per linear foot basis. Measurement will be taken along the centerline of the pipe from end to end. Payment will be made per foot of force main installed, complete in place including pipe, excavation, bedding, backfill and special backfill, shoring, earthwork, accessories, inspection and testing.
 - B. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Submit proposed methods, equipment, materials, and sequence of operations for force main construction. Plan operations to minimize disruption of utilities to occupied facilities or adjacent property.
- C. Submit shop drawings and design calculations for joint restraint systems using reinforced concrete encasement of pressure pipe and fittings.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

- 2.01 DUCTILE IRON FITTINGS
 - A. Conform to requirements of Section 02610 Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings.
- 2.02 PVC PIPE
 - A. Conform to requirements of Section 02620 PVC Pipe.
 - B. Provide lined ductile iron fittings conforming to Section 02610 Ductile Iron Pipe and Fittings.

2.03 THRUST RESTRAINT

- A. Unless otherwise shown on the Drawings, provide concrete thrust blocking for force mains up to 12-inches in diameter, to prevent movement of buried lines under pressure at bends. Blocking shall be Class 'B' concrete, as specified in Section 03305 Concrete for Utility Construction and Minor Paving. Place concrete in accordance with details on the Drawings. Place thrust blocks between undisturbed ground and the fittings. Anchor fittings to thrust blocks so that pipe and fitting joints are accessible for repairs. Concrete shall extend from 6 inches below the pipe or fitting to 12 inches above.
- B. For all force mains larger than 12 inches in diameter, and where indicated on the Drawings, provide restrained joints conforming to the requirements of the force main pipe material specifications. Restrained joints shall be installed for the length of pipe on both sides of each bend or fitting for the full length shown on the Drawings.
- C. Horizontal and vertical bends between zero and 10 degrees deflection angle will not require thrust blocks or harnessed or restrained joints.

- D. Horizontal and vertical bends between 10 degrees and 90 degrees deflection angle shall have thrust restraint as shown on the Drawings.
- E. Reinforced concrete encasement of force main pipe and fittings may be used in lieu of manufactured joint restraint systems. Alternate joint restraint systems using reinforced concrete encasement shall conform to the following design requirements:
 - 1. Design calculations shall be performed and sealed by a Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Texas.
 - 2. Design calculations shall be based upon soil parameters quantified in the geotechnical report for the site where the alternative thrust restraint system is to be installed. If data is not available for the site, use parameters recommended by the geotechnical engineer.
 - 3. The design system pressure shall be the specified test pressure.
 - The following safety factors shall be used in sizing the restraint system:
 a. Apply a factor of safety equal to 1.5 for passive soil resistance.
 b. Apply a factor of acfety equal to 2.0 for pail friction.
 - b. Apply a factor of safety equal to 2.0 for soil friction.
 - 5. The encasement shall be contained entirely within the standard trench width and terminate on both ends at a pipe bell or coupling.
 - 6. Concrete encasement reinforcement steel shall be designed for all loads including internal pressure and longitudinal forces. Concrete design shall be in accordance with ACI 318.
- PART3 EXECUTION
 - 3.01 PIPE INSTALLATION BY OPEN-CUT
 - A. Perform excavation, bedding, and backfill in accordance with Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
 - B. Install pipe in accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations and as specified in the following paragraphs.
 - C. Install pipe only after excavation is completed, the bottom of the trench is fine graded, bedding material is installed, and the trench has been approved by the Engineer.
 - D. Install pipe to the line and grade indicated. Place pipe so that it has continuous bearing of barrel on bedding material and is laid in the trench so the interior surfaces of the pipe follow the grades and alignment indicated. Provide bell holes where necessary.
 - E. Install pipe with the spigot ends toward the direction of flow. Form a concentric joint with each section of adjoining pipe so as to prevent offsets.
 - F. Keep the interior of pipe clean as the installation progresses. Where cleaning after laying the pipe is difficult because of small pipe size, use a suitable swab or drag in the pipe and pull it forward past each joint immediately after the joint has been completed. Remove foreign material and debris from the pipe.
 - G. Provide lubricant, place and drive home newly laid sections with come-a-long winches so as to eliminate damage to sections. Install pipe to "home" mark where provided. Use of backhoes or similar powered equipment will not be allowed unless protective measures are provided and approved in advance by the Engineer.
 - H. Keep excavations free of water during construction and until final inspection.
 - I. When work is not in progress, cover the exposed ends of pipes with an approved plug to prevent foreign material from entering the pipe.

SANITARY SEWAGE FORCE MAINS

- J. Where sanitary sewer force main is to be installed under an existing waterline with a separation distance of less than 2 feet, install one full joint length of pipe centered on the waterline and maintain a minimum 6-inch separation distance.
- K. Wrap ductile iron fittings with 8-mil polyethylene film.
- 3.02 PIPE INSTALLATION OTHER THAN OPEN-CUT
 - A. For installation of pipe by augering or jacking, conform to requirements of specification sections for augering or jacking work.
- 3.03 HYDROSTATIC TESTING
 - A. After the pipe and appurtenance have been installed, test line and drain. Prevent damage to the Work or adjacent areas. Use clean water to perform tests.
 - B. The Engineer may direct tests of relatively short sections of completed lines to minimize traffic problems or potential public hazards.
 - C. Test pipe in the presence of the Engineer or his designated representative.
 - D. Test pipe at 150 psig or 1.5 times design pressure of the pipe, whichever is greater. Design pressure of the force main shall be the rated total dynamic head of the lift station pump.
 - E. Test pipe at the required pressure for a minimum of 2 hours according to requirements of UNI-B-3.
 - F. Maximum allowable leakage shall be as calculated by the following formula:

Where:	L	=	Leakage in gallons per hour.
	S	=	Length of pipe in feet.
	D	=	Inside diameter of pipe in inches.
	Ρ	=	Pressure in pounds per square inch.

- G. Correct defects, cracks, or leakage by replacement of defective items or by repairs as approved by the Engineer.
- H. Plug openings in the force main after testing and flushing. Use cast iron plugs or blind flanges to prevent debris from entering the tested pipeline.

[This page intentionally left blank]

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Acceptance testing criteria and procedures for sanitary sewers, including:
 - 1. Visual inspection of sewer pipes.
 - 2. Mandrel testing for flexible sewer pipes.
 - 3. Leakage testing of sewer pipes.
 - 4. Leakage testing of manholes.
- 1.02 UNIT PRICES
 - A. No payment will be made for acceptance testing under this Section. Include payment in unit price for work requiring acceptance testing.
 - B. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures.

1.03 SUBMITTALS

- A. Conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Test Plan: Before testing begins and in adequate time to obtain approval through the submittal process, prepare and submit a test plan for approval by the Engineer. Include testing procedures, methods, equipment, and tentative schedule. Obtain advance written approval for deviations from the Drawings and Specifications.
- C. Test Reports: Submit test reports for each test on each segment of sanitary sewer.

1.04 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

- A. Gravity flow sanitary sewers are required to have a straight alignment and uniform grade between manholes.
- B. Flexible pipe, including "semi-rigid" pipe, is required to show no more than 5 percent deflection. Test pipe no sooner than 30 days after backfilling of a line segment but prior to final acceptance using a standard mandrel to verify that installed pipe is within specified deflection tolerances.
- C. Maximum allowable leakage for infiltration or exfiltration:
 - 1. The total exfiltration, as determined by a hydrostatic head test, shall not exceed 50 gallons per inch diameter per mile of pipe per 24 hours at a minimum test head of 2 feet above the crown of the pipe at the upstream manhole or 2 feet above the ground water elevation, whichever is greater.
 - 2. When pipes are installed more than 2 feet below the ground water level, an infiltration test shall be used in lieu of the exfiltration test. The total infiltration shall not exceed 50 gallons per inch diameter per mile of pipe per 24 hours. Ground water elevation must be at least 2 feet above the crown of the pipe at the upstream manhole.
 - Refer to Table 02732-1, Water Test Allowable Leakage, at the end of this Section, for measuring leakage in sewers. Perform leakage testing to verify that leakage criteria are met.
- D. Perform air testing in accordance with requirements of this Section and the Texas Natural Resources Conservation Commission requirements. Refer to Table 02732-2, Time Allowed for Pressure Loss from 3.5 psig to 2.5 psig, Table 02732-3, Minimum Testing Times for Low Pressure Air Test, and Table 02732-4, Vacuum Test Time Table, at the end of this Section.

1.05 GRAVITY SANITARY SEWER QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Repair, correct, and retest manholes or sections of pipe which fail to meet specified requirements when tested.
- B. Provide testing reports.
- 1.06 SEQUENCING AND SCHEDULING
 - A. Perform testing as work progresses. Schedule testing so that no more than 1000 linear feet of installed sewer remains untested at any one time.
 - B. Coordinate testing schedules with the Engineer. Perform testing under observation of the Engineer.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 DEFLECTION MANDREL

- A. Mandrel Sizing: The rigid mandrel shall have an outside diameter (O.D.) equal to 95 percent of the inside diameter (I.D.) of the pipe. The inside diameter of the pipe, for the purpose of determining the outside diameter of the mandrel, shall be the average outside diameter minus two minimum wall thicknesses for O.D. controlled pipe and the average inside diameter for I.D. controlled pipe. Dimensions shall be per appropriate standard. Statistical or other "tolerance packages" shall not be considered in mandrel sizing.
- B. Mandrel Design: The rigid mandrel shall be constructed of a metal or a rigid plastic material that can withstand 200 psi without being deformed. The mandrel shall have nine or more "runners" or "legs" as long as the total number of legs is an odd number. The barrel section of the mandrel shall have a length of at least 75 percent of the inside diameter of the pipe. The rigid mandrel shall not have adjustable or collapsible legs which would allow a reduction in mandrel diameter during testing. A proving ring shall be provided and used for verifying each size mandrel.
- C. Proving Ring: Furnish a "proving ring" with each mandrel. Fabricate the ring of □-inch-thick, 3-inch-wide bar steel to a diameter 0.02-inches larger than approved mandrel diameter.
- D. Mandrel Dimensions (5% allowance): Average inside diameter and minimum mandrel diameter are specified in Table 02732-5, Pipe vs. Mandrel Diameter, at the end of this Section. Mandrels for higher strength, thicker wall pipe or other pipe not listed in the table may be used when approved by the Engineer.

2.02 EXFILTRATION TEST

- A. Test Equipment:
 - 1. Pipe plugs.
 - 2. Pipe risers where the manhole cone is less than 2 feet above highest point in pipe or service lead.

2.03 INFILTRATION TEST

- A. Test Equipment:
 - 1. Calibrated 90 degree V-notch weir.
 - 2. Pipe plugs.

2.04 LOW PRESSURE AIR TEST

- A. Minimum Requirement for Equipment:
 - 1. Control panel.
 - 2. Low-pressure air supply connected to control panel.
 - 3. Pneumatic plugs: Acceptable size for diameter of pipe to be tested; capable of withstanding internal test pressure without leaking or requiring external bracing.
 - 4. Air hoses from control panel to:
 - a. Air supply.
 - b. Pneumatic plugs.
 - c. Sealed line for pressuring.
 - d. Sealed line for monitoring internal pressure.
- B. Testing Pneumatic Plugs: Place a pneumatic plug in each end of a length of pipe on the ground. Pressurize plugs to 25 psig; then pressurize sealed pipe to 5 psig. Plugs are acceptable if they remain in place against the test pressure without external aids.
- 2.05 GROUND WATER DETERMINATION
 - A. Equipment: Pipe probe or small diameter casing for ground water elevation determination.

PART3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 PREPARATION
 - A. Provide labor, equipment, tools, test plugs, risers, air compressor, air hose, pressure meters, pipe probe, calibrated weirs, or any other device necessary for proper testing and inspection.
 - B. The selection of test methods and pressures for gravity sanitary sewers shall be determined based on ground water elevation. Determine ground water elevation using equipment and procedures conforming to Section 01563 Control of Ground Water and Surface Water.
- 3.02 VISUAL INSPECTION OF GRAVITY SANITARY SEWERS
 - A. Check pipe alignment visually by flashing a light between structures. Verify if alignment is true and no pipes are misplaced. In case of misalignment or damaged pipe, remove and relay or replace pipe segment.
- 3.03 MANDREL TESTING FOR GRAVITY SANITARY SEWERS
 - A. Perform deflection testing on flexible and semi-rigid pipe to confirm pipe has no more than 5 percent deflection. Mandrel testing shall conform to ASTM D 3034. Perform testing no sooner than 30 days after backfilling of line segment, but prior to final acceptance testing of the line segment.
 - B. Pull the approved mandrel by hand through sewer sections. Replace any section of sewer not passing the mandrel. Mandrel testing is not required for stubs.
 - C. Retest repaired or replaced sewer sections.
- 3.04 LEAKAGE TESTING FOR GRAVITY SANITARY SEWERS
 - A. Test Options:
 - 1. Test gravity sanitary sewer pipes for leakage by either exfiltration or infiltration methods, as appropriate, or with low pressure air testing.

- 2. Test new or rehabilitated sanitary sewer manholes with water or low-pressure air. Manholes tested with low-pressure air shall undergo a physical inspection prior to testing.
- 3. Leakage testing shall be performed after backfilling of a line segment, and prior to tie-in of service connections.
- 4. If no installed piezometer is within 500 feet of the sewer segment, Contractor shall provide a temporary piezometer for this purpose.
- B. Compensating for Ground Water Pressure:
 - 1. Where ground water exists, install a pipe nipple at the same time sewer line is placed. Use a 1/2-inch capped pipe nipple approximately 10 inches long. Make the installation through manhole wall on top of the sewer line where line enters manhole.
 - 2. Immediately before performing line acceptance test, remove cap, clear pipe nipple with air pressure, and connect a clear plastic tube to nipple. Support tube vertically and allow water to rise in the tube. After water stops rising, measure height in feet of water over invert of the pipe. Divide this height by 2.3 feet/psi to determine the ground water pressure to be used in line testing.
- C. Exfiltration Test:
 - 1. Determine ground water elevation.
 - 2. Plug sewer in downstream manhole.
 - 3. Plug incoming pipes in upstream manhole.
 - 4. Install riser pipe in outgoing pipe of upstream manhole if highest point in service lead (house service) is less than 2 feet below bottom of manhole cone.
 - 5. Fill sewer pipe and manhole or pipe riser, if used, with water to a point 2-1/2 feet above highest point in sewer pipe, house lead, or ground water table, whichever is highest.
 - 6. Allow water to stabilize for one to two hours. Take water level reading to determine drop of water surface, in inches, over a one-hour period, and calculate water loss (1 inch of water in 4 feet diameter manhole equals 8.22 gallons) or measure the quantity of water required to keep water at same level. Loss shall not exceed that calculated from allowable leakage according to Table 02732-1 at the end of this Section.
- D. Infiltration Test: Ground water elevation must be not less than 2.0 feet above highest point of sewer pipe or service lead (house service).
 - 1. Determine ground water elevation.
 - 2. Plug incoming pipes in upstream manhole.
 - 3. Insert calibrated 90 degree V-notch weir in pipe on downstream manhole.
 - 4. Allow water to rise and flow over weir until it stabilizes.
 - 5. Take five readings of accumulated volume over a period of 2 hours and use average for infiltration. The average must not exceed that calculated for 2 hours from allowable leakage according to Table 02732-1 at the end of this Section.
- E. Low Air Pressure Test: When using this test, conform to ASTM C 828, ASTM C 924, or ASTM F 1417, as applicable, with holding time not less than that listed in Table 02732-2.
 - 1. Air testing for sections of pipe shall be limited to lines less than 36-inch average inside diameter.
 - 2. Lines 36-inch average inside diameter and larger shall be tested at each joint. The minimum time allowable for the pressure to drop from 3.5 pounds per square inch gauge to 2.5 pounds per square inch during a joint test shall be 10 seconds, regardless of pipe size.
 - 3. For pipe sections less than 36-inch average inside diameter:
 - a. Determine ground water level.
 - b. Plug both ends of pipe. For concrete pipe, flood pipe and allow 2 hours to saturate concrete. Then drain and plug concrete pipe.
 - c. After a manhole-to-manhole section of sanitary sewer main has been slip-lined and prior to any service lines being connected to new liner, plug liner at each manhole with pneumatic plugs.

- d. Pressurize pipe to 4.0 psig. Increase pressure 1.0 psi for each 2.3 feet of ground water over highest point in system. Allow pressure to stabilize for 2 to 4 minutes. Adjust pressure to start at 3.5 psig (plus adjustment for ground water table). See Table 02732-2 at the end of this Section.
- e. To determine air loss, measure the time interval for pressure to drop to 2.5 psig. The time must exceed that listed in the Table 02732-2 at the end of this Section for pipe diameter and length. For slip-lining, use diameter of carrier pipe.
- F. Retest: Any section of pipe which fails to meet requirements shall be repaired and retested.

3.05 TEST CRITERIA TABLES

- A. Exfiltration and Infiltration Water Tests: Refer to Table 02732-1, Water Test Allowable Leakage, at the end of this Section.
- B. Low Pressure Air Test:
 - 1. Times in Table 02732-2, Time Allowed for Pressure Loss from 3.5 psig to 2.5 psig, at the end of this Section, are based on the equation from Texas Natural Resources and Conservation Commission (TNRCC) Design Criteria 317.2(a)(4)(B).

$$T = 0.0850(D)(K)/(Q)$$

Where:

Т	=	time for pressure to drop 1.0 pounds per square inch gauge in seconds
K	=	0.000419 DL, but not less than 1.0
D	=	average inside diameter in inches
L	=	length of line of same pipe size in feet
Q	=	rate of loss, 0.0015 ft ³ /min./sq.ft. internal surface

2. Since a K value of less than 1.0 shall not be used, there are minimum testing times for each pipe diameter as given in Table 02732-3, Minimum Testing Times for Low Pressure Air Test.

Notes:

- 1. When two sizes of pipe are involved, the time shall be computed by the ratio of lengths involved.
- 2. Lines with a 27-inch average inside diameter and larger may be air tested at each joint.
- 3. Lines with an average inside diameter greater than 36 inches must be air tested for leakage at each joint.
- 4. If the joint test is used, a visual inspection of the joint shall be performed immediately after testing.
- 5. For joint test, the pipe is to be pressurized to 3.5 psi greater than the pressure exerted by ground water above the pipe. Once the pressure has stabilized, the minimum times allowable for the pressure to drop from 3.5 pounds per square inch gauge to 2.5 pounds per square inch gauge shall be 10 seconds.

3.06 LEAKAGE TESTING FOR MANHOLES

- A. After completion of manhole construction, wall sealing, or rehabilitation, but prior to backfilling, test manholes for water tightness using hydrostatic or vacuum testing procedures.
- B. Plug influent and effluent lines, including service lines, with suitably-sized pneumatic or mechanical plugs. Ensure plugs are properly rated for pressures required for test; follow

manufacturer's safety and installation recommendations. Place plugs a minimum of 6 inches outside of manhole walls. Brace inverts to prevent lines from being dislodged if lines entering manhole have not been backfilled.

- C. Vacuum Testing:
 - 1. Install vacuum tester head assembly at top access point of manhole and adjust for proper seal on straight top section of manhole structure. Following manufacturer's instructions and safety precautions, inflate sealing element to the recommended maximum inflation pressure; do not overinflate.
 - 2. Evacuate manhole with vacuum pump to 10 inches mercury (Hg), disconnect pump, and monitor vacuum for the time period specified in Table 02732-4, Vacuum Test Time Table.
 - 3. If the drop in vacuum exceeds 1 inch Hg over the specified time period tabulated above, locate leaks, complete repairs necessary to seal manhole and repeat test procedure until satisfactory results are obtained.
- D. Hydrostatic Exfiltration Testing: Hydrostatic exfiltration testing shall be performed as follows:
 - 1. Seal wastewater lines coming into the manhole with an internal pipe plug. Then, fill the manhole with water and maintain it full for at least one hour.
 - 2. The maximum leakage for hydrostatic testing shall be 0.025 gallons per foot diameter per foot of manhole depth per hour.
 - 3. If water loss exceeds amount tabulated above, locate leaks, complete repairs necessary to seal manhole and repeat test procedure until satisfactory results are obtained.

DIAMETER OF RISER OR	VOLUME PER	INCH OF DEPTH	ALLOWANCE LEAKAGE*			
INCHES	STACK IN INCHES Inch Gallons		Pipe Size in Inches	Gallon/Minute per 100 Ft.		
1	0.7854	.0034	6	0.0039		
2	3.1416	.0136	8	0.0053		
2.5	4.9087	.0212	12	0.0066		
3	7.0686	.0306	13	0.0079		
4	12.5664	.0306	15	0.0099		
5	19.6350	.0544	18	0.0118		
6	28.2743	.1224	21	0.0138		
8	50.2655	.2176	24	0.0158		
			27	0.0177		
			30	0.0197		
			36	0.0237		
			42	0.0276		
For other diamete	For other diameters, multiply square of diameters by			Equivalent to 50 gallons per inch of		
	value for 1" diameter.			inside diameter per mile per 24		
				hours.		

TABLE 02732-1 WATER TEST ALLOWABLE LEAKAGE

* Allowable leakage rate shall be reduced to 10 gallons per inch of inside diameter per mile per 24 hours, when sewer is identified as located within the 25-year flood plain.

ACCEPTANCE TESTING FOR SANITARY SEWERS

71

Pipe Diameter (in)	Minimum Time (min:sec)	Length for Minimum Time (ft)	Time for Longer Length	Specification Time for Length (L) Shown (min:sec)										
			(sec)	100 ft	150 ft	200 ft	250 ft	300 ft	350 ft	400 ft	450 ft	500 ft	550 ft	600 ft
6 8 10 12 15 18 21 24 27 30 33	5:40 7:33 9:27 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:40 25:30 28:20 31:10	398 298 239 199 159 133 114 99 88 88 80 72	0.8548 1.5196 2.3743 3.4190 5.3423 7.6928 10.4708 13.6762 17.3089 21.3690 25.8565	5:40 7:33 9:27 11:20 14:10 17:00 19:50 22:48 28:51 35:37 43:06	5:40 7:33 9:27 11:20 14:10 19:14 26:11 34:11 43:16 53:25 64:38	5:40 7:33 9:27 11:20 17:48 25:39 34:54 45:35 57:42 71:14 86:11	5:40 7:33 9:54 14:15 22:16 32:03 43:38 56:59 72:07 89:02 107:44	5:40 7:36 11:52 17:06 26:43 38:28 52:21 68:23 86:33 106:51 129:17	5:40 8:52 13:51 19:57 31:10 44:52 61:05 79:47 100:58 124:39 150:50	5:42 10:08 15:50 22:48 35:37 51:17 69:48 91:10 115:24 142:28 172:23	6:25 11:24 17:48 25:39 40:04 57:42 78:32 102:34 129:49 160:16 193:55	7:07 12:40 19:47 28:30 44:31 64:06 87:15 113:58 144:14 178:05 215:28	7:50 13:56 21:46 31:20 48:58 70:31 95:59 125:22 158:40 195:53 237:01	8:33 15:12 23:45 34:11 53:25 76:56 104:42 136:46 173:05 213:41 258:34

TABLE 02732-2 TIME ALLOWED FOR PRESSURE LOSS FROM 3.5 PSIG TO 2.5 PSIG

TABLE 02732-3 MINIMUM TESTING TIMES FOR LOW PRESSURE AIR TEST

PIPE DIAMETER (inches)	MINIMUM TIME (seconds)	LENGTH FOR MINIMUM TIME <i>(feet)</i>	TIME FOR LONGER LENGTH (seconds)
6	340	398	0.855 (L)
8	454	298	1.520 (L)
10	567	239	2.374 (L)
12	680	199	3.419 (L)
15	850	159	5.342 (L)
18	1020	133	7.693 (L)
21	1190	114	10.471 (L)
24	1360	100	13.676 (L)
27	1530	88	17.309 (L)
30	1700	80	21.369 (L)
33	1870	72	25.856 (L)

TIME IN SECONDS BY PIPE DIAMETER						
10	13	16				
20	26	32				
30	39	48				
40	52	64				
50	65	80				
60	78	96				
5.0	6.5	8.0				
	10 20 30 40 50 60	10 13 20 26 30 39 40 52 50 65 60 78				

TABLE 02732-4 VACUUM TEST TIME TABLE

* Add T times for each additional 2-foot depth. (The values listed above have been extrapolated from ASTM C 924-85)

ABANDONMENT OF SANITARY SEWERS

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Abandonment in place of existing sanitary sewers, manholes, and force mains.

1.02 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

- A. Unit Prices.
 - 1. Payment for grout fill and abandonment of existing gravity sewers and force mains is on a linear foot basis for each diameter of sewer being abandoned. Measurement will be along the centerline of the sewer from centerline to centerline of manholes.
 - 2. Payment for grout fill and abandonment of sanitary sewer manholes is by each manhole abandoned in conformance with this section.
 - 3. Payment will be full compensation for all material, equipment, and labor required for complete abandonment grouting, including air venting, testing, temporary plugs, PVC pipes and all incidentals.
 - 4. Refer to Section 01025 Measurement and Payment for Unit Price Procedures.
- B. Stipulated Price (Lump Sum). If the Contract is a Stipulated Price Contract, payment for Work in this section is included in the total Stipulated Price.

1.03 DEFINITIONS

- A. Abandonment. Sanitary sewer abandonment consists of demolition and removal of any portion of manholes existing within the specified depth of the surface, and the abandonment in place of sewer lines and manholes as specified in this section.
- B. Flowable Fill. Flowable fill (abandonment grout) shall be a controlled low-strength material consisting of a fluid mixture of cement, fly ash, aggregate, water and with admixtures as necessary to provide workable properties. Placement of flowable fill may be by grouting techniques in sewer pipes or other restricted areas, or as mass placement by chutes or tremie methods in unrestricted locations with open access. The long-term hardened strength shall be within a specified range.
- C. Ballast. Large aggregate either replaced with the voids subsequently filled with flowable fill injected by grouting method; or in areas with open access, placed individually and sequentially at the same time as the flowable fill placement.
- D. Backgrouting. A secondary stage pressure grouting to ensure that voids have been filled within the abandoned sewer. Back grouting will only be required at critical locations indicated on the Drawings or if there is evidence of incomplete flowable fill placements.

1.04 REFERENCE STANDARDS

- A. ASTM C 33 Standard Specifications for Concrete Aggregates.
- B. ASTM C 138 Standard Test Method for Unit Weight, Yield and Air Content (gravimetric) of Concrete.
- C. ASTM C 150 Standard Specification for Portland Cement.
- D. ASTM C 494 Standard Specification for Chemical Admixture for Concrete.

ABANDONMENT OF SANITARY SEWERS

- E. ASTM C 618 Standard Specification for Fly Ash and Raw or Calcinated Natural Pozzolan for use as a Mineral Admixture in Portland Cement Concrete.
- F. ASTM C 937 Standard Specification for Grout Fluidifier for Replaced Aggregate Concrete.
- G. ASTM C 940 Standard Test Method for Expansion and Bleeding of Freshly Mixed Grout for Replaced Aggregate Concrete.
- H. ASTM C 942 Standard Test Method for Compressive Strength of Grout for Replaced Aggregate Concrete into Laboratory.
- I. ASTM C 953 Standard Test Method for Time of Setting of Grout for Replaced Aggregate Concrete in the Laboratory.
- J. ASTM C 1017 Standard Specification for Chemical Admixture for use in Producing Flowing Concrete.
- K. ASTM C 1107 Specification for Packaged Dry, Hydraulic Cement Grout (Nonshrink).
- L. ASTM D 4823 Standard Test Method for Preparation and Testing of Soil Cement Slurry Test Cylinders.
- M. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Specification CRD C 621, Non-shrink Grout.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

- A. Submittals shall conform to requirements of Section 01300 Submittals.
- B. Flowable fill mix design report.
 - 1. Flowable fill type and production method. Describe if the fill will be mixed to final proportions and consistency in batch plant or if constituents will be added in transit mixer at the placement location.
 - 2. Use of ballast. Provide percentage of ballast of the total placement and size limits for the ballast if fill is intended to be used with ballast.
 - 3. Aggregate gradation of fill. The aggregate gradation of the mix (excluding ballast) shall be used as a pilot curve for quality control during production.
 - 4. Fill mix constituents and proportions including materials by weight and volume, and air content but excluding ballast. Give types and amounts of admixtures including air entrainment or air generating compounds.
 - 5. Fill densities and viscosities, including wet density at the point of placement.
 - 6. Initial time of set.
 - 7. Bleeding and shrinkage.
 - 8. Compressive strength.
- C. Technical information for equipment and operational procedures including projected slurry injection rate, grout pressure, method of controlling grout pressure, bulkhead and vent design, and number of stages of grout application.
- D. Experience record for the proposed crew, showing a minimum of 100 cubic yards of flowable fill placed using the proposed or similar equipment and methods.
- E. At least 60 days prior to commencing any abandonment activities, submit a plan for abandonment, describing the proposed grouting sequence, bypass pumping requirements and plugging, if any, and other information pertinent to completion of the work.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 FLOWABLE FILL

- A. Design Mix Criteria. Provide design of one or more mixes to meet the design criteria and conditions for placement. Present the information required by Paragraph 1.05.B in the mix design report including the following:
 - 1. Cement: ASTM C 150 Type I or II. Volume and weight per cubic yard of fill. Provide minimum cement content of 100 pounds per cubic yard.
 - 2. Fly ash: ASTM C 618 Class C or F. Volume and weight per cubic yard of fill. Provide minimum Fly ash content of 200 pounds per cubic yard.
 - 3. Potable water: Volume and weight per cubic yard of fill. Amount of water determined by mix design testing.
 - 4. Aggregate gradation: 100 percent passing the 3/8-inch sieve and not more than 10 percent passing the No. 200 sieve. The mix design report shall define a pilot gradation based on the following sieve sizes 3/8-inch, Nos. 4, 8, 16, 30, 50, 100, and 200. Do not deviate from the pilot gradation by more than plus or minus 10 percentage points for any sieve for the production material.
 - 5. Aggregate source material: Screened or crushed aggregate, pit or bank run fine gravels or sand, or crushed concrete. If crushed concrete is used, at least 30 percent of natural aggregate shall be added as necessary to provide workability.
 - 6. Admixtures: Use admixtures meeting ASTM C 494 and ASTM C 107 as needed to improve pumpability, to control time of set, and reduce bleeding.
 - 7. Fluidifier: Use a fluidifier meeting ASTM C 937 as necessary to hold the solid constituents in suspension. Add a shrinkage compensator if necessary.
 - 8. Performance additive: Use a flowable fill performance additive, such as Darafill or approved equal, to control the fill properties.
- B. Flowable Fill Requirements.
 - 1. Unconfined compressive strength: minimum 75 psi and maximum 150 psi at 56 days as determined based on an average of three tests for the same placement. Present at least three acceptable strength tests for the proposed mix design in the mix design report.
 - 2. Placement characteristics: self-leveling.
 - 3. Shrinkage characteristics: non-shrink.
 - 4. Water bleeding for fill to be placed by grouting method in sewers: not to exceed 2 percent according to ASTM C 940.
 - 5. Minimum wet density: 90 pounds per cubic foot.

2.02 BALLAST

- A. Ballast Material. Natural rock or concrete pieces with a minimum size equal to at least 10 times the maximum aggregate size of the flowable fill and a maximum size of 24 inches. The maximum dimension shall not be more than 20 percent of the minimum dimension of the space to be filled.
- B. Ballast Composition. Free of any regulated waste material.

2.03 PLUGS FOR FORCE MAINS

- A. Grout Plugs. Cement-based dry-pack grout conforming to ASTM C 1107, Grade B or C.
- B. Manufactured Plug. Commercially available plug or cap specifically designed and manufactured to be used with the pipe being abandoned.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

- A. Have fill mix design reports and other submittals required by Paragraph 1.05 accepted by the Engineer prior to start of placement. Notify the Engineer at least 24 hours in advance of grouting with flowable fill.
- B. Select fill placement equipment and follow procedures with sufficient safety and care to avoid damage to existing underground utilities and structures. Operate equipment at a pressure that will not distort or imperil any portion of the work, new or existing.
- C. Clean sewer lines and video with closed circuit television to identify connections, locate obstructions, and assess the condition of the pipe. Locate previously unidentified connections, which have not been redirected and reconnected as a part of this project, and report them to the Engineer. During placement of the fill, compensate for any irregularities in the sewer pipe, such as obstructions, open joints, or broken pipe to ensure no voids remain unfilled.
- D. Perform demolition work prior to starting fill placement. Clean placement areas of sewers and manholes of debris that may hinder fill placement. Remove excessive amounts of sludge and any other substances that may degrade performance of the fill. Do not leave sludge or other debris in place if filling more than 2 percent of the placement volume. Dispose of waste material in compliance with Section 01564 Waste Material Disposal.
- E. Remove free water prior to starting fill placement.

3.02 EQUIPMENT

- A. Mix flowable fill in an automated batch plant and deliver it to the site in ready-mix trucks. Performance additives may be added at the placement site if required by mix design.
- B. Use concrete or grout pumps capable of continuous delivery at the planned placement rate.
- 3.03 DEMOLITION OF SANITARY SEWER MANHOLES, PIPELINE STRUCTURES AND FORCE MAINS PRIOR TO ABANDONMENT
 - A. Remove manhole frames and covers and any castings from other existing pipeline structures. Deliver these castings to a site approved by the City/Owner if intended for future use. If called for on the plans, and approved by the Engineer, salvaged castings may be used for the construction of new manholes on this project.
 - B. Demolish and remove precast concrete adjustment rings and corner section, or brick and mortar corbel and chimney, or other pipeline structure, to a minimum depth of 4 feet below finished grade. The structure may be removed to a greater depth, but not deeper than 18 inches above the crown of the abandoned sewer.
 - C. If the adjacent sewer lines are not to be filled, place temporary plugs in each line connecting to the manhole, in preparation for filling the manhole.
 - D. Excavate overburden from force mains to be abandoned at the locations indicated on the Drawings, conforming to Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities. Cut the existing force main, if necessary, to provide an end surface perpendicular to the axis of the pipe and suitable for the plug to be installed. Remove any force main piping material remaining outside of the segment to be abandoned.

ABANDONMENT OF SANITARY SEWERS

3.04 INSTALLATION

- A. Abandon sewer lines by completely filling the sewer line with flowable fill. Abandon manholes and other structures by filling with flowable fill, together with ballast as applicable, within the depth of structures left in place.
- B. Place flowable fill to fill the volume between the manholes as completely as practicable. Continuously place flowable fill from manhole to manhole with no intermediate pour points, but not exceeding 500 feet in length.
- C. Have the filling operation performed by experienced crews with equipment to monitor density of the flowable fill and to control pressure.
- D. Temporarily plug sewer lines which are to remain in operation during pouring/pumping to keep the lines free of flowable fill.
- E. Pump flowable fill through bulkheads constructed for placement of two 2-inch PVC pipes or use other suitable construction methods to contain the flowable fill in the lines to be abandoned. These pipes will act as injection points or vents for placement of flowable fill.
- F. Place flowable fill under pressure flow conditions into a properly vented open system until flowable fill emerges from the vent pipes. Pump flowable fill with sufficient pressure to overcome friction and to fill the sewer from the downstream end, to discharge at the upstream end.
- G. Inject flowable fill through replaced ballast using grouting equipment and a series of grout pipes discharging at the bottom of the placement, allowing the fill to rise through the ballast effectively filling all voids. Alternatively, sequentially place individual pieces of ballast at the same time as flowable fill is placed. Do not fill with ballast more than 50 percent of the volume at any level, to prevent nesting and void formation.
- H. Remediate placement of flowable fill which does not fill voids in a sewer, in manhole or other structures, or where voids develop due to excessive shrinkage or bleeding of the fill, by using pressure grouting either from inside the sewer or from the surface.
- I. Plug each end of force mains being abandoned.
- J. Force main abandonment.
 - 1. Clean the inside surface of force mains at least 12 inches from the ends, as necessary to achieve a firm bond and seal the grout plug or manufactured plug to the pipe surface. Similarly, clean and prepare the exterior pipe surface if a manufactured cap is to be used.
 - 2. When using a grout plug, place a temporary plug or bulkhead approximately 12 inches inside the pipe. Fill the pipe end completely with dry-pack grout mixture.
 - 3. When using a manufactured plug or cap, install the fitting as recommended by the manufacturer's instructions, to form a watertight seal.
- K. Backfill to the surface, above the pipe or structures left in place, with flowable fill in restricted areas, compacted bank run sand in unrestricted areas to be paved or select fill in unrestricted areas outside of pavement. Place and compact backfill, other than flowable fill, in compliance with Section 02227 Excavation and Backfill for Utilities.
- L. Collect and dispose of excess flowable fill material and other debris in accordance with Section 01564 Waste Material Disposal.

ABANDONMENT OF SANITARY SEWERS

3.05 FIELD QUALITY CONTROL

- A. Provide batch plant tickets for each truck delivery of flowable fill. Note on the tickets addition of admixtures at the site.
- B. Check flow characteristics and workability of the fill as the placement proceeds.
- C. Obtain at least three test cylinders for each placement area for determination of 56-day compressive strength and bleeding. The acceptance of the placement will be based on the average strength of the three tests.
- D. Record the volume of ballast together with the flowable fill placement for the same space to demonstrate that voids have been filled.
- 3.06 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
 - A. Provide safe working conditions for employees throughout demolition and removal operations. Observe safety requirements for work below grade.
 - B. Maintain safe access to adjacent property and buildings. Do not obstruct roadways, sidewalks or passageways adjacent to the work.

END OF SECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY

This section describes the requirements for a triplex (three pump) submersible pump lift station.

1.02 RELATED SECTIONS Section 01526 Trench Safety Systems Section 02227 Excavation & Backfill For Utilities Section 02229 Utility Backfill Materials Section 16010 Electrical

1.03 MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT

Measurement and payment will be on a lump sum basis. The payment made according to the Bidder's proposal shall be full compensation for all materials, tools, equipment, labor, superintendence, fees, permits, and incidentals for a complete operational facility.

1.04 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The lift station includes the wetwell (basin), pumps, discharge piping and valves to a point ten (10) feet from valve vault, electrical service entrance, electrical starting equipment, electrical controls including alarm, and driveway base material as shown on plans, site grading, and incidentals for a complete operational facility.

1.05 SUBMITTALS

A. Shop Drawings and Pump Performance Curves

Contractor shall submit to Engineer for approval six (6) copies of data on equipment proposed to be used, including pump performance curves. Performance curves shall include efficiency curves and horsepower requirements.

B. Operation and Maintenance Manuals

The Contractor shall furnish the Owner with five (5) copies of operation and maintenance instructions for the equipment furnished under this specification.

1.06 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Testing and Materials

Only materials specified and approved shall be used in construction of the facility. All components of the pump station shall be given an operations test of all equipment at the factory to check for excessive vibration, for leaks in all piping or seals, and for correct operation of the control system and all auxiliary equipment.

The pump suction and discharge lines shall be coupled to a reservoir and the pump shall recirculate water under simulated service connections.

B. Pump Warranty

The pump shall be guaranteed to be free from defects in materials and workmanship for a period of one year from the date of final acceptance. (FIVE YEARS Flygt Warranty)

CLOG-FREE GUARANTEE

The supplier of the pump and control system shall guarantee clog-free operation for a period of 24 months from the date of start-up. A certificate of guarantee shall be provided to the Owner on the day of start up with the local contact information and effective date. Should the impeller clog with typical solids and/or modern trash debris normally found in domestic wastewater during this period, an authorized representative shall either travel to the jobsite remove the pump, clear the obstruction and reinstall the pump at no cost or reimburse the Owner for reasonable cost to provide this service. A written report shall be provided to the Owner detailing the service call with pictures for verification purposes

1.07 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING

All equipment and materials to be incorporated into construction of the facility shall be delivered, stored, and handled in accordance with the recommendation of the manufacturer for each piece of equipment and or material.

1.08 PROJECT SITE CONDITIONS

The Contractor shall visit the site to become familiar with the site conditions. Contractor is responsible for performing any testing he deems necessary to satisfy himself of site conditions.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MANUFACTURERS

The lift station pumps shall be manufactured by Flygt.

2.02 MATERIALS AND/OR EQUIPMENT

- A. Wetwell Reinforced concrete pipe meeting ASTM C76, Class III; inside diameter and depth as shown on the plans. The interior shall be **shop coated** with a 65 mil thickness of Polyurea FE-100, or Engineer approved equal.
- B. Pumps Pumps shall be Flygt Concertor model as shown on the plans.
- C. Lift System A lift system shall be supplied that shall consist of a ¼" Type 316 stainless steel chain. The chain shall be attached to the pump and shall be long enough to reach the station top. The chain shall be attached so that it can be pulled by the use of lifting equipment. All miscellaneous metal associated with the lift system shall be stainless steel.
- D. Casting Each pump casting shall be constructed of fine-grained cast iron. The casting shall be designed for a minimum working pressure of 50 psig and hydrostatically tested to 1-1/2 times the working pressure.
- E. Exposed Surfaces All fasteners and hardware inside wet well nuts and bolts shall be Type 316 stainless steel.

- F. Discharge Elbow The discharge elbow shall have a foot for anchoring to the wet well floor and a means for firmly supporting the guide rails. The design and mass of the discharge elbow shall be sufficient for rigidly supporting the eccentric load for the pump unit and discharge piping. The discharge elbow inlet flange face shall be perpendicular and make a metal-to-metal contact with the pump discharge nozzle flange face. Sealing of the discharge interface by means of a diaphragm, o-ring or other device is not acceptable. The discharge elbow outlet shall connect to the discharge piping riser. The elbow shall have ANSI, 125-pound flange dimensions and drilling.
- G. Pump Guides The pumps shall be capable of being lowered into position in the pump chamber and automatically connected to the discharge connection elbow by the use of a sliding bracket and positioning devices. The sliding bracket shall be part of the pump assembly. The sliding bracket and positioning device shall be constructed of stainless steel.

The upper guide rail bracket and the guide rails shall be constructed of stainless steel, sized as shown on the drawings.

Intermediate guide rail brackets shall be constructed of stainless steel and be positioned a maximum of 10 feet apart.

- H. Discharge Piping and Valves A check valve and a plug or a gate valve (as noted on the plans) shall be installed on the discharge pipe from each pump. The valves shall be installed as shown on the plans. Plug valves shall be Cam Centric as manufactured by Val-Matic or Engineer approved equal.
- I. Electrical Service Entrance An electrical service entrance is required for electrical power to the lift station.
- J. Control Panel, Breakers, Controls and Wiring
 - 1. Control Panel Control panel shall have a NEMA 4X stainless steel enclosure with a stainless steel hinged deadfront door on a continuous piano hinge and removable sub-panel.
 - a. XPC GATEWAY APP 411
 - i. Hand-off auto switch for each Pumping System (CPS).
 - ii. User configurable liquid level setpoints for CPS activation and deactivation.
 - iii. User configurable liquid level alarm setpoints for high level.
 - iv. Alternation
 - v. Inputs and outputs
 - 1. Four (4) zero-volt digital inputs
 - 2. Four (4) relay outputs rated at 250V or 30VDC, 5 amps.
 - 3. One (1) analog input 24VDC max
 - 4. One (1) analog output 24VDC max.
 - vi. The following station optimization features shall be pre-configured:
 - 1. Fat buildup minimization feature that uses a random lead pump start delay timer. The timer shall be initially set to 60 seconds.

- 2. A sump and pipe cleaning function that will run the CPS to the snore point based on an operator configurable number of pump cycles. The number of cycles shall be initially set to 11.
- 3. The CPS shall automatically detect a blockage and automatically clear the blockage. The station controller shall monitor the status and annunciate an alarm should the blockage not be cleared.
- 4. The station controller shall have an energy minimizer function that minimizes the amount of energy used per pumping cycle.
- vii. Integrated data logger with
 - 1. Capacity for recording up to 4,000 events
 - 2. Ability to download events to a USB storage device.
- viii. Monitoring of output current, power level, speed, and motor temperature
- ix. Faults on the controller shall be configurable for
 - 1. Acknowledgement Required
 - 2. Three (3) levels of priority
 - 3. Automatically resetting fault
- b. Human Machine Interface (MHI)

A display compatible with the pump station manager and shall have the following features at a minimum:

- i. Home screen displayed parameters must include:
 - 1. Pump status for each pump including:
 - a. Pump running.
 - b. Pump is in the HAND position.
 - c. Pump is in the OFF position.
 - d. Pump is in the AUTOMATIC position.
 - e. Pump is available to run.
 - f. Pump fault
 - 2. Pump alternation active indicator.
- ii. Information Screen that show the following information:
 - 1. Hours Run counter for each pump.
 - 2. Pump Start counter for each pump
- iii. Ability to configure the controller without a laptop and configure the following parameters at a minimum:
 - 1. Set point programming of pump activation/deactivation values and level alarm values.
 - 2. Enable/Disable level alarms, faults and historical data recording.
 - 3. Configuration of Inputs and Outputs.
 - 4. Configure station optimization parameters.
 - 5. Configure communications parameter.
 - 6. Create or restore backup copies of the pump controller configuration settings.
 - 7. Factory reset the controller.

A touchscreen display shall be supplied and must have the following features at a minimum:

- 7" touchscreen with the following minimum capabilities:
- Built in web browser
- multi-touch screen
- Dual core process @ 8MHz
- 512 MB Flash and 1GB Ram
- Fan-less design
- IP65 front panel
- Power: 12-24VDC @8.5W
- Resolution: 800x480
- Operating temperature: 0-60C
- iv. The controller shall output to the existing SCADA panel relocated from the existing lift station.
- c. Pumping System Gateway

Each pump shall be equipped with 1 Pump gateway which shall offer at least following interfaces: $1 \times USB$, $1 \times RS485 1 \times Ethernet RJ 45 1 \times Display interface$, $4 \times Digital outputs$, $4 \times Digital inputs$, $1 \times Analog input & output$.

It shall supply following pump data:

- Start and stop commands
- Power consumption information
- Operating speed
- Running status
- Fault information

The housing shall be isolated according protection class IP 20 applicable to operate in ambient temperature: -20 $^{\circ}$ C to +60 $^{\circ}$ C.

It shall be applicable for 24 V DC Power supply.

The Pump gateway shall allow to control of the pump through I/O or Modbus RTU or TCP.

It shall have emergency run relay functionality which secures that the pump will operate when the main controller fails.

The unit shall be tested and approved in accordance with international standards CE, UL, RCM and CSA and be designed and manufactured by the pump supplier

d. UPS System

The backup UPS shall be supplied to provide 24VDC power supply with battery backup of running all DC loads for a minimum of 1 hour.

e. Surge Suppression

A 240VAC or 480VAC three phase surge suppression device shall be installed in line with the supply voltage with the following features:

- Each input shall have a nominal AC operating voltage of 240V for 240V supply or 277V for 480V supply
- Meet UL 1449 4th edition requirements
- Meet IEC 61643-11 requirements
- Response time <1ms

- Nominal discharge current: 20kA 8/20 µs
- Maximum discharge current: 50kA 8/20 µs
- Maximum surge capacity: 60kA 8/20 µs
- Voltage protection rating: 1000V (240V) or 1500V (480V)
- Voltage protection level: 1300V (240V) or 1700V (480V)
- Residual voltage at 10kA (8/20 µs): 1395V
- Operating frequency range: 0-500Hz
- Operating temperature: -40°C to +85°C
- Wetwell (Sump) Level Controls Submersible Level Transducer with 4...20mA analog output, 316L Stainless Steel wetted parts, guaranteed lightning protection, and 16-bit internal digital error correction.

Level Transducer shall carry a 2-year warranty for defects in materials and workmanship.

Suspended normally-open float switches shall be Anchor Scientific or approved equal. They shall be suspended from a stainless-steel float bracket mounted to lip of pump hatch opening. Float switches shall be utilized for backup to the submersible transducer.

- 3. Alarm A high water alarm shall be supplied. Alarm light shall be provided to display warning of excessive fluid level. Alarm light to be mounted on side of panel or on conduit box elevated above panel. No penetration of top of panel will be allowed. Alarm light shall have a red glass globe and shall be RAB GL100R or approved equal. In addition, an audible alarm with manual silencing switch shall be provided. A "press to test" switch without locking relay shall be provided to manually test the alarm light and audible alarm.
- 4. Wiring The pump station shall be completely wired at the factory except for the power feeder lines. All wiring in the pump station shall be color coded as indicated on the wiring diagram. Wiring diagram matching the unit wiring shall be provided. All backplane wiring shall be enclosed in snap-open wireway by Panduit or approved equal. All control wiring shall be #14 AWG THHN/THWN or approved equal. Each wire shall have slide on wiring markers to identify each end of the wire. Wire markers shall be Wieland Z-type markers or approved equal. Fork terminals shall be used in each termination. Fork terminals shall be 3M Scotchlock MVU14-6FBK or approved equal. All power wiring shall be sized per the full load amps of the pumps and be THWN or MTW. Terminal connections shall be black phenolic, 300 volt rated, and numbered for each position. Terminals shall be SQD 9080-GK6 or approved equal.
- 5. The contractor installing the lift station shall be responsible for provision and installation of all power wiring and raceways from the load side of the control panel to the lift station. Refer to section 16000 specifications for such raceway and power wiring requirements. The contractor installing the lift station shall also be responsible for provision and installation of all control wiring and raceways between the control panel and the lift station. Control conductors shall be as specified herein. Control raceways shall be as specified in section 16000 specifications.
- K. Access Covers and Frames with Safety Grate System The supplier shall provide aluminum access covers and frames with a safety grate system. Fasteners, hinges, and other hardware shall be Type 316 stainless steel. The access cover shall be as specified on the drawings as manufactured by US Fabricating, E.J. or approved equal. Door panels shall be ¼" aluminum diamond plate, reinforced to withstand a live load of 300 psf. Doors shall open 90 degrees and automatically lock with a stainless-steel hold open arm with an aluminum release handle and shall include a stainless-steel spring assist. When closed, doors shall be

flush with the frame and equipped for padlocking. Padlock assembly shall be recessed and sized to restrict access by bolt cutters. Access Cover shall meet the required live load as a stand-alone unit only. No grating system will be acceptable if the hatch door rests on the grating frame to achieve the load rating.

Each access hatch shall be fitted with a permanently installed fall through prevention grate system.

L Alarm Notification Device - Provide an automatic cellular alarm notification system as integrated by the panel supplier to notify alarm and communication failure via phone, text and/or email to the end users list. Notification will include communication failure along with up to Four (4) alarm notifications (ie; loss of power, lag pump call, high water). Cellular data plan will be included for one (1) year.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 PREPARATION

- A. Location of Existing Utilities Contractor shall verify the existence and location of all existing underground utilities in the area of the work.
- B. Protection of Existing Utilities Contractor shall take the necessary precautions to protect all existing utilities from damage due to his operations. Any damage to the existing utilities shall be repaired at the Contractor's expense by qualified personnel. In order to protect existing utilities that are required to be exposed, Contractor's operation shall be such that a sufficient distance back from the edge of the excavation is maintained to avoid overloading and to prevent slides or caving. No unnecessary excavation or exposing of existing underground utilities will be allowed.
- C. Convenience to Public All trenching and excavating shall be performed in a manner that will cause as little inconvenience to the public as possible. All excavated material shall be kept trimmed such that minimum inconvenience is caused to the public or adjoining property owners.
- D. Erosion Control Employ measures and construction practices to prevent erosion at, or adjacent to, the project site. "The Contractor is solely responsible for providing stormwater pollution prevention measures to comply with the stormwater pollution prevention requirements of local, State, and Federal regulatory agencies, including, but not limited to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)". Erosion control shall begin at the onset of the project (prior to mobilization) and be maintained throughout the duration of the work until final acceptance.

3.02 ERECTION / INSTALLATION / APPLICATION AND / OR CONSTRUCTION

- A. Excavation. Excavation shall include the removal of any trees, stumps, brush, debris or other obstacles that obstruct the line of work, and the excavation and removal of all earth, rock or other material to the extent necessary to install the utility and all appurtenances in conformance with the line and grades shown on the plans or as specified herein.
- B. Lift Station Components. The components of the lift station shall be installed in accordance with the recommendation of the manufacturer of each component used.

Installation of the pump chamber shall be done in accordance with the written instructions provided by the manufacturer. These instructions shall be securely attached to and readily visible on the outside of the main chamber of the pump station.

3.03 OPERATOR TRAINING

The Contractor shall provide start-up training for the personnel of the Owner regarding the operation of the equipment installed.

END OF SECTION